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1. Chairman ś statement

2010 was an intense year for our sector. With
the world economy still fragile, there were
several serious disruptions to air traffic during
the year (caused by volcanoes, snow, indus-
trial action…) in Spain, Europe and elsewhere.
With one thing and another, we have been
forced to employ a great deal of resources and
effort to meet our customers' needs, while
achieving positive results for the benefit of
our employees and shareholders. Yet neither
the general adverse situation nor the specific
difficulties hampered our corporate social res-
ponsibility policy.

For the fifth year in succession, Iberia was cho-
sen for the selective Dow Jones Sustainability
Index, which acknowledges the best economic,
social and environmental practices of the
major enterprises worldwide. As in 2009, Iberia
was the airline with the best environmental
performance in this index, in which there is
only one other airline, and was given an exce-
llent ratings in aspects such as conservation of
the local air quality, organisation of the flight
network (for environmental purposes) and the
ecological efficiency of our operations.

In 2010 we cut our CO2 emissions again, by 4%
year on year.With the renewal of our long-haul
fleet over coming years, we will foreseeably
achieve further improvements in the future.
We also work on other projects designed to

D. Antonio Vázquez
President of Iberia
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enhance our environmental performance,
including our involvement in researching the
possibility of producing biofuels that could be
used in aviation and would contribute enor-
mously to improving the environment.

In 2010 we also maintained our commitments
to customers, employees and the society
at large.

With a view to improving our service to custo-
mers, we have opened new direct communi-
cation channels in the social networks, which
have been especially helpful in crisis situa-
tions, such as when the air space was closed
due to the presence of volcanic ash or during
the industrial action by the Spanish  air traffic
controllers. I am particularly honoured by the
large number of congratulations Iberia has
received for the wonderful response it gave its
customers during those crises.

As regards our employees, we have managed
to maintain and even raise our level of stable
employment by about 2%. We have also ope-
ned a portal for the company's employees to
collaborate with various solidarity projects.
In 2010, our commitment to society has focu-
sed above all on one name: Haiti. A lion's share
of the resources we dedicated to welfare
action was sent there, including the carriage
of almost 250,000 kg of humanitarian aid.

We have endeavoured to be wherever we
were needed, whether through “Mano a
Mano” -the NGO run by Iberia employees-, or
collaborating with the Spanish International
Development Cooperation Agency, the Red
Cross, numerous foundations or other enter-
prises such as Amadeus, with whom we have
sent around 150 computers from Spanish tra-
vel agencies to South Africa and to one of the
areas in southern Chile hardest hit by the
earthquake in February 2010.

We doubled our contribution to welfare cau-
ses and enterprises in 2010 and spent part of
our resources on improving the environment.
Our social engagement and commitment to
sustainability require this of us.
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Iberia Group
Consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2010
prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union

Translation of a report originally issued in Spanish based on
our work performed in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards in Spain and of consolidated financial
statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union
(see Notes 3 and 17). In the event of a discrepancy, the
Spanish-language version prevails.

Consolidated
Financial Statements



consolidated statements of financial position iberia group / consolidated financial statement

14

Consolidated Statements
of Financial position at 31
December 2010 and 2009 ASSETS Notes 31-12-2010 31-12-2009

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:

Intangible assets 5.1 46 50 

Property, plant and equipment 6 1,145 1,046 

Aircraft 821 717 

Other property, plant and equipment 324 329  

Investments in associates 5.5 157 134  

Non-current financial assets 7.1 1,121 497 

Equity instruments 906 269 

Loans to third parties 74 77 

Derivatives 16 4 

Other financial assets 125 147  

Deferred tax assets 12 597 635 

Total non-current assets 3,066 2,362

CURRENT ASSETS:

Non-current assets held for sale 6 - 9 

Inventories 5.6 215 215 

Aircraft spare parts 185 170 

Other inventories 30 45 

Receivables 561 478 

Trade receivables 432 354 

Receivables from associates 15 20 15 

Advances to personnel and other receivables 87 87 

Tax receivables 12 22 22 

Current financial assets 7.2 1,285 1,088 

Loans to third parties 10 31 

Derivatives 87 55 

Other financial assets 1,188 1,002 

Short-term accruals 11 8 

Cash and cash equivalents 5.5 875 886 

Cash 92 47 

Cash equivalents 783 839

Total current assets 2,947 2,684 

TOTAL ASSETS 6,013 5,046 

Notes 1 to 17 to the financial statements form an integral part of the consolidated statement of financial
position at 31 December 2010.

€ million
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Notes 31-12-2010 31-12-2009

EQUITY:

Share capital 743 743  

Share premium 760 120 

Reserves 107 1,094 

Treasury shares - (64)

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to the Parent 89 (273)

Valuation adjustments 430 (72)

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent 2,129 1,548  

Minority interests 3 3 

Total equity 9 2,132 1,551 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Provisions 10 1,122 1,209 

Borrowings 11 435 301 

Deferred tax liabilities 12 191 7 

Accruals 5.9 210 215 

Total non-current liabilities 1,958 1,732 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Borrowings 11 251 295 

Trade and other payables 8 1,660 1,464

Other payables 893 786 

Payables to associates 15 15 21 

Remuneration payable 157 149 

Tax payables 12 144 119 

Customer prepayments 5.9 451 389 

Accruals 12 4 

Total current liabilities 1,923 1,763 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6,013 5,046 

€ million
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Consolidated Income
Statements for 2010 and
2009 Notes 2010 2011

CONTINUING OPERATIONS:

Revenue 13.1 4,582 4,231 

Other operating income 13.2 255 227 

Recurring 188 178 

Non-recurring 67 49 

Procurements 13.3 (1,342) (1,410)

Employee costs 13.4 (1,332) (1,348)

Recurring (1,294) (1,297)

Non-recurring (38) (51)

Depreciation and amortisation charge 5.1 and 6 (174) (176)

Other operating costs 13.5 (1,999) (1,996)

Recurring (1,963) (1,990)

Non-recurring (36) (6)

Impairment losses and net gains on disposals 
of non-current assets 6 (16) (3)

RECURRING PROFIT (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (3) (464)

NON-RECURRING PROFIT (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (23) (11)

PROFIT (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (26) (475)

Finance income 13.6 27 64 

Finance cost 13.7 (34) (40)

Currency differences 6 (17)

Share of profit (loss) of associates 13.8 23 8 

Other revenues and expenses 7.1.1 99 25 

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 95 (435)

Income tax 12 (6) 162 

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 89 (273)

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent 89 (273)

Minority interests - -

BASIC EARNINGS / (LOSS) PER SHARE (€) 9.4 0.096 (0.295)

Notes 1 to 17 to the financial statements for an integral part of the 2010 consolidated income statement. 

€ million
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Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income
for 2010 and 2009Notes 2010 2011

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 89 (273)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Income and expense recognised directly in equity:

From measurement of financial instruments 737 25

Available-for-sale financial assets 7.1.1 737 25

From cash flow hedges 8 80 -

From actuarial gains and losses 10 (9) -

Tax effect 12.4 (242) (7)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY 566 18 

Amounts transferred to the consolidated income statement:

From measurement of financial instruments 7.1.1 (90) -

From cash flow hedges 8 (10) 382 

Tax effect 12.4 30 (115)

TOTAL AMOUNTS TRANSFERRED TO INCOME STATEMENT (70) 267 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 585 285 

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent 585 285 

Minority interests - -

Notes 1 to 17 to the financial statements for an integral part of the 2010 consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. 

€ million
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Consolidated Statements
of Changes in Equity for
2010 and 2009

Notes
Share Share Legal

capital premium reserve

ADJUSTED BALANCES AT 1 JANUARY 2009 743 120 149 

Consolidated comprehensive income for 2009 - - -

Distribution of 2008 profit - - -

Other changes - - -

BALANCES AT 31 DECEMBER 2009 743 120 149 

Consolidated comprehensive income for 2010 - - -

Distribution of 2009 profit - - -

Other changes 9.1 - 640 (149)

BALANCES AT 31 DECEMBER 2010 743 760 -

Notes 1 to 17 to the financial statements form an integral part 
of the consolidated statement of changes in equity for 2010.
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Voluntary Prior
Reserves of companies

Treasury Revaluation Consolidated
Total

Minority Total

reserves
year

consolidated by

shares adjustments
profit for

interest equitylosses
Full Equity

the yearconsolidation method

941 - (5) (21) (64) (357) 32 1,538 1 1,539 

- - - - - 285 (273) 12 - 12 

44 - 6 (18) - - (32) - -

(50) - - 48 - - - (2) 2 -

935 - 1 9 (64) (72) (273) 1,548 3 1,551 

- - - - - 496 89 585 - 585

- (282) 1 8 - - 273 - - -

(846) 282 (1) - 64 6 - (4) - (4)

89 - 1 17 - 430 89 2,129 3 2,132 

€ million
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Consolidated Cash Flow
Statements for 2010 and
2009

Notes 2010 2009

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 145 (280)
Profit before tax 95 (435)
Adjustments for 33 151 
Depreciation and amortisation 5.1 and 6 174 176 
Impairment losses 23 (3)
Changes in provisions 25 72 
Gains (losses) on retirements and disposals of property, 
plant and equipment (3) 4 
Gains (losses) on retirements and disposals of financial instruments (103) (21)
Finance income (27) (63)
Finance cost 15 39 
Currency differences (6) 17 
Change in fair value of financial instruments 2 (4)
Other revenues and expenses (44) (58)
Share of profit (loss) of companies accounted for using the equity method (23) (8)
Changes in working capital 135 75 
Inventories (10) 17 
Trade and other receivables (92) 104 
Other current assets (2) 4 
Trade and other payables 210 (69)
Other current liabilities 7 (10)
Other non-current assets and liabilities 22 29 
Other cash flows from operating activities (118) (71)
Interest paid (15) (16)
Dividends received 1 2 
Interest received 23 104 
Income tax (expense)/income 7 14 
Other receipts (payments) (134) (175)
CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 118 (175)
Payments on investments (190) (277)
Associates (1) (59)
Intangible assets (15) (17)
Property, plant and equipment (100) (110)
Other financial assets (68) (55)
Other assets (6) (36)
Proceeds from disposals 308 102 
Intangible assets 1 -
Property, plant and equipment 77 37 
Other financial assets 228 61 
Other assets 2 4  
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 22 39 
Proceeds from and payments for financial liability instruments 22 39 
Proceeds from bank borrowings 315 125 
Repayment of bank borrowings (293) (86)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES - (6)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS 285 (422)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5.16 1,760 2,182 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5.16 2,045 1,760

Notes 1 to 17 to the financial statements form an integral part of the consolidated cash flow statement for
2010.

€ million



Consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2010 prepared in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by
the European Union

Notes to the Account
for 2010

Translation of a report originally issued in Spanish based on
our work performed in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards in Spain and of consolidated financial
statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union
(see Notes 3 and 17). In the event of a discrepancy, the
Spanish-language version prevails.



1.1  Business of the Parent and Group

The main business of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, Sociedad
Anónima Operadora (Sole Shareholder Company) (“Iberia” or
the “Parent”) is the air transport of passengers and cargo, but
it also carries out complementary activities, the most
important of these being support services for passengers and
planes in airports and aircraft maintenance. Its registered
office is at calle Velázquez 130, Madrid.

As a passenger and cargo air transport group it operates an
extensive network serving three core markets: Spain, Europe
and the Americas, while it is a full member of the oneworld
alliance, one of the world’s largest airline groupings, which
allows it to extend its air transport business worldwide.

In 2010, these activities were carried out by Iberia, Líneas
Aéreas e España, S.A. which, within the scope of the merger
described in Note 1.2, transferred its corporate activity to the
Parent.

Besides the business lines carried on directly by itself, the
Parent has sought to complement these and develop in other
transport-related businesses by setting up or investing in the
different companies that comprise the Iberia Group (the
“Group”), which from 2011 will be headed by Iberia, Líneas
Aéreas de España, S.A. Sociedad Anónima Operadora (Sole
Shareholder Company) as parent.

1.2  Significant events 

Merger - 

On 21 January 2011, the merger between Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de
España, S.A., BA Holdco, S.A. (the sole shareholder of British

notes to the 2010 consolidated financial statementsiberia group / consolidated financial statement
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Iberia Group
1. Business of the Parent
and Group and other
information
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2. Group companies

Airways Plc) and International Consolidated Airlines Group, S.A.
(the holding company for the new IAG Group) was executed.

Following the completion of the merger, Iberia, Líneas Aéreas
de España, S.A. was extinguished and its shares delisted from
the Spanish stock exchanges on 20 January 2011.

From this moment, International Consolidated Airlines Group,
S.A. (IAG), whose shares have been listed on the London Stock
Exchange and Spain’s four stock exchanges since 24 January
2011, holds the majority of the dividend rights of Iberia and
British Airways. Its shareholders, at the start of listing, were
the shareholders of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. and BA
Holdco, S.A.

Joint Business Agreement

In July 2010, the European Commission and the US Department
of Transportation gave their final approval to the Joint Business
Agreement (JBA) to operate North Atlantic routes. The JBA
began operating in October 2010.

2.1 Subsidiaries

Basic information about the companies in the Iberia Group
consolidated by the full consolidation method and their
equity at 31 December 2010, obtained from their unaudited
financial statements, is as follows:
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Name % Ownership Information on the subsidiary at 31-12-10
Carrying

Registered office (direct and indirect) amount

Corporate purpose
Share Profit (loss) Other 

Equity
of the

2010 2009 capital for the year equity investment

Group companies:

Compañía Auxiliar al Cargo Exprés, S.A. 75.00 75.00 - - 5 6 1

Centro de Carga Aérea Parcela  2 p.5 nave 6, Madrid 

Cargo transport

Cargosur, S.A. 100.00 100.00 6 - - 6 6

Velázquez, 130, Madrid

Air cargo transport 

Iber-América Aerospace, LLC 65.33 65.33 1 - - 1 1

Miami, Florida (Estados Unidos)

Trading in aircraft parts and engines

Iberia Tecnología, S.A. 100.00 100.00 1 - - 2 1

Velázquez, 130, Madrid

Aircraft maintenance services

Iberia México, S.A. 100.00 100.00 - - - 1 -

Ejército Nacional 439. Mexico

Merchandise storage, security and custody services

Iberia Opco Holding, S.L. 100.00 100.00 - - - - -

Velázquez, 130, Madrid

Asset management and consultancy services

Binter Finance B.V. 100.00 100.00 - - - 1 -

Prins Bernhardplein 200  1097 JB Amsterdam

Financing and cash management

VIVA Vuelos Internacionales de Vacaciones, S.A. 100.00 100.00 1 - 4 5 1

Velázquez, 130, Madrid

Aircraft maintenance 

Campos Velázquez, S.A. 100.00 100.00 1 - - 1 1

Velázquez, 130, Madrid

Acquisition and holding of urban land 

Auxiliar Logística Aeroportuaria, S.A. 75.00 75.00 - - - 1 -

Centro de Carga Aérea Parcela 2 p 5 nave 6; Madrid

Cargo transport

Consultores Hansa, S.A. 100.00 100.00 - - - - -

Velázquez, 130, Madrid

Market consultancy

Iberia Desarrollo Barcelona, S.L.R. 75.00 75.00 6 - - 5 4

Bergara, 3; Barcelona

Promotion and development of airport infrastructure

Handling Guinea Ecuatorial, S.A. (HANGESA)   51.00 51.00 - 1 1 2 -

Malabo (Equatorial Guinea)

Handling 

€ million



Notes 9.2 and 13.8 of these notes to the consolidated financial
statements set out the contributions made by each of these
companies to the Group’s profits and reserves. Assets
contributed by these companies are immaterial as a
proportion of total Group assets.

2.2 Associates

General information on the Group’s main associates and basic
information on their equity at 31 December 2010, obtained
from their unaudited financial statements, are as follows:
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% Ownership  
Information on the subsidiary at 31-12-10(direct and indirect)

Carrying
Name Share Profit (loss) Other Total Total amount
Registered office 2010 2009 capital for the equity Equity assets revenue of the 
Corporate purpose year investment

Associates:

Serpista, S.A.   39.00 39.00 1 1 5 7 13 14 -

Marcelo Espínola, 10;  Madrid

Maintenance of airport equipment

Sociedad Conjunta para la Emisión y gestión de

Medios de Pago EFC, S.A.    43.50 43.50 6 1 14 21 36 38 4

Ortega y Gasset, 22; Madrid

Issue and management of payment cards

Grupo Air Miles España, S.A. 25.00 (a) 33.33 (a) - 1 3 4 105 5 1

Avda. de Bruselas, 20;  Alcobendas.  Madrid

Multi-sector loyalty scheme

Multiservicios Aeroportuarios, S.A. 49.00 49.00 - 1 6 7 21 60 -

Avenida de Manoteras, 46;  Madrid

Auxiliary services in airports

Empresa Logística de Carga Aérea, S.A. (ELCA) 50.00 50.00 - - 1 1 1 1 -

Aeropuerto Jose Martí.  Ciudad de La Habana

Cargo terminal operator

Empresa Hispano Cubana de Mantenimiento de

Aeronaves Ibeca, S.A. 50.00 50.00 - - 1 1 2 2 -

Aeropuerto Jose Martí.  Ciudad de La Habana

Aircraft maintenance

International Supply Management, S.L. 49.00 49.00 1 - (1) - 7 9 1

Pozuelo de Alarcón. Madrid

Sale of chemical products

Noamar Air Handling Holdco N.V. 40.00 40.00 - - - - - - -

Amsterdam

Owning and financing companies

Aerohandling Ltd 40.00 40.00 - - - - 2 4 -

Ben Gurion Airport - Tel Aviv - Israel

Handling services

Vueling Airlines, S.A. 45.85 45.85 30 46 123 199 509 806 109

Parque de Negocios Mas Blau; Barcelona

Passenger transport

Madrid Aerospace Services, S.L. 50.00 50.00 5 (1) (1) 3 6 5 -

Pol. Ind. Las Monjas - C/Verano, 9

Landing gear maintenance

(a) The calculation of the percentage ownership includes the treasury shares held. 
Notes 9.2 and 13.8 set out the contributions of each of these companies to the Group's earnings and reserves.

€ million



2.3 Changes in the scope of consolidation

The companies comprising the Iberia Group at 31 December
2010 are the same as those at 31 December 2009, except that
at 31 December 2010, Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, Sociedad
Anónima Operadora (Sole Shareholder Company) was a
wholly owned subsidiary of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España,
S.A.

As a result of the hive down project indicated in Note 1.1 and
the completion of the merger described in Note 1.2, at the date
of authorisation of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. (parent of the
Iberia Group at 31 December 2009) was dissolved following its
merger with BA Holdco, S.A. and IAG, universally transferring
all of its assets and liabilities to Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de
España, Sociedad Anónima Operadora (Sole Shareholder
Company), which in 2010 became the Parent of the Iberia
Group.

In addition, 90 shares of Air Miles España, S.A. were sold,
generating a gain of €1 million, recognised under “Other
revenues and expense” in the 2010 consolidated income
statement, reducing the Parent’s shareholding in Air Miles
España, S.A. to 25%.
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3.1 Applicable financial reporting framework

The financial reporting framework applicable to the Group is
established in:

- The Spanish Code of Commerce and other commercial law

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adopted by the European Union pursuant to Regulation (EC)
No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Law
62/2003, of 30 December, on tax, administration and social
order measures, as well as applicable regulations and
circulars issued by the Spanish National Securities Market
Commission (Comisión Nacional del Mercado de Valores)

- Other applicable Spanish accounting standards

3.2 Bases of presentation of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for 2010 were obtained
from the accounting records of the Parent and the companies
falling within its consolidated group and were prepared in
accordance with the financial reporting framework described
in Note 3.1 above to give a true and fair view of the Group’s
consolidated equity and consolidated financial position at 31
December 2010 and the consolidated results of its operations,
the changes in its consolidated equity and its consolidated
cash flows in the year then ended.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
individual financial statements of its constituent companies
for 2010, prepared by their respective governing bodies, are
pending approval by shareholders at their respective Annual
General Meetings. However, the directors of the Parent expect
these financial statements to be approved without significant
changes. The Group’s consolidated financial statements for
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2009 were approved by shareholders at the Ordinary General
Meeting on 2 June 2010.

3.3 Main policy decisions on IFRS 

The Group took the following decisions on the presentation of
the consolidated financial statements and other information
contained in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements:

a. The euro was considered the Group’s functional currency.
The consolidated financial statements are therefore given
in euros.

b. The statement of financial position is shown with a
distinction made between current and non-current items.
The income statement is presented on a by nature basis.

c. The Group has opted to prepare the consolidated statement
of cash flows using the indirect method.

Regarding the adoption of new standards and interpretations,
the following rulings were adopted:

3.3.1 Standards and interpretations effective in 2010

The following interpretations of accounting standards
became effective in 2010 and have been used by the Group
where applicable in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

1. Amendment to IAS 39 - Eligible Hedged Items

This amendment to IAS 39 aims to clarify two specific
questions regarding recognition of hedges: (a) when
inflation risks qualify as separable components for hedging
purposes (b) in which cases options can be used as hedges.
In relation to inflation risk hedging, the amendment

notes to the 2010 consolidated financial statementsiberia group / consolidated financial statement
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establishes that an item can only be considered as a hedge
when it is a contractually identified portion of the cash
flows hedged. For options, only their intrinsic value can be
used as a hedging instrument, not the time value, which in
any event must be recognised in profit or loss.

The Group has applied this amendment prospectively from
1 January 2010 because the impact on prior years was
immaterial. This led to an expense of €4 million recognised
in “Other revenues and expense” in the accompanying 2010
consolidated income statement.

2. From 1 January 2010, the following new standards,
amendments and interpretations have been applied: Revised
IFRS 3 Business Combinations, amended IAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements, amended IFRS 2 Shared-
Based Payment, IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations amended for Annual Improvements,
IFRS 12 Service Concession Arrangements, IFRIC 15 Agreements
for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 16 Hedges of Net
Investment in a Foreign Operation, IFRIC 17 Distributions of
Non-cash Assets to Owners and IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets
from Customers. Details of these standards and
interpretations were summarised in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements for 2009 and their
application had no material impact on the Group.

3.3.2 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective:

At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial
statements, the following standards and interpretations had
been published by the IASB but had not become effective,
either because their effective date was subsequent to the
reporting date or because they had yet to be adopted by the
European Union:
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The directors of the Parent have measured the potential
impacts of future application of these standards and
interpretations and consider that their entry into force will
have no material effect on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Mandatory application
Standard Item years beginning

on or after

Approved for use in EU:

Amendment to IAS 32 - Financial Instruments:
Presentation - Classification of Rights Issues

Revision of IAS 24- Related Party Disclosures.

Amendment to IFRIC 14 - Prepayments of a
Minimum Funding Requirement

INFRIC 19 - Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

Not approved for use in EU:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and
Measurement (released in November 2009 and
October 2010)

Improvements to IFRSs (released in May 2010)

Amendment to IFRS - Financial Instruments:
Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets (released
in October 2010)

Amends the accounting treatment for foreign
currency rights, options and warrants

Clarifies the definition of a “related party” and
simplifies the disclosure requirements for entities
that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by a government

Prepayments of minimum funding requirements
that may give rise to an asset

Accounting for extinguishing financial liabilities by
issuing equity shares

Replaces the requirements for classifying and
measuring financial assets and liabilities of IAS 39

Amendments to certain standards

Requires additional disclosures and increases
disclosures on transfer transactions of financial
assets

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

Mostly mandatory for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2011; some for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2010

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011



3.4 Responsibility for the information and estimates made

The information included in these consolidated financial
statements is the responsibility of the directors of the Parent.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2010 made
use of estimates by the Parent’s directors to measure and
recognise, as appropriate, some assets, liabilities, income,
expenses and obligations. These estimates basically relate to
the following:

- The useful lives of property, plant and equipment and of
intangible assets.

- The assessment of potential impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment, inventories, financial assets and
deferred tax assets.

- The fair value of certain financial instruments.

- Measurement of the terms of leases.

- The value of travel tickets and documents sold but never
used.

- The fair value of points granted to holders of “Iberia Plus”
loyalty cards.

- Measurement of provisions and contingencies.

- The assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of
obligations to employees.

The estimates were made on the basis of the best information
available at 31 December 2010 on the events analysed. It is
however possible that future events may lead to a
modification of these estimates in coming years. Any such
changes would have only a prospective effect.
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3.5 Consolidation principles

3.5.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are companies over which Iberia can exercise
effective control. Effective control is evidenced in general,
although not exclusively, by the direct or indirect ownership of
50% or more of the voting rights of the subsidiaries or, when
the Parent has a lower or no ownership stake, by shareholder
agreements that assure it control. Control is the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of that entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

Accordingly, Iber-América Aerospace, LLC and Handling Guinea
Ecuatorial, S.A. have not been considered subsidiaries due to
limitations on the exercise of effective control.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are consolidated
with those of the Parent using the full consolidation method.
Consequently, all material balances and results of transactions
between consolidated companies were eliminated on
consolidation.

Interests owned by third parties in Group equity and third
parties’ share in profit or loss for the year are recorded under
“Minority interests” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated income statement, respectively.

3.5.2 Associates

Associates are entities over which the Parent has significant
influence and which are neither a subsidiary nor a joint
venture. Usually, this influence is evidenced by a direct or
indirect holding of 20% or more of the investee’s voting power.

Investments in associates and Group companies not
considered “Subsidiaries” are accounted for using the equity
method; that is, the Group accounts for its proportional share
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in the associate’s equity, net of any dividends received and
other equity eliminations. The Group’s share of the associate’s
profit or loss for the year is recognised in “Share of profits
(losses) of associates” in the consolidated income statement.

Gains or losses from any transactions with associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
associate concerned.

If an associate incurs losses to the extent that its equity
becomes negative, it is recorded as zero in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position, since the Group
has no obligation to support the associate financially.

Exceptionally, the “Iberbus” companies (Note 7.1), in which the
Group owns more than 20% of the voting rights, are not
considered to be associates and therefore are not
consolidated. This is because their controlling shareholder,
Airbus, has guaranteed that Iberia, as a non-controlling
shareholder and lender of these companies, will recover the
whole of its investment. Accordingly, they are treated as
“Loans and receivables”.

The accounting policies and principles applied by consolidated
companies have been harmonised with those of the Group
during the consolidation process.

The directors propose that the Parent’s profit for 2010 should
be distributed as follows: €6 million to the “Legal reserve” and
€56 million to “Voluntary reserves”.
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The main accounting policies and measurement bases used in
preparing the consolidated financial statements for 2010 are
as follows:

5.1 Intangible assets

Intangible assets include computer software which was
mainly acquired from third parties.The Group recognises costs
incurred to acquire or develop software programmes under
this heading. Maintenance costs of computer applications are
recognised with a charge to the income statement for the year
in which they are incurred. Computer software is amortised on
a straight-line basis over five years. In 2010, the charge for this
item was €20 million, the same as in 2009.

5.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost,
net of the related accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, if any, as described in Note 5.3.

Improvements to items of property, plant and equipment
leading to increased capacity, efficiency, or to a lengthening of
the useful lives of the assets are capitalised.

The Group depreciates the depreciable cost of its property,
plant and equipment using the straight-line method at
annual rates based on years of estimated useful life. The
estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment items
are as follows:
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The estimated residual value of rotatable fuselage parts
(those assigned to specific types or families of aircraft), which
is recognised under “Spare parts for property, plant and
equipment”, ranges from 10% to 20% of acquisition cost,
depending on the type of aircraft to which the parts are
assigned. The estimated residual value of repairable fuselage
parts, also included under this heading, is 10% of acquisition
cost. The Group depreciates in full the acquisition cost of other
items of property, plant and equipment.

When consolidating owned aircraft and aircraft operated
under a finance lease, the Group strips out from the cost of
the aircraft the cost of components that will be replaced
during the scheduled overhauls. This cost is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the period from the acquisition of the
aircraft to the first scheduled overhaul. The cost of the repairs
made during these overhauls is capitalised to property, plant
and equipment and depreciated over the period until the next
scheduled overhaul.

For each aircraft operating under an operating lease, based on
the terms of the lease, the Group recognises a provision for
the total cost of scheduled overhauls and allocates this cost to
the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the period between two consecutive overhauls (Note 10).
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Years

Aircraft 18 - 22

Buildings and other structures 20 - 50

Machinery, fixtures and tools 10 - 15

Surface transport equipment 7 - 10

Furniture and fixtures 10

Computer hardware 4 - 7

Spare parts for property, plant and equipment 8 - 18

Flight simulators 12 - 14



Maintenance costs of property, plant and equipment and the
cost of minor repairs to aircraft operated by the Group are
recognised in the income statement as incurred.

5.3 Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

When there is any indication of decline in value, the Group
performs an impairment test to estimate the possible loss of
value that may reduce the recoverable amount of the assets to
below their carrying amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the Group recognises an
impairment loss in the income statement. Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to a maximum of the original carrying
amount that would have been recognised had no impairment
loss been recognised.
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5.4 Leases

Leases are classified as finance or operating leases depending
on the substance and the nature of the transaction. The main
leases entered into by the Group are for aircraft and do not
include automatic transfer of ownership at the end of the
lease term.

To evaluate the substance and nature of a lease (finance or
operating), Group management considers the following at the
inception of the lease: whether the lease transfers ownership
by the end of the lease term, whether it is reasonably certain
that the lessee will exercise any purchase option, whether the
lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the
asset and whether the present value of the minimum lease
payments amounts to at least substantially all of the fair
value of the leased asset. If these four conditions are met, the
lease is classified as a finance lease, otherwise it is classified as
an operating lease.

Finance leases 

For finance leases, the Group recognises the cost of the leased
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position
based on the nature of the leased asset and, simultaneously, a
liability for the same amount. This amount is calculated as the
lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present
value, at the beginning of the lease term, of the minimum
payments agreed upon, plus any purchase option, when there
is no reasonable doubt as to its exercise. The calculation does
not include contingent payments, service costs or taxes that
can be passed on by the lessor. The total finance charge on the
lease is recognised in the consolidated income statement for
the year in which it is incurred, using the effective interest rate
method. Contingent payments, if any, are recognised as an
expense for the year they are incurred.
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The assets recognised for these types of transactions are
depreciated on the basis of their nature using the same
criteria as those applied to other items of property, plant and
equipment.

Operating leases

Costs from operating leases are recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year when they are incurred.

Any receipt or payment made on contracting an operating
lease is treated as an advance receipt or payment and
recognised in the income statement over the lease term as the
benefits of the leased asset are received or given.

5.5 Financial instruments

The financial assets held by the Group are classified as
follows:

a. Loans and receivables: financial assets arising from the sale
of goods or the rendering of services in the ordinary course
of business, or financial assets which did not arise from the
ordinary course of business but are not equity instruments
or derivatives, have fixed or determinable payments and are
not traded in an active market.

b. Financial assets held for trading: those acquired with the
purpose of selling them in the near term or part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments for which there
is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking. This category includes financial derivatives except
for those that constitute financial guarantee contracts
(such as pledges) or have been designated as hedging
instruments.

c. Investments in associates: associates are companies over
which the Parent exercises significant influence.

notes to the 2010 consolidated financial statementsiberia group / consolidated financial statement

39



d. Available-for-sale financial assets: these include debt
securities and equity instruments of other companies that
are not classified in any of the previous categories.

Loans and receivables are initially measured at the fair value
of the consideration given plus directly attributable
transaction costs and, thereafter, at amortised cost. The Group
has recognised provisions to cover non-payment risks. These
provisions are calculated according to the probability of
recovering the debt based on its age and the debtor’s solvency.
At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the fair values of these assets
were not materially different from their values in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Financial assets held for trading are measured at fair value
through profit and loss on the consolidated income
statement.

Investments in associates are measured in accordance with
the criteria explained in Note 3.5.2 above. This item in the
consolidated statement of financial position mainly consists
of the Parent’s stake in Vueling Airlines, S.A., including the
goodwill implied in the cost for €48 million related to the
projected future profits of the investee. At 31 December 2010,
this value of this investment recognised in these annual
consolidated financial statements was similar to its fair value,
of €133 million, based on its stock market price.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value,
with any changes in fair value recognised in equity until the
asset is disposed of determined to be impaired, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is
reclassified to the consolidated income statement.
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At least at each reporting date the Group tests its financial
assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss for
impairment. Objective evidence of impairment is considered
to exist when the recoverable amount of the financial asset is
lower than its carrying amount. When this occurs, the
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

The Group derecognises financial assets when the contractual
rights to the asset’s cash flows expire or it transfers the
contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial
assets or transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset. However, the Group does not
derecognise financial assets which it sells while retaining
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, instead
recognising a financial liability equal to the consideration
received.

Cash and cash equivalents

This includes cash and short-term highly liquid investments
maturing in less than three months that are readily
convertible to cash and where the risk of change in value is
insignificant, as well as accrued interest receivable on the
investments.

Treasury shares of the Parent

Treasury shares are recognised at the value of the
consideration paid and are deducted from equity. Gains and
losses on the acquisition, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury
shares are recognised in equity.
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Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include payables owed by the Group that
arose from the purchase of goods and services in the normal
course of its business, or non-commercial payables that cannot
be considered to be derivative financial instruments.

These payables are initially recognised at the fair value of the
consideration received, adjusted for directly attributable
transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the amortised
cost was not materially different from fair value.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities once the resulting
obligations have been extinguished.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging transactions

The derivatives held by the Group relate mainly to foreign
currency, interest rate and fuel price hedges, the purpose of
which is to significantly reduce these risks in the underlying
hedged transactions.

Financial derivatives are initially recognised at cost in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and remeasured
to fair value thereafter. Increases in value are recognised under
“Non-current financial assets - Derivatives” and reductions in
value under “Non-current borrowings – Derivatives” or “Current
borrowings - Derivatives” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Gains and losses from these changes are
recognised in the consolidated income statement, unless the
derivative has been designated as a hedging instrument and
the resulting hedge is highly effective, in which case the
recognition criteria are as follows:
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1. Fair value hedges: the hedged item and the hedging
instrument are both measured at fair value, and any changes
in their fair values are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, netting their effects under the same heading.

2. Cash flow hedges: the intrinsic value of cash flow hedges is
recognised in “Equity – Valuation adjustments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position, whereas the
time value of these hedges is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. The cumulative gain or loss recognised
in “Equity – Valuation adjustments” is transferred to the
consolidated income statement to match the underlying’s
impact (for the risk hedged) on the consolidated income
statement; thus this effect is netted off under the same
heading in the consolidated income statement.

The fair value of the various derivative financial instruments is
calculated by discounting estimate future cash flows based on
spot and forward market conditions at the reporting date.

5.6 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of acquisition cost
(weighted average cost) or market value (net realisable value)
and include mainly aircraft spare parts, repairable aircraft
engine parts and fuel.

The Group makes the appropriate valuation adjustments, and
recognises them as an expense in the income statement when
the net realisable value of the inventories is lower than their
acquisition cost.

5.7 Balances and transactions in currencies other than the
euro

Transactions in currencies other than the euro and the
resulting receivables and payables are recognised at their
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equivalent euro value at the transaction date. Receivables and
payables denominated in currencies other than the euro are
translated at the exchange rates prevailing at 31 December each
year. Any differences in value arising from a discrepancy
between the official exchange rates at year-end and the
exchange rates at which non-euro receivables and payables
were originally recognised or from differences with exchange
rates at the date of collection or payment of non-euro
receivables, payables and cash or equivalent balances are
allocated to “Exchange differences” or “Other operating costs” in
the consolidated income statement depending on their nature.

Following customary airline practice, the balance of the
liability for unused traffic documents is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the exchange
rate prevailing in the month of the sale, as set by the
International Air Transport Association (IATA). The IATA
exchange rate for each month is the average exchange rate for
the last five working days prior to the 25th, inclusive, of the
preceding month. These balances are not remeasured at the
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and there are only currency difference when they are
reimbursed. This impact is not material.

5.8 Income tax

Since 1 January 2002, certain Iberia Group subsidiaries file
consolidated tax returns under the tax system provided for by
Chapter VII of Title VII of the Amended and Consolidated
Spanish Corporate Income Tax Law. The Consolidated Tax
Group is made up of all the fully consolidated companies
except for Binter Finance, BV and Iberia México, S.A., which do
not meet the legal requirements for inclusion.

The income tax payable or receivable comprises the current
tax payable or receive and the deferred tax expense or income.
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For each company, the current tax for the year is the amount
paid in settlement of the income tax returns for that year. Tax
credits and other tax benefits applied to the taxable profit,
excluding withholdings, prepayments and tax loss
carryforwards effectively offset during the year, are deducted
from the current tax amount.

Deferred tax expense or income relates to the recognition and
derecognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities. These
include the temporary differences, measured at the amount
expected to be payable or recoverable, between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases, as well as
tax loss and tax credit carryforwards. Temporary differences or
tax credit carryforwards are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is considered probable that the Group will
have sufficient taxable profits in the future against which the
deferred tax asset can be offset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from items directly
charged or credited to equity accounts are also recognised
with a charge or credit, respectively, to equity.

Recognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and the appropriate adjustments are
made where there are doubts as to their future recoverability.
Also, unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised where it has
become probable that they will be recovered through future
taxable profits.
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5.9 Income and expense recognition

Income and expenses are recognised on an accrual basis, i.e.
when the actual flow of the related goods and services occurs,
regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial flow
arises.

Ticket sales and sales of the traffic documents for cargo and
other services are initially recognised in “Customer
prepayments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position. This shows the estimated liability for ticket sales and
traffic documents sold each year prior to 31 December but not
yet used at that date. The related revenue is recognised when
the transport or service actually happens.

Iberia operates the “Iberia Plus” card to promote customer
loyalty. Cardholders accumulate points for taking certain
flights, using the services of entities participating in the
programme or making purchases with certain credit cards.
The points can be exchanged for free tickets or other services
offered by participating companies. Points are measured
initially at fair value, which is recognised as deferred income.
The balance of unused points at 31 December 2010 of €168
million (€156 million at 31 December 2009) is recognised
under “Long-term accruals” on the liabilities side of the
consolidated statement of financial position.

When programme users redeem points against services
provided by the Group, the points used are subtracted for the
user’s balance and recognised as income in the consolidated
income statement. However, when users redeem points
against products or services offered by other programme
members, the points are cancelled with a balancing entry in a
payable item to that member. The difference between the
value of the points cancelled and the liability assumed by the
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Group, calculated in accordance with the terms of the
member agreements, is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Income recognised for redeemed points
includes not only the value of the points themselves, but also
a percentage estimated to represent the number of points
that will be left unredeemed by Iberia Plus beneficiaries. It is
currently estimated that 27.59% of points will never be
redeemed, based on the experience of the Group over the
lifetime of the programme.

In general, any incentives, bonuses or discounts received in cash
or in kind by the Parent relating to aircraft coming into service
under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated
income statement either on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease or when the incentive, bonus or discount is used.
Amounts not yet recognised as income at each year-end are
included under “Long-term accruals” on the liabilities side of
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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To determine profit or loss from operations, the Group
distinguishes between recurring and non-recurring
operations, classifying as non-recurring income and expenses
deriving from atypical or one-off transactions.

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method and dividend income is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established. Interest and dividends from financial assets
accrued after the date of acquisition are recognised as income
in the consolidated income statement.

5.10 Non-current provisions

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors drew a distinction between:

1. Provisions: credit balances covering present obligations
arising from past events, the settlement of which is likely to
cause an outflow of resources, but which are uncertain as to
their amount and/or timing.

2. Contingent liabilities: possible obligations that arise from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the
consolidated companies.

The consolidated financial statements recognise provisions
when it is considered more likely than not that the
corresponding obligation will have to be settled. Contingent
liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, unless the possibility of an outflow in
settlement is considered to be remote.
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Provisions are measured at the present value of the best
possible estimate of the amount required to settle or transfer
the obligation, taking into account the information available
on the event and its consequences. Where discounting is used,
adjustments made to provisions are recognised as a finance
cost on an accrual basis. The Group reverses these provisions,
fully or partially, when the obligations cease to exist or are
reduced.

Obligations to employees

Under the collective labour agreements in force, on reaching
the age of 60 Iberia flight crew have the option of becoming
placed on reserve and retaining their employment
relationship until reaching the statutory retirement age or
remaining active, with restrictions placed on their activity.
Iberia recognises the costs of staff placed on reserve
throughout the active working life of each employee in
accordance with the related actuarial studies based on
estimates at the time of this placement.

The collective labour agreements in force also provide that
Iberia flight crew who meet certain conditions may take early
retirement (special leave of absence and voluntary
termination). Iberia is required to remunerate these
employees until they reach the statutory retirement age. The
Group recognises a provision for this based on actuarial
studies, with a charge against the consolidated income
statement in the year that this happens. At present, 157
employees are on special leave and 225 employees have opted
for voluntary termination.
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The actuarial studies were carried out by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method and based on
a discount rate of 3.27% and PERM/F-2000 P mortality tables,
assuming 2% annual growth in the CPI, among other
assumptions.

Restructuring plans

In December 2001, the Parent obtained authorisation from the
employment authorities for a collective redundancy
procedure to be applied to various employee groups. This plan
has been extended by further authorisations and remains in
force until 31 December 2013. The procedure provides for
payments of certain amounts to affected employees until the
statutory retirement age. Provisions are recognised when the
collective redundancy procedure is approved or extended and
there are valid expectations regarding the employees affected.

The actuarial studies made by independent experts used to
estimate these liabilities were based on the same
assumptions as those made to determine the provisions for
obligations with employees, except the discount rate, which in
this case was 2.31%.

Also, a collective redundancy procedure for handling staff on
the ground associated with the process for the assignment of
resources by way of subrogation was approved in 2006 which
will remain in force until 2014. The accompanying consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2010 includes
no provision for this second collective redundancy procedure,
since there is no associated cost commitment.

5.11 Montepío de Previsión Social Loreto

The main purpose of the Montepío de Previsión Social Loreto
is to pay retirement pensions to its members (who include
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Iberia’s employees) and other welfare benefits in certain
circumstances (death or permanent disability).

Under the current collective labour agreements, the Parent
and its employees make the statutory contributions (defined
contributions) to the Montepío, as established in these labour
agreements. The Montepío’s bylaws limit the Parent’s liability
to the payment of the statutory contributions established.

The Group’s contributions in 2010 and 2009 were  €24 million,
recognised under “Employee costs – Recurring” in the
accompanying consolidated income statement.

5.12 Related party transactions

The Group carries out all transactions with related parties at
market value. Also, transfer prices are adequately
documented, so the Parent’s directors consider that there are
no significant risks that could give rise to material liabilities in
the future.

5.13 Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

The Group classifies a non-current asset or disposal group as
held for sale when it has taken the decision to sell it and the
sale is expected to be completed within 12 months or as stated
in a signed sale agreement.

These assets or disposal groups are measured at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets held for sale are not depreciated, but
rather at the date of each consolidated statement of financial
position the related valuation adjustments are made to
ensure that the carrying amount is not higher than fair value
less costs to sell.
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Income and expenses arising from non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale which do not qualify as
discontinued operations are recognised under the
corresponding heading in the consolidated income statement
by nature.

5.14 Current / Non-current classification

In the consolidated statement of financial position, assets and
liabilities that are expected to be settled or fall due within 12
months from the reporting date are classified as current items
and those which fall due or will be settled within more than 12
months are classified as non-current items.

5.15 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or
loss for the year attributable to the Parent by the weighted
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average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year, excluding the average number of shares of the Parent
held by the Group companies.

5.16 Consolidated statement of cash flows

The following terms, with the meanings specified, are used in
the consolidated statement of cash flows, which was
prepared using the indirect method:

1. Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash
equivalents, which are short-term investments that are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2. Operating activities: the principal revenue-producing
activities of the Group and other activities that are not
investing or financing activities.

3. Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of long-
term assets and other investments not included in cash
and cash equivalents.

4. Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the
size and composition of the equity and borrowings of the
Group companies that are not operating activities.

In preparing the statement of cash flows the Group includes
under “Cash and cash equivalents” not only the balance
under “Cash and cash equivalents” in the statement of
financial position, but also part of the balances under
“Current assets - Other financial assets” (see Note 7.2) which
met the conditions to be considered as highly liquid
investments that are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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The main items in the statement of cash flows relate to
payments on investments related to aircraft purchases (Note
6) as well as finance received and payments made under
“Other receipts (payments)” which include payments made to
employees arising from the provisions for restructuring and
from obligations to employees (Note 10).

5.17 Activities with an environmental impact

Environmental activities are generally considered to be those
aimed at preventing, reducing or repairing damage to the
environment.

Accordingly, investments deriving from environmental
activities are measured at cost and capitalised as an increase
to property, plant and equipment in the year they are carried
out in accordance with the criteria described in Note 5.2.

Costs arising from environmental protection and
improvements are taken to the income statement for the year
in which they are incurred, irrespective of when the associated
monetary or financial flows take place.

Provisions for contingencies or liabilities, litigation in progress
and indemnities or obligations of undetermined amount
related to the environment that are not covered by insurance
policies are made as soon as the contingency or liability giving
rise to the indemnity or payment occurs.
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The variations in 2010 and 2009 in property, plant and
equipment were as follows:
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€ million

Additions or  
2010 31-12-2009

provisions Transfers Retirements 31-12-2010

Cost:

Aircraft 1,457 170 115 (101) 1,641

1,457 170 115 (101) 1,641

Other property, plant and equipment

Land 3 - - - 3

Buildings and other structures 155 - 22 (4) 173

Machinery, fixtures and tools 466 15 1 (7) 475

Surface transport equipment 33 1 - - 34

Furniture and fixtures 22 - - (2) 20

Computer hardware 114 7 - (32) 89

Spare parts for property, plant 
and equipment 209 20 4 (10) 223

Flight simulators 3 - - - 3

Work in progress 22 17 (33) - 6

1,027 60 (6) (55) 1,026

Depreciation:

Aircraft (723) (106) - 33 (796)

(723) (106) - 33 (796)

Other property, plant and equipment

Buildings and other structures (121) (3) - 4 (120)

Machinery, fixtures and tools (347) (21) - 6 (362)

Surface transport equipment (26) (2) - - (28)

Furniture and fixtures (16) (1) - 1 (16)

Computer hardware (90) (9) - 30 (69)

Spare parts for property, 
plant and equipment (97) (12) - 3 (106)

Flight simulators (1) - - - (1)

(698) (48) - 44 (702)

Provisions:

Aircraft (17) (8) - 1 (24)

(17) (8) - 1 (24)

Total, net 1,046 1,145

6. Property, plant and
equipment
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€ million

Additions or  
2009 31-12-2008 provisions Transfers Retirements 31-12-2009

Cost:

Aircraft 1,549 46 25 (163) 1,457

1,549 46 25 (163) 1,457

Other property, plant and equipment

Land 3 - - - 3

Buildings and other structures 158 - - (3) 155

Machinery, fixtures and tools 450 16 4 (4) 466

Surface transport equipment 32 1 - - 33

Furniture and fixtures 21 2 - (1) 22

Computer hardware 112 5 - (3) 114

Spare parts for property, plant 
and equipment 216 22 - (29) 209

Flight simulators 3 - - - 3

Work in progress 21 29 (12) (16) 22

1,016 75 (8) (56) 1,027

Depreciation:

Aircraft (731) (105) - 113 (723)

(731) (105) - 113 (723)

Other property, plant and equipment

Buildings and other structures (118) (4) - 1 (121)

Machinery, fixtures and tools (330) (22) - 5 (347)

Surface transport equipment (23) (3) - - (26)

Furniture and fixtures (16) (1) - 1 (16)

Computer hardware (81) (11) - 2 (90)

Spare parts for property, plant 
and equipment (105) (10) - 18 (97)

Flight simulators (1) - - - (1)

(674) (51) - 27 (698)

Provisions:

Aircraft (39) (2) - 24 (17)

Other property, plant and equipment (3) - - 3 -

(42) (2) - 27 (17)

Total, net 1,118 1,046



6.1 Aircraft

6.1.1 Fleet in service

Following is a summary of the Group’s aircraft in service at 31
December 2010:

Number of aircraft

Under Under

Under finance operating

Fleet Owned lease lease Total

a) Owned aircraft and aircraft operated under finance lease –
movements in the year

Additions

Additions in 2010 and 2009 relate to:

In 2010, the Parent acquired two aircraft for the A-319 fleet,
one for the A-320 fleet and two A-340/600 (through finance
leases) with the related engines, as well as two additional
engines for the A-320 fleet. Deposits on these acquisitions
were put down previously for a total amount of €108 million.

The two A-319 and the A-320 aircraft have been sold, while
the Parent has entered into operating leases for the two
A-319 aircraft.
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Number of aircrafts
Fleet Under Under Under Total

owned finance lease operating lease

A-319 - - 23 23

A-320 3 6 26 35

A-321 - 4 15 19

A-340/300 6 1 11 18

A-340/600 - 2 15 17

9 13 90 112

€ million

2010 2009

Aircraft 96 15

Engines 62 12

Refurbishment 12 19

170 46



Transfers 

Transfers in 2010 mainly concerned deposits previously put
down for the acquisition of the aircraft and engines
mentioned above. The deposits were recognised in “Non-
current financial assets” and “Current financial assets”, as
well as “Other financial assets” (see Notes 7.1.3 and 7.2).

Retirements

The main retirements in 2010 related to the sale of two
aircraft of the A-319 and A-320 fleets indicated in
“Additions” in this note. In addition, two engines of the A-
320 fleet were sold with a cost of €5.5 million, while €22
million was derecognised for internal refurbishments on
aircraft that were fully depreciated. These transactions
produced a gain of €4 million, recognised in “Impairment
losses and net gains on disposal of non-current assets” in
the accompanying 2010 consolidated income statement.

b) Aircraft operated under operating and wet leases

Following are the expiry dates of the operating leases of
aircraft being operated by the Group:

In 2010, an A-340/600 aircraft whose operating lease was
arranged in 2009 entered into service, along with the two
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Year No. of
Fleet 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2021 2022 Aircrafts

A-319 2 5 6 2 2 1 - - 5 - - 23

A-320 - 2 6 2 2 5 - - 9 - - 26

A-321 - - 1 - 2 3 2 1 6 - - 15

A-340/300 1 4 2 3 1 - - - - - - 11

A-340/600 - - - - 3 2 3 4 - 1 2 15

Total 3 11 15 7 10 11 5 5 20 1 2 90



A-319s mentioned in section a) of this note and the two A-
340/600 whose leases were arranged in 2010. The lease
terms of these ranges from nine to 12 years. The leases on
the A-319 aircraft do not include purchase options or the
possibility of extending the lease periods. The leases for the
A-340s include purchase options, although the Parent’s
directors do not expect any of these options to be exercised
at maturity.

In addition, the Parent returned one A-319, two A-320s, one
of which was not in service at the 2009 year-end, and three
A-340/300 aircraft, of which one was not in service at the
end of 2009 and one was leased again.

Operating lease costs

The lease payments in 2010 and 2009 for aircraft operating
and wet leases (lease agreements including crew)
amounted to €306 million and €331 million, respectively,
and are included under “Other operating costs - Recurring”
in the consolidated income statement (Note 13.5). The
approximate total for future operating lease payments,
including estimated contingent payments calculated based
on the interest rates and exchange rates prevailing at 31
December 2010, is as follows:
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€ million
Year 31-12-2010 31-12-2009

2011 278 242

2012 261 228

2013 205 177

2014 182 150

2015 and beyond 616 456

1,542 (*) 1,253

(*) Equivalent to $2,061 million at the 2010 year-end exchange rate. The exchange rate and interest rate
risks on these lease payments are partially hedged with derivatives (Note 8).



c) Commitments and other guarantees on the fleet

The Group has given an undertaking to subscribers to a
bond issue that it will continue using 20 planes subject to
operating or finance leases for periods of between 9 and 14
years. At 31 December 2010, the amount of the bond
outstanding was $71 million and €120 million.

Certain operating leases contain covenants under which early
repayment obligations and aircraft acquisition commitments
are triggered by failure of the Group to comply with certain
financial ratios. The Parent’s director consider that these
ratios were being bet at 31 December 2010 and will continue
to be met throughout the terms of the leases.
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The Parent is carrying out an aircraft renewal programme
under various agreements with Airbus, covering the A-319
and A-320 fleets. Following updates to the Airbus
agreement, the aircraft not yet delivered at 31 December
2010 and the years when they are scheduled to join the fleet
are as follows:

In 2010, the Parent has entered into an agreement with
British Airways Plc for the sale of 10 of the A-320 aircraft
included in the table above, having received $23 million for
the upfront payment it was required to make to the
manufacturer.

The terms of this renewal programme oblige the Group to
post €260 million in deposits, of which it had already
delivered €95 million as of 31 December 2010 (see Note
7.1.3). The following table shows the schedule for delivery of
the outstanding amounts:

Based on the basic prices established in the agreements, the
total cost of the aircraft subject to outright purchase
commitments not yet delivered at 31 December 2010 was
approximately €874 million.
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Number of aircraftsFleet
2011 2012 2013 2014

Total

A-319 3 - - - 3

A-320 - - 10 7 17

3 - 10 7 20

€ million

2011 36

2012 95

2013 34

165



6.1.2.Fleet not in service

Owned fleet not in service

Because of the falloff in air traffic, the Group temporarily
grounded eight owned A-320 aircraft in 2009. In 2010, the
Group began operating one of these aircraft again. It expects
the other seven aircraft, with a net carrying amount of €28
million, to come back into service in the coming months.

In addition, the Group keeps certain assets of property, plant
and equipment in the consolidated statement of financial
position, basically on B-757 aircraft and various engines, which
are not in service. The cost of these assets, €75 million, is
covered entirely by the related depreciation and provisions
recognised.

Leased fleet not in service

At the end of 2010, the Group had an A-320 and an A-340/360
aircraft operated under operating lease out of service and
pending return. The Parent is considering extending the
operating lease for the A-340/300 operated up until
September 2010.

Non-current assets held for sale

The Group owns MD aircraft and engines which are to be sold
in the coming years under the signed sale contracts.

It June 2010, six MD aircraft engines were sold, generating a
gain of €4 million, which was recognised under “Impairment
and gains on disposal of non-current assets” in the
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accompanying 2010 consolidated income statement. In
addition, an impairment loss on these aircraft of €4 million
was recognised under “Impairment and gains on disposal of
non-current assets” in the accompanying 2010 consolidated
income statement.

At 31 December 2010, these assets had been provisioned in full.

6.2 Other property, plant and equipment

The main additions and transfers in 2010 relate to the new
facilities built at Barcelona-El Prat airport, for an investment of
€22 million.

The carrying amount of the buildings and facilities built on
Spanish state-owned land, mainly at national airports, was
€53 million and €33 million, respectively, at 31 December 2010
and 2009. The Parent’s directors do not expect any material
losses to arise as a result of the reversion process since the
maintenance programmes ensure that the items are always in
good operating condition.

6.3 Assets held under finance leases

At 31 December 2010, the total cost of property, plant and
equipment acquired under finance leases, mainly aircraft, was
€604 million with €155 million of accumulated depreciation
(€408 million and €127 million at 31 December 2009).

The schedule for lease payments outstanding at 31 December
2010, including any purchase options, is shown in Note 11.2.
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6.4 Fully depreciated items

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the cost of the Group’s fully
depreciated items of property, plant and equipment was €427
million and €407 million, respectively, the detail being as
follows:

6.5 Insurance coverage

Group companies have taken out insurance policies for their
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, which
provide adequate cover for their carrying amount at 31
December 2010. Also, the Group has taken out insurance
policies to cover aircraft leased to third parties.
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€ million
2010 2009

Aircraft 43 29

Buildings and other structures 58 62

Machinery, fixtures and tools 252 229

Furniture and fixtures 10 8

Computer hardware 47 66

Other assets 17 13

427 407



7.1 Non-current financial assets

The detail of “Non-current financial assets” at 31 December
2010 and 2009 is as follows:

7.1.1 Equity instruments

Movements in equity instruments in the consolidated
statement of financial position during 2010 and 2009 were as
follows:
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7. Financial assets

€ million

2010
Equity  Loans to   Derivatives Other financial  

instruments third parties (Note 8) assets  
Total

Loans and receivables 7 74 - 125 206

Available-for-sale financial assets:

At fair value 889 - - - 889

At cost 10 - - - 10

Derivatives - - 16 - 16

Total 906 74 16 125 1,121

€ million

2009
Equity  Loans to   

Derivatives 
Other financial  

instruments third parties assets  
Total

Loans and receivables 10 77 - 147 234

Available-for-sale financial assets:

At fair value 242 - - - 242

At cost 17 - - - 17

Derivatives - - 4 - 4

Total 269 77 4 147 497
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€ million
% 

Balance at Exchange Valuation Balance at2010 ownership at
31-12-2009

Transfers Retirements
differences adjustments 31-12-201031-12-2010

Loans and receivables:

Iberbus companies 40.00-45.00 10 - (4) 1 - 7

Available-for-sale financial assets:

- At fair value

British Airways Plc 9.99 242 - - - 121 363

Amadeus IT Holding, S.A. 7.50 - 7 (97) - 616 526

- At cost

Amadeus IT Holding, S.A. 7.50 7 (7) - - - -

Servicios de Instrucción de Vuelo, S.L. 19.90 9 - - - - 9

Other 1 - - - - 1

269 - (101) 1 737 906

€ million
% 

Balance at Exchange Valuation Balance at2009 ownership at
31-12-2008

Additions Retirements
differences adjustments 31-12-200931-12-2009

Loans and receivables:

Iberbus companies 40.00-45.00 10 - (2) 1 - 10

Available-for-sale financial assets:

- At fair value

British Airways Plc 9.99 217 - - - 25 242

- At cost

Servicios de Instrucción de Vuelo, S.L. 19.90 9 - - - - 9

Amadeus IT Holding, S.A. 11.57 7 - - - - 7

Other 2 - (1) - - 1

247 - (3) - 25 269



Iberbus companies

Airbus, the controlling shareholder of the Iberbus companies,
has guaranteed the recovery of all the financial investments and
loans made by Iberia to these companies. For this reason, no
provisions were taken against the stakes in these companies
and they continue to be carried at their acquisition cost.

British Airways Plc

At 31 December 2010, the Group had a 9.9% ownership
interest in British Airways Plc, with an acquisition cost of €331
million. The fair value of this investment at 31 December 2010
based on the company’s stock market price was €363 million.
The change in fair value from acquisition cost, net of the
related tax effect, is recognised with a credit to “Valuation
adjustments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 31 December 2010.

Amadeus IT Holding (formerly Wam Acquisition, S.A.)

Trading in the shares of Amadeus IT Holding, S.A. began on 29
April 2010. Prior to that date, the Parent sold part of its
investment in the company, obtaining net proceeds of €13
million recognised under “Other revenues and expenses” in
the accompanying 2010 consolidated income statement.

Until its listing, the investment in Amadeus IT Holding, S.A.
was carried at acquisition cost. As reliable information was
available with the company’s listing, the investment was
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measured at fair value. The gain, net of the related tax effect,
was recognised in “Valuation adjustments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In October 2010, the Parent sold shares in Amadeus IT Holding,
S.A. representing 1.5% of its equity for €90 million, generating
a gain of the same amount excluding the tax effect. This
amount was transferred out of “Valuation adjustments” in the
consolidated condensed statement of financial position to
“Other revenues and expenses” in the accompanying 2010
consolidated income statement.

7.1.2 Loans to third parties

The changes in this heading in the consolidated statement of
financial position in 2010 and 2009 were as follows:
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€ million

2010
Balance at Exchange

Transfers
Balance at 

31-12-2009 differences 31-12-2010

Loans to Venezolana 
Internacional de Aviación, S.A. (a) 26 - - 26

Loans to Iberbus companies 38 3 (8) 33

Loans to Aerolíneas Argentinas, S.A. (a) 36 - - 36

Loans to Iberlease 2004 Ltd. 37 3 - 40

Other loans 2 - (1) 1

Total cost 139 6 (9) 136

Provisions (62) - - (62)

Total, net 77 74



Iberbus companies

The Group has granted loans to each of the four Iberbus
investees with which it has aircraft operating leases for the A-
340 fleet. The principal on these loans ranges from $11 million
to $22 million. The loans were granted for a period equal to the
term of the operating lease for the related aircraft and earn
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€ million

2009
Balance at

Additions
Exchange

Transfers
Balance at

31-12-2008 differences 31-12-2010

Loans to  Venezolana 
Internacional de Aviación, S.A. (a) 26 - - - 26

Loans to Iberbus companies 54 - (1) (15) 38

Loans to Aerolíneas Argentinas, S.A. (a) 36 - - - 36

Clickair, S.A.-Preference shares 76 - - (76) -

Loans to Iberlease 2004 Ltd. 38 - (1) - 37

Other loans 1 1 - - 2

Total cost 231 1 (2) (91) 139

Provisions (108) - - 46 (62)

Total, net 123 77

(a) The loans granted to Venezolana Internacional de Aviación, S.A. (VIASA) and Aerolíneas Argentinas, S.A.
arose in prior years and had been provisioned in full at 31 December 2010 and 2009.



annual interest of 4%. They are repayable in a one-off lump
sum on maturity, which will take place in the period from 2011
to 2012. The Group reclassified the loans maturing in 2011 to
“Current financial assets – Other financial assets” (see Note
7.2).

Iberlease 2004 Ltd

Iberlease 2004 Ltd., the lessor of four aircraft held by the
Group under finance leases, is also the recipient of four loans
granted by Iberia with the same term as the finance leases
and repayable in a single payment in December 2014. The
principal of these loans is $54 million and interest is an annual
6% to 6.5% paid quarterly.

7.1.3 Other non-current financial assets

The changes under this heading in 2010 and 2009 were as
follows:
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€ million

Loans and receivables
2010 Deposits for  Other Hedging transactions Total

acquisition of aircraft deposits and derivatives

Balance at 31-12-09 122 25 4 151

Additions 34 10 - 44

Retirements or provisions used - (6) - (6)

Valuation adjustments - - (19) (19)

Retirements (71) - 8 (63)

Transfers - - 23 23

Currency differences 10 1 - 11

Balance at 31-12-10 95 30 16 141



Deposits

The amounts included in “Deposits for acquisition of aircraft”
relate to reimbursable advances paid for the acquisition of
aircraft and engines (Note 6.1), the detail being as follows:

Based on scheduled aircraft deliveries, the Group considers
that deposits of €46 million will be used in 2011.

€71 million were transferred in 2010 to “Property, plant and
equipment” following the acquisition of fleet equipment
(Note 6.1). Meanwhile, in 2010 the Group undertook to acquire
€22 million worth of bonds in 2011.
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€ million

Loans and receivables
2009 Deposits for  Other Hedging transactions Total

acquisition of aircraft deposits and derivatives

Balance at 31-12-08 216 22 64 302

Additions 40 1 - 41

Retirements or provisions used (33) (3) - (36)

Valuation adjustments - - 15 15

Retirements (98) 6 (66) (158)

Transfers - (9) (9)

Currency differences (3) (1) - (4)

Balance at 31-12-09 122 25 4 151

€ million
2010 2009

Outright Under option/ Outright Under option/
purchase right to acquire purchase right to acquire

A-320 family 91 3 62 3

A-340 family - - 55 -

Engines 1 - 2 -

92 3 119 3



In 2010, settlements and other impacts of derivatives held by
the Group amounting to €23 million were transferred to the
consolidated income statement.

7.2 Current financial assets

The detail of this heading in the consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 December 2010 and 2009 is as follows:
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€ million
Balance at Balance at

31-12-2010 31-12-2009

Loans and receivables:

Loans to companies 10 31

Other financial assets 1,188 1,002

Derivatives (Note 8.2) 87 55

Total 1,285 1,088



“Other financial assets” at 31 December 2010 includes
investments in highly liquid assets amounting to €1,170
million (€874 million at 31 December 2009) and in a variety of
financial products, mainly deposits, fixed-term deposits and
promissory notes. These investments and those recognised
under “Cash equivalents” in the accompanying consolidated
statement of financial position earn interest for the Group at
market rates.

8.1 Risk management policies

The Group carries out a broad range of actions to control and
manage risks, putting in place systems that allow it to identi-
fy and mitigate the main risks affecting its various business
lines.

Risk management is integrated within the Group’s key man-
agement parameters and tools, including the consolidated in-
come statement, gearing levels, investments and disposals.
This approach allows the Group to optimise the consolidated
income statement and gearing and take balanced decisions in
terms of risk/return offered by new investments.

As for financial risks, the Group has a management pro-
gramme to control and reduce the potential impact of fluctu-
ations in exchange rates and fuel prices on earnings and to
preserve sufficient cash for its current transactions, and in-
vesting and financing activities.

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group
companies are able to continue operating as profitable
businesses whilst maximising shareholder returns. One
aspect of the policy implemented by the Group to meet its
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8. Financial instruments



objectives is the maintenance of an appropriate balance
between debt and equity. This policy reconciles the creation of
value for shareholders with access to financial markets at a
competitive cost to raise the funds required for its investment
plans where these are not met from cash flow.

The Group manages its capital using three financial measures:
equity and two measures of debt, debt on the statement of
financial position and adjusted or equivalent debt which takes
account of lease obligations:

a. Equity includes share capital, reserves, earnings and
exchange differences.

b. Net borrowings reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position include bank borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents, excluding the measurements of derivatives.

c. Adjusted or equivalent net borrowings includes capitalised
aircraft leases, excluding the impact of derivatives, and
eliminates capitalised interest on loans to Iberbus companies.

The description and amounts of these measures are as
follows:
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€ million
2010 2009

Consolidated profit/(loss) 89 (273)

Equity 2,132 1,551

In balance-sheet net debt:

Interest-bearing borrowings 585 502

Cash and cash equivalents (2,073) (1,919)

(1,488) (1,417)

Adjusted debt (*) 1,022 1,229

Gearing (adjusted net debt / equity + adjusted net debt) 32.4% 44.2%

(*) Includes aircraft lease capitalisation



Foreign exchange risk

Due to its international business, the Group generates
payments and receipts in non-euro currencies. The main risk is
a strengthening of the US dollar against the euro as the Group
has more expenses than income in dollars.

This risk is basically managed by a combination of two
temporary strategies: hedges of up to five years on operating
leases using currency swaps for an amount covering a
particular percentage of the position, and hedges of up to
three years using forward purchases, options and option
structures related to the Group’s real payment transactions in
dollars.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s position as a net creditor (including aircraft
operating leases) means it is exposed to a rise in the interest
rates of the currencies in which its short- and long-term
borrowings and payment commitments are denominated.

To manage this risk the Group keeps at least a percentage of
its borrowings at fixed rates or hedged. Also, by diversifying
the currencies it uses to raise finance (US dollar, euro, Swiss
franc and pound sterling) it reduces the risk of a rise in interest
rates affecting all the Group’s borrowings.

Fuel-price risk

The Group manages the cost of aviation fuel through active
risk-control policies and has a policy of directly hedging the
price of kerosene (JET Kero CIF-NWE).

This risk is usually mitigated using swaps and options.
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Liquidity risk

Due to the seasonal nature of its business and the need for
investment and finance to renew its aircraft, the Group
applies a liquidity policy of maintaining substantial amounts
of cash and current financial assets.

This cash position is invested in highly liquid short-term
instruments such as eurodeposits, deposits, debt “repos” and
bank promissory notes from leading financial institutions, in
accordance with the existing policy on counterparty risk.

Besides these current assets and cash position, the Group also
has permanent credit policies in place that guarantee its cash
requirements.
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The table below analyses the Group’s liquidity based on its
financial instruments at 31 December 2010 and 2009. Figures
are based on undiscounted net cash flows in the case of
derivatives, which were determined using rates implied on the
yield curve, when the settlement (receivable or payable) is not
fixed. Figures for the other financial instruments were
determined using forecast cash flows, undiscounted.
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€ million

2010 < 6 months 6 months - 1 year 1 year - 5 years > 5 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 875 - - - 875

Financial assets:

Loans to third parties - 10 74 - 84

Other financial assets 389 799 88 37 1,313

Receivables 560 - - - 560

Borrowings:

Bank borrowings (175) (4) (34) (9) (222)

Finance lease (23) (25) (301) (115) (464)

Other financial liabilities (11) (11) (14) (13) (49)

Trade and other payables (1,209) - - - (1,209)

Derivative financial instruments:

Aircraft lease hedges (8) (9) (13) 3 (27)

Foreign exchange hedges (*) (2) (3) - - (5)

Fuel hedges 45 36 - - 81

441 793 (200) (97) 937

(*) Hedges of exchange rates, fuel costs, insurance and aircraft purchases.



Pursuant to the provisions regarding information disclosures
contained in Law 15/2010, of 5 July, amending Law 3/2004, of
29 December, on measures to combat late payment in
commercial transactions, at the close of the year ended 31
December 2010, the Group did not recognise any amounts
under “Trade and other payables” related to its fully
consolidated Spanish companies with a deferral on payment
exceeding the legal limit except those in litigation.
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€ million

2009 < 6 months 6 months - 1 year 1 year - 5 years > 5 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 886 - - - 886

Financial assets:

Loans to third parties - 31 77 - 108

Other financial assets 925 134 83 7 1,149

Receivables 478 - - - 478

Borrowings:

Bank borrowings (220) (1) (19) (8) (248)

Finance lease (17) (17) (250) (16) (300)

Other financial liabilities (5) (12) (2) - (19)

Trade and other payables (1,075) - - - (1,075)

Derivative financial instruments:

Aircraft lease hedges (11) (11) (28) - (50)

Foreign exchange hedges (*) 9 5 - - 14

Fuel hedges 4 21 - - 25

974 150 (139) (17) 968

(*) Hedges of exchange rates, fuel costs, insurance and aircraft purchases.



Credit risk

The Group’s main financial assets are cash, equity instruments
and other financial assets, and trade and other receivables.
These last two categories carry most of the insolvency and
bad debt risk. In general, the Group controls its bad debt and
insolvency risks by setting credit limits and applying strict
conditions on collection periods.

The financial assets recognised in the financial statements,
net of impairment losses, represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk, without taking account of any
guarantees in place or other credit enhancements.

Trade and other receivables are mainly the amounts pending
collection from travel and cargo agencies for the transport of
passengers and goods, as well as handling and maintenance
services provided to customers. In transactions with national
airlines and travel agencies, the Group has an established
policy of requiring bank guarantees in the form of pledges
that hedge part of the credit extended to counterparties. Also,
with some travel agencies, the Group has a policy of requiring
insurance cover for part of the credit offered.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with
third parties as its commercial risk is spread across a large
number of entities. The provision for impaired trade credit at
31 December 2010 stood at €35 million, the same as at 31
December 2009.

Valuation techniques and assumptions used to measure fair
value 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities are determined
as follows:
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a. Fair values of financial assets or liabilities with standard
terms and conditions traded on active liquid markets are
determined by reference to their quoted market price.

b. The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable market transactions and dealer quotes for
similar instruments.

c. The fair values of interest rate derivatives are determined
using a discounted cash flow analysis based on the rates
implied on the yield curve according to market conditions.
The fair value of options is determined by applying a Black-
Scholes valuation model or its variants, based on market
volatilities for the strike prices and expiry dates of the
options concerned.

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

a. Level 1: measurements derived from quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

b. Level 2: measurements derived from inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

c. Level 3: measurements derived from valuation techniques
that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data.
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€ million
2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Derivative financial instruments:

Assets - 103 - 103

Liabilities - (52) - (52)

Available-for-sale assets 889 - - 889

889 51 - 940

€ million
2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Derivative financial instruments:

Assets - 59 - 59

Liabilities - (75) - (75)

Available-for-sale assets 242 - 1 243

242 (16) 1 227



8.2 Derivative financial instruments

In accordance with the risk management policy set out in
Note 8.1, the Iberia Group mainly contracts exchange rate,
interest rate and aviation fuel derivatives.

The most-used exchange rate derivatives are forwards,
options and cross currency swaps. For interest rate derivatives
the most used are interest rate swaps. Fuel price derivatives
used are mainly swaps and options.

The Group classifies its derivatives into three types in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS):

1. Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges: these mainly
hedge the cash flows from operating leases, ticket sales in
non-euro currencies and fuel procurement.

2. Derivatives designated as at fair value: these hedge the
market value of assets and liabilities recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

3. Other derivatives: those that have not been designated as a
hedge or which fail to meet IFRS criteria for a hedge.

Foreign exchange hedges

At 31 December 2010, derivatives that hedged exchange
differences, but were not specifically designated as a hedge
under IFRS (being automatically offset in the consolidated
income statement), and the underlying assets and liabilities
they hedge, are as follows:
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The fair value of these derivatives at 31 December 2010 was
not material and did not change in 2010.

At 31 December 2010, the total notional value of cash flow
hedges against exchange risks is as follows:
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Millions of US dollars
Currency 31-12-10 31-12-09

Underlying:

Assets

Loan to Iberbus companies USD 64 112

Prepayments on aircraft & engines USD 104 332

Guarantees given USD 16 1

Venezuela funds USD 38 52

A-320 equity USD 54 54

Liabilities

Borrowings A-320/321 USD (153) (153)

Borrowings A-340 USD (194) (101)

(71) 297

Derivative:

Cross currency swap USD - (7)

Fx Swaps USD 71 302

71 295

Millions of US dollars

Underlying
Expected cash Type Cash flows hedged  

outflows in 2011 of hedge 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Foreign currency cost 997 Cross Currency Swaps 229 205 164 112 46

Options:

USD “Four Ways” 171 - - - -

USD “Tunnels” 15 - - - -

FX Forwards 344 - - - -



The total notional value of cash flow hedges against exchange
risks at 31 December 2009 is as follows:

FX forwards and currency options

The market value of exchange rate derivatives (FX forwards
and options) at 31 December 2010 was a negative €5 million.
The net amount in 2010 is derived from €8 million recognised
under “Current financial assets – Derivatives” and €13 million
recognised under “Current borrowings” on the liabilities side
of the accompanying consolidated statement of financial
position. These hedges are related to cash flows that will take
place in 2011.

The cumulative change in the fair value of the exchange rate
derivatives that are effective as cash-flow hedges was a
negative €5 million before considering tax effects, which was
deferred and taken to equity, net of its tax effect.

The cumulative changes in fair value of the ineffective portion
of forwards and options (time value), a negative €1 million,
were recognised as a cost in the accompanying consolidated
income statement for 2010.
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Millions of US dollars

Underlying
Expected cash Type Cash flows hedged  

outflows of hedge 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Foreign currency cost 1,041 Cross Currency Swaps 206 171 153 95 40

Options:

USD “Four Ways” - - - - -

USD “Tunnels” 435 - - - -

FX Forwards 165 - - - -

New aircraft 160 FX Forwards 40 - - - -

Insurance 14 FX Forwards 7 - - - -



Measurement cross currency swaps (CCS)

Hedges of aircraft lease cash flows 

31 December 2010

Group Nominal in million (*)  Instrument Receives Pays
31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-12 31-12-13 31-12-14
31-12-15 31-12-16

The fair value of cross currency swaps entered into at 31
December 2010 was a negative €6 million. The net amount for
2010 is composed of €16 million in assets and €22 million in
liabilities. These hedges are related to cash flows that will take
place between 2011 and 2017.

The cumulative changes in the value of effective portion of
cross currency swaps amount to a positive €18 million,
recognised in equity net of the related tax effect.
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2010 Nominal in million (*)

Instrument
Group

Receives Pays 31-12-2010 31-12-2011 31-12-2012 31-12-2013 31-12-2014 31-12-2015 31-12-2016

Cross currency swaps:

Floating to fixed USD EUR 464 391 306 160 - - -

Floating to floating USD EUR 126 -  - - - - -

Floating to floating EUR USD 77 -  - - - - -

Fixed to fixed USD EUR 337 315 262 208 7 7 7

(*) Figures in the currency paid by the Parent.

2009 Millions (*)

Instrument
Group Nominal at Nominal at Nominal at Nominal at Nominal at

Receives Pays 31-12-2009 31-12-2010 31-12-2011 31-12-2012 31-12-2013

Cross Currency Swaps:

Floating to fixed USD EUR 340 305 244 172 40

Floating to floating USD EUR 343 126 - - -

Floating to floating EUR USD 386 77 - - -

Fixed to fixed USD EUR 246 124 116 87 44



The cumulative changes in the fair value of the ineffective
portion of the cross currency swaps, a positive €1 million, were
recognised as a decrease in cost in the accompanying
consolidated income statement for 2010.

The effect of a 10% increase in the EUR/USD exchange rate on
the value of all the Group’s currency hedges at 31 December
2010 is approximately a negative €86 million. In the event of
a 10% decline, the change in value of the hedging position at
31 December 2010 would be approximately a positive €102
million.

Interest-rate hedges

The Group uses interest rate swaps and options to manage its
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates arising from its
aircraft financing activities, as follows:
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2010 Nominal in millions of US dollars

Instrument Currency 31-12-2010 31-12-2011 31-12-2012 31-12-2013 31-12-2014 31-12-2015 31-12-2016

Interest Rate Swaps:

CAP-FLOOR (*) - Pay USD 235 212 63 - - - -

IRS Receive USD Pay USD 297 370 350 329 307 283 60

(*)The Group pays floating interest rate with a cap and floor and receives floating interest rate.

2009 Nominal in millions of US dollars

Instrument Currency 31-12-2009 31-12-2010 31-12-2011 31-12-2012

Interest Rate Swaps:

Floating to floating USD 256 235 212 63



The fair value of interest rate swaps entered into at 31
December 2010 was a negative €16 million, with a negative
€17 million recognised under liabilities and a positive €1
million under assets. These hedges are related to cash flows
that will take place between 2011 and 2017.

The cumulative change in value by the effective portion of the
swaps used for cash-flow and interest rate hedges, a total
inflow of €14 million, was recognised in equity, net of its tax
effect. No cumulative changes in the ineffective portion were
taken to profit or loss for the year.

The effect of a change of +50bp in the euro yield curve on the
value of the Group’s hedging positions at 31 December 2010 is
approximately a positive €6 million. A change of -50bp would
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produce a change in value of the hedging position at 31
December 2010 of approximately a negative € 6 million.

A movement of +/-50bp on the US dollar yield curve would
have the following impacts: +50bp would increase the value
of the hedges by approximately €8 million. A movement of -
50bp would reduce their value by approximately €9 million.

For the purpose of these calculations the Group considers the
likeliest scenario to be a movement in the yield curves of this
scale in the course of 2011. However, for reasons of simplicity, it
has been assumed that the change in interest rates happens
at the end of 2010 and rates then remain stable throughout
2011.

Fuel price hedges

Fuel price risk is hedged with swaps that protect against
changes in financial flows due to changes in the price of fuel.

The market value of fuel price derivatives was a positive €78
million at 31 December 2010 (positive €25 million in 2009)
recognised under “Current borrowings” on the liabilities side
of the accompanying consolidated statement of financial
position.

The cumulative change in value of the effective portion of fuel
hedges was a positive €80 million before tax effects and was
recognised under equity, net of its tax effect. The cumulative
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Metric tonnes

Underlying Commodity Tm  2011
Type of Nominal at Nominal at
hedge 31-12-2010 31-12-2009

Purchases of JET Kerosene fuel JET Kero CIF-NWE 1,959,000 SWAPS 897,000 1,146,000
OPTIONS 192,000 -



changes in the ineffective portion, of €3 million, were taken to
profit for the year.

The impact of a +10% change in the price of fuel on the value
of hedges at 31 December 2010 would be a positive €55
million. A change of -10% would reduce the value of the
hedging position at 31 December 2010 by €57 million.

9.1 Share capital and share premium

On 29 November 2010, approval was given to simultaneously
reduce and increase the capital of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de
España, S.A. Operadora (Sole Shareholder Company), which
was fully subscribed and paid through the contribution of all
of the assets and liabilities of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España,
S.A. and the transfer, with accounting effect from 1 January
2010, all its activity, as indicated in Note 1.
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9. Equity



This transaction and the role of Parent of the Group of Iberia,
Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. Operadora (Sole Shareholder
Company) generated a share premium of €760 million and
reserves of €72 million and the cancellation of the equity
items from Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. The Corporate
Enterprise Law (Ley de Sociedades de Capital) expressly allows
the balance of the share premium to increase capital and does
not establish any specific restrictions on the availability of this
balance.

At 31 December 2010, the Parent had share capital of
€743,420,346, represented by 953,103,008 shares of €0.78 par
value each, all of the same class, fully subscribed and paid. On
that date, the sole shareholder was the now defunct Iberia,
Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. At the date of authorisation for
issue of these consolidated financial statements, the Parent’s
sold shares was Iberia OPCO Holding, S.L.

The owners of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. at the end
of 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

The Parent’s shares are not listed. Shares of Líneas Aéreas de
España, S.A. were listed until 20 January 2011.
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31-12-2010 31-12-2009
Number of % Number of  %

shares ownership shares ownership

Caja de Ahorros y Monte de Piedad de Madrid 219,098,519 22.99 219,098,519 22.99

British Airways Plc 125,321,425 13.15 125,321,425 13.15

Chase Nominees Ltd. 74,241,641 7.79 49,594,518 5.20

Sociedad Estatal de Participaciones Industriales 49,212,526 5.16 49,212,526 5.16

The Bank of  New York Mellon 76,712,130 8.05 38,072,751 3.99

El Corte Inglés, S.A. 32,151,759 3.37 32,151,759 3.37

Other 376,365,008 39.49 439,651,510 46.14

953,103,008 100.00 953,103,008 100.00



9.2 Reserves at consolidated companies 

The detail by company at 31 December 2010 and 2009 was as
follows:

9.3 Treasury shares of the Parent

Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A., Parent until 31 December
2009, held treasury shares. The changes in 2010 and 2009
were as follows:
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€ million

Company 31-12-2010 31-12-2009

Adjustments attributable to the Parent (7) (7)

Fully-consolidated companies:

Compañía Auxiliar al Cargo Exprés, S.A. 3 4

VIVA, Vuelos Internacionales de Vacaciones, S.A. 4 3

Iberia México, S.A. 1 1

Companies accounted for using the equity method:

Vueling Airlines, S.A. 9 -

Multiservicios Aeroportuarios, S.A. 2 1

Handling Guinea Ecuatorial, S.A. 1 1

Sociedad Conjunta para la Emisión y
Gestión de Medios de Pago EFC, S.A. 4 4

Serpista, S.A. 2 2

Madrid Aerospace Service, S.L. (1) -

Grupo Air Miles - 1

18 10

2010 2009
Number of

Millions of €
Number of

Millions of €
shares shares

At the beginning of the year 27,898,271 64 27,898,271 64

Additions - - - -

Retirements (27,898,271) (64) - -

At year-end - - 27,898,271 64



In 2010, all treasury shares were cancelled through the capital
reduction of the defunct Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A.

9.4 Earnings (loss) per share

Basic earnings (loss) per share for 2010 and 2009 were as
follows:

The shares of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. have been
considered to determine basic earnings per share.
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2010 2009

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to the Parent (€ million) 89 (273)

Weighted average number of shares 
outstanding (millions of shares) 925 925

Basic earnings/(loss) per share  (euros) 0.096 (0.295)



In 2010 and 2009, the Group did not have any outstanding
potentially convertible financial instruments into ordinary
shares of the Parent. Accordingly, diluted earnings (loss) per
share is the same as basic earnings (loss) per share.

9.5 Valuation adjustments

The detail and changes in this heading in 2010 and 2009 are
as follows:
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€ million
Income  Transfers to the

2010
Balance at and expense    

Other
consolidated  Balance         

31-12-2009 recognised directly 
movements

income 31-12-2010
in equity

in equity
statement

Hedging instruments (14) 80 - (10) 56

Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7.1.1) (89) 737 - (90) 558

“Iberia Plus” programme - - - - -

For change in actuarial assumptions - (9) (9) - -

Tax effect (Note 12.4) 31 (242) 3 30 (184)

Total (72) 566 (6) (70) 430

€ million
Adjustments Income  Transfers to the

2009
Balance at for changes and expense    consolidated  Balance         

31-12-2008 in accounting recognised directly income 31-12-2009
policy in equity statement

Hedging instruments (396) - 382 - (14)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7.1.1) (114) - - 25 (89)

“Iberia Plus” programme - (36) - 36 -

Tax effect (Note 12.4) 153 11 (115) (18) 31

Total (357) (25) 267 43 (72)



The detail of these provisions at year-end 2010 and 2009 and
the main changes during 2010 are as follows:

10.1 Non-current provisions for employee benefits

The additions to “Provisions for obligations to employees”
include the annual provision for the normal cost and for
interest payments on provisions previously recognised, which
are classified, respectively, under “Employee costs – Recurring”
(€27 million) and under “Finance cost” (€19 million) in the
consolidated income statement for 2010. Disbursements in
this connection are amortised on an approximately straight-
line basis.

The amounted derecognised in the year in respect of
“Overprovisions” of €32 million, recognised in “Other
operating income – Non-recurring” in the accompanying
consolidated 2010 income statement, relates to the option to
remain partially active, which was offered from May 2009 to
pilots turning 60 that year (Note 5.10). Until then, “Provisions
for obligations to employees” had included the estimated
provisions for the future earnings of pilots on reserve (aged
between 60 and 65). Since there is now an option to remain
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10. Non-current
provisions

€ million
Balance at

Additions
Provisions

Transfers
Overprovisions Balance at

31-12-2009 used (Note 13.2) 31-12-2010

Provisions for obligations to employees 598 46 (9) (2) (32) 601

Provisions for restructuring costs 425 44 (116) 2 - 355

Provisions for major repairs (Note 5.2) 86 23 (8) - (24) 77

Other provisions (Note 5.10) 100 11 - 13 (35) 89

1,209 124 (133) 13 (91) 1,122



partially active, such a large provision is no longer necessary as
remuneration of those pilots taking this option will come
under “Employee costs” for the corresponding year. Since this
is a new situation, with no precedents to indicate how many
pilots will take up the option, the Group opted to monitor
take-up over three years (2009, 2010 and 2011) and compare
the actual results with assumptions made in the
corresponding actuarial studies, gradually adjusting the
remaining provision for this item in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

10.2 Provisions for restructuring costs

The balance of “Provisions for restructuring costs” relates to
the present value of the liabilities arising from the voluntary
collective redundancy procedure (Note 5.10) affecting 3,216
employees at 31 December 2010.

In 2010, approval was given to extend the procedure to cabin
crew and ground staff, with the Group allocating €35 million
to cover the estimated costs.

Also in 2010, the actuarial assumptions used to estimate the
related liabilities were revised, increasing the necessary
provision by €9 million before tax, recognised with a charge to
“Reserves” in the accompanying consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 December 2010.

The payments related to this provision will continue over the
next seven years in accordance with the age of the employees
who have availed or will eventually avail themselves of the
procedures.
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10.3 Other provisions

“Other provisions” includes the estimated amount required for
probable liabilities of a diverse nature related mainly to
litigation and unresolved tax assessments (Note 5.10). In this
respect, favourable rulings were obtained in 2010 on the appeals
filed regarding the assessments for customs duties for which
the Group had recognised a €33 million provision. As a result,
this provision was cancelled, which a balancing entry in “Other
operating income – Non-recurring” in the accompanying 2010
consolidated income statement (Note 12.6).

The detail, by maturity, of bank borrowings at 31 December
2010 and 2009 is as follows:

11.1 Bank borrowings 

The detail, by maturity, of bank borrowings, in the form of
loans and credit lines, at 31 December 2010 and 2009 was as
follows:
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11. Non-current and
current borrowings

€ million
31-12-2010 31-12-2009

Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

At amortised cost:

Bank borrowings 179 43 222 221 27 248

Finance lease 32 331 363 30 224 254

Other financial liabilities 22 27 49 17 2 19

At fair value: 

Derivatives (Note 8) 18 34 52 27 48 75

Total 251 435 686 295 301 596



These loans and credit facilities bore weighted average annual
interest of 3.69% in 2010 and 4.70% in 2009.
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2010 € million
Maturity

Currency 2016 and
Total

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 beyond

Euros 152 7 7 6 14 9 195

US dollar 27 - - - - - 27

179 7 7 6 14 9 222

2009 € million
Maturity

Currency 2015 and
Total

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 beyond

Euros 145 6 4 5 4 8 172

US dollar 76 - - - - - 76

221 6 4 5 4 8 248



11.2 Obligations under finance leases

At the end of 2010 and 2009 the Group was contracted to pay
the following minimum lease payments including, where
applicable, purchase options:

The main finance leases entered into by the Group relate to
aircraft (Note 6.3) and accrue interest benchmarked to indices
such as the EURIBOR or the LIBOR, plus a market spread.

The terms of aircraft finance leases from their start date range
from 7 to 16 years. one of the leases establishes the
requirement to comply with certain financial ratios linked to
the Iberia Group’s annual consolidated  financial statements,
which were being met at 31 December 2010.

12.1 Tax receivables and payables

Details of tax receivables at 31 December 2010 and 2009 are as
follows:
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€ million
EUR borrowings USD borrowings (*)

31-12-2010 31-12-2009 31-12-2010 31-12-2009

Within one year 14 13 18 17

Between two and five years 95 100 143 110

Beyond five years 2 8 91 6

Total present value 111 121 252 133

(*) Converted to € at the 2010 year-end exchange rate.

12. Tax



Meanwhile, details of tax payables at 31 December 2010 and
2009 are as follows:

12.2 Reconciliation of accounting profit to taxable income and
income tax expense or (income)

Income tax on each company within the scope of
consolidation is based on their financial or accounting profit.
This may not be the same as their taxable income, which is the
base on which tax is levied.
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€ million

31-12-2010 31-12-2009

Non-current:

Deferred tax assets 597 635

Current:

Foreign tax receivables 8 5

Value added tax 14 12

Other tax receivables - 5

22 22

€ million

31-12-2010 31-12-2009

Non-current:

Deferred tax liabilities 191 7

191 7

Current:

Take-off and security charges at airports 33 35

Foreign tax payables 58 33

Social Security taxes 20 20

Personal income tax withholdings 29 30

Other tax payables 4 1

144 119



The reconciliation of consolidated accounting profit to taxable
profit and income tax expense or income is as follows:
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€ million
2010 2009

Receivable/ Expense/ Receivable/ Expense/
(payable) (income) (payable) (income)

Accounting profit for the year before tax 95 95 (435) (435)

Consolidation adjustments (a) (23) (23) (8) (8)

Permanent differences:

Increase 1 1 2 2

Decrease (b) (10) (1) - -

Temporary differences:

Arising in the year

Increase (c) 107 - 151 -

Decrease - - (57) -

Arising in prior years

Increase 1 - 1 -

Decrease (c) (199) - (222) -

Taxable income (28) 72 (568) (441)

Tax rate of 30% (8) 22 (170) (132)

Tax credits (13) (13) (6) (6)

Deferred tax assets - tax credits 21 - 176 -

Income tax expense/(income) - 9 - (138)

Adjustment to income tax (Note 12.3) - (3) - (24)

Total income tax expense/(income) - 6 - (162)

a) Consolidation adjustments relate to profits from companies accounted for using the equity method.

(b) This amount relates mainly to the update of the assumptions used in the assessment of certain provisions (Note 10), whose impact and tax effect are recognised
directly in “Reserves”

(c) These amounts relate mainly to provisions for obligations to employees and other provisions for contingencies and charges and amounts received during the year
in relation to memorandum credits and other deferred incentives, which in subsequent years reverse, generating temporary differences of opposite signs.



Current corporate income tax law provides certain tax
incentives for investment. The Group has availed of certain tax
credits for the reinvestment of extraordinary profits from the
sale of part of its stake in Amadeus IT Holding, S.A. (Note 7.1.1.)
and plans to justify tax credits of €12 million in its 2010
income tax return. Regarding these credits, the amounts
reinvested and the corresponding tax credits since 2005 are as
follows:

At 31 December 2010, €13 million of these credits were unused.
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€ million

Reinvestment Tax credit

2005 825 129

2006 2 -

2007 123 16

2008 3 -

2009 8 1

2010 116 12



The Group also plans to justify tax credits of €1 million in its
2010 income tax return for domestic and international double
taxation.

12.3 Detail of income tax expense/(income) 

The detail of income tax expense/(income) for 2010 and 2009
is as follows:

Adjustments to income tax mainly relate to adjustments of
previous income tax balances and differences between the
income tax expense estimated at end 2009 and the expense
in the income tax return filed.

The reconciliation between income tax expense or income, the
statutory Spanish tax rate and the Group’s effective tax rate is
as follows:
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€ million
2010 2009

Expense/(income) based on the Spanish statutory rate 29 (130)

Effect of:

Permanent differences (3) -

Share of profit (loss) of associates (7) (2)

Tax credits (13) (6)

Tax recognised directly in equity 3 -

Income tax adjustments (3) (24)

6 (162)

€ million
2010 2009

Current tax:

Continuing operations - -

Deferred tax:

Continuing operations 9 (138)

Adjustments to income tax  (3) (24)

Total income tax expense/(income) 6 (162) 



12.4 Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised directly in
equity

The detail of tax recognised directly in equity in 2010 and
2009 is as follows:

12.5 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position under “Deferred
tax assets”and “Deferred tax liabilities”, respectively, as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets were mainly generated by provisions
recorded to meet obligations to employees and other
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€ million

Other
Transfers to the

Balance at Valuation Balance at Valuation
movements

consolidated Balance at
01-01-2009 adjustments 31-12-2009 adjustments

in equity
income 31-12-2010

statement

Hedging instruments 119 (115) 4 (24) - 3 (17)

Available-for-sale financial assets 34 (7) 27 (221) - 27 (167)

“Iberia Plus” programme 11 (11) - - - - -

For changes in actuarial assumptions - - - 3 (3) - -

Total (Note 9.5) 164 (133) 31 (242) (3) 30 184

€ million

31-12-2010 31-12-2009
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred

tax tax tax tax
assets liabilities assets liabilities

Temporary differences 367 191 422 7

Tax loss carryforwards 207 - 199 -

Unused tax credits 23 - 14 -

597 191 635 7



provisions, which will be deductible against tax in coming
years, as well as income from memorandum credits and other
deferred incentive income related to the aircraft. 

Changes in deferred tax assets in 2010 and 2009 are as
follows:

At year-end 2010, based on estimated income tax for the year,
the detail of the tax loss carryforwards and the maximum
term for their recovery is as follows:
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€ million
Deferred tax assets

Temporary Tax loss Unused tax 
differences carryforwards credits Total

Balance at 1 January 2009 576 20 6 602

Additions 45 170 6 221

Retirements (201) - - (201)

Positive income tax adjustments 2 9 2 13

Balance at 31 December 2009 422 199 14 635

Additions 32 8 13 53

Retirements (93) - - (93)

Adjustment to income tax (Note 12.3) 6 - (4) 2

Balance at 31 December 2010 367 207 23 597

€ million

Year of origin
Taxable Tax  Recoverable
profit effect until

2008 97 29 2023

2009 566 170 2024

2010 28 8 2025

691 207



The deferred tax assets at 31 December 2010 are expected to
be recovered as follows: 

These deferred tax assets were recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position since the Parent’s directors
consider that, based on the best estimates of future results,
they are like to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities

The variations in 2010 and 2009 in “Deferred tax liabilities”
were as follows:
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€ million
Year of recovery

2011 127

2012 129

2013 and beyond 341

597



Deferred tax liabilities relate mainly to the tax effect of the
revaluation of the investments in British Airways Plc and
Amadeus IT Holding, S.A., which were recognised in equity net
of the tax effect (Note 7.1.1).

12.6 Tax audits

As a result of various tax audits, the tax authorities issued
certain assessments for 1993 to 1997 (relating mainly to
personal income tax withholdings), which were signed on a
contested basis and appealed against by Iberia, Líneas Aéreas
de España, S.A.

Also, the Group filed an appeal against the assessments
issued in connection with customs duties for 1998 (second
half), 1999 and 2000 (first five months). In 2010, it obtained a
favourable ruling on these appeals. The Group recognised a
€33 million provision for these claims, which was reversed
with a credit under “Other operating income – Non-recurring”
in the accompanying consolidated income statement for 2010
(Note 10).

During the audit performed in 2007 and 2008, the authorities
issued assessments against Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España,
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€ thousand
Deferred tax liabilities

Temporary differences Total

Balance at 1 January 2009 1 1

Additions 6 6

Balance at 31 December 2009 7 7

Additions 212 212

Retirements (28) (28)

Balance at 31 December 2010 191 191



S.A. in relation to income tax for the period 2002 to 2004, and
VAT for the period 2003 and 2004, both uncontested. The au-
thorities also issued assessments in relation to non-resident
tax and personal income tax for 2003 and 2004, which the
Group appealed against.

The Parent’s directors and tax advisors consider that no tax
liabilities additional to those recognised under “Other
provisions” will arise from the resolution of the various
appeals described above (Note 10.3).

In relation to the tax periods for which the limitation period
has not expired, all years since 2006 for income tax and since
2007 for all other taxes applicable to the Group companies,
the Parent’s directors do not expect any liabilities to arise in
addition to those recognised which might have a material
effect on the consolidated financial statements.

13.1 Revenue

The breakdown of the Group’s revenue in 2010 and 2009 is as
follows:
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13. Income and expenses

€ million
2010 2009

Passenger revenue (a) 3,594 3,325

Cargo revenue 302 251

Handling (aircraft dispatching and services in airports) 271 266

Technical assistance to airlines 334 310

Other income 81 79

4,582 4,231

(a) Including other income (recovery of unused tickets, commercial agreements, etc.) totalling €243 million
and €188 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively.



The breakdown of passenger revenue excluding “Other
income”, by network, is as follows:

13.2. Other operating income

The detail of “Other operating income” in the consolidated
income statement is as follows:

The income from commissions relates basically to the
commissions on the sale of tickets for other airlines, the
commissions arising from the franchise agreement with Air
Nostrum and the sale of tickets for Vueling Airlines, S.A. under
Iberia’s code.

“Other income” includes income from the cancellation and
reissue of tickets and income from advertising campaigns.
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€ million
2010 2009

Domestic 664 709

Medium-haul 878 890

Long-haul 1,809 1,538

3,351 3,137

€ million
2010 2009

Recurring:

Commissions 63 64

Rental income 13 15

Overprovisions (Note 10) 24 10

Other income 88 89

Non-recurring:

Overprovisions (Note 10) 67 45

Other non-recurring operating income - 4

255 227



13.3 Procurements

The detail of “Procurements” in the consolidated income
statement for 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

13.4 Employee costs

The detail of “Employee costs” in the 2010 and 2009 income
statements is as follows:

In 2010 and 2009, the distribution of the workforce, measured
as average equivalent headcount, by professional category,
was as follows:
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€ million
2010 2009

Recurring:

Aircraft fuel 1,071 1,184

Aircraft spare parts 237 191

Catering materials 20 19

Other purchases 14 16

1,342 1,410

€ million
2010 2009

Wages, salaries and similar expenses 998 997

Employee welfare costs 296 300

Non-recurring employee costs:

Provisions for extension of collective redundancy 
procedure (Note 10.2) 38 51

1,332 1,348



Number of employees

2010 2009

Senior executives 10

10

Ground staff:

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the distribution of the workforce
by gender and by professional category was as follows:
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Number of employees
2010 2009

Senior executives 10 10

Ground staff:

Managers and other line staff 1,110 1,145

Clerical staff 5,181 5,394

Ancillary services 4,633 4,697

Aircraft maintenance technicians 2,922 2,930

Other 1,130 1,160

14,976 15,326

Flight staff:

Technical crew 1,548 1,590

Cabin crew 3,569 3,745

5,117 5,335

20,103 20,671



13.5 Other operating costs

The detail of “Other operating costs” in the consolidated
income statement for 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

2010 2009

Air traffic services 342 342

Aircraft lease payments: (Note 6.11)

Dry lease 306 315
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2010 2009
Women Men Women Men

Senior executives 1 8 1 9

Ground staff:

Managers and other line staff 439 679 436 681

Clerical staff 3,741 1,900 3,699 1,911

Ancillary services 452 4,732 457 4,695

Aircraft maintenance technicians 36 3,055 32 2,891

Other 533 650 520 640

5,201 11,016 5,144 10,818

Flight staff:

Technical crew 58 1,559 60 1,580

Cabin crew 2,967 999 2,935 975

3,025 2,558 2,995 2,555

8,227 13,582 8,140 13,382

€ million

2010 2009

Air traffic services 342 342

Aircraft lease payments: (Note 6.11)

Dry lease 306 315

Wet lease - 16

Cargo 11 11

Other 5 7

Navigation charges 252 252

Aircraft maintenance 200 202

Commercial expenses 167 151

Booking system expenses 136 134

Other rent 66 73

In-flight services 71 66

Other types of maintenance 45 46

Stopover expenses 32 34

Indemnities for passengers, luggage and cargo 23 22

Other recurring costs 307 319

Non-recurring expenses 36 6

1,999 1,996



“Aircraft maintenance” includes the expenses for
subcontracted maintenance work and the provision for major
repairs of aircraft operated under operating leases.

The fees for audit and non-audit services provided by the
auditor of the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
Deloitte, S.L., and by companies belonging to Deloitte’s
network, as well as fees for services billed by the auditors of
the individual financial statements of consolidated
companies and related parties due to control, common
ownership or management, were as follows:

“Non-recurring expenses” includes, among others, expenses
incurred in the work performed for the merger with BA
Holdco, S.A. (Note 1.2) and fleet-related expenses.

13.6 Finance income

The detail of “Finance income” in the consolidated income
statement is as follows:
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€ thousand
2010 2009

Financial and other audit-related services

Audit and limited reviews of the Parent 700 625

Audit of other Group companies 57 59

Other related work 1,025 143

Total audit and review services provided by the auditor 1,782 827

Non-audit services 316 53

Total services 2,098 880



13.7 Finance cost

The detail of “Finance income” in the consolidated income
statement is as follows:
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€ million
2010 2009

Interest on short-term deposits 21 56

Interest on loans to associates 5 6

Other finance income 1 2

27 64

€ million
2010 2009

Update of employee liabilities (Note 10.1) 19 23

Interest on finance leases 13 14

Interest on loans 1 2

Other finance costs 1 1

34 40



13.8 Contribution of subsidiaries and associates to
consolidated profit

The contribution of the Group subsidiaries and associates to
the consolidate profit or loss for 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

Basis of segmentation

Segment reporting is structured on a primary basis by
business segment and on a secondary basis by geographical
segment. 

Primary business segments

The business lines described below were established on the
basis of the Iberia Group’s organisational structure at 2010
year-end and take into account the nature of the services
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€ million

Company
Profit/(Loss)

2010 2009

Parent 62 (282)

Adjustments attributable to the Parent 4 -

66 (282)

Group subsidiaries:

Iberia México, S.A. - 1

- 1

Associates and jointly controlled entities:

Handling Guinea Ecuatorial, S.A. - -

Sociedad Conjunta para la Emisión y gestión de Medios 

de Pago EFC, S.A. 1 1

Vueling Airlines, S.A. 21 7

Air Miles Group - (1)

Madrid Aerospace Services, S.L. (1) (1)

Other 2 2

23 8

Profit for the year attributable to the Parent 89 (273)

14. Business and
geographical segments



provided and the customer segments at which they are
targeted.

In 2010, the Iberia Group engaged mainly in the following
major lines of business, which provides the basis for the
Group’s primary segment reporting:

1. Transport business (including passenger and cargo
transport)

2. Airports business (including handling).

3. Maintenance and engineering business.

4. Other business activities.

Income and expenses that cannot be specifically attributed to
any operating line or that are the result of decisions affecting
the Group as a whole – including expenses incurred in projects
or activities affecting several lines of business, or income from
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strategic investments, income tax expenses, etc. – are
attributed to a “Corporate Unit”. Reconciliation items arising
from the consolidation of the financial statements of the
various business lines (prepared using a management
approach) to the Group’s consolidated financial statements
are also allocated to the same “Corporate Unit”.

The costs incurred by the Corporate Unit are allocated among
the various lines of business using an internal cost allocation
system. 

Secondary segments - geographical segments

The Group’s activities are also classified into geographical
segments: Domestic (Spain), International Short- and
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Medium-Haul (Europe, Africa excluding South Africa, and the
Middle East) and Long-Haul markets. 

Basis and methodology for segment reporting

The segment reporting below is based on monthly reports
prepared by the Iberia Group. These are drawn from the
Group’s cost accounting system, which classifies transactions
carried out by the Group by business line and geographical
segment.

Segment revenue relates to the external and internal revenue
directly attributable to the segment and excludes finance
income, dividends or proceeds from disposals.

The expenses of each segment are determined by the directly
allocable expenses incurred in the operating activities of the
segment plus the corresponding proportion of the corporate
expenses which can be allocated to the segment using
reasonable allocation bases. The expenses thus allocated do
not include interest, losses from disposals or income tax
expenses that are unrelated to the segments’ operating
activities and that, therefore, cannot be allocated using
reasonable allocation bases. 

Segment assets and liabilities are those directly related to
each segment’s operations, plus the assets and liabilities that
can be directly attributed to them using the bases for
allocation mentioned above. Segment liabilities do not
include income tax payables.

Segment information about these businesses is presented
below:



Inter-segment sales are made applying an internal transfer
pricing system based on market prices for equivalent areas
and volumes.
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€ million

Maintenance and Corporate unit and 
Transport Airports engineering other businesses Total Group

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Recurring operating income:

External 4,106 3,780 290 283 350 322 24 24 4,770 4,409

Inter-segment 6 5 195 195 427 411 196 370 - -

Recurring operating expenses:

External 3,446 3,579 449 451 683 644 195 198 4,773 4,873

Inter-segment 738 723 29 30 33 33 24 195 - -

Recurring operating profit (72) (517) 7 (3) 61 56 1 1 (3) (464)

E.B.I.T.D.A.R. 368 (49) 21 13 87 80 17 18 493 62

Aircraft lease payments (322) (349) - - - - - - (322) (349)

E.B.I.T.D.A. 46 (398) 21 13 87 80 17 18 171 (287)

Depreciation and amortisation (119) (119) (14) (16) (24) (24) (17) (17) (174) (176)

Non-recurring profit (23) (12) (23) (12)

Financial profit 98 32 98 32

Share of profit/(loss) from companies
accounted for using the equity method 23 8 23 8

Profit before tax 95 (435) 95 (435)

Income tax (6) 162 (6) 162

Net profit/(loss) 89 (273)

Average headcount (FTEs) 8,009 8,408 7,054 7,132 3,813 3,845 1,228 1,286 20,104 20,671

Investments 300 88 4 4 40 42 13 14 357 148

Property, plant and equipment 817 754 48 61 225 180 55 51 1,145 1,046

Inventories 26 42 1 - 185 170 3 3 215 215

Other assets - - - - - - 4,653 3,785 4,653 3,785

Total assets 6,013 5,046

Customer prepayments 451 389 - - - - - - 451 389

Remuneration payable 89 86 35 32 23 21 10 10 157 149

Other liabilities - - - - - - 3,273 2,957 3,273 2,957



The following table shows the geographical breakdown of the
Group’s recurring revenue:

Nearly all the Group’s assets can be allocated to the domestic
market, except for the aircraft, which have no defined
geographical location. The percentages of aircraft utilisation
in each geographical market, measured in terms of total block
hours, are as follows:

Balances and transactions with related parties

The following transactions took place with related parties in
2010 and 2009:
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€ million
Secondary segments 2010 2009

Domestic 1,689 1,686

International short- and medium-haul 934 940

Long-haul 2,147 1,783

4,770 4,409

Secondary segments
Percentage of utilisation

2010 2009

Domestic 23.38 25.55

International short- and medium-haul 37.96 27.04

Long-haul 38.66 47.41

100.00 100.00

15. Related party
transactions

€ million

2010 2009
Collected Paid to Collected Paid to  

from Iberia Iberia from Iberia Iberia

Associates 47 111 46 86

Significant shareholders:

British Airways Plc 13 17 13 24

El Corte Inglés Group 20 - 23 -

Caja Madrid 21 3 26 29

101 131 108 139



The main transactions with associates relate to the Iberia
Group’s core business, as well as the handling and
maintenance activities.

Meanwhile, the main transactions with related parties were
as follows:

The transactions with British Airways Plc relate mainly to
commissions on passenger tickets collected from and paid to
this company, for tickets issued by one company with the
related flight being flown by the other, collections and
payments arising from loyalty programmes, collections and
payments for handling services provided and collections from
agreements to sell aircraft (Note 6.1.1).

The main transactions with the El Corte Inglés Group relate to
the supply of uniforms for flight staff, commissions and
incentives for passenger ticket sales and computer software
and hardware development. 
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Lastly, the transactions with Caja Madrid relate mainly to the
interest on aircraft financing transactions, guarantees
provided on aircraft, aircraft lease payments and returns on
financial investments.

In addition, the consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2010 and 2009 includes the following
balances with related parties that arose in the normal course
of business:

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the Group owned aircraft
lease payments to Caja Madrid group companies in the
amounts of €155 million and €194 million, respectively.

Remuneration of directors and senior executives

The detail of remuneration received in 2010 and 2009 by
directors of both the defunct Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España,
S.A. and Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, Sociedad Anónima
Operadora (Sole Shareholder Company) is as follows:
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€ thousand
2010 2009

Fixed remuneration 818 783

Attendance fees 663 783

Compensation in kind 99 111

Total 1,580 1,677

€ million

2010 2009
Receivables Payables Receivables Payables

Associates 20 15 15 21

Significant shareholders:

British Airways Plc 7 17 4 -

Caja Madrid 392 15 379 14

El Corte Inglés Group 7 4 9 2



The Parent also incurred expenses relating to the performance
of non-executive directors’ functions of €5,785 and €6,000 in
2010 and 2009, respectively.

Two of the directors held executive positions (two directors in
2009), for which they were paid the following amounts not
included in the preceding table:  

In 2009, the former chairman (director of the Parent until
termination) received remuneration of €838,000, while the
social security and other costs paid by the Parent amounted to
€57,000. Also, upon termination he received €3,167,000, of
which €277,000 were paid by the Parent and the remainder
was covered by insurance.

In addition, in 2010 and 2009, premiums were paid in respect
of an insurance policy to a value of approximately €1 million in
both years.

In 2010 and 2009, no advances or loans were granted to the
directors of the Parent.

Remuneration of senior executives

Remuneration received by members of the Group’s senior
management in 2010 and 2009, excluding those who serve on
the Parent’s board of directors (see above), is as follows:
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€ thousand
2010 2009

Fixed remuneration 1,150 550

Variable remuneration 216 -

Compensation in kind 27 3

Social security and other costs 20 57

1,413 610



In addition, in 2010 and 2009 premiums were paid in respect
of an insurance policy and pension plans to a value of
€160,295 and €167,000, respectively.

In 2010 and 2009, no advances or loans were granted to the
members of the Management Committee of Iberia, Líneas
Aéreas de España, Sociedad Anónima Operadora (Sole
Shareholder Company) or Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A.

Detail of the directors’ investments in companies with similar
business activities and performance by directors, as indepen-
dent professionals or as employees, of similar activities

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 229 of the Consolidated
Corporate Enterprise Law, following are the shareholdings
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€ thousand
Item 2010 2009

Salaries (fixed and variable) 2,514 2,919

Indemnities - 1,467

Compensation in kind 116 126

2,630 4,512



and activities carried on in 2010 by directors of the Parent and
certain of its related parties, as defined by the Corporate
Enterprise Law, that are identical, similar or complementary to
the corporate purpose of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A.
Operadora (Sole Shareholder Company):

Lastly, directors (or persons acting on their behalf) have not
entered into transactions other than ordinary business
transactions on normal market conditions with Iberia, Líneas
Aéreas de España, S.A. Operadora (Sole Shareholder
Company).
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Director Company Activity
%

Position / Funtionownership

Mr. Antonio Vázquez Garanair, S.L. Iberia Opco Holding, S.L. 
shares' holder 0% Director

International Consolidated
Airlines Group, S.A. Air transport 0% Chairman

Mr. José María Fariza Batanero Vueling Airlines, S.A. Air transport 0% Director

Mr. Keith Williams British Airways Plc Air transport 0,0028% CFO and Executive 
Director

International Consolidated
Airlines Group, S.A. Air transport 0% Director

Mr. Jorge Pont Sánchez Vueling Airlines, S.A. Air transport 0% Director

Garanair, S.L. Iberia Opco Holding, S.L. 
shares' holder 0% Director

Mr. Rafael Sánchez-Lozano British Airways Plc Air transport 0% Director

Garanair, S.L. Iberia Opco Holding, S.L. 
shares' holder 0% Director

International Consolidated
Airlines Group, S.A. Air transport 0% Director

Mr. Enrique Dupuy de Lôme Amadeus IT Holding, S.A. Provision of services related 
to computer reservation systems 0% Board Deputy

British Airways Plc Air transport 0% Director
(from January 25, 2011) 



As part of the environmental policy, various activities and
projects were carried out in 2010 to guarantee the proper
management of the main environmental impacts of the air
transport business as a whole.

In 2010 and 2009, environmental expenses of €5 million were
incurred, as follows:

At 31 December 2010, the acquisition cost and accumulated
depreciation of the Group's environmental assets, which
include water-treatment plants, hazardous waste storage
facilities, gas recharge and filter systems and water recycling
infrastructure, amounted to €79 million and €61 million,
respectively (2009: €78 million and €57 million, respectively).
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€ million
2010 2009

Environmental repair and maintenance 2 2

Employee costs relating to environmental management 1 1

Environmental taxes and other 2 2

5 5

16. Environmental
information



With respect to its aircraft, the Group has a renewal policy in
which the environment (minimising the impact of noise and
atmospheric emissions) is an important factor. Accordingly, the
Group is continuing to add new aircraft models that reduce fuel
consumption by approximately 20% compared to earlier
generation aircraft. 

In its ground operations, the Parent achieved certification under
the ISO 14001/AENOR Environmental Management System, in-
cluding the Parent's aircraft maintenance facilities at Barajas
airport in Madrid. As a result of this certification, together with
the existing ones in handling and the Parent's other mainte-
nance facilities, all of the Group's significant environmental is-
sues are covered by external certification.

Since 2009, the Parent has been a member of the European
SESAR programme to reorganise European air space with the
aim of reducing aircraft congestion and environmental impacts.

The Parent considers that any possible environmental
contingencies that might arise are covered sufficiently by its
third-party liability insurance policies and by the provisions
relating to probable or certain third-party liability arising from
litigation in progress or from outstanding indemnity
payments or obligations of undetermined amount.

Lastly, environmental investments in 2010 totalle €2 million
(€1 million in 2009).

These consolidated financial statements are presented on the
basis of IFRS, as adopted by the European Union. Certain
accounting practices applied by the Group that conform with
IFRS may not conform with other generally accepted
accounting principles.
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17. Explanation added for
translation to English
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Management Report
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Main figures € million

Financial data 2010 2009 % (*)

Operating revenue (a) 4,770 4,409 8,2

Operating costs (a) 4,773 4,872 (2,0)

EBITDAR (a) 493 62 n.m.

Recurring EBIT (a) (3) (463) 99.3

Adjusted EBIT (a) (b) 101 (352) 128.7

Profit (loss) from operations (c) (26) (475) 94.8

Profit (loss) before tax 95 (436) 122.0

Profit (loss) after tax 89 (273) 132.7

Non-current assets 3,066 2,362 29.8

Current financial investments, cash & cash equivalents (d) 2,073 1,919 7.9

Equity 2,132 1,551 37.5

In-balance sheet net debt ( e) (1,488) (1,417) 4.2

Adjusted net debt x 8 (f) 1,022 1,241 (16.8)

EBITDAR margin (%) (a) 10.3 1.4 8.9 p.

EBIT margin (%) (a) (0.1) (10.5) 10.4 p.

Operating revenue / ASK (€ cent) (a) 7.65 7.09 7.9

Operating expense / ASK (€ cent) (a) 7,.66 7.84 (2.3)

Operating figures

ASK (million) 62,312 62,158 0.2

RPK (million)  51,242 49,612 3.3

Load factor (%) 82.2 79.8 2.4 p.

Yield (g) 6.54 6.32 3.4

Passenger revenue / ASK (  cent) (g) 5.38 5.05 6.5

Annual average headcount 20,103 20,671 (2.7)

No. of aircraft at year-end 112 109 2.8

Average fleet utilisation (block hours / aircraft / day) 10.5 10.3 2.1

n.m: not meaningful.
(*) The percentage variations are calculated with complete numbers in euros.
(a) Only recurring items.  
(b) Excluding 33% of operating leases (100% of dry leases + 50% of wet lease) equivalent to the implicit
financial interest of the aircraft rentals.
(c) Includes non-recurring items. 
(d) Excluding the value of hedging instruments.
(e) In-balance sheet net debt: (Bank borrowings and obligations under finance leases) - (Current financial
investments + cash and cash equivalents).
(f) Adjusted net debt: In-balance sheet net debt + Aircraft rentals annualised x 8.
(g) Calculated with passenger revenues generated during the period, excluding revenues from the
cancellation of customer advances as well as other minor accounting regularisations.



• Iberia Group reported consolidated income after taxes of
€89 million for 2010, compared with the €273 million losses
posted in 2009. Consolidated income before taxes was €95
million, an improvement of €531 million on the 2009 loss.

• EBITDAR amounted to €493 million, up €431 million on
2009. The 2010 EBITDAR margin widened 8.9 percentage
points year-on-year to 10.3%.  EBIT amounted to a loss of €3
million, which represents a €460 million improvement on
the 2009 figure. This figure would have been comfortably in
the black had it not been for the exceptional operational
disruption caused by the ash cloud from the Icelandic
volcano in April and May, and the air traffic controller
dispute that began in May and culminated in the two-day
closure of Spanish air space in December.

• Operating revenue increased by 8.2% on 2009, rising faster
in the second half year (13.4%) and across all business
segments. Passenger and cargo revenue climbed 8.9%,
driven by traffic growth in the long-haul segment.

• Passenger revenue per ASK was up 6.5% year-on-year, the
load factor improved by 2.4 points to 82.2% and the yield
rose by 3.4%, despite the impact of the increase in average
stage length (7.8%). Unit operating costs narrowed 2.3% on
2009, due mostly to lower fuel expenses and the cost
control measures implemented.

• Average headcount decreased by 2.7% year-on-year, while
average fleet utilisation improved 2.1% to 10.5 block hours
per aircraft per day. Workforce productivity, in ASK per
employee, improved by 3.1%.

• At 31 December 2010, equity stood at €2,132 million, up
37.5% on the previous year-end figure, due partly to the
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revaluation of the investment in Amadeus IT Holding, S.A.
following its IPO, to the revaluation of the investment in
British Airways and to the improved result. Adjusted net
debt narrowed by 16.8%, reflecting the decrease in fleet
lease expense and the increase in current financial
investments, and cash and cash equivalents.

• Iberia, American Airlines and British Airways signed the
definitive joint business agreement, thereby enabling them
to cooperate on transatlantic flights from October 2010.

• On 8 October, the Parent sold a total of 6.71 million shares in
Amadeus, representing 1.5% of this investee’s share capital.
The shares were placed on the open market at €13.50 each.
The Group obtained a gross gain of €90 million from this
transaction. Following this sale, Parent’s ownership stake in
Amadeus stands at 7.5%.

• In 2010 the various steps required for formalising the merger
between Iberia and British Airways were completed. The
framework guidelines for the merger were established in the
binding letter of intent entered into in November 2009 and
were developed subsequently in the definitive agreement
signed on 8 April 2010. Ownership of both airlines passed to
a newly created holding company, International
Consolidated Airlines Group, S.A. (IAG). On 27 October, the
Spanish National Securities Market Commission (CNMV)
and its UK counterpart, the Financial Services Authority
(FSA), approved the registration document. On 29
November, the transaction was approved by both airlines’
shareholders at their respective Annual General Meetings.
Lastly, the integration process was completed on 24 January
2011 on the first day of trading of IAG shares on the London
Stock Exchange and the Spanish Stock Exchanges, replacing
the shares of Iberia and British Airways, which traded until
20 January.
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Operating statistics of
the transport businessOperating Statistics (a) 2010 2009 % (*)

Passenger

ASK (million) 62,312 62,158 0.2

Domestic 7,703 8,492 (9.3)

Medium haul 14,690 15,641 (6.1)

Europe 12,586 13,586 (7.4)

Africa and Middle East (b) 2,103 2,055 2.3

Long haul 39,919 38,025 5.0

RPK (million) 51,242 49,612 3.3

Domestic 5,709 6,091 (6.3)

Medium haul 11,242 11,823 (4.9)

Europe 9,638 10,314 (6.5)

Africa and Middle East (b) 1,604 1,509 6.3

Long haul 34,291 31,699 8.2

Load factor (%) 82.2 79.8 2.4 p.

Domestic 74.1 71.7 2.4 p.

Medium haul 76.5 75.6 0.9 p.

Europe 76.6 75.9 0.7 p.

Africa and Middle East (b) 76.3 73.4 2.8 p.

Long haul 85.9 83.4 2.5 p.

Cargo 

ATK (million) 1,876 1,684 11.4

RTK (million) 1,314 1,021 28.7

Load factor (%) 70.0 60.7 9.4 p.

Passenger Revenues (c)

Passenger revenues (€ million) 3,351 3,137 6.8

Passenger revenue / ASK (€ cent) 5.38 5.05 6.5

Passenger revenue / RPK (€ cent) 6.54 6.32 3.4

(*) The percentage variations are calculated with complete numbers in euros.
(a) Parent commercial traffic.
(b) Except South Africa, which is included in “Long Haul”. 
(c) Passenger revenues include only those revenues generated during the period. Therefore, revenues from
the cancellation of customer advances as well as other minor accounting regularisations are excluded.
ASK: Available Seat-Kilometres; RPK: Revenue Passenger Kilometres;
ATK: Available Ton Kilometres; RTK: Revenue Ton Kilometres.
Year-on-year variation in Load Factor expressed in percentage points.



2010 was a year of recovery for the industry. According to the
latest International Air Transport Association (IATA) forecasts,
the number of passengers increased by 8.9% on 2009 and
cargo traffic was up 18.5%. Airline companies’ returns were
also enhanced by the recovery in the number of passengers
travelling in first and business class.  According to the latest
IATA data (Route Tracker, November 2010) international
passenger traffic in first and business class in the year to
November was up 9.3% year-on-year.

In December, IATA forecast profits for the airline industry in
2010 of $15,100 million (€11,220 million). This upturn was due
primarily to the improvement in economic conditions, despite
the European crisis, which drove more robust market growth.
However, regional differences persisted in 2010, notably in
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Europe where the airline industry’s profits were forecast to be
$400 million (€297 million) in 2010.  Asia-Pacific posted the
highest profits: $7,700 million (€893 million). US airline profits
amounted to $5,100 million (€3,973 million), thanks to the
cuts in capacity applied in 2008, and in Latin America airlines
posted profits of $1,200 million (€893 million). Companies in
the Middle East recorded profits of $700 million (€520
million).

The Group performed very positively in the Spain-Latin
America market, which grew by 0.3%, by registering growth of
4.7 percentage points. The Group increased its share of supply
(ASK) together with Air Europa and LAN.  The Europe-Latin
America market grew significantly (4.7%) and the Group
obtained similar growth. Its share reached 20.7%, thus
maintaining and reinforcing its leadership position in this
market.  

Overall, across its network,the Group’s traffic, measured in
revenue passenger kilometres (RPK), advanced 3.3% on the
previous year, with capacity, measured in available seat-
kilometres (ASK), increasing by 0.2%.  The increases in demand
(8.2%) and capacity (5.0%) in long-haul flights were partially
offset by the contractions in RPK (-5.4%) and ASK (-7.2%) in the
domestic and medium-haul segments. Efficient capacity
management drove up the load factors of all segments, taking
the average load factor for the total network up by 2.4
percentage points to 82.2%.

Air traffic staged a recovery in the markets in 2010 and, as a
result, the Group gradually increased its capacity by
incorporating higher-capacity aircraft, increasing frequencies
on certain routes, and adding new destinations.  Accordingly,
at the end of March, the Group resumed direct flights to
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Washington and added new destinations to its international
network: Amman (Jordan) and Damascus (Syria) from July;
Oran (Algeria) from September; and Córdoba (Argentina) and
San Salvador (El Salvador) from October. It also started
operating direct flights between Madrid and Panama from
October and between Tenerife and Paris from November.  The
table below details the year-on-year changes in capacity and
traffic in each quarter for the network as a whole:

In 2010, the Group’s air traffic was affected when aircraft
across Europe were grounded temporarily because of the
volcanic ash cloud from Iceland (883 flights cancelled in April
and May).  Air traffic was also hit in December by the closure
of Spanish air space due to the air traffic controllers’ strike and
the cold weather and snowstorms affecting Europe. The long-
haul segment accounted for 64.1% of total capacity offered by
the Group in 2010 (+2.9 percentage points year-on-year) and
66.9% of total traffic (+3.0 percentage points). Due to the
increased importance of the long-haul segment, the average
stage length for the total network rose by 7.8% on 2009 to
2,559 kilometres. The Group widened its offering considerably
in some of its major destinations in Central America (Mexico,
Peru and Colombia) and in South Africa, and there was a
general increase in demand. As a result, the load factor for the
long-haul segment rose by 2.5 percentage points to 85.9%.

In 2010, the load factor in the international medium-haul
segment improved by 0.9 percentage point year-on-year, to
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Var. 2010/2009  Jan - Mar Apr - Jun Jul - Sep Oct - Dec

ASK (%) (6.6) (2.2) 3.4 6.4 

RPK (%) (1.2) (0.7) 7.7 7.0  



76.5%. Full year supply and demand fell by 6.1% and 4.9%
respectively although the reduction was less in the second
half year (-3.1% for both indicators). These declines were partly
due to the latest adjustments made to point-to-point routes
in 2009. Taking into consideration only the flights originating
or landing at Madrid-Barajas airport, ASK and RPK fell by 3.3%
and 2.3% on 2009.

In the domestic segment, the load factor was 74.1%, up 2.4
percentage points on 2009, with a 9.3% reduction in capacity
and a 6.3% reduction in traffic. In flights between Barcelona
and Madrid, demand was up 2.8%, ASK were down 15% and
the load factor rose by 11.8% percentage points to 68.2%.
Cargo traffic, measured in RTK, was 28.7% higher than in 2009
for the network as a whole, with significant growth in all the
international segments and a 9.4 percentage point increase in
the load factor to 70%.
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€ million

2010 2009 % (*)

Profit (loss) from operations (a)  (26) (475) 94.8

Operating revenue 4,837 4,458 8.5

Revenue 4,582 4,231 8.3

Passenger revenue (b) 3,594 3,342 7.5

Cargo revenue 302 234 28.8

Handling revenue 271 266 1.7

Technical assistance to airlines 334 310 8.0

Other revenue 81 79 2.5

Other operating income 255 227 12.2

Recurring 188 178 5.6

Non-recurring 67 49 34.0

Operating costs 4,847 4,930 (1.7)

Procurements 1,342 1,410 (4.8)

Aircraft fuel 1,071 1,184 (9.6)

Aircraft spare parts 237 191 24.2

Catering materials 20 19 2.6

Other purchases 14 16 (1.2)

Employee costs 1,332 1,348 (12.5)

of which: Non-recurring 38 51 (25.5)

Depreciation and amortisation 174 176 (1.1)

Other operating costs 1,999 1,998 0.0

Aircraft leases 322 349 (7.9)

Fleet maintenance (subcontracts) 200 202 (0.8)

Commercial costs  167 150 10.5

Traffic services and expenses relating 
to stopovers and incidents 397 397 (0.1)

Navigation charges 252 252 (0.3)

In-flight services 71 66 6.5

Booking systems 136 134 1.6

Other costs 454 446 1.8

of which: Non-recurring 36 8 n.m.

Impairment losses and net gains on 
disposals of non-current assets  (16) (3) n.m.

n.m: not meaningful
(*) The percentage variations are calculated with complete numbers in euros.
(a) Profit/Loss from operations includes operating income, non-recurring revenues and costs, as well as net
gains on disposals of non-current assets and impairment losses.
(b) Passenger revenues include issued but unused tickets, previously recognised in current liabilities as
customer advances, together with other minor adjustments.

Consolidated income
statement
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€ million

2010 2009 % (*)

Financial results  98 32 213.1

Finance income 27 64 (57.8)

Finance cost 34 40 (15.0)

Currency differences 6 (17) n.m.

Other revenues and expenses 99 25 295.3

Share of profits (losses) of associates 23 8 196.2

Profit (loss) before tax 95 (436) n.m.

Income tax (6) 162 n.m.

Profit (loss) after tax 89 (273) n.m.

Attributable to shareholders of the Parent 89 (273) n.m.

Minority interests 0 (0 n.m.

Basic earnings per share (euros) 0.096 (0.295) n.m.

n.m: not meaningful
(*) The percentage variations are calculated with complete numbers in euros.
Average weighted nº of shares outstanding from January to December: 925,204,966 in 2010 and
925,204,737 in 2009. 



Passenger revenues - Total passenger revenues in 2010
increased by €252 million year-on-year, €214 million of which
related to revenue from used tickets in the period. The €38.6
million increase in “Other passenger revenues” was driven
mainly by the cancellation of customer advances for unused
tickets, customer loyalty programmes (Iberia Plus and
frequent-flyer agreements with other airlines) and revenue
from luggage charges.

Passenger revenues from used tickets in 2010 was up 6.8%
across the network, driven by the considerable rise in revenue
from long-haul flights, a segment in which the Group increased
supply and obtained a very favourable response in terms of
demand.

The yield for the network as a whole increased by 3.3% on
2009 which, combined with the improvement in the load
factor (+2.4 points), led to a 6.5% rise in revenue per ASK. Of
this increase, 2.0 points related to the positive effect of the
appreciation of the US dollar and other currencies against the
euro.  The sharp growth in average stage length (+7.8%) is
estimated to have eroded the growth in yield and unit
revenue by around 3.6 percentage points.
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Revenues from
operations

Passenger revenues
Revenues (€ million) Rev./RPK Rev./ASK

2010 2009 Var.% Var.% Var.%

Long haul 1,809 1,538 17.6 8.8 12.1

International medium haul 878 890 (1.4) 3.7 5.0

Domestic 664 709 (6.4) (0.1) 3.2

Total network (a) 3,351 3,137 6.8 3.4 6.5

Other passenger revenues (b) 243 205 18.9 n.a. n.a.

Total (b) 3,594 3,342 7.5 n.a. n.a.

n.a: not applicable.
(a) Corresponds to revenue generated from flights operated during the period.
(b) Includes revenues from issued but unused tickets, from frequent flyer agreements and other less
significant accounting adjustments.
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Revenue from the long-haul segment jumped 17.6% year-on-
year, due to 8.2% rise in traffic and the 8.8% increase in the
yield for this segment.   Revenue per ASK was up 12.1% year-on-
year (9.2% stripping out the effect of euro depreciation), in
part driven by the increase in Business Plus passengers (8.2%).

Revenue per ASK was also up by 5.0% in the international
medium-haul segment and by 3.2% in the domestic segment,
the latter having been driven by the improved load factor.

Cargo - Revenues amounted to EUR 301.5 million in 2010, up
28.8% year-on-year, due mainly to the increase in cargo traffic,
against a backdrop of a strong recovery in demand in the
international markets following the downturn recorded in the



first half of 2009.  The cargo yield (revenue per RTK) increased
by 18.3% on 2009, primarily as a result of the improvement in
the cargo load factor (+9.4 points).  The yield performed
positively since the beginning of 2010 and was up 2.3% for the
full year.  Cargo revenues accounted for one percentage point
more of total operating revenues in 2010 (6.2%).

Handling - Revenue from third-party handling was up 1.7% on
2009. Iberia Airport Services (excluding the temporary JVs in
which the Group invests) obtained 1.6% growth in third-party
handling, measured in terms of notional aircraft handled, led
by increased activity for Vueling.  Adding in operations for the
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Parent itself, the total number of notional aircraft handled in
2010 reached 343,186 (-1% year-on-year), while the number of
passengers handled amounted to 74.1 million (+1.6%).  

Maintenance - Revenue from third-party maintenance rose
8.0% on 2009 to €334 million, driven mainly by higher
revenue from engine inspections and other workshop services
and compounded by the appreciation of dollar in the second
half of the year.

Other revenues - This heading, which includes revenue from
the use of booking systems, revenue generated at cargo
terminals, revenue net of points awarded from affiliate
companies of the Iberia Plus frequent-flyer programme and
revenue from miscellaneous and training services, increased
by 2.5% year-on-year to €81 million.

Other operating revenues - The recurring portion of this
heading (commissions, rents, own work capitalised and
sundry other revenue) totalled €188 million in 2010, up 5.6%
on 2009. This figure includes €24 million in reversals of
provisions for major fleet repair work, €14 million more than
the amount recognised in this connection in 2009. The non-
recurring portion amounted to €67 million in 2010 (2009: €49
million), including €33 million from the reversal of provisions
as a result of four Supreme Court rulings absolving the Group
from payment of various settlements of customs duties for
the period from 1998 to 2000. The other non-recurring
revenue relates mainly to the partial reversal of pilot pension
fund provisions.
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Fuel - Fuel costs for the Iberia Group, which represent 22.4% of
total operating costs, amounted to €1,071 million in 2010,
9.6% less than the amount recognised in 2009, due primarily
to the decline in average prices after hedges, partially offset by
the impact of the depreciation of the euro against the US
dollar, which pushed costs up by 5.7% compared with 2009.
The cost of fuel per ASK increased by 9.8% in 2010 year-on-
year. 

Market jet kerosene prices (JET CIF NEW) fluctuated between
$630 and $780 per tonne in the first half of 2010 and held
relatively steady at around $700 in the third quarter.  They
then started to climb to around $830 per tonne at the end of
December, the average price for the fourth quarter being
$788. As a result, the average market price for aviation fuel in
2010 was $724 per tonne, up 28% on the average price in 2009.
Throughout 2010, prices tracked above those of 2009
although the gap narrowed in the third quarter.

Personnel - Recurring costs fell by 0.2% in 2010, thanks to the
2.7% reduction in the Group’s average equivalent headcount
to 20,103 employees and to the wage freeze agreed with over
90% of the workforce. Average technical and cabin crew
headcount declined by 2.6% and 4.7%, respectively. Non-
recurring personnel costs amounted to €38 million in 2009, of
which €35 million related to an extraordinary provision aimed
at rationalising and optimising the number and the unit cost
of employees within the framework of the redundancy
programme in force. Personnel costs per ASK narrowed 0.4%
on 2009.
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Aircraft leases - Lease expense declined 7.9% year-on-year in
2010. Some of the savings (€15 million) relate to the use of wet
lease arrangements in 2009 (an average of 1.3 A340 aircraft),
which was discontinued in August 2009.  Passenger aircraft
operating lease expense was €9 million lower due to
differences arising from hedging transactions. The expense
for seats hired from third party carriers fell by almost €2
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Equivalent headcount (a) 2010 2009 % 

Ground staff 14,986 15,336 (2.3)

Flight staff 5,117 5,335 (4.1)

Total 20,103 20,671 (2.7)

(a) Sum of average headcount, measured in terms of full-time equivalents, at the Parent (including the
personnel transferred to the JVs), CACESA, ALAER and Binter Finance.



million and cargo aircraft lease expense was kept by €1
million. Unit lease expense narrowed 8.1% on 2009 to 0.52
euro cents per ASK.

Depreciation and amortisation - This heading was down 1.1%
in 2010, mostly due to lower depreciation charges for aircraft,
IT equipment, airport equipment and vehicles. In unit terms,
the aggregate of aircraft lease and depreciation and
amortisation charges fell by 5.8% to 0.79 euro cents per ASK.

The table below provides a breakdown of Group’s operating
fleet:

In 2010, the Group resumed its aircraft renewal programme,
which had been on hold for over a year following the capacity
reduction measure adopted to deal with the crisis. Three Airbus
A340/300 under operating lease, which were in service at year-
end 2009, were returned, and five Airbus A340/600 aircraft
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Operating fleet (a)
December December

2010 2009

Long Haul 35 32

Owned 6 6

Finance lease 3 1

Operating lease 26 25

Wet lease 0 0

Domestic and medium haul 77 77

Owned 3 2

Finance lease 10 10

Operating lease 64 65

Wet lease 0 0

Total 112 109

Owned 9 8

Finance lease 13 11

Operating lease 90 90

Wet lease 0 0

(a) Reflects the number of passenger aircraft in operation at each close, excluding aircraft temporarily idle
or grounded.



were brought on stream (one in March, one in April, two in
June and the other in July), of which three were under
operating leases and two under finance leases at 31 December.
As a result, the airline has boosted potential capacity in its
long-haul fleet, because the A340/600 has 342 seats as
currently configured, compared to 254 seats on the Airbus 300.
In addition, at 31 December 2010 there were grounded pending
for return an aircraft A-320 and an aircraft A-340-300 under
operating lease.

As for domestic and medium-haul aircraft, in February an
owned A320 aircraft that had been idle since October 2009
was added, while two new A319 aircraft under operating leases
were included in March, replacing an A319 and an A320 that
had been returned to their owner at the end of the lease period.
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Aircraft maintenance - The aggregate cost of outsourced fleet
maintenance expense, spare parts used and provisions
recognised for major repair work increased by 11.3% on 2009
to €437 million as a result of, in addition to the impact of the
€/$ exchange rate, higher volumes of maintenance work
which in turn drove a significant increase, above all, in CFM56
engines parts used. 

Commercial costs - Commissions and bonus payments to
travel agencies rose by 10.5% in 2010 due to the growth in
passenger revenue and the shift in mix of sales sourcing
(faster growth in foreign markets, primarily Latin America,
entailing higher commissions). The media advertising spend
also increased, following the drastic cutbacks made in 2009 to
adjust costs to the serious crisis affecting income and results.
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Traffic services, layover and incident related expenses - This
heading hardly changed with respect to 2009 since it is closely
related to air traffic volumes which,  measured in ASK, rose a
mere 0.1%. Costs per ASK declined by 0.3% in 2010.

Navigation charges - These costs declined by 0.3% in 2010 as
the positive impact of lower activity (in terms of number of
take-offs) was greater than the negative effect generated by
higher prices. Navigation charges per ASK fell 0.5% year-on-
year.

In-flight services - These costs increased by €5 million, i.e.
6.5%, on 2009, as a result of higher in-flight meal costs, due
primarily to the 7.3% growth in passengers on long-haul
flights, as well as the stronger class mix across the overall
network.

Booking systems - These expenses increased by 1.6% in 2010
due to higher average prices and, to a lesser extent, to the
appreciation of the dollar. Taking into consideration the
increase in revenue from the use of booking systems (6.7%),
the net expense was down 1.5% on 2009.

Other costs - Recurring costs fell by €20 million (-4.6%) year-
on-year, primarily as a result of the implementation of the
initiatives designed within the framework of the Cost
Reduction Plan. Meanwhile, €36 million of other non-
recurring costs were recognised in 2010, relating mainly to
independent professional services required by corporate
transactions, together with certain provisions.
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Impairment losses and net gains on disposals of non-current
assets - This item presented a negative balance of €16 million
in 2010, due to extraordinary expenses in connection with
aircraft returns and impairment losses on the fleet, which
were partially offset by gains arising from the sale of non-
current assets, mainly fleet assets. A negative balance of €3
million was recognised in 2009, due primarily to losses arising
from the derecognition of rotables.

Financial results - This item amounted to €98 million in 2010,
almost €66 million more than the balance recognised in
2009. Finance income totalled €27 million, down €37 million
on 2009 mainly as a result of the decline in income from
short-term deposits which were affected by falling interest
rates. This reduction in finance income was largely offset by a
€6 million drop in financial expenses and a €23 million
improvement in net exchange differences.

Financial results also comprises “Other revenues and
expenses” (gains on disposals of financial instruments and
changes in the fair value of hedges not deemed effective for
hedge accounting purposes) which presented a balance of
€99 million in 2010, compared with a balance of €25 million
in 2009. The sale of 6.71 million shares of Amadeus IT
Holdings, S.A. in October 2010 generated a gross gain of €90
million. In 2009, the balance of “Other revenues and
expenses” included a €20.5 million gain on the share
exchange between Clickair and Vueling following the merger
of the two companies.

Share of results of associates - This heading showed a profit of
€23 million in 2010, €15 million more than a year earlier,
essentially reflecting earnings growth at Vueling, an airline in
which the Parent holds a 45.85% stake since July 2009.
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Consolidated statement
of financial position

€ million

31-Dec-2010 31-Dec-2009 % (*)

ASSETS 6,013 5,046 19.2

Non-current assets 3,066 2,362 29.8

Intangible assets 46 50 (7.8)

Property, plant and equipment 1,145 1,046 9.4

Investment in associates 157 134 17.2

Financial assets 1,121 497 125.6

Deferred tax assets 597 635 (6.0)

Current assets 2,947 2,684 9.8

Assets held for sale 0 9 (100.0)

Inventories 215 215 (0.2)

Trade receivables 561 478 17.4

Current financial assets 1,285 1,088 18.1

Accruals and other assets 11 9 25.5

Cash and cash equivalents 875 886 (1.2)

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6,013 5,046 19.2

Equity 2,132 1,551 37.5

Shareholder´s equity 2,129 1,548 37.5

Minority interests 3 3 1.5

Non-current liabilities 1,958 1,732 13.0

Provisions 1,122 1,209 (7.2)

Borrowings and other financial liabilities 435 301 44.4

Deferred tax liabilities 191 7 n.m.

Long-term accruals 210 215 (2.2)

Current liabilities 1,923 1,763 9.1

Borrowings and other financial liabilities 251 295 (15.0)

Customer prepayments 451 389 15.9

Trade and other payables 1,209 1,075 12.5

Other liabilities 12 4 180.0

n.m: not meaningful
(*) The percentage variations are calculated with complete numbers in euros.



Equity - At 31 December 2010, equity stood at €2,132 million,
€581 million more than at year-end 2009. This increase
primarily reflects the revaluation at 31 December 2010 of the
Group’s 7.5% shareholding in Amadeus IT Holding, S.A.
following this company’s IPO in May 2010. It also includes the
revaluation of the Group’s investment in British Airways,
whose share price rose by 45.8% in 2010.

Current financial investments and Cash and cash equivalents -
This aggregate stood at €2,160 million at 31 December 2010,
up 9.3% year-on-year. Excluding the valuation of hedging
instruments recognised under current financial investments,
this item amounted to €2,073 million, up 8.1% on the balance
at 31 December 2009.

In-balance sheet net debt - This balance at 31 December 2010
remained negative; i.e. the balance of current financial assets
(excluding the valuation of hedging instruments) exceeded
the total balance of interest-bearing debt, in an amount of
€1,488 million, but was 4.8% lower than at year-end 2009. In-
balance sheet interest-bearing debt increased by €83 million
year-on-year, due mainly to the finance leases of two new
A340/600 aircraft.

Adjusted net debt - This heading fell by 16.8% due to the
reduction in capitalised fleet lease expenses and, to a lesser
extent, the increase in current financial investments and cash
and cash equivalents. Leverage at 31 December 2010 was 11.9
percentage points lower than at 31 December 2009.

The table below depicts the trend in the key capital
management metrics:
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On 24 January 2011, the shares of International Consolidated
Airlines Group, S.A. (IAG), the holding company for Iberia and
British Airways, began trading.  Following completion of the
merger, the two companies are beginning a new stage in their
history while at the same time retaining their respective
brands and operations. The integration represents an
excellent growth opportunity, places the group in a better
strategic position within an extremely competitive industry,
strengthens its financial position, and provides it with greater
investment power and more risk diversification options. 

The performance of the airline industry is directly tied to
economic growth. Accordingly, one of the Group’s major risks
is its dependence on a consolidated recovery in demand for air
travel in its strategic markets, which in turn depends on levels
of employment, consumer and business confidence, the
availability of credit and growth in trade. Business travel is
particularly sensitive to trends in economic conditions.
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€ million
Iberia Group 31-Dec-2010 31-Dec-2009 Var. % 

Current financial investments and Cash 
and cash equivalents  (a) 2,073 1,919 8.0

In-balance sheet net debt (b) 585 502 16.5

In-balance sheet net debt (1,488) (1,417) 4.8

Aircraft lease capitalisation (x8) (c) 2,510 2,658 -5.6

Adjusted net debt 1,022 1,229 -16.8

Leverage (d) 32.4% 44.3% -11.9 p

(*) The percentage variations are calculated with complete numbers in euros.
(a) Current financial investments, cash and cash equivalents and excluding the fair value of hedging
instruments (€87 million as at 31 December 2010 and €55 million at year-end 2009).
(b) Includes current and non-current bank debt and finance lease obligations.
(c) Operating lease (dry leases at 100% and the rest at 50%) annualised and capitalised at x 8.
(d) Adjusted net debt / (equity + adjusted net debt).

Major risks and
uncertainties



2010 confirmed the expectations of an overall, but regionally
uneven, economic recovery, featuring strong development in
emerging economies and a slow upturn in OECD countries.
According to the International Monetary Fund, the two-speed
recovery is likely to continue in 2011.  Emerging markets will
continue to post significant growth but will have to manage
the risks of overheating and of a strong influx of capital, while
advanced economies will grow moderately and barely enough
to combat unemployment. A group of European countries,
including Spain, face a long and difficult macroeconomic
adjustment.  IMF forecasts point to world economic growth of
4.2% in 2011 (compared with an estimated 4.8% for 2010), the
euro zone to grow at 1.5%, Spanish GDP growth of 0.7% and
economic growth of 2% in the UK, 2.3% in the US and 4% in
Latin America and the Caribbean.

These prospects for uneven economic growth are reflected in
the forecast trend in air transport demand. The International
Air Transport Association (IATA) forecasts that, in 2011,
passenger traffic will increase by 5.2% in the commercial
airline industry as a whole (compared with the estimate of
8.9% in 2010) and that cargo traffic will grow by 5.5% (it
registered an 18.5% rebound in 2010). The major emerging
economies in the Middle East, Asia-Pacific and Latin America
will continue to post the highest growth rates. In contrast,
European airlines will probably generate lower traffic growth,
which will continue to be affected by the weak recovery in
internal demand in Europe and by the uncertainty
surrounding the high indebtedness of certain countries.
European operators will probably set their sights on
developing intercontinental traffic to offset the weakness of
their own markets.
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Air transport demand might also be affected by possible
terrorist attacks, armed conflict, natural disasters, epidemics,
pandemics or harsh weather conditions. The airline industry is
also sensitive to political decisions, regulatory changes and
tax increases. IAG’s extensive flight network and robust
financial health enable it to mitigate the impact that a local or
regional event might have on its finances. 

Airlines’ profits depend on finding the right balance between
supply and demand in the market. Current forecasts point to
higher growth in capacity supply in 2011 than in the previous
year, which may possibly have an impact on load factors and
revenue per ASK. Passenger revenues in 2011 are likely to
register similar levels to those of 2010.

Profitability is also highly sensitive to other factors, such as
the trend in fuel prices and in currency movements,
particularly the US dollar. Average jet kerosene prices (JET CIF
NEW) were around $830 per tonne in December 2010, which
represents a 24% increase on the average price in 2009. There
is uncertainty as to the trend in fuel prices.

According to the latest IATA forecasts (published in December
2010), the airline industry will obtain a net profit of around
$9,100 million in 2011, somewhat below the estimated profit
for 2010 ($15,100 million), taking into consideration the
difficulties faced by certain European economies and the
upward trend in fuel prices. IATA forecasts the average price of
a barrel of Brent at $84 dollars in 2011 (around 6% more than
2010).  

The Group carries out a broad range of actions to control and
manage risks, putting in place systems that allow it to identify,
measure, manage and mitigate the main risks affecting its
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various businesses. As for financial risks, the Group has a
management programme to control and reduce the potential
impact of fluctuations in fuel prices, exchange rates and
interest rates on its earnings and to preserve sufficient cash for
working capital and investments. The Group has kerosene
hedges on 56% of planned consumption in 2011.

IAG’s main strategic objectives are to increase benefits for the
customers of Iberia and British Airways, reinforce its leadership
position at its major hubs (London Heathrow and Madrid
Barajas) and in transatlantic routes, enhance its position in the
routes connecting Europe with Africa and Asia, and to have
competitive costs.  In addition, IAG has set itself the objective
of obtaining synergies of approximately €400 million p.a.
(before tax) as from the end of the fifth year following the
execution of the merger, with a maximum cash cost of €269
million throughout the five-year period. Approximately 40% of
the synergies are forecast to be generated by higher income
and 60% by cost savings. The initial target for 2011 is to obtain
synergies of €60 million - €65 million.  

The Group intends to increase the number of long-haul flights
it offers by 15% in 2011, in keeping with its strategic objectives
and based on positive trend in demand in these markets. The
Group plans to open new routes: from Madrid to Los Angeles
(USA) and to Fortaleza and Recife (Brazil); and from Barcelona
to Miami (USA) and to Sao Paulo (Brazil).

In October 2010 the important Joint Business Agreement
between Iberia, American Airlines and British Airways (the
three members of the oneworld alliance) was launched,
enabling them to operate transatlantic flights jointly. The
development of the Agreement will be finalised in 2011 in
order to provide customers with more flight options and
simpler connections, thereby placing the three companies in a
stronger strategic position. 
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The objective for the domestic and medium-haul network is to
launch a new operating model to feed the intercontinental
network in a more efficient and profitable manner.

Meanwhile, the Group will continue to implement initiatives
aimed at enhancing product quality and customer service.
Improvements in punctuality will be a key factor in this
connection.

In April, the 19th Collective Bargaining Agreement covering
ground staff at the Parent was signed, with effect from 1
January 2009 until 31 December 2012. In December 2010,
management of Parent and the representatives of the
passenger cabin crew on the Flight Workers’ Committee signed
the 16th Collective Bargaining Agreement, also with effect until
31 December 2012. Management is still in talks with
representatives of technical crew workers over the terms of
their Collective Bargaining Agreement, which expired in
December 2009. 
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• The Group’s main resources are its aircraft and personnel.

• In 2010 and 2009, the distribution of the workforce,
measured as average headcount, by professional category,
was as follows: 

In 2010 the Group made no investments in research and
development activities.
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Research and
development activities

Resources

Number of employees
2010 2009

Senior executives 10 10

Ground staff:

Managers and other line staff 1,110 1,145

Clerical staff 5,181 5,394

Ancillary services 4,633 4,697

Aircraft maintenance technicians 2,922 2,930

Other 1,130 1,160

14,976 15,326

Flight staff:

Technical crew 1,548 1,590

Cabin crew 3,569 3,745

5,117 5,335

20,103 20,671



In 2010 Iberia Group continued to work on a number of
measures aimed at improving the Group’s environmental
track record on an ongoing basis, as a core component of its
corporate citizenship policy.

This year, Iberia Group has implemented a new environmental
management system to comply with the European regime on
emission rights. The aim of the system is to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions. This market mechanism sets a
maximum cap for total emissions by the sector. Airline
operators that exceed their quota for emissions have to buy
emission rights from other operators or installations that are
already subject to the regulations. In this way, the market
provides an economic incentive for the cleanest operators and
penalises the biggest polluters. Iberia, through a dedicated
internal working group, has adapted its procedures to comply
with the regulations and is ready to comply as from 2012. 
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As regards flight operations, measures such as the renewal of
less fuel-efficient aircraft, the adoption of new operational
measures and matching the flight program to new demand
enabled the Group last year to again reduce noise and
emissions associated with climate change. Here it is also
worth noting the airline’s participation in the pan-European
SESAR (Single European Sky ATM Research) R&D program, an
initiative sponsored by the European Commission and
Eurocontrol with a view to easing air congestion and make
flying more environmentally friendly. The new air traffic
management system will reduce fuel consumption, thereby
slashing carbon emissions by between 6% and 12%. 

In terms of its activities on the ground, over the period the
Group made major environmental improvements via the ISO
14001/AENOR certified environmental management systems
in place in the handling and maintenance divisions.

In September 2010 the Parent was selected, for the fifth year
running, for inclusion in the prestigious Dow Jones
Sustainability Index, which tracks the performance of the
companies with the world’s best records on economic, social
and environmental practice. This puts the airline in
prestigious company as only two airlines belong to this index.
Iberia earned maximum points for environmental protection. 
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The Ibex-35 lost 17.43% in 2010, dragged down by banking,
which was one of the industries affected most by the market
tensions caused by the lack of confidence in the economic
recovery. While the credit rating agencies’ decisions to
downgrade Spanish debt aggravated the situation, positive
macroeconomic data from the US and the positive results of
Spanish banks in the stress tests published in the summer
provided a boost for the Spanish market and higher losses
were thus avoided. 
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Iberia share price
All share prices are expressed in euros  

Share price at 31 December 2010 3.195

Share price at 31 December 2009 1.899

Annual change  68.2%

Average annual share price 2.625

Maximum 3.321

Minimum 1.961

Average daily volume (number of shares) 4,921,306

Number of shares 953,103,008



Air traffic staged a recovery in the markets in 2010, leading to
a clear improvement in revenues and a higher load factor.
European airlines’ share prices performed well in the year.

Noteworthy among these was Iberia, whose share price
gained 68.2%, driven by the merger process with British
Airways, which was finalised in 2011 and by the joint business
agreement with British Airways and American Airlines
approved in July 2010.

In 2010, Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. Operadora (Sole
Shareholder Company) did not trade in treasury shares.
However, Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. sold 688
treasury shares, having cancelled all the treasury shares it
held previously to its merger with BA Holdco, S.A. and IAG.
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Subsequent eventOn 21 January 2011, British Airways Plc and Iberia Líneas Aéreas
de España, S.A. (hereinafter ‘British Airways’ and ‘Iberia’
respectively) completed a merger transaction of the two
companies to create a new, leading European airline group. As
a result of the merger, International Consolidated Airlines
Group (IAG) was formed to hold the interests of both the
existing airline groups. IAG is a Spanish company registered in
Madrid incorporated 8 April 2010. 

IAG has a premium listing on the FTSE’s UK index series. IAG
shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange’s main
market for listed securities and also on the stock exchanges of
Madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and Valencia (the “Spanish Stock
Exchanges”), through the Spanish Stock Exchanges
Interconnection System (Mercado Continuo Espanol). 

The group is expecting to generate annual synergies of
approximately €400 million by the end of its fifth year and
benefit shareholders, customers and employees. IAG will
combine the two companies leading positions in the UK and
Spain and enhance their strong presence in the international
long haul markets, while retaining the individual brands and
operations of both airlines.  

Principal terms

Under the terms of the merger, British Airways ordinary
shareholders received one new ordinary share of IAG for every
existing British Airways ordinary share and Iberia
shareholders received 1.0205 new ordinary shares for every
existing Iberia ordinary share.  Upon completion of the
transaction, British Airways’ shareholders held 56 per cent of
IAG and Iberia’s shareholders 44 per cent. 



Prior to 21 January 2011, British Airways owned 13.15 per cent of
the issue share capital of Iberia and Iberia owned 9.99 per cent
of the issued share capital of British Airways. Subsequent to
the merger, the cross holdings between British Airways and
Iberia were maintained or recreated with the same economic
and voting rights. 

For the purposes of accounting British Airways was deemed to
be the acquirer of Iberia.  IAG’s value was determined based
on British Airways’ fair value, calculated from British Airways
quoted market price at the close of business on 20th January
2011 of €3.346 (or £2.825) for its 1,The purchase price allocation
has not yet been finalised.  It is expected to be completed
within 12 months of the date of the merger date in accordance
with the period allowed to review estimations under IFRS.
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IAG value: 

British Airways fair value 3,862

Iberia stake in British Airways (385)

3,477

British Airways ownership in IAG 56%

IAG value 6,209

Purchase price:

IAG value 6,209

Iberia's ownership in IAG 44%

2,732

British Airways stake in Iberia at market value 370

Purchase price 3,102



The purchase price allocation has not yet been finalised.  It is
expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of the
merger date in accordance with the period allowed to review
estimations under IFRS.

IAG will consolidate and report the first results of the IAG
group for the three months ended 31 March 2011. IAG's first
quarter results will include British Airways results for the
three months ended 31 March 2011 and Iberia's results from
the date of the merger. 
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The preparation and publication of the Annual Corporate
Governance Report is a legal obligation imposed on all listed
companies by Act 26/2003 of 17 July, known as the
“Transparency Act”, the structure and contents of which are
developed in the Order of the Ministry of Economy 3722/2003
of 26 December. The National Securities Market Commission
(CNMV), authorised for the subsequent, detailed development
of these provisions, passed a single standard model on 17
March 2004 for preparing the Annual Corporate Governance
Report, which was later modified by Circular 4/2007 of the
CNMV of 27 December.

On 21 January 2011, the merger by absorption of Iberia, Líneas
Aéreas de España, S.A. and BA HOLDCO, S.A. into
INTERNATIONAL CONSOLIDATED AIRLINES GROUP, S.A. (IAG)
was executed. As from 24 January, 2010, the shares of IAG have
been listed on the main securities market of the London Stock
Exchange and are included in the FTSE UK Index Series and the
Madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and Valencia stock exchanges
through the Spanish Stock Market Interconnection System.

As part of this merger process, as a prior step that was
inextricably linked to the merger, the hive down was
performed of the entire business of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de
España, S.A. (Iberia), which was transferred to its wholly-
owned subsidiary Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, Sociedad
Anónima Operadora, Sole-Shareholder Company (Iberia
Operadora).

The aforementioned hive down consisted of the universal, en
bloc transfer of all Iberia’s equity, assets and liabilities to Iberia
Operadora, which was subrogated to all the rights and
obligations of Iberia and became the universal successor to all
its business activities. Therefore, Iberia Operadora has
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assumed all of Iberia’s business, which it continues to perform
in the same way as the latter, while maintaining its head
offices in Spain and preserving the “Iberia” brand.

At the date of this report, Iberia Operadora has a sole
shareholder, IB OPCO HOLDING, S.L., of which GARANAIR, S.L.
owns 50.1%, IAG owns 43.1% and British Airways Holdings B.V.
owns 6.8%.

As a result, at the date of this report, Iberia has been dissolved
and Iberia Operadora is not a listed company. However, taking
into consideration that, at 21 January 2011, the Iberia
shareholders exchanged their shares for those of IAG, thereby
becoming shares of the parent of the group, for their
information, the current Board of Iberia Operadora took the
decision to approve and publish the 2010 Annual Corporate
Governance Report relating to Iberia and to include it in the
2010 consolidated directors’ report of the Iberia Group.

Therefore, the information refers to Iberia, L.A.E., S.A. (Iberia) at
31 December 2010 and to the governing bodies in existence at
that date, which is referred to as “the Company”.

This Annual Corporate Governance Report refers to 2010 and
has the following structure:

A) Ownership structure of the company
B) Management structure of the company
C) Related party transactions
D) Risk control systems
E) General meeting
F) Degree of compliance with corporate governance 

recommendations
G) Other information of interest
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The Report contains all the information considered expedient
to give a complete picture of the company’s governance
structure, decision-making processes, directors’ obligations
and emoluments and, in general, any aspect that shareholders
and investors of IAG might consider important in respect of
company management. The Report is also supplemented with
information published on the website of IAG
(www.es.iairgroup.com) in the section “Investor Relations”
where shareholders and investors can view the company’s
rules and any other material information on company
management.

A.1. Capital

Capital at year-end

At 31 December 2010, the capital of Iberia, L.A.E., S.A., fully
subscribed and paid up, divided into shares issued in book-
entry form with a par value of 0.78€ each, was as follows:

No capital increases have been made in 2010.

At 31 December 2010, Iberia, L.A.E., S.A. had 79,806 share-
holders.
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Date of the last  
Number

Number 
modification  Capital

of shares
of voting 

in 2010 rights 

- 743,420,346.24 953,103,008 953,103,008

A. Ownership structure of
the company



Classes of shares

At 31 December 2010, there are no different classes of shares
with different associated rights.

A.2. Significant interests at year-end, excluding Directors

The ownership structure of the Company at year-end is
indicated below, highlighting the significant interests, as
broadly defined in Royal Decree 1362/2007 of 19 October,
which refers to both stakes equal to or greater than 3% in the
capital and those held by shareholders who, although holding
less than that percentage, have signed shareholding
agreements undertaking to act in concert.
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Nº direct Nº indirect  % total 
Holders of significant shareholding interests voting direct voting voting 

rights rights. rights

Caja de Ahorros y Monte de Piedad de Madrid (Caja Madrid) 219,097,719 800 22.99

British Airways plc. - 125,321,425 13.15

El Corte Ingles, S.A. 32,151,759 - 3.37

Sociedad Estatal de Participaciones Industriales (SEPI) 49,212,526 - 5.16

Chase Nominees Ltd 74,241,641 - 7.79

The Bank of New York Mellon 76,712,130 - 8.05

Total holders significant sharehonlding interests 576,738,000 60.51

Others (shareholders and treasury stock) 376,365,008 39.49

Total Iberia shares 953,103,008 100.00

(At 31 December 2010)



*Through:

The most significant changes in the shareholding structure
during the period are set out below:

A.3. Directors’ shareholding interests.

Iberia shares held by members of the Board

According to the company’s records, directors directly or
indirectly held the following shares in Iberia L.A.E., S.A. at 31
December 2010:
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Number % total 
Direct holder of direct voting
of the significant interest voting rights rights

Valoración y Control, S.L. 400 0.000042

Inmogestión y Patrimonios, S.A. 400 0.000042

British Airways Holdings BV 96,575,658 10.13

Britair Holdings Limited 28,745,767 3.02

Holder of significant Date Description 
interest of transaction of transaction

The Bank of New York Mellon 31-Dec-2010 Purchase of 38,639,379 shares

Chase Nominees Ltd 31-Dec-2010 Purchase of 24,647,123 shares



*Through:

Directors’ options over shares in the company

At 31 December 2010, none of the directors had any options
over shares in the company.

A.4. Family, commercial, contractual or corporate relation-
ships between significant shareholders, as far as the
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Nº direct Nº indirect  % total
Directors voting direct voting  voting 

rights rights rights

Mr. Antonio Vázquez 502,000 - 0.052670

Mr. Rafael Sánchez-Lozano Turmo 101,000 - 0.010597

Mr. Rodrigo de Rato y Figaredo 400 - 0.000042

Mr. Felipe Benjumea Llorente 400 24,600 0.002623

Mr. José Manuel Fernández Norniella 800 - 0.000084

Mr. Antonio Masa Godoy 5,250 - 0.000551

Mr. Roger Paul Maynard 401 - 0.000042

Mr. José Pedro Pérez-Llorca 400 - 0.000042

Mr. Jorge Pont Sánchez 401 - 0.000042

Mr. José B. Terceiro Lomba 400 - 0.000042

Mr. Keith Williams 1,000 - 0.000105

Inmogestión y Patrimonios, S.A. (1) 400 - 0.000042

Valoración y Control S.L. (2) 400 - 0.000042

(1) Represented by Mr. Javier Gómez-Navarro Navarrete
(2) Represented by Mr. José Manuel Serra Peris

Number % total 
Direct holder of the interest of direct voting 

voting rights rights

ARDACHON, S.L. 24,600 0.002581

% total voting rights held by Directors 0.066924

(At 31 December 2010)



Company is aware, unless they are insignificant or deriving
from ordinary business activities.

Apart from the Shareholders’ Agreement signed when the
company was privatised, which finalised on 29 June 2010,
the company has not been informed and is not aware of any
relationships between significant shareholders other than
those deriving from the ordinary business of the
companies.

A.5. Commercial, contractual or corporate relations between
significant shareholders and the Company, unless they are
insignificant or deriving from ordinary business activities.

The most important commercial, contractual and corporate
relations between significant shareholders and the
company are described in the section on related party
transactions.

It should be noted that, since the Iberia privatisation, Iberia
and British Airways, its major shareholder and industrial
partner through British Airways Holdings B.V., are
determined to reach a level of cooperation that will benefit
the operations of both companies and enable them to
improve their competitive positions on the market,
coordinating and possibly integrating their commercial and
marketing strategies and their distribution practices and
procedure. On 19 July 2002, British Airways, Iberia and GB
Airways notified the European Commission of several
cooperation agreements and applied for an exemption
under Article 81(3) of the EC Treaty. On 10 December 2003,
the European Commission approved the alliance, which
should enable the airlines to make specific agreements to
complement one another through their respective networks,
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essentially in pricing, scheduling and capacity. Under this
alliance, Iberia and British Airways signed an agreement on 16
December 2004 to jointly operate their routes between
London Heathrow, Madrid and Barcelona as from 1 January
2005. This agreement contemplates the joint management of
the routes, sharing costs and profits.

Furthermore, American Airlines, British Airways and Iberia
commenced joint operation of flights between Europe and the
North Atlantic on 1 October 2010, after obtaining
authorisation from the European Commission and the DOT
(US Department of Transportation). This transatlantic alliance
enables consumers to benefit from higher discounts, better
connections and a broader network of destinations.

Finally, on 29 July 2008, the Iberia Board announced its
intention to enter into talks with British Airways with a view
to a possible merger of the two companies, through an
exchange of shares. Accordingly, in 2008 Iberia increased its
ownership interest in British Airways to 9.99%.

On 12 November 2009, Iberia and British Airways signed a
memorandum of understanding (MOU) laying down the
bases for a merger between the two companies to create one
of the largest airline groups in the world, recognising the
principle of parity on the board and in the management
bodies of the new Group.

On 8 April 2010, the two companies entered into the merger
agreement. As a result of the Merger and in accordance with
the Exchange Ratio, through a process to be carried out in
two stages: (i) the Ordinary Shareholders of British Airways
(not of Iberia) would receive 1 share of BA Holdco for every
ordinary share held in British Airways and, subsequently,
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they would receive 1 share of IAG for every share of BA
Holdco received previously; and (ii) the Shareholders of
Iberia (not of BA Holdco) would receive 1.0205 shares of IAG
for every share held in Iberia.

On the basis of this exchange ratio, following the merger, the
ordinary shareholders of British Airways (not of Iberia)
immediately prior to the execution of the merger will own
56% of IAG and the shareholders of Iberia (not of British
Airways) immediately prior to the execution of the merger
would own 44% of IAG.

The execution of the Merger was subject to the fulfilment of
certain conditions precedent, namely:

• Approval at the Court Meeting of British Airways of the
British Airways Scheme of Arrangement by a numerical ma-
jority of the ordinary shareholders of British Airways (exclu-
ding Iberia) present in person or by proxy, with voting rights
and representing at least 75% of the value of all the Shares
of British Airways held by said ordinary shareholders of
British Airways.

• Issuance by the High Court of England and Wales of the or-
der authorising the British Airways Scheme of
Arrangement.

• Approval of the resolutions proposed at the General
Meeting of British Airways and at the Separate Meeting of
British Airways.

• Approval of the resolutions proposed at the General
Meeting of Iberia.
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• Expiry of the Creditor Protection Period with regard to the
Hive Down and of the Merger Creditor Protection Period, ap-
plicable under Spanish legislation, in which no creditor filed
an objection to the Hive Down of Iberia or the Merger of
IAG.

• Approval of the admission to trading by the UKLA of the IAG
shares on the UKLA Official List.

• Approval of the admission to trading of the IAG Shares on
the listed securities market of the London Stock Exchange.

Having met all the conditions, the merger took effect on 21
January 2011, in accordance with the stipulated procedure.

A.6. Shareholders’ agreements of which the company has
been notified.

The Shareholders’ agreement signed on 15 December 1999
between the shareholders of the Stable Core remained in
force until 29 June 2010, on which date it was terminated by
all the parties thereto.

The company is not aware of any shareholders’ agreements or
pooling of shares other than as described above.

A.7.  Control over the company.

Apart from the Shareholders’ Agreement described above, at
31 December 2010, no persons or entities exercise or are able to
exercise control over the company in pursuance of section 4 of
the Securities Exchange Act.

annual corporate governance reportiberia group / consolidated management report

173



A.8. Treasury Stock.

Treasury Stock at year-end

At year-end, the company held the following own shares:

The redemption of treasury stock was carried out on 20
January 2011, coinciding with the registration of the hive down
at the Mercantile Registry. However, in accordance with
applicable accounting regulations, the hive down is effective
from 1 January 2010 for accounting purposes.

Significant variations in treasury stock 

There were no significant variations in treasury stock in 2010.

Gain/(Loss) on treasury share transactions 

The following gains and losses arose from treasury share
transactions in 2010:

A.9. Term and conditions of the current authorisation granted
by the General Meeting to the Board of Directors for dealings
involving treasury stock.

annual corporate governance reportiberia group / consolidated management report

174

Nº direct Nº indirect % capital
shares shares* stock  

27,897,583 - 2.927%

Gain/(Loss) on treasury share transactions the following gains 
and losses arose from treasury chare transactions in 2010

225.76 €

(At 31 December 2010)



At the General Shareholders’ Meeting of 2 June 2010,
approval was given to authorise the buy-back of shares in
the company, empowering the Board, in pursuance of s.146
et seq of the Corporations Act, to acquire such shares over a
period of 18 months from the date of this AGM either
directly or through any subsidiaries in which the company is
the controlling shareholder, through purchase or under any
other title permitted by law, in such number that the par
value of the shares thus acquired, when added to those
already held by the company or its subsidiaries from time to
time, shall not exceed 10% of the capital of IBERIA, L.A.E, S.A.,
for a price that is between 50% of the par value of the shares
and the equivalent of 110% of their price on the market,
which shall be, for this purpose, the highest market price on
the business day immediately preceding the date of
acquisition, subject to legal constraints and requirements.
The Board is expressly authorised to use the treasury stock,
inter alia, to acquire shares for delivery to employees,
executives or executive directors of the company or to meet
any stock options that they may exercise. This authorisation
overrides the authorisation granted at the AGM on 3 June
2009.

A.10. Restrictions on voting and the acquisition or transfer of
shares.

Restrictions established in law or the bylaws on the exercise of
voting rights

At 31 December 2010, according to the Bylaws all shareholders
may attend and vote at General Meetings provided that they
hold, individually or through pooling, at least 400 shares and
have recorded them in the corresponding register five days
before the relevant General Meeting.
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Legal restrictions on the acquisition or disposal of shares in
the capital

At 31 December 2010, the Bylaws do not establish any
restrictions on the acquisition or disposal of shares in the
capital, so the shares are freely transferable by law and the
bylaws, subject only to the obligation to notify the company of
any acquisitions or disposals that directly or indirectly result in
the acquisition of a holding of more than 0.5% in the capital
stock, expressly stating the nationality of the transferor and
transferee, and the establishment of any encumbrances over
the shares affecting exercise of the corresponding rights.

Finally, the limitations regarding the nationality of
shareholders must be borne in mind, since in pursuance of the
Air Navigation Act and Regulation (EC) No 1008/2008 of the
European Parliament and of the Council, Spanish air carriers
holding an operating licence must be majority-owned by EC
Member States or nationals of Member States.

Restrictions are also established for exercising the traffic
rights deriving from bilateral air traffic agreements signed by
Spain whenever these agreements stipulate that the
appointed carrier must be under Spanish ownership and/or
effective control.

With regard to this requirement, section 86 of the Act 14/2000
of 29 December 2000, on Fiscal, Administrative and Social
Measures, provides that:

“When adopting the legal form of a company, the capital
stock of Spanish air carriers holding an operating licence
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granted in pursuance of Council Regulation (EEC) No 2407/92
of 23 July shall be represented by registered shares, expressly
stating the nationality of the shareholder.

When an air carrier with a valid operating licence becomes
aware, through the share registers to which it has access, that
owing to percentages of capital directly or indirectly held by
foreign persons or companies, there is a risk for maintaining
the operating licences or exercising the traffic rights deriving
from bilateral air traffic agreements signed by Spain, it shall
notify the Stock Exchange Councils and the Stock Exchange
Commission, to guarantee due publicity. Those institutions
shall notify the investment service undertakings and credit
entities authorised to provide investment services of the
circumstance detected. The Ministry of Development shall
also be notified, through the Directorate General for Civil
Aviation. Once due notification has been given of this
circumstance, no further shares may be purchased or
transferred by foreign persons or entities, unless
accompanied by a certificate issued by the Board of
Directors of the air carrier indicating that the acquisition or
transfer in question does not exceed the limits stipulated in
Community laws and regulations or bilateral air traffic
agreements signed by Spain, to prove that the air carrier is
Spanish.

Should the air carrier become aware of any acquisition or
disposal of shares made in breach of the previous
paragraph which could jeopardise fulfilment of the legal
requirements and the above-mentioned agreements, the
Board of the company may acquire the relevant shares for
redemption. This acquisition shall be made at the market
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price on the date of undue acquisition of the shares in
question or the theoretical book value of those shares
according to the latest audited balance sheet of the company
published in compliance with the legislation applicable to
listed companies, whichsoever shall be lower. In the latter
case, the Board may suspend the voting rights corresponding
to those shares until they have been physically transferred to
the company.”

A.11. Breakthrough rule for takeover bids.

No takeover bids have been made in 2010, hence the
breakthrough rule has not been applied.

B. 1. Board of Directors

B.1.1. Size of the Board of Directors

At 31 December 2010, according to the bylaws, the Board of
Directors of IBERIA, L.A.E., S.A. must have a minimum of ten
and a maximum of fourteen members.
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B. Management
Structure Of The
Company

Maximum number of Directors Minimum number of Directors
according to Bylaws according to Bylaws

14 10



Accordingly, the Board consists of 13 directors, all experienced
persons with a proven track record. The number of directors
stipulated in the bylaws is considered proportionate to the
size of the company and number of shareholders and
adequate to allow efficient functioning. It also conforms to
the Unified Good Governance Code, which recommends a
Board of no fewer than five nor more than fifteen members.
The Board is assisted by the non-director Secretary of the
Board, who is also legal adviser to the Board and responsible
for overseeing the formal and material legality of its
resolutions and ensuring that it heeds the rules of good
governance.

B.1.2. Members of the Board

Members of the Board of Directors at 31 December 2010

The members of the Board are named below, indicating the
position held, the dates of their first and latest appointment
as Board members and the type of directorship.
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Name Position
Date of first Date of last

Natureappointment appointment

Mr. Antonio Vázquez Romero (1) Chairman 09.07.09 - Executive 
ID/Tax nº:  2.644.336-A               

Mr. Rodrigo de Rato y Figaredo (2) Vice-Chairman 12.02.10 - Proprietary           
ID/Tax nº:  26.166.340-E

Mr. Rafael Sánchez-Lozano Turmo (3) CEO 09.07.09 - Executive
ID/Tax nº:  05.219.151-Z

Mr. Felipe Benjumea Llorente Member 30.05.07 - Independent
ID/Tax nº:  28.526.035–D

Mr. José Manuel Fernández Norniella Member 12.06.03 30.05.07       Non-Executive
ID/Tax nº:  1.158.700-Y

Mr. Javier Gómez-Navarro Navarrete (4) Member 20.12.07 - Proprietary
ID/Tax nº:  558.967-K

Mr. Antonio Masa Godoy Member 31.03.01 30.05.07 Independent
ID/Tax nº:  8.414.129-Q

Mr. Roger Paul Maynard Member 23.03.00 02.06.10 Proprietary           
Pasaporte nº. 500.163.204

Mr. José Pedro Pérez-Llorca Member 31.03.01 30.05.07 Independent
ID/Tax nº:  31.128.825-G

Mr. Jorge Pont Sánchez Member 23.03.00 02.06.10 Proprietary       
ID/Tax nº:  36.817.268-H

Mr. José Manuel Serra Peris (5) Member 02.06.10 - Proprietary
ID/Tax nº:  22.674.311-Z

Mr. José B. Terceiro Lomba Member 31.03.01 30.05.07 Independent
ID/Tax nº:  35.203.147-Z

Mr. Keith Williams Member 17.12.09 - Proprietary 
Pasaporte nº. 060.249.491

Mrs. Lourdes Máiz Carro Non-Director Secretary 10.05.01
ID/Tax nº:  51.340.955-X

(1 Appointed Chairman of the Board at the Board meeting held on 09.07.09.
(2 Appointed Vice-Chairman of the Board on 26.04.00 and re-appointed on 30.05.06.
(3) Appointed CEO at the Board meeting held on 09.07.09. From 20.12.07 to 09.07.09, Mr. Sánchez-Lozano represented VALORACIÓN Y CONTROL, S.L. on the

Board.
(4) Representing INMOGESTIÓN Y PATRIMONIOS, S.A.
(5 Representing VALORACIÓN Y CONTROL, S.L.



Election procedure

All the directors have been re-elected by the General Meeting
on expiry of their term of office and they are, consequently, in
their second term, except the following directors:

- Mr. Felipe Benjumea Llorente, who was appointed for the
first time at the AGM on 30 May 2007.

- INMOGESTIÓN Y PATRIMONIOS, S.A., represented by Mr.
Javier Gómez-Navarro Navarrete, who was appointed to the
Board of Directors on 20 December 2007 and whose ap-
pointment was ratified at the AGM of 29 May 2008.

- Mr. Antonio Vázquez Romero, who was appointed at the
Board meeting on 9 July 2009 and whose appointment was
ratified at the AGM of 2 June 2010.

- Mr. Rafael Sánchez-Lozano Turmo, who was appointed at
the Board meeting on 9 July 2009 and whose appointment
was ratified at the AGM of 2 June 2010.

- Mr. Keith Williams, who was appointed at the Board
meeting on 17 December 2009 and whose appointment
was ratified at the AGM of 2 June 2010.

- VALORACIÓN Y CONTROL, S.L. represented by Mr. José
Manuel Serra Peris, who was appointed at the AGM of 2
June 2010.

Professional profile of the members of the Board of Directors

A brief description of the professional profile of each member
of the Board at 31 December 2010 is set out below.
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Chairman

Antonio Vázquez Romero, born in Cordoba on 23 November
1951, with national identity/tax number 30.069.611-D,
appointed member of the Board on 9 July 2009.

BSc in Economics, Malaga University. Worked for Arthur
Andersen & Co from 1974 to 1978 and then up to 1983 held
different positions in the Osborne Group, as Manager of
Subsidiaries of Osborne, S.A. and General Manager of Osborne
México, S.A. Between 1983 and 1993 he worked in the Domecq
Group as Commercial Manager of Domecq México, S.A. and
General Manager of Domecq Internacional, S.A.

Since 1993, he has held different positions in Tabacalera, S.A.
and Altadis, S.A.: 1993-1996 International Development
Manager in Tabacalera; 1997-1999 General Manager of
Cigars in Tabacalera; 2000-May 2005 General Manager of
the Cigar Division of Altadis. 2005-2008, Chairman of the
Board of Altadis, S.A., Chairman of the Board of Logista, CEO
of Altadis, S.A., Chairman of its Executive Committee and
Director of Aldeasa. Between May 2005 and December 2007,
Non-Executive Proprietary Director of Iberia, nominated by
Logista. In June 2008, appointed Independent Director of
Telefónica Internacional.

Vice-Chairman

Rodrigo de Rato y Figaredo, born in Madrid on 18 March 1949,
with national identity/tax number 2.485.345-B, appointed
member 12 of the Board and Vice-Chairman at a Board
meeting held on February 2010. Non-Executive Proprietary
Director proposed by Caja Madrid.
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BA in Law, Universidad Complutense, Madrid. Master in
Business Administration, University of California and PhD in
Economics, Universidad Complutense, Madrid. 25 years’
experience as a Member of Parliament and member of the
Executive of Spain’s Popular Party (Partido Popular).
Responsible for the Popular Party’s economic policy from 1985
to 2004. Spokesman of the Popular Party parliamentary group
from 1989 to 1996.Vice President and Minister of Economy and
Finance of the Spanish Government from 1996 to 2004 (in this
period he discharged the functions of Governor for Spain on
the Board of Governors of the IMF, the World Bank, the Inter-
American Development Bank, the European Investment Bank,
the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and
Spain’s representative at the G7 meeting of Finance Ministers
that coincided with Spain’s Presidency of the European Union
in 2002). Also served as President of the European Council of
Finance Ministers during the introduction of the euro (2002)
and as Managing Director of the International Monetary Fund
(May 2004). Currently Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Caja Madrid, Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of CECA,
member of the Board of Directors of MAPFRE and member of
the Board of Trustees of the Teatro Real in Madrid.

CEO

Rafael Sánchez-Lozano Turmo, born in Madrid on 20 February
1957, with national identity/tax number 5.219.151-Z, appointed
Board member on 9 July 2009 and appointed chief executive
officer (CEO) at the same board meeting.

BA in Law, ICADE, and BA Business Studies. Between 1980 and
1984 held several positions in Citibank, N.A. (Deputy to
Controller, Accounts Manager in the Capital Goods, Energy and
Construction Division). 1984-1989 several positions in
Manufacturers Hanover Trust Co. (Director Credits Department,
Manager of Corporate Finance and Manager of Relations with
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Multinationals). 1989-1991 Manager of the Mergers and
Acquisitions Department in companies of Asfín, S.A. 1991-1998
several positions in J.P. Morgan (Accounts Manager responsible
for relations with undertakings, Manager of Credits for Spain
and Member of the Management Committee of J.P. Morgan in
Spain). From September 1999 to 2008, he held the following
positions in CAJA MADRID: Manager Corporate Risks
Management of the Business Banking Unit, Manager Special
Investments, Manager Mergers and Acquisitions, Manager
International Development and Special Investments, and
former Board member of several subsidiaries of CAJA MADRID.
2008-July 2009, held an executive position in the company
Cibeles Caja Madrid. December 2007-July 2009, representative
of VALORACIÓN Y CONTROL S.L. on the Iberia Board. On 11
December 2009, appointed Director of British Airways,
nominated by Iberia.

Members

Felipe Benjumea Llorente, born in Seville on 14 September 1957,
with national identity/tax number 28.526.035-D, appointed at
the AGM on 30 May 2007. Non-Executive Independent Director.

BA in Law, Deusto University. Currently Executive Chairman of
ABENGOA, Chairman of the FOCUS-ABENGOA Foundation,
Chairman of Inversión Corporativa, I.C., S.A., Director of
Compañía Operadora del Mercado Español de la Electricidad
(OMEL), and Director, member, of the Spanish Energy Club -Club
Español de la Energía-. He is also Trustee of the Spain–United
States Council Foundation,Trustee of the Foundation of Studies
and Applied Economy (FEDEA) and on the Board of Governors
of the Pontifical University Foundation of Salamanca. Former
board member of Sociedad General de Cablevisión (1993-1996),
La Papelera Española (1987-1995), Thyssen Industrie (1989-
1993), Hispano Inmobiliaria de Gestión (1989-1998) and Banco
Santander Central Hispano (1990-2002).
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José Manuel Fernández Norniella, born in Oviedo on 9 October
1945, with national identity/tax number 1.158.700-Y.
Appointed member of the Board of Directors of Iberia at the
AGM held on 12 June 2003 and re-elected at the AGM on 30
May 2007. Non-Executive Non-Proprietary Director.

BSc in Energy Techniques Engineering, Polytechnic University of
Madrid. Diplomas in Foreign Trade, Logistics & Procurements
and Project Management. Held several positions as business
agent: between 1970 and 1979 in ELECTROMECANIQUE, ALFA-
LAVAL and BLAKTCONE; then several management positions
from 1979 to 1993 first in the BROWN BOVERI Group, as
Supplies Manager, and subsequently in AESA BROWN BOVERI
(ABB) as General Affairs Manager and General Manager
Administration. Former Vice-Chairman of ALDEASA and
Chairman of EBRO PULEVA from 2000 to 2005. Formerly on the
Boards of: RTVE, ARGENTARIA, ALDEASA, CHILECTRA, ENDESA
and ENAGAS. Elected MP for Madrid in the IV and V terms of the
Spanish government, Secretary of State for Trade, Tourism and
SMEs, Alternate Representative for Spain in the World Bank,
Representative for Spain in the International Development
Bank and Alternate Representative for Spain in the EBRD.
Member of the International Chamber of Commerce and
Chairman of the Council of Spanish Chambers of Commerce
(1996-2005). Vice-Chairman of the W.S.R. Currently member of
the board of Caja Madrid, representing the depositors, director
of TELVENT, Honorary Chairman of the Ebro Puleva Group and
Vice-Chairman of Equipo Económico.

Javier Gómez-Navarro Navarrete, born in Madrid on 13
September 1945, with national identity/tax number 558.967-K.
Since 9 April 2010,he has been a representative of INMOGESTIÓN
Y PATRIMONIOS, S.A., a company appointed member of the Board
at the Board meeting of 20 December 2007 and ratified at the
AGM of 29 May 2008. INMOGESTIÓN Y PATRIMONIOS, S.A. is a
Non-Executive Proprietary Director proposed by Caja Madrid.

annual corporate governance reportiberia group / consolidated management report

185



BSc Industrial Chemical Engineering, Escuela Técnica Superior
de Ingenieros Industriales, Madrid. Began his professional
career at Alcudia, S.A. Petroquímica in 1971. Furthered his
professional experience at FRASER ESPAÑOLA (energy and
mining consultancy) from 1972 to 1975. Manager of Cuadernos
para el Diálogo publishing company from 1976 to 1978. Gained
further business experience from 1979 to 1983 at Tania
publishing company and was editor of Viajar magazine which
he founded in 1978. During this period he was Managing
Director of the Ortega y Gasset Foundation. In 1980 he was
active in the formation of Fitur, the international tourism fair,
of which he served as technical secretary until 1983. He was
appointed Chairman of Viajes Marsans in the same year. Was
Secretary of State for Sports and Chairman of ADO92, the
Olympic Sports Association from 1987 to 1993. Vice-President of
the Organising Committee of the Barcelona 92 Olympic
Games. Minister of Trade and Tourism from 1993 to 1996.
Chairman of MBD, a business consulting firm, from 1998.
Currently Chairman of Aldeasa and Director of major
companies such as Autogrill, Ibérica de Diagnóstico y Cirugía,
Técnicas Reunidas and Isolux-Corsan. He has also been a Patron
of the Teatro Real since 2007.

Antonio Masa Godoy, born in Badajoz on 14 January 1942, with
national identity/tax number: 8.414.129-Q. Appointed member
of the Board at the General Meeting held on 31 March 2001.
Reappointed at the AGM of 12 June 2003 and the AGM of 30
May 2007. Non-Executive Independent Director.

Economist and Auditor. University Lecturer in Applied
Economics. Among other positions, former Chairman of the
insurance company Hércules Hispano, former Chairman of
the holding company Cartex, S.A. and former Founding
Chairman of Caja Rural de Extremadura. Former Vice-
Chairman of CEOE (Spanish Confederation of Business
Organisations) and Chairman of CEPYME (Confederation of
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Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises). Currently Chairman of
Confederación Regional Empresarial Extremeña (Regional
Business Confederation of Extremadura) and Inversiones
Varias Extremeñas, S.L. (property company); Director of
Corporación Empresarial de Extremadura, S.A., Proyectos y
Promociones del Tormes, S.L., the IEE (Institute of Economic
Studies) and Refinería Balboa, S.A. and Vice-Chairman of the
Institute of Pharmaceutical Studies.

Roger Paul Maynard, born in Birkhampstead (England-Great
Britain) on 10 February 1943, with passport no.: 500.163.204 (valid),
appointed at the Board meeting of 23 March 2000 and ratified at
the Extraordinary General Meeting of 26 April 2000. Reappointed
at the AGM of 6 June 2002 and AGM of 30 May 2006. Non-
Executive Proprietary Director proposed by British Airways.

BSc in Economics, Queens College, Cambridge, 1965. UK Civil
Servant from 1965-1987 in the Department of Trade, Industry
and Transport. Transferred to the Diplomatic Corps in Geneva
between 1968 and 1972 and in Washington between 1982 and
1987, Councillor for Aviation. Subsequently hired by British
Airways as Vice-President Commercial Affairs North America.
Then Executive Director North America, before returning to
the UK as Director of Investor Relations. In 1991 he was
appointed Director of Corporate Strategy before taking up his
present position. Former Director of Qantas Airways and
Opodo Limited. Director of Investments and Alliances of
British Airways and board member of British Airways City
Flyer Ltd. and British Airways European Ltd.

José Pedro Pérez-Llorca Rodrigo, born in Cádiz on 30
November 1940, with national identity/tax number:
31.128.825-G, appointed at the General Meeting of 31 March
2001. Reappointed at AGM of 12 June 2003 and AGM of 30 May
2007. Non-Executive Independent Director.
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BA in Law. Member of the Diplomatic Corps and
Parliamentary Counsel. One of the authors of the Spanish
Constitution. Former Minister of the Presidency,
Parliamentary Relations, Regional Government and Foreign
Affairs. Several former positions on the boards of different
companies, particularly in the credit sector. Among other
offices, former Chairman of Urquijo Leasing and AEG Ibérica
and member of the Madrid Stock Exchange Council. Founding
partner of the Pérez-Llorca Law Office.

Jorge Pont Sánchez, born in Premia De Dalt (Barcelona) on 22
January 1938, with national identity/tax number: 36.817.268-H,
appointed at the Board meeting of 23 March 2000, ratified at
the Extraordinary General Meeting of 26 April 2000.
Reappointed at the AGM of 6 June 2002 and the AGM of 30
May 2006. Non-Executive Proprietary Director proposed by El
Corte Inglés.

BA in Law. Junior Lecturer of Mercantile Law in the Faculties of
Law and Economics of Barcelona University from 1960 to 1964.
In 1965, he joined El Corte Inglés, where he is currently Deputy to
the Chairman and Director International Affairs. Director of the
Ramón Areces Foundation. Chairman of the Board of Sephora
Cosméticos de España, director of Parque Temático de Madrid,
S.A., President/CEO of The Harris Company (U.S.A.) and Director
of Gottschalks Inc. (U.S.A).

Jose Manuel Serra Peris, born in Valencia on 31 August 1959,
with national identity/tax number: 22.674.311-Z. Since 2 June
2010, he has been a representative of VALORACIÓN Y
CONTROL, S.L., a company appointed member of the Board of
Directors at the AGM of 2 June 2010. VALORACIÓN Y CONTROL,
S.L. is a Non-Executive Proprietary Director proposed by Caja
Madrid.
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BA in Law, Universidad de Valencia (1981). State Attorney
(1984). Has held several public-sector positions: State
Attorney at the Tax Office of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, of
Valencia and at the Valencia High Court (1984-1996) and
Secretary of State for Industry and Energy (1996-2000). Also
formerly Chairman of the Spanish Patents and Trademarks
Office, Chairman of CIEMAT (Centre for Energy,
Environmental and Technological Research) and Chairman of
CDTI. Formerly a Director of Sociedad Estatal de
Participaciones Industriales, Sociedad Estatal de
Participaciones Patrimoniales, IBERIA, Líneas Aéreas de
España, S.A., ENDESA, RED ELECTRICA DE ESPAÑA, S.A.,
URALITA, S.A. and Cable y Televisión de Cataluña, S.A. (MENTA)
-AUNA Group. In addition to his professional activity relating
to legal advisory and consulting services, he is currently a
Director of GRUPO EMPRESARIAL ENCE, S.A. and
CORPORACION FINANCIERA ALBA, S.A.

José B. Terceiro Lomba, born in Santiago de Compostela (La
Coruña) on 14 July 1943, with national identity/tax number:
35.203.147-Z, appointed Board member at the General Meeting
held on 31 March 2001. Reappointed at the AGM of 12 June
2003 and AGM of 30 May 2007. Non-Executive Independent
Director.

Professor of Applied Economics at Complutense University,
Madrid. Chairman of Bioetanol Galicia and of the Advisory
Council of Abengoa; Director of the Prisa Group; Executive
Vice-Chairman of Abengoa, S.A. and Director of TELVENT.
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Keith Williams, born in Guisborough, England on 13 May 1956,
passport no.: 060249491 (valid), appointed at the Board
meeting held on 17 December 2009. Non-Executive
Proprietary Director proposed by British Airways.

BA in Medieval History, Liverpool University. 1976-1986
Auditor in Arthur Andersen. Several executive positions in The
Boots Co Plc (1986-1991), Apple Computer (Treasurer) in Paris
(1991-1996); and Reckitt and Coleman (1996-1998). Joined BA
in 1998; appointed Chief Finance Officer and Executive
Director in 2006. Non-executive director of Transport for
London, a government organisation responsible for surface
and underground transport in London.

Non-Director Secretary

Lourdes Máiz Carro, born in Santiago de Compostela (La
Coruña), on 26 April 1959, with national identity/tax number:
51.340.955-X, appointed at the Board meeting on 10 May 2001.

BA in Law and in Philosophy and Education Science. From 1982
to 1988 she formed part of the Research Staff Programme of the
Ministry of Education, obtaining a PhD in Philosophy. State
Attorney since 1992. Since 1993 she has held successive positions
as Director of the Office of the Under Secretary for Public
Administrations, Director of the Office of the Under Secretary
for Education, Director General for Administrative Organisation
(Ministry of Public Administrations), Director General of
Sociedad Estatal de Participaciones Patrimoniales (Ministry of
Economy and Finance) and Technical Secretary General of the
Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries. Formerly on the
Boards of RENFE, Gerencia de Infraestructuras Ferroviarias
(G.I.F.), Instituto de Crédito Oficial (I.C.O.), INISAS, Aldeasa,
Almacenaje y Distribución, S.A. (ALDEASA), and Banco
Hipotecario (Argentaria).
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B.1.3. Types of Directors

The Regulations of the Board of Directors classify directors
into three groups -Executive, Proprietary and Independent-,
following the classification proposed by the Olivencia Code -
largely maintained in the Aldama Report and confirmed in the
Unified Good Governance Code- and the composition of the
Board maintains a balance between the representatives of the
largest possible percentage of capital (proprietary directors)
and a sufficient number of independent directors to
counterbalance the executive and proprietary directors.

By virtue of this classification, of the thirteen members
making up the Board of Directors at 31 December, two are
executive directors –the Chairman of the Board, also Executive
Chairman– and the CEO. The other eleven are non-executive
directors. Of the latter, four are independent, since they are
not and do not represent shareholders able to exert any
influence in the control of the company. Six are proprietary
directors, having been proposed by the holders of sufficiently
significant stable interests in the capital of the company and
one is a non-executive non-proprietary director who,
according to CNMV criteria, is considered included in the
group “Other Non-Executive Directors”.

The different conditions of the Board members are indicated
below. Since 2001, when the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee was set up, all the directors have been proposed by
that Committee to the Board.
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Total number of Executive Directors

2

Non-Executive Proprietary Directors

Name of Director
significant Shareholder that  

proposed appointment

Mr. Javier Gómez-Navarro Navarrete (1) CAJA MADRID

Mr. Roger Paul Maynard BRITISH AIRWAYS

Mr. Jorge Pont Sánchez EL CORTE INGLÉS 

Mr. Rodrigo de Rato y Figaredo CAJA MADRID

Mr. José Manuel Serra Peris (2) CAJA MADRID

Mr. Keith Williams BRITISH AIRWAYS

(1) Representing INMOGESTIÓN Y PATRIMONIOS, S.A.
(2) Representing VALORACIÓN Y CONTROL, S.A.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Name of Director Position

Mr. Felipe Benjumea Llorente Director

Mr. Antonio Masa Godoy Director

Mr. José Pedro Pérez-LLorca Director

Mr. José B. Terceiro Lomba Director

% total of Board

15.38%

Total number of Proprietary Directors

6

% total of Board

46.15%

Total number of Independent Directors

4

% total of Board

30.76%

Executive Directors
Name of Director Position

Mr. Antonio Vázquez Romero Chairman

Mr. Rafael Sánchez-Lozano Turmo CEO



Reason why the latter group of directors cannot be considered
Proprietary or Independent Directors and their relationships, with the
company or its executives or with the shareholders

B.1.4. Appointment of Proprietary Directors at the proposal of
shareholders with interest of less than 5% in the capital.

B.1.5. Retirement of Directors before the end of their term of
office.

The following directors retired from the board during 2010:
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Other Non-Executive Directors
Name of Director Position

Mr. José Manuel Fernández Norniella Director

Name of shareholder Justification

EL CORTE INGLÉS By virtue of Shareholders’ Agreement

Total number of other Non-Executive Directors

1

% total of Board

7.69%

Name of Director
Company with which he  

Reasons
has a relationship

Mr. José M. Fernández Norniella CAJA MADRID Appointed member of the Board of Caja Madrid on 19 July 2006, 

subsequent to his appointment as Director of Iberia in 2003.

Name of Director Type of director on retirement Date of retirement Reason for retirement

Mr. Miguel Blesa de la Parra Proprietary 12 February 2010 Resignation due to retirement from 

position as Chairman of Caja Madrid



B.1.6. Powers delegated to directors

At 31 December 2010, the Chairman, as highest executive of
the company, and the CEO, are permanently vested with all
the powers of the Board, save those duties that the Board
must, by law or the bylaws, perform directly.

B.1.7. Company directors who are directors or executives of other
Group companies.

In 2010, none of the IBERIA directors have held office as
directors or executives of any other companies in the Group.

B.1.8. Company directors on the Boards of non-group companies
listed on Spanish stock exchanges, of which the company has been
notified.

Details on the company directors who are also directors of
other companies listed on Spanish stock exchanges at 31
December 2010 are set out in the following table:
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Name of Iberia Director
Company listed on

Positionspanish market

Mr. Felipe Benjumea Llorente ABENGOA Executive Chairman

Mr. Jorge Pont Sánchez VUELING Board member

Mr. Rodrigo de Rato y Figaredo MAPFRE Board member

Mr. José B. Terceiro Lomba GRUPO PRISA Board member

ABENGOA Executive Vice-Chairman

(At 31 December 2010)



B.1.9. Limit on number of directorships of Board members.

The company has not established any rules regarding the
number of directorships its directors may hold.

B.1.10. Policy and general strategies of the company reserved for
approval by the Board.

The Board focuses mainly on overseeing and controlling the
ordinary management of the company, undertaking in
particularly to, directly exercise the following responsibilities,
as stipulated in the Regulations of the Board:

a) Approval of the general strategies, plans and policies of the
Company;

b) Appointment, remuneration and, if necessary, removal of se-
nior officers; oversight and assessment of their manage-
ment;

c) Approval of treasury stock policies;

d) Pinpointing of the main risks of the company, especially im-
plementing and monitoring adequate internal control and
reporting systems;

e) Definition of policies regarding information and communi-
cation with shareholders, markets and the public opinion;

f) In general, any operations involving the disposal of substan-
tial assets of the company and major corporate transac-
tions, and any specifically contemplated in the Regulations
of the Board.
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In particular, the Board analyses every month the evolution of
accounts and activity of the company, as well as sector trends,
evolution of the company’s share on the stock exchange and
treasury stock. During this period, it has approved the Annual
Budget for 2010 and regularly monitors its fulfilment and, in
particular, special mention should be made of the work
performed by the Board with regard to the merger process
between Iberia and British Airways. The Board also approves
the most significant investments and divestments.

B.1.11. Directors’ emoluments earned during the period.

The emoluments earned during 2010 according to the system
of remuneration approved by the General Meeting are
described below:

a) Directors’ remuneration at the company that is the subject of this
report

The total remuneration earned by directors during 2010 as
members of the Board of Directors of Iberia, L.A.E., S.A. is
indicated below:

Directors’ remuneration for 2010 is 21.05% less than the overall
amount approved by the General Meeting for the year.
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Type of remuneration
Remuneration earned   Maximum remuneration authorised by agm
(thousands of euro) (thousands of euro)

Fixed Remuneration 818 -

Attendance Fees (Per Diems) 663 -

Payment in kind 99 -

TOTAL REMUNERATION OF BOARD 1,580 2,000

(2010)



The previous tables include the remuneration and other
benefits received by the former Executive Chairman and the
current Executive Chairman and CEO of the company as Board
members in 2010. The expenses incurred by the entire Board in
the performance of Directors’ duties in 2010 totalled 5,589
euro.

b) Remuneration received by Directors as Board members and/or senior
officers of other Group companies 

Apart from the remuneration received by the Executive
Chairman and the CEO for their top management position in
the company mentioned in e) of this section, the directors
have not received any additional remuneration during 2010
for belonging to any other Group company.

c) Emoluments earned by types of Directors

The following table shows the emoluments earned by the
directors according to their classification as Executive,
Proprietary or Independent. The emoluments of the executive
directors include those payable to the Executive Chairman and
CEO of the company as members of the Board.
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Other benefits 

Advances -

Loans granted -

Pension Funds and Schemes: contributions -

Pension Funds and Schemes: obligations contracted -

Life insurance premiums 0.196

Guarantees furnished by the company for directors -

(2010) (€ Thousands)



d) Share received by Board members in the profit of the parent
company

Considering an income after tax attributed to the parent
company 89,415 thousand euro, the Directors, as such, have
received the following share:

e) Remuneration of Executive Directors for their top management
relationship with the Company

As regards the Executive Directors, the Bylaws approved at the
AGM of 6 June 2002 stipulate that the emoluments payable to
members of the board are compatible with and independent
of any salaries, remunerations, indemnities, pensions or
compensations of any nature established generally or
individually for any board members who have an employment
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Types of Directors Total remuneration by IBERIA, L.A.E. Total remuneration by the Group

Executive 260 -

Non-Executive Proprietary 662 -

Non-Executive Independent 503 -

Other Non-Executive 155 -

TOTAL 1,580 1,580

Total remuneration directors

1,580

Percentage of attributed income

1.76%

(2010) (€ Thousands)

(2010) (€ Thousands)



relationship, whether ordinary or top management, or services
contract with the company.

The total remuneration earned by the current two Executive
Directors in 2010 by virtue of their contractual relationships
with the company is €1,393 thousand, and social security,
insurance and other expenses amount to €20,109.

The following table gives a breakdown of the different types
of remuneration earned by the Executive Directors during
2010, by virtue of their contractual relationships with the
Company:

B.1.12. Remuneration of the senior officers of the Company,
excluding Executive Directors.

In 2010, the senior officers of the company, excluding
Executive Directors, received a total of €2,790 thousand.

This group includes the Executive Committee and the Internal
Audit and Quality Manager, following the recommendations
of the CNMV Circular 4/2007.
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Remuneration Executive Director Chairman CEO

Fixed remuneration 700 450

Variable remuneration (Accrued 2009) 118 98

Payment in kind 12 15

Total 830 563

(2010) (€ Thousands)



The senior officers of the Company are listed below, together
with the date on which their membership of the Executive
Committee began or ended:

B.1.13. Golden handshake clauses for members of the Management
Committee of the Company or its Group, including the Executive
Directors, in the event of redundancy or change of ownership.

The contracts of company executives include a golden
handshake clause. For the above-named senior officers, pay-
off would be equivalent to between nine months’ and three
and a half years’ pay. Some contracts also include a clause
prohibiting them from competing with the company after the
end of their top management relationship with Iberia,
compensated with one-year’s fixed pay.

For Executive Directors, on 9 January 2002 the Board of
Directors passed a proposal submitted by the Nomination and
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Name Position

Mr. Juan Manuel Bujía Lorenzo General Manager Production

Mr. Luis Díaz Güell General Manager Communication (since November 2010)

Mr. Martín Cuesta Vivar Internal Audit and Quality Manager (until October 2010)

Mr. Enrique Dupuy de Lôme Chavarri CFO & Corporate Strategy Manager (until November 2010)

Mr. José Mª Fariza Batanero Procurements and Services Manager (until November 2010) / 

Finance and Control Manager (since December 2010) 

Mr. José Luis Freire Santos General Manager Airports (until October 2010)

Mr. Manuel López Aguilar General Manager Commercial and Clients

Mr. Manuel López Colmenarejo Deputy General Manager Commercial and Clients (until 2010) / 

Corporate Affairs Manager (since December 2010)

Mrs. Lourdes Máiz Carro General Secretariat Manager and Legal Counsel Manager

Mr. Jesús de la Morena Bustillo Risk and Security Manager (since November 2010)

Mr. José Luis Ruiz de Castañeda de la Llave General Manager Maintenance and Engineering

Mr. Sergio Turrión Barbado Human Resources Manager

(During 2010)



Remuneration Committee for severance pay in certain cases of
termination of contracts of employment of up to two and a
half years’ fixed remuneration. The Board also approved a
compensation for the clause stipulating no competition with
the company after termination of the top management
relationship, equivalent to eighteen months’ fixed
remuneration. These sums are covered by an insurance policy,
the cost of the insurance premium being recorded on the
Income Statements each year. This system is applicable to the
current Executive Directors.

B.1.14. Determination of the remuneration of Board members and
relevant clauses of the bylaws, where appropriate.

The AGM/EGM held on 6 June 2002 approved an amendment
to Article 47 of the company bylaws on directors’ emoluments.
The remuneration was made more specific and transparent,
combining different systems (fixed annual assignment,
payment for attendance of Board and committee meetings
and variable payment in kind), and the General Shareholders’
Meeting reserved the right to set the maximum overall
amount for all these items. Once the General Meeting has
established the maximum overall amount, the Board may
freely distribute that sum among the different items and
directors, as and when it may deem fit.

At the AGM 2007, the shareholders resolved to raise the
maximum overall amount of the annual directors €

emoluments for 2007 to one million, eight hundred thousand
euro (1,800,000 €).

annual corporate governance reportiberia group / consolidated management report

201



At the proposal of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, the Board resolved on 28 June 2007 to distribute
this sum established for 2007 as follows:

A)A fixed sum for each director of 65,000 euro/year.

B) A sum of 2,500 euro for each Board meeting actually atten-
ded.

C) A sum of 2,000 euro for each committee meeting actually
attended.

D)A variable remuneration payable in tickets with the airline
or its franchisee of up to 140,000 euro maximum for all the
Directors.

At the AGM 2008, the shareholders resolved to raise the
maximum overall amount of the annual directors€

emoluments for 2008 to two million euro (2,000,000€). The
internal distribution of that sum was maintained as decided
by the Board on 28 June 2007.

At the AGMs of 2009 and 2010, the shareholders resolved to
maintain the same maximum overall amount of annual
remuneration of directors. The internal distribution also
remained unchanged for 2009 and 2010.

B.1.15. Pay policy.

The Board approved a detailed pay policy combining the
following aspects:

- Internal distribution of the maximum overall amount esta-
blished by the General Shareholders’ Meeting among the
following items:
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• Fixed annual remuneration for each director.
• Payment for attendance of Board and committee mee-

tings.
• Payment in kind, consisting of airline tickets.

- Executive pay policy.
- Welfare systems, estimating the amount or equivalent an-

nual cost.
- Conditions to be respected in the contracts of those with

top management duties.

B.1.16. Voting at General Meetings on a Report on the Directors’
Pay Policy.

The maximum overall amount of Directors’ emoluments is
submitted to the General Shareholders’ Meeting for approval.
Within the limits approved by the General Meeting, the Board
then distributes that maximum overall amount internally
among the different items.

B.1.17. Members of the Board who are board members or
executives of companies holding significant interests in Iberia
L.A.E., S.A. and/or in companies in the same Group.
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Name of Director Name of significant shareholder Position

Mr. José Manuel Fernández Norniella Caja Madrid Vice-Chairman

Mr. Roger P. Maynard British Airways Director Investments & Alliances BA

Mr. Jorge Pont Sánchez El Corte Inglés Deputy to Chairman

Mr. Rodrigo de Rato y Figaredo Caja Madrid Chairman

Mr. Rafael Sánchez-Lozano Turmo British Airways Board member

Mr. Keith Williams British Airways Chief Finance Officer and Executive Director BA

(At 31 December 2010)



B.1.18. Modifications to the Regulations of Board made during
2010.

No modifications were made to the Regulations of the Board
during 2010.

The Regulations of the Board of Iberia were initially based on
the principles established in the Olivencia Code. Subsequently,
in 2008, they were modified to adapt them to the
recommendations of the Unified Good Governance Code.

B.1.19 Procedures for the appointment, re-election, assessment and
removal of Directors.

The persons nominated by the Board to the General Meeting for
appointment as Directors and the appointments by cooptation
made by the Board must, in addition to meeting the requirements
established in law and the bylaws for this appointment, have
recognised prestige and adequate professional experience and
expertise to be able to perform their duties. The Nomination and
Remuneration Committee prepares a report in this regard. All
Iberia Directors meet the applicable requirements and all the
appointments made since the Regulations came into force have
been made following this procedure.

With a view to the possible re-election of directors, the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for
assessing the quality of the proposed directors’ work and
dedication to their office during the previous term and must
inform on the nomination for re-election submitted by the
Board to the General Meeting.

This Committee submits an annual report to the Board on the
directors’ remuneration policy, previously assessing the
performance of their duties.

annual corporate governance reportiberia group / consolidated management report

204



B.1.20. Events in which Directors are obliged to retire.

The Regulations of the Board of Directors contemplate the
events in which directors must tender their resignations to
the Board, to ensure that they meet at all times the
requirements for being directors and do not incur in any
conflicts of interest or any other conduct that may be
detrimental to the company:

a) The retirement age for the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer is 65, although they may continue as directors after
that age.

b) For Executive Directors, when they cease to hold the posi-
tions to which their appointment as director was tied.

c) If they come into any circumstance of incompatibility or
prohibition contemplated in law.

d) If they are brought to trial for a presumed criminal offence
or if disciplinary proceedings are brought against them by
the supervisory authorities of the Securities Market for se-
rious or very serious misconduct.

e) If they are given a serious warning by the Audit and
Compliance Committee for infringing their obligations as
directors.

f) If by remaining on the Board they may jeopardise the inte-
rests of the company, or if the reasons for which they were
appointed cease to exist.

g) Institutional or proprietary directors will step down when
the shareholder they represent on the Board disposes of its
shares in the company.
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B.1.21. Explain whether the Chairman of the Board is the highest
executive of the company and the measures adopted to limit the
risks of any single person having unfettered powers.

YES     NO     

According to the Regulations of the Board of Directors, the
Chairman of the Board is the highest executive of the
company and, as such, directs the company’s business,
according to the decisions and criteria established by the
General Meeting and the Board. There is currently also a Chief
Executive Officer with full powers.

To prevent the risks of any single person having unfettered
powers, the Board of Directors has approved a set of Internal
Regulations on the Use and Limitation of Delegated Powers,
according to which, although the Chairman and the CEO have
sufficient powers in respect of third parties, certain decisions
must at all events be adopted by the Board.

B.1.22. Explain whether special majorities differing from those
stipulated in law are required for any type of decision and the
procedure for adopting resolutions in the Board.

YES     NO     

General rule

The general rule for the adopting of resolutions by the Board,
in pursuance of the Corporations Act and the Bylaws of the
company, is that Board meetings are quorate when attended,
in person or by proxy, by one-half plus one of the members
and resolutions are adopted by absolute majority of the
directors present or represented at the meeting. Written votes
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without assembly are possible provided that no directors
object to this procedure. Board meetings are also valid
without prior call whenever all the directors are present or
represented and unanimously agree to assemble in a Board
meeting.

Special resolutions

This notwithstanding, according to the Bylaws, the
permanent delegation of any power of the Board to the
Executive Committee or Chief Executive Officer and the
appointment of the directors who are to hold these positions
require the favourable vote of two-thirds of the Board
members, as established in the Corporations Act. This rule is
deemed applicable to the delegation of powers to the
Executive Chairman.

The Regulations of the Board of Directors of Iberia also
requires a special resolution for the appointment of the
Chairman, which requires a quorum of two-thirds of the
directors and votes in favour cast by at least two-thirds of the
Board members. The same rule is applicable for appointment
of the Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee,
according to the Internal Regulations of that Committee.

B.1.23. Are there any specific requirements, other than those
established for Directors, to be appointed Chairman?

YES     NO     
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The Chairman is not subject to any specific requisite, except
the age limit, which in this case is 65. Apart from this, the
Chairman, just like all other directors, must have business
experience and a proven track record, as required by the
Bylaws. He must also hold at least 400 shares in the company,
which may not be transferred during his term in office.

B.1.24. Does the Chairman have a casting vote?

YES     NO     

There is no mention in the company regulations of the casting
vote of the Chairman.

B.1.25. Do the Bylaws or Regulations of the Board establish an
age limit for directors?

SI     NO     

Age limit Chairman   65
Age limit Chief Executive  65                
Age limit Directors  –

The Regulations of the Board set the age limit for the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer at 65.

B.1.26. Do the Bylaws or Regulations of the Board establish a
limited term of office for Independent Directors?

YES     NO     

Maximum years in office 
of Independent Directors 12
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The statutory term of office of directors is four years, after
which they are eligible for reappointment on one or several
occasions for the same maximum term. On expiry of their
appointment, the relevant directors’ term in office ceases at
the first General Meeting held thereafter or on expiry of the
legal time limit for holding the General Meeting at which the
financial statements of the previous year are laid before the
shareholders.

An exception to this rule is established for independent
directors. According to the Regulations of the Board, these
directors have a limited term of office and may not be
reappointed on more than two occasions, in other words, no
Independent Director may hold office as such for more than
twelve years.

B.1.27. Proportion of female Directors on the Board.

At present there are no female directors on the Board of
Directors of the company. All the Board members have been
selected objectively in consideration of their prestige,
knowledge and professional experience, with no implicit bias
in the selection processes that could preclude the
appointment of female directors.

Iberia has had a female non-director Secretary of the Board
since 2001. Among other duties she is responsible for ensuring
compliance with the rules and recommendations for good
governance.

B.1.28. Are there any formal procedures for the delegation of votes
at Board meetings?
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The Regulations of the Board require directors to use their
best endeavours to attend Board meetings and, when they are
unable to do so in person, to grant a proxy to another Board
member of the same group (Executive, Proprietary or
Independent), issuing the appropriate voting instructions. No
single director may hold more than three proxies, except the
Chairman, who is not subject to this limit, although he may
not represent the majority of the Board.

B.1.29. Number of meetings held by the Board of Directors and
Committees of the Board during the year, indicating how many
times the Board has met without the Chairman.

B.1.30. Number of meetings held by the Board during the
period without the attendance of all its members.

The percentage attendance of Board meetings during 2010
was 89%.
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Board Meetings

Total number of board meetings 16

Nº board meetings not attended by the Chairman 0

Meetings of the Board Committees
Nº meetings  Committees

Executive Committee 4

Audit and Compliance Committee 12

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 12

Safety Committee 4

(2010)

(2010)



B.1.31. Are the separate and consolidated financial statements
submitted to the Board for approval previously certified?

YES     NO     

The 2010 separate and consolidated financial statements
were submitted by Management to the Board after being
certified by the Chief Finance and Control Officer and the CEO.
This certificate guarantees that the accounts have been taken
from the company’s accounting records, reflecting all its
transactions, assets and liabilities and give, in all material
respects, a true and fair view of the equity and financial
position of the company at 31 December 2010, the results of its
operations and any changes produced in its financial position
during 2010, and that they contain all necessary information
for adequate interpretation and comprehension, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting standards and
principles, applied on a consistent basis. The auditors’ work
was also reviewed by the Audit and Compliance Committee
up until the date of the merger.

B.1.32. Mechanisms established by the Board to avoid a qualified
auditors’ report on the separate and consolidated financial
statements laid before the General Meeting.

The Audit and Compliance Committee is responsible for
dealing with these issues to avoid, as far as possible, the filing
of financial statements with a qualified report. The
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Number of absences of Directors 22

% absences to total votes during the year 12.15%

( 2010)



Committee meets with management and the external auditor
to ensure the absence of diverging criteria regarding the
company’s financial statements, in an effort to avoid any
discrepancies that could arise.

B.1.33. Is the Secretary of the Board a Director?

YES     NO     

According to the Bylaws, the Secretary of the Board may or
may not be a director. However, to date it has not been
considered convenient for these positions to be combined,
increasing the number of executive directors on the Board.

B.1.34. Procedure for appointment and removal of the
Secretary of the Board.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee did not yet
exist when the present Secretary of the Board was appointed.
It is stipulated in the corresponding regulations that the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall review
nominations for the Secretary of the Board. Since 2001, when
this Committee was created, all Board members have been
and are appointed subject to a report by the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee.

B.1.35. Mechanisms established by the Company to preserve
the independence of the external auditor, financial analysts,
investment banks and rating agencies.

Until the merger, the Audit and Compliance Committee
ensured strict compliance with the legal provisions applicable
to Iberia regarding incompatibilities of auditors, to guarantee
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their independence from the executive team. Their fees are
stated in the financial statements. There are no peculiarities in
the company’s relations with the other entities, which are
entirely independent of the company.

B.1.36. State whether the external auditor has changed during
the year.

The auditors did not change during 2010.

B.1.37. Does the firm of auditors do any work for the Company
and/or its Group other than standard audit work?.

YES     NO     

The Annual Report 2010 indicates the fees charged by the
main auditor and related firms for different professional
services they have provided for Iberia. The services performed
in 2010 are compatible with auditing activities, consisting
essentially of work relating to the aforementioned merger
process with British Airways.

B.1.38. Indicate whether the auditors’ report is qualified.

The auditors’ report on the 2010 annual accounts is
unqualified.
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2010 Iberia Operadora Other companies of the Iberia Group Total

Cost of work other than auditing 

(thousands of euro) 316 - 316

Cost of work other than auditing / 

Total amount invoiced by the firm of auditors (%) 15.48% - 15.06%



B.1.39. Number of years in succession that the current firm of
auditors has been auditing the financial statements of the
company and/or its group. Indicate the ratio of the number of
years audited by the current auditors to the total number of
years that the financial statements have been audited.

Deloitte has audited the company’s financial statements for
the past 9 years. Prior to that, the firm Andersen audited the
financial statements of IBERIA, L.A.E. S.A., and, in recent years,
prior to its merger with Deloitte, it also audited the financial
statements of some of the Group subsidiaries.

Since the merger of Andersen with Deloitte, the General
Meeting has been approving the appointment of the latter
firm as external auditors, which is independent and objective
in its work. From 2001 to 2006, one partner was responsible
for the audit. In 2007 this partner was changed.

B.1.40. Stakes held by members of the Board of Directors of
the Company in the capital of undertakings engaged in
activities identical, similar or complementary to those of the
Company and its Group, as far as the Company has been
notified. Positions held or duties performed in those
undertakings.
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Iberia, L.A.E. Iberia Group 

Nº years in succession of Deloitte, S.L.’s appointment 9 9

Iberia, L.A.E. Iberia Group

Nº years audited by current 

auditors / no. years that the 

company has been audited (%) 31% 31%



The positions and stakes held by company directors in other
undertakings engaged in activities identical, similar or
complementary to those of the Company and its Group, as far
as Iberia has been notified, are indicated below. None of the
stakes held by directors in those undertakings is significant.

B.1.41. Procedure for external counselling of Directors

The Regulations of the Board of Directors provide that the
Board and its Committees may request assistance from
external advisers on any matters in which they may so require.
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Director Company Activity % stake Position or duties

Mr. Felipe Benjumea Llorente Garanair Holder of IB special shares 0% Board member

Mr. José Manuel Fernández Norniella Garanair Holder of IB special shares 0% Board member

IAG Air transport 0% Board member

Mr. Antonio Masa Godoy Garanair Holder of IB special shares 0% Board member

Mr. Roger P. Maynard British Airways Air transport 0,0004994% Director of
Investments & Alliances

Mr. José Pedro Pérez-Llorca Garanair Holder of IB special shares 0% Board member

IAG Air transport 0% Board member

Mr. Jorge Pont Sánchez Vueling Air transport 0% Board member

Garanair Holder of IB special shares 0% Board member

Mr. Rafael Sánchez-Lozano British Airways Air transport 0% Board member

Garanair Holder of IB special shares 0% Board member

IAG Air transport 0% Board member

Mr. Rodrigo de Rato y Figaredo Garanair Holder of IB special shares 0% Board member

IAG Air transport 0% Board member

Mr. José B. Terceiro Lomba Garanair Holder of IB special shares 0% Board member

Mr. Antonio Vázquez Romero Garanair Holder of IB special shares 0% Board member

IAG Air transport 0% Chairman of the Board

Mr. Keith Williams British Airways Air transport 0,0028% Chief Finance 
Officer & Executive Director

IAG Air transport 0% Board member

(At 31 December 2010)



In 2010, the Safety Committee and the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee were assisted by an expert external
adviser in the performance of their duties.

B.1.42. Procedure for Directors to obtain sufficiently in
advance any information they may need to prepare the
meetings of the governing bodies.

The Regulations of the Board stipulate that notices of call to
meetings must include the agenda for the meeting and be
accompanied by the relevant information, duly summarised
and prepared, and the minutes of the previous meeting,
regardless of whether they have been approved, and must be
received by the directors seven days in advance, wherever
possible, and in any case no less than 72 hours before the
meeting.

During 2010 the directors have promptly received the most
important information concerning the items on the agenda
for each meeting and have had at their disposal any other
information they have considered necessary or convenient,
which they have requested through the Chairman or Secretary
of the Board.

B.1.43. Rules obliging Directors to report and, if necessary,
retire in any cases that could be detrimental to the prestige
and reputation of the company.

According to Article 15 of the Regulations of the Board,
Directors shall tender their resignation to the Board, among
other causes, in the following circumstances:

d) If they are tried for a presumed criminal offence or if disci-
plinary proceedings are brought against them by the super-
visory authorities of the Securities Market for serious or very
serious misconduct.
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e) If they are given a serious warning by the Audit and
Compliance Committee for infringing their obligations as
directors.

f) If by remaining on the Board they may jeopardise the inte-
rests of the company, or if the reasons for which they were
appointed cease to exist.

B.1.44. Has any member of the Board informed the company
that he/she has been sued or brought to trial for any of the
offences contemplated in section 213 of the Corporations Act?

None of the Board members has informed the Company of
any such situation.

B. 2. Board Committees

B.2.1. Board Committees and their members.

With a view to strengthening and, particularly, increasing the
efficiency of the Board’s duties, four specialist committees
have been set up to spread the work so that in certain matters,
except when they are so urgent and important that they
require direct consideration by the full Board, the proposals
and resolutions of the Board are first studied by a specialist
body, which can filter and inform on its decisions, thereby
increasing the guarantees of resolutions adopted objectively
and after due reflection.

On 5 April 2001, the Board of Directors set up an Executive
Committee, with executive duties to adopt resolutions
binding on the company within the scope of its delegation.
The members of this Executive Committee at 31 December
2010 were:
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Executive Committee

Since 2001, the Board has also had three committees with
duties of reporting and submitting proposals to the Board: the
Audit and Compliance Committee, Nomination and
Remuneration Committee and Safety Committee. The
members are non-executive directors.

The members of these Committees at 31 December 2010 were:

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Audit and Compliance Committee
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Name of Director Position Type

Mr. Antonio Vázquez Romero Chairman Executive

Mr. Rafael Sánchez-Lozano Turmo Member Executive

Mr. Rodrigo de Rato y Figaredo Member Proprietary

Mr. Roger Paul Maynard Member Proprietary

Mr. José B. Terceiro Lomba Member Independent

Mr. Antonio Masa Godoy Member Independent

Mrs. Lourdes Máiz Carro Secretary of Non-Director 
the Committee Secretary

Name of Director Position Type

Mr. Jorge Pont Sánchez Chairman Proprietary

Mr. José Manuel Fernández Norniella Member Other non-executive

Mr. José Pedro Pérez-Llorca Member Independent

Mrs. Lourdes Máiz Carro Secretary Non-Director 
of the Committee Secretary

Name of Director Position Type

Mr. José Manuel Fernández Norniella Chairman Other non-executive

Mr. José B. Terceiro Lomba Member Independent

Mr. Javier Gómez-Navarro Navarrete * Member Proprietary

Mr. Jorge Pont Sánchez Member Proprietary

Mrs. Lourdes Máiz Carro Secretary Non-Director 
of the Committee Secretary

* Representing INMOGESTIÓN Y PATRIMONIOS, S.A.



Safety Committee

B.2.2. Indicate whether the Audit Committee is charged with
the following duties.
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Name of Director Position Type

Mr. Roger Paul Maynard Chairman Proprietary

Mr. José Pedro Pérez-Llorca Member Independent

Mr. Antonio Masa Godoy Member Independent

Mrs. Lourdes Máiz Carro Secretary Non-Director 
of the Committee Secretary

Duties of the Audit Committee SÍ NO

Oversee the preparation and integrity of the company’s, and if necessary the group’s, financial reporting, 

checkingcompliance with the legal requirements, adequate definition of the consolidated group 

and correct application of accounting principles. •

Regularly check the internal control and risk management systems, ensuring that the principal risks are 

adequately identified, managed and reported. •

Ensure the independence and efficacy of the internal audit duties; propose the nomination, appointment, 

re-appointment and removal of the chief audit officer; propose the budget for this department; 

receive regular information on its activities; and check that the top management heeds the conclusions 

and recommendations set out in its reports. •

Establish and supervise a “whistle-blowing” procedure so employees can confidentially or, where appropriate, 

even anonymously report any irregularities they observe in the company’s conduct, particularly in financial

and accounting aspects. •

Submit to the Board proposals for nomination, appointment, re-appointment and replacement 

of external auditor, and terms of engagement. •

Receive regularly from the external auditor information on the audit plan and the outcome

of its fulfilment and see that top management heeds its recommendations. •

Guarantee the independence of the external auditor. •

In the case of groups, encourage the group auditor to audit 

the different companies in the group. •



B.2.3. Rules of organisation and procedure attributed to each
Committee.

Executive Committee

All the powers of the Board of Directors are permanently
delegated to the Executive Committee, except those which
may not be delegated, whether by law, institutional provision
or under the Regulations of the Board.

Without prejudice to the effectiveness of an extensive
delegation of powers in respect of third parties, the Executive
Committee has the following internal powers, according to
the Regulations of the Board:

a) Adoption of the final resolution on specific matters
previously discussed by the Board and referred to the
Executive Committee for a final decision, either to resolve
within the limits previously defined by the Board or to
develop and complete detailed aspects of the action or
transaction previously approved by the Board.

b) Adoption of resolutions, in case of urgency, on delegated
matters. In urgent matters, the Executive Committee may
act when it is not possible to call the Board to discuss the
matter in question and decision cannot be delayed.

c) Discussion and submission of proposals for a decision by
the Board on the matters reserved to the latter, whenever
the Chairman considers this procedure most expedient.

In principle, the ordinary meetings of the Executive
Committee are monthly. In 2010 it held four meetings. The
Board is promptly informed on the contents of its meetings.
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Audit and Compliance Committee

There are no executive directors on the Audit and Compliance
Committee and the chairman is a non-executive non-
proprietary director. It has its own Regulations, approved by
the Board of Directors on 28 February 2002 and adapted to the
Financial System (Reform Measures) Act at the Board meeting
of 24 July 2003, following the necessary adjustment of the
Bylaws at the AGM held on 12 June 2003.

The main duty of the Audit and Compliance Committee is to
assist the Board in the oversight and control of the company,
regularly checking compliance with the legal provisions and
internal regulations applicable to the company.

Without prejudice to any others assigned by the Board, the
Audit and Compliance Committee has the following duties:

a) Inform at General Meetings on any issues within its compe-
tence raised by shareholders.

b) Propose to the Board, to be submitted to the General
Meeting, the appointment of the external auditor, terms of
engagement, the scope of its professional appointment
and, if necessary, the revocation or non-renewal of said ap-
pointment. Supervise fulfilment of the audit contract, ende-
avouring to ensure that the opinion on the financial
statements and the main contents of the auditors’ report
are set out clearly and precisely.

c) Keep in contact with the auditor to receive information on
any issues that could jeopardise its independence, and any
other information relating to the auditing process, and to
receive information and exchange with the auditor the
communications stipulated in the auditing laws and techni-
cal auditing standards.
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d) Act as liaison between the Board and the auditors, assess
the results of each audit and the response by management
to their recommendations, and intervene in the event of dis-
crepancies between the auditors and the Board in connec-
tion with the principles and criteria applicable in the
preparation of the financial statements.

e) Check the financial statements, ensure compliance with all
legal requirements and correct application of the generally
accepted accounting principles.

f) Oversee the internal financial control manuals and proce-
dures adopted by the company, ensure compliance and
check the appointment and replacement of those responsi-
ble for them.

g) Supervise the internal audit services.

h) Check compliance with the Internal Code of Market
Conduct, the Regulations of the Board and, in general, the
rules of governance of the company and make such propo-
sals as may be necessary to improve them. In particular, the
Audit and Compliance Committee must receive information
and, where appropriate, issue reports on disciplinary mea-
sures against senior officers of the company.

i) Consider any suggestions submitted by the Chairman,
members of the Board, senior officers or shareholders of the
company and inform and submit recommendations to the
Board on the measures it considers appropriate in respect of
auditing and any other activities assigned to it, and on com-
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pliance with the applicable legal provisions on reporting to
the markets and transparency and accuracy of the informa-
tion given.

The Audit and Compliance Committee holds ordinary
meetings at least once every three months and additional
meetings whenever called by the Chairman, on his own
initiative or at the request of two or more of the Committee
members. It also meets whenever the Board requests reports,
recommendations or the adopting of decisions within the
scope of its duties.

Twelve meetings were held in 2010, at which the Committee,
in close communication with the auditors, assessed the
results of audit work, checked the accounts and financial
statements of the company, reviewed the internal control and
risk management systems and examined the degree of
compliance with the rules of good governance. In short, it
performed its duties as assigned in law and the Regulations of
the Committee. The Audit and Compliance Committee also
underpinned the organisation and work of the company’s
internal auditor, paying particular attention to risk
management and fulfilment of the 2010 Audit Plan.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

In pursuance of good governance requirements, there are no
executive directors on the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, which is chaired by a non-executive proprietary
director.
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The main duty of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee is to assess the profile of the most suitable
persons to sit on the different governing bodies of the Board
and submit the corresponding proposals to the Board.
Without prejudice to any other duties assigned by the Board,
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee has the
following basic responsibilities:

a) Draw up and check the criteria to be followed for the
composition of the Board and its Committees and selection
of candidates, submitting the corresponding reports or
proposed nominations to the Board for the latter to directly
appoint them (cooptation) and the report or nomination for
the appointment, re-election, ratification and removal of
directors, which must be submitted to the General Meeting
for a decision. Propose the members of each of the
committees and their chairmen, as well as the persons
nominated for the positions of Chairman of the Board and
Managing Director/CEO, if any.

b) Propose to the Board the system and amount of the annual
remunerations of directors and senior officers, and, once
approved, regularly review the remuneration programme,
assessing adequacy and performance.

c) Supervise and establish guidelines on the appointment,
recruiting, career, promotions and dismissals of senior
officers to ensure that the company has adequate highly
qualified management.

d) Propose measures to guarantee transparency of
remunerations and watch over their fulfilment.
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e) Inform on any transactions that involve or may involve
conflicts of interest and, in general, on the matters
contemplated in Chapter VI of the Board Regulations

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee met formally
on twelve occasions during 2010.

Safety Committee

Finally, the Board has a Safety Committee to specifically
oversee and watch over the safety of operations from the
point of view of aircraft and engine reliability and
maintenance and the actions of crew and other staff involved
in flight operations.

The Safety Committee consists of one non-executive
proprietary director and two non-executive independent
directors and is chaired by a non-executive proprietary
director. Without prejudice to any other duties assigned by
the Board, the Safety Commission has the following basic
powers:

a) Analyse the general policy of the company regarding in-
flight safety systems.

b) Submit to the Board such proposals as it may deem fit to
improve the company’s systems in this respect, and monitor
the measures adopted by the Board in respect of in-flight
safety.

c) In general, compile, analyse and disseminate all information
available on in-flight safety, and make such studies of this
subject as may be considered necessary.
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d) Any other duties that may be assigned to it by the Board.

The Safety Committee must meet formally at least four times
a year. Four meetings were held in 2010, specifically analysing
aircraft and engine reliability and the safety parameters of
operations. It was also decided to include within the scope of
this Committee’s powers an analysis of the safety of ground
operations and other safety aspects related with Iberia’s
activity.

B.2.4. Powers of counselling, consultation and, where
appropriate, delegation of each Committee.

Only the Executive Committee has, as such and in general, the
powers delegated by the Board on the terms indicated
hereinabove. The other Committees have essentially advisory,
proposal and reporting functions, notwithstanding the
possibility, in certain cases, of specific delegation by the Board.

B.2.5. Regulations of the Board Committees, where they are
available for consultation and any modifications made during
the year, indicating, where appropriate, whether an annual
report has been issued on the activities of each Committee.

As indicated above, the Audit and Compliance Committee has
its own Regulations, adapted to the new legislation on 24 July
2003.

B.2.6. Does the composition of the Executive Committee
reflect the participation on the Board of the different types of
Director?.

YES     NO     
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The types of directors are represented on the Executive
Committee in the same proportion as on the Board. It thus
consists of six directors: two executive directors, two
proprietary directors and two independent directors.

The most important transactions made during 2010 with the
major shareholders are described below.

C.1. Indicate whether, subject to a favourable report of the
Audit Committee or any other committee entrusted with this
function, the Board in plenary session reserves the approval of
company transactions with directors, significant shareholders
or representatives on the Board or with persons related
thereto.

YES     NO     

C.2. Major transactions involving a transfer of resources or
obligations between the Company and/or Group and its
significant shareholders.

The main details of these transactions in 2010 are set out in
the following table.
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C. Related Party
Transactions

Summary of Related Party Transactions December 2010

Iberia Compañía Auxiliar Auxiliar Logística Iberia Desarrollo IberiaGroup
al Cargo Expres, S.A. Aeroportuaria, ALAER Barcelona Dec-10

Shareholder Received Paid Received Paid Received Paid Received Paid Received Paid
from Iberia to Iberia from Cacesa to Cacesa from Alaer to Alaer from IDB to IDB from Iberia to Iberia

British Airways 12,814 17,129 133 12,947 17,129

El Corte Inglés 20,102 123 7 1 20,109 124

Caja Madrid 20,590 3,237 100 19 7 20,590 3,363

53,506 20,489 140 101 0 19 0 7 53,646 20,616

(2010) € Thousand 
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British Airways:

These transactions mainly include:

* Payments to Iberia for the Advantage Frequent Flyer Programme.
* Code Sharing Commissions charged and paid between the two companies for tickets issued by one

company and flown by another.
* Payments to and by Iberia for Passenger, Cargo and Goods Handling Services. 
* Payments received for aircraft and engine Maintenance Services. 
* Charges and payments for Leasing of VIP Lounges and others.
* Charges and payments for cooperation agreement with British Airways on the MAD/BCN-LON route.

El Corte Inglés:

These transactions mainly include charges to Iberia for:

* Supplies of uniform for flight crew.
* Computer equipment and development of software.
* Passenger sales commissions and incentives.

Caja Madrid:

* Interest on fleet financing transactions and guarantees furnished for aircraft purchases.
* Aircraft chartering expenses.
* Interest on financial investments deposited.

C.3. Significant transactions involving a transfer of resources
or obligations between the Company and/or Group and the
Directors or Executives of the Company

The Company has no record of any transactions of this nature
made during the year.

C.4. Significant transactions with other companies in the
same group (Intercompany Transactions), that are not
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements and
which do not, by virtue of their object or terms, correspond to
the normal trade of the Company.

There have been no transactions in Iberia in 2010 that meet
these two conditions, i.e. that are not eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements and which do not
correspond to the normal trade of the company, by virtue of
their object or terms. During 2010, Iberia invoiced 130,904
thousand euro for the provision of services to subsidiaries and
associates and received services from these companies for the



value of 57,218 thousand euro, as indicated in the Notes to the
Separate Financial Statements of IBERIA, LAE, SA OPERADORA.
It received dividends from these companies to the tune of 811
thousand euro and incurred financial expenses of 125
thousand euro and financial income of 132 thousand euro.

C.5. Conflicts of interest of Company Directors, pursuant to 
s. 229 of the Corporations Act.

In principle, none of the directors have any permanent conflict
of interests with the company, pursuant to the aforesaid legal
provision, that would prevent them from performing their
duties. Whenever business has been transacted that
particularly affects a given director or the company
represented by a given director, the director in question has
abstained, according to legal and regulatory requirements.

C.6. Mechanisms established to detect and regulate possible
conflicts of interest between the Company and/or its Group,
and its Directors, executives or significant shareholders.

Pursuant to the Regulations of the Board, directors may not
work in or for companies with similar objects or that are rivals
of the company and that, even though these precluding
conditions are not met, the director must consult the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee before accepting
any executive position in another company that may give rise
to a conflict of interests or detract from his dedication to his
duties within the company. This restriction does not affect any
positions held in Group companies, shareholders forming the
Stable Core established for privatisation of the company and
any other cases in which the Board, in view of a report issued
by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, considers
that the company’s interests are not at risk.
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The Regulations of the Board, getting ahead of the
Transparency Act on this point, establish a number of
prohibitions and limitations on directors regarding their
professional and commercial transactions with the Company,
use of corporate assets, taking up a business opportunity of
the company, and any similar actions that might adversely
affect their objectiveness and independence.

Iberia has also approved its Internal Code of Market Conduct,
which, among other obligations, contains detailed regulation
of any situations of conflict that may arise.

C.7. Is more than one company of the Group listed in Spain?

YES     NO     

D.1. Risk policy and control systems established for each type
of risk

The Iberia Group is very active in Risk Management and
Control, establishing systems to pinpoint, assess, manage and
reduce the principal risks to which the different Group
activities are exposed.

The actions taken in respect of risks affect the key parameters
and aspects of the Group management, such as: the income
statement, debt, investments and divestments, to optimise
the income statement and debt, adopt balanced decisions on
yield and risk for new investments and/or divestments.

The impact of the risks affecting each of the aforesaid fields of
action is analysed and calculated and the necessary
monitoring and management measures adopted as
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D. Risk Control Systems



frequently as is considered necessary to achieve the intended
purpose: daily for market risks, monthly for management and
budget control, as and when necessary for new investments or
divestments.

The Iberia Group also strives constantly to guarantee all its
activities and respond expediently to any emergency situation
that may arise, aeronautical or otherwise.

Risk Management System

During 2010 Iberia continued the development of its Risk
Management System, structured around the model described
below, which includes aspects concerning continuous
enhancement, outer wheel and, in pursuance of the recently
published ISO 31000, inner wheel. IBERIA representatives
participated in the drafting of this new standard:
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As a result of its implementation, Iberia not only has its risk
exposure under control, but moreover it now also has a
systematic risk management, with the following features:

• Each risk has a proprietor, the person ultimately responsible
for its management.

• The Risk Map is reviewed every six months at the top execu-
tive level, pinpointing any new risks.

• There are defined procedures of approval, management and
information.

• Active participation of all those responsible for the System.

The information aspect is particularly important, with the
Business Risk Management Portal, which has several different
levels of access, one public, to which any company employee
can have access, containing official information and reference
documents, and one private, containing specific information
for risk proprietors and has a Working Area that enables on-
line updating of risks:
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As far as internal control is concerned, both risks controlled
within the company’s management processes and one-off
risks are subject to the Internal Audit Annual Plan, which is
essentially established on the basis of the Risk Map.

The following diagram depicts the relationships between the
company’s objectives and the risk control established to
guarantee meeting them:

All these aspects, management system, information system
and internal control, are part of a set of criteria whose
compliance has been checked against the risk management
recommendations made in the Unified Good Governance
Code in Listed Companies of 22 May 2006, the system in place
having been found adequate. In fact, the recommendations
are incorporated among the principal references in the
internal regulations of the System.
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Risks Covered by the System

The Risk Management System covers all types of risks to
which the company is exposed and all areas of its
organisation. For this purpose, risk means any potential event
or circumstance that may affect fulfilment of the objectives
marked for the different processes of the company and,
consequently, achievement of the strategic objectives of the
organisation.

The Risk Map pinpoints the risks and, within the specific
information on each risk, includes the most important checks
made to reduce the risk, and their respective strengths, as well
as the initiatives planned to reduce their impact should they
materialise.

Risk Assessment

In 2010, on the basis of the various tests performed, from the
perspective of their use from the outset, a substantial change
in risk assessment was introduced.

The sum of the two most important risk variables was
introduced: economic impact and probability of occurrence, as
the value of the risk, i.e. the mathematical expectation of
these two variables. The other variable also used previously:
time horizon, which now merely describes the risk but is
excluded from the value. Previously the arithmetic sum of the
three variables was used.

The measurement metrics used for each variable have also
been changed from a scale of zero to four to a new scale of
zero to ten, which is more precise, intuitive and common.
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The same metrics have been established for all the risks
identified in the System but now the value of a risk ranges
from zero to a hundred instead of the previous range of zero
to twelve.

Risk Classification

The different risks have been grouped into the following
categories, according to their nature and the different control
systems used to reduce or mitigate them:

I. New Projects: risks associated with the development of
new, important projects for the company.

II. Strategic Objectives: risks associated with the achieve-
ment of the strategic objectives defined in the Group’s
Director Plan.

III. Internal Control: risks associated with activities relating to
asset protection and custody services, the truth and accu-
racy of the accounting information and compliance with
applicable legislation.

IV. Environment: risks deriving from the environment in
which the company moves, including variables on the dif-
ferent markets on which it operates and entities regula-
ting commercial air traffic.

V. Emergencies: fires, natural disasters, air accidents and te-
rrorist attacks, etc.

Control systems to assess, mitigate or reduce the principal risks

I.- New Projects

The activities of all areas involved in a new project are
coordinated internally to ensure that it is developed on
adequate operating and economic terms, minimising risk
exposure.
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II.- Strategic Objectives

The Strategic Objectives are established in the Director Plan
and developed through initiatives and controls in each area of
the company to ensure fulfilment of the objectives and
control risks. The Plan overall and the initiatives contemplated
therein are monitored closely and are the principal referent for
the different management committees. Moreover, by virtue of
the management by objectives implemented, part of the
variable remuneration of the executives responsible for risk
management is made subject to achievement of the
objectives.

The interrelation of these risks derives from their association
with each of the strategic objectives.

– Financial risks

Iberia has a blanket management programme for its
Financial Risks, in which it defines the maximum targets for
fluctuations and the hedging programme required to
control and minimise any potentially adverse effect of
fluctuations in exchange rates, interest rates and fuel prices.

The Hedging Programme, effected within the time and in
accordance with the targets set in the company’s Director
Plan, covers the following risks:

• Foreign exchange risk

Deriving from the denomination of income and expense
accounts in currencies other than the euro. The greatest
risk lies in revaluation of the US dollar against the euro,
since the company has larger payments than revenues in
dollars.
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This risk is managed by combining two types of strategy:
strategic hedges (up to 5 years) of operating leases using
currency swaps in an amount covering a given
percentage of the position, and tactical hedges with a
time horizon of less than three years using forward
purchases, options and options structures that are linked
to actual dollar payment transactions of the company.

• Interest risk

Owing to the company’s net debtor position (including
aircraft leasing transactions), Iberia is exposed to rises in
interest rates of the currencies in which its debt is
denominated.

To manage this risk, the company keeps a minimum
percentage of its debt at fixed rates or protected. It
reduces its exposure to a general rise in interest rates
through diversification of loan currencies (US dollar,
euro).

• Fuel price risk

Iberia controls the cost of aviation fuel by applying active
risk management policies. The company’s policy is to
directly hedge the price of kerosene.

The broad outlines of the hedging policy are based on a
set of strategic hedges, with which Iberia can hedge a
given percentage of the estimated consumption through
long-term contracts; and on a set of tactical hedges, on a
one-year basis, intended to hedge an additional
proportion of the consumption.
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• Liquidity risk

Owing to its cyclical business and the investment and
financing needed for fleet renewals, Iberia’s liquidity
policy consists of having a large volume of ready cash.

This cash position is invested in highly liquid short-term
assets, such as debt repos, euro deposits and bank
commercial paper made through leading Spanish
financial institutions, according to the current
counterparty risk policy.

Apart from short-term investments and the cash
position, the company permanently has loan agreements
to guarantee its liquidity requirements.

III.- Internal control

There is an internal control structure involving staff across the
board, with a set of rules, means and procedures that
guarantee the truth of the accounting information, the
authenticity of transactions reported, protection of assets and
compliance with laws and regulations. The internal audit
department is responsible for seeing that these controls are
made.

Iberia also has Quality Guarantee Systems regulating aircraft
operation and maintenance, in compliance with the
international standards of the European Aviation Safety
Agency (EASA) and the US Federal Aviation Administration
(FAA), as well as an operational quality and safety system
complying with IOSA (IATA) requirements, which is regularly
audited and reveals the adequacy of existing controls.
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Iberia has installed ISO 9001:2008-compliant Quality
Management Systems in different flight and ground
operations: ramp and passenger handling, aircraft
maintenance, in-flight services, cargo, infrastructure,
procurements and IT systems, flight operations and claims.
The Metrology Laboratory has also been certified under ISO
17025 and the Quality Management has been certified by
AENOR under the “N certified service mark for quality of
service and management of customer satisfaction”.

The company complies with the applicable laws and
standards in health and safety at work, establishing adequate
internal regulations, control measures and procedures and
monitoring to maintain very low rate of occurrence of these
risks.

Both guarantee and management systems are audited and
certified by the competent official organisations or by
authorised certification entities.

IV.- Environment

Every year Iberia submits its candidacy for the selective Dow
Jones Sustainability Index, which assesses the company’s
performance in economic, social and environmental aspects.
Iberia is included in the world category of this index, up
amongst the best enterprises in the world in social
responsibility, environmental respect and sustainable
management. In addition, in 2010 Iberia remained in the
FTSE4Good Ibex, in the prestigious group of FTSE4Good
indexes and was included in the “Kempen SNS European SRI
Universe”, demonstrating the recognition of Iberia’s
management in this area.
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With regard to its flight operations, the company draws up
Action Plans to implement environmental variables in the
flight renewal processes, adopt best operational practices and
develop measures to combat its impact on climate change,
having carried out all the preparatory work in this area
required to meet the Emissions Trading Rules in European
Aviation, which will enter into force in 2012.

As regards its ground operations, environmental risks are
managed through the implementation, audit and
certification, where appropriate, of procedures and methods
designed to guarantee compliance with prevailing
environmental laws, minimising the environmental impact of
the company’s operations.

Iberia has obtained certification under standard ISO 14001 for
its environmental management systems in the airport
services areas of the national network, and in the aircraft
maintenance and engineering carried out in the industrial
area of Madrid. There are also more specific procedures,
consisting of the cargo activities, the medical service
installations in Madrid and the contracting of goods and
services. These certificates cover all material environmental
aspects of Iberia’s ground operations.

Lastly, through its participation in different national and
international working groups of the sector (CEOE -Spanish
Confederation of Business Organisations -, AEA and IATA), the
company is able to identify and adapt to the emerging
requirements in this area.
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V.- Emergencies

Aviation emergencies.

Deriving from its business as an air carrier, including damage
to aircraft, civil liability to third parties, passengers, ground
assistance, maintenance and cargo, among others.
These risks are managed firstly through prompt compliance
with all relevant aviation directives in force and secondly
through insurance policies taken out with leading Spanish
insurance companies and reinsurance with high financial
standing on the international markets to ensure that all the
insurance limits contracted by the company are in line with
best practices on the world air transport market and in all
cases exceed the minimum cover required under the Spanish
Air Navigation Act and International Conventions.

Iberia has in place a wide-reaching and detailed Emergency
Plan, regulated by Internal General Regulation CD-CE 01 of 25
November 2009, which lists and states the responsibilities
and working of the Emergencies Committee and the Support
Teams required to protect and safeguard the personal safety
of all the people possibly affected and their belongings,
including those of the passengers, the company and its
employees.

Non-aviation emergencies

Iberia has developed a Business Continuity Programme for all
areas of the company, which assesses the potential impact of
interruption of each activity within the company’s operations
and defines the actions to be taken to restore normal activity
within a minimal time. It has assessed the risks and
vulnerabilities existing in the different areas, including the
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interruption of normal activity due to natural disasters or
other causes, and the necessary security measures have been
established to reduce both the likelihood of their occurrence
and the consequences for the company’s operations if the risk
were to occur.

In addition to the economic cover of risks deriving from its
business as a carrier, Iberia has a very broad insurance
programme, covering more generic risks, such as damage to
its equity, its fleet of vehicles and equipment, merchandise
and nuclear risks, with policies covering general civil liability,
life and accident insurance, among others.

Risks associated with the possible interruption of computer
applications, some of which are vital to provide the service.

Compensatory controls include the Image Centre and the
Data Storage and Back-Up Network, along with the General
Security Plan and the Disaster Recovery Plan, all designed to
prevent the interruption of operations due to potential faults
relating to the computer systems:

• The Image Centre is an alternative data processing centre,
capable of guaranteeing operation of the critical operating
systems (essentially the passenger, flight dispatch and mo-
nitoring, and airport systems) within a minimal time in the
event of a failure at the main data processing centre.

• The Data Storage and Back-Up Networks enable data reco-
very so that the service can be continued in the event of in-
cidents in the surrounding area.
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• The General Security Plan sets out the security require-
ments for the new IT systems and, where appropriate, ad-
justs the criticality assessment for those in production or
retired. These data provide the input for the Disaster
Recovery Plan.

• The Disaster Recovery Plan establishes the technical and or-
ganisational procedures to be carried out in order to restore
the service in the least possible time in the event of a disas-
ter in the Data Processing Centre, guaranteeing correct ope-
ration and ensuring at all times that it is adjusted to the
corporate technological platform.

Risks associated with the logical security of systems and the
information they contain.

The main compensatory controls for this type of risk are:

• The Security Policy, which includes, inter alia, mechanisms
for identification, authentication and data access control,
password complexity control mechanisms, back-up creation
and management and recovery procedures and log-in and
integrity control mechanisms on a tamper-proof platform in
the systems so requiring.

• Security Audits, such as anti-hacking controls, or those re-
quired by prevailing laws and regulations on personal data
protection.

• The continual designing and implementing of plans to ad-
just to legal requirements in place from time to time on per-
sonal data protection and e-commerce and information
society services.
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• In April 2009, Iberia obtained ISO 27001 certification for its
Information Security Management System (SGSI), in the
processes of its electronic sales Web platform, known as
Iberia.com, which supports the following business activi-
ties:

– Availability of seats and electronic bookings and sales of
tickets.

– Generation of boarding cards, consultation of departure
and arrival times and other services.

– Access to Iberia Plus and to suppliers of hotel bookings
and car-hire services.

This certification also covers the Employee Portal, a web
platform supporting business activities for management of
the information on services and obligations inherent in the
employment relations of Iberia with its ground and flight
staff.

The necessary actions are currently being taken to extend
the scope of this ISO 27001 certification to its Data
Processing Centres.

Moreover, with a view to minimising the risk of fraud in our
clients’ credit card transactions, Iberia is working on a PCI
DSS (Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard)
Adequacy and Compliance Project with the aim of
obtaining the corresponding certification.

D.2. Risk materialisation, underlying circumstances and
functioning, if appropriate, of the established control systems 
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Risks associated with the crisis

Exceptional circumstances occurred in 2010 that affected air
transport and tested the company’s emergency and business
continuity plans, demonstrating that its response capability is
exemplary.

• Closure of air space caused by the volcanic ash cloud:

As a result of the effects of the eruption of the Icelandic
volcano Eyjafjalla, a large part of European air space was
closed. The events occurred in April and May 2010 with an
uneven impact over time on the various air zones.

Just one month earlier, in March 2010, Iberia took part in the
VOLCEX simulation of flight with volcanic eruptions on Faial
island in the Azores, in which Iberia’s performance was
exemplary.

Following the event, the action protocols for crisis situations
were started immediately. All areas of the company
mobilised with excellent coordination. Alternatives, in many
cases very imaginative ones, were sought, thereby enabling
our clients to feel well attended and satisfied.

Numerous clients, industries and authorities thanked and
congratulated Iberia for its sound management in the time
the volcano crisis lasted.

• Closure of Spanish air space caused by the air traffic controller’s
dispute. 

Iberia cooperated at all times with the Spanish airports
authority (AENA) and the Ministry of Public Works to resolve
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the crisis caused by the closure of air space as a result of the
shortage of controllers on 4, 5 and 6 December.

D.3. Bodies of the company responsible for establishing and
supervising the control systems

The principal risk management and decision-making bodies
are:

• The Executive Committee, responsible for directing Risk
Management.

• Risk Proprietors, normally members of the Management or
Top Management, having the utmost responsibility for ma-
naging the risks within their area of competence and for de-
veloping and monitoring action plans to control those risks.

• The Risk and Security Manager, who is responsible for coor-
dinating Risk Management and checking the controls.

• The Audit and Compliance Committee of the Board regu-
larly monitors the development and results of the Risk
Management System.

D.4. Identification and description of processes for
compliance with the different regulations affecting the
Company and its Group

Throughout 2010, Iberia continued to take an active part in the
tasks of the working group set up under the aegis of the
Spanish National Securities Market Commission (CNMV) and
which, as a result, led to the preparation and publication of the
report entitled “Internal Control on Financial Information in
Listed Entities”, of great importance to the transparency of
financial information.
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Each section of the company Management is responsible for
compliance with the legislation applicable to its particular
sector of activity. The Manager of the Secretary’s Office and
Legal Counsel, Secretary of the Board, the Finance and Control
Manager and the Risk and Security Manager are specifically
responsible for ensuring compliance with the good
governance rules and recommendations, in the aspects
assigned to each of them in the company regulations.

All aspects referring to the General Shareholders’ Meeting of
Iberia (quorum, holding of meetings, adopting of resolutions)
are regulated in the Bylaws, the Regulations of the General
Meeting and the applicable legal provisions.

The company’s Regulations of the General Meeting were
approved at the AGM 2004 and subsequently modified at the
AGM of 30 May 2006 to adjust Article 10 to the relevant
amendments made to the Corporations Act by the Spanish-
Domiciled European Company Act 19/2005 of 14 November.
The CNMV was duly notified and they were then published on
the company’s web site and recorded in the Trade Register, as
required by current legislation.

E.1. Quorum for General Meetings established in the Bylaws
and differences in respect of the minimums stipulated in the
Corporations Act

According to the Iberia Bylaws, General Meetings are quorate
on first call when attended, in person or by proxy, by
shareholders holding at least 35% of the subscribed voting
capital. On second call, General Meetings are quorate provided
the shareholders present or represented hold at least 15% of
the subscribed voting capital. The minimum quorum
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established in the Corporations Act is 25% on first call and
unlimited on second call.

A higher quorum is stipulated for General Meetings to validly
resolve on debenture issues, the increase or reduction of
capital, conversion, merger or demerger of the company and,
in general, any alteration of the Bylaws, requiring a quorum on
first call of shareholders present and represented holding at
least 50% of the subscribed voting capital, the attendance of
31% of such capital being sufficient on second call. The
minimum established in the Corporations Act is 50% on first
call and 25% on second call.

E.2. Majorities required for adopting resolutions and
differences in respect of those stipulated in the Corporations
Act

Resolutions are adopted by majority vote, i.e. by shareholders
representing the majority of the capital present or
represented at the General Meeting. As an exception, both the
Bylaws and the Corporations Act stipulate that when General
Meetings are attended by shareholders representing less than
50% of the subscribed voting capital, the resolutions
contemplated in the preceding section may only be validly
adopted with the favourable vote of two-thirds of the capital
present or represented at the General Meeting.

E.3. Shareholders’ rights in respect of General Meetings
differing from those established in the Corporations Act

Right to attend

All shareholders who hold 400 shares, individually or
through pooling, are entitled to attend and vote at General
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Meetings, provided their shares are entered in the
corresponding Register five days prior to the date of the
meeting.

Any shareholders so entitled may attend the meeting using
electronic, telematic or other means of distance
communication, provided that this is technologically
possible, it is so resolved by the Board and they use the
procedure specified by the Board.

In any case, shareholders exercising their voting rights
through the means of distance communication
contemplated in the Bylaws and Regulations of the General
Meeting shall be considered present for the purpose of the
quorum.

Right to representation

Any shareholder entitled to attend may be represented at
the General Meeting by any director or by another
shareholder entitled to attend, using the proxy form issued
by the Company for each General Meeting, including the
appropriate indication on the attendance card. The letter of
proxy must be received by the company prior to the date of
the General Meeting, no later than the date specified in the
notice of call.

The conditions and requisites for exercising this right to
representation are set out in the Regulations of the General
Meeting.

In any case, the proxy may be granted in writing through
delivery of a power of attorney, or through postal, electronic
or telematic communication, or whatsoever other means of
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distance communication, provided the proxy granted and
the identity of the represented shareholder are duly
guaranteed.

This proxy right does not affect the legal provisions
regarding representation by a member of the family, public
requests for representation and the granting of general
powers of attorney.

Right to information

Up to the seventh day prior to the General Meeting,
shareholders may request such reports or explanations, or
submit such written questions, as they may consider
necessary concerning the items on the agenda, and
concerning the information available for the public supplied
by the company to the Spanish National Securities Market
Commission (CNMV) since the previous General Meeting.
The directors are obliged to provide such information in
writing up to the date of the General Meeting.

During the General Meeting, shareholders may orally
request such information or explanations as they may
consider necessary concerning the items on the agenda. If it
is not possible to provide this information or give the
necessary explanations at that time, the directors are
obliged to provide the information in writing within seven
days after the end of the General Meeting.

The directors are obliged to provide the information
requested, except when, in the opinion of the Chairman,
publicising of that information may jeopardise corporate
interests. This exception is not valid when the request is
seconded by shareholders representing at least one-quarter
of the paid-up capital.
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Moreover, as from the date of call to the AGM, any
shareholder may obtain from the company, immediately
and free of charge at the registered office, copies of all the
documents to be laid before the General Meeting and of the
auditors’ report.

The directors’ obligations regarding information may be
met through any technical, computer or telematic means
that offers the necessary security guarantees. The company
has a web page setting out the corresponding information
for this purpose.

Duties of the General Meeting

Notwithstanding section 234 of the Corporations Act and
apart from deciding with sovereign power on all corporate
business, the General Shareholders’ Meeting has the following
powers:

A) Approve its own Internal Regulations and any subsequent
modifications thereto.

B) Examine and approve the separate and consolidated annual
accounts of each financial year, resolve on the proposal for
application of profits and review the management of cor-
porate affairs.

C) Appoint and reappoint the auditors, and remove them in
the events permitted by law.

D)  Appoint, re-elect and remove members of the Board, exa-
mine and approve their management of corporate affairs,
and ratify or revoke any provisional appointments of board
members made by the Board by virtue of its right to coop-
tation. Exercise of the right of proportional representation
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will be respected at all times, if exercised by shareholders
under section 234 of the Corporations Act.

E) Approve the overall maximum amount of the annual remu-
neration payable to the directors, in pursuance of Article 47
of the Bylaws.

F) Increase or reduce the capital stock in accordance with the
Corporations Act, delegating to the Board, if appropriate,
the power, inter alia, to decide on the date or dates of such
increases or reductions, within the maximum time stipula-
ted in the Act. The Board may exercise this power, altering
Article 5 of the Bylaws accordingly, or abstain from doing so,
in view of prevailing circumstances, reporting to the first
General Meeting held after the time stipulated for such ac-
tions, for the General Meeting to decide as appropriate.

G) Authorise the Board to increase the capital stock under sec-
tion 297 of the Corporations Act. When the General
Meeting delegates this power, it may also authorise the
Board to exclude the right of preferential subscription in
any issues of shares covered by the delegation, subject to
the terms and requisites established in the Act.

H) Delegate its powers to the Board of Directors, subject to the
limits established in the Corporations Act, where appropria-
te, and particularly the power to change the par value of
the shares in the capital stock, altering Article 6 of the
Bylaws accordingly.

I) Alter the company Bylaws and confirm or rectify the inter-
pretation of the Bylaws made by the Board.
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J) Resolve on the winding-up, merger, demerger and conver-
sion of the company.

K) Authorise the company to purchase treasury stock on the
terms established in law.

L) Approve remuneration systems consisting of the delivery of
shares or stock option rights, and any other system of re-
muneration linked to the value of the shares, regardless of
the beneficiary, on the terms stipulated in the Corporations
Act.

M) Decide on any business submitted by the Board, which is
obliged to inform the General Meeting whenever exceptio-
nal or extraordinary circumstances or events arise that may
affect the company, its bodies or shareholders, its market
projection or strategy, its programmes and policies, in
which case it must call the shareholders to discuss the me-
asures to be taken, which are submitted to the General
Meeting to decide within its full, sovereign powers.

N) Decide on any other business reserved to the General
Meeting by law or the bylaws.

Logically, the Bylaws list the rights which, although perhaps
less systematically, are contemplated in the Corporations Act.

E.4. Measures adopted, if any, to encourage the participation
of shareholders at General Meetings:

Since the company was privatised, it has made an effort to
boost the areas of the organisation responsible for investor
relations, creating a Shareholders’ Office within the Financial
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Division, which aims primarily to maintain a channel of
communication to guarantee existing and potential
shareholders clear, sufficient information on the company.
This Office can be contacted at the registered office, calle
Velázquez, 130 - 28006 Madrid, on telephone no. 91 587 75 74
or by e-mail invesrel@iberia.es.

The company has, for this purpose, extended its web page for
investors and shareholders, containing all the corporate and
financial information on the Group and the presentations
regularly made for analysts and/or the media
(www.iberia.com).

Moreover, before each General Meeting, all information
concerning the items on the agenda is offered to shareholders
and published on the company’s web site, and any requests for
information received from shareholders at the Shareholders’
Office regarding the items on the agenda are answered. In
pursuance of the Corporations Act and Company Bylaws,
shareholders are also entitled, as from publication of the call
to the General Meeting, to obtain immediately and free of
charge copies of all the documents that are to be laid before
the General Meeting, particularly the auditors’ report.

At the AGM 2004 an alteration of the Bylaws was approved
to enable the installation of a distance voting system, by
electronic vote, taking advantage of the facilities offered by
the new technologies. This system was used at the AGM
held on 26 May 2005, 30 May 2006, 30 May 2007, 29 May
2008, 3 June 2009, 2 June 2010 and 29 November 2010, with
a high level of participation by shareholders at all seven
meetings.
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Furthermore, in preparation for the Extraordinary General
Meeting held in November 2010 and, pursuant to the
Corporations Law, an Electronic Forum was made available to
the shareholders on the corporate website so as to facilitate
shareholder communication prior to the General Meeting.

These measures, together with the facilities already offered
for proxies and proxy votes, are intended to encourage
shareholders to participate in General Meetings well-
informed, to ensure that the General Meeting effectively
performs its duties under the law and the bylaws.

E.5. Are General Meetings presided by the Chairman of the
Board and what measures, if any, are taken to guarantee the
independence and proper functioning of the General
Meeting?

YES     NO     

General Meetings are to be presided by the Chairman of the
Board, or in his absence by the Vice-Chairman, or otherwise by
the oldest director present at the General Meeting in
question.

The two Meetings in 2010 were presided by the Chairman of
the Board.

annual corporate governance reportiberia group / consolidated management report

255



E.6. Modifications, if any, made during the year to the
Regulations of the General Meeting

The Regulations of the General Meeting were not modified
during 2010. These Regulations, approved at the AGM on 24
June 2004, were altered during 2006 to adapt them to the
amendments to the Corporations Act made by virtue of the
Spanish-Domiciled European Company Act 19/2005 of 14
November. Accordingly, the AGM of 30 May 2006 resolved to
alter Article 10 of these Regulations concerning the notice of
call to general meetings.

E.7. Attendance of General Meetings held during the year

Two General Meetings were held in 2010, an Ordinary Meeting
held on 2 June and an Extraordinary Meeting held on 29
November.

Annual General Shareholders Meeting of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas
de España, S.A. held on 2 June 2010

The AGM 2010 was held on second call and attended by:

In addition to the capital attending the AGM, a further
27,898,271 shares are held in treasury stock, representing a
nominal capital of 21,760,651.38 euro.
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Extraordinary General Shareholders Meeting of Iberia, Líneas
Aéreas de España, S.A. held on 29 November 2010

The EGM 2010 was held on second call and attended by:

In addition to the capital attending the EGM, a further
27,897,583 shares are held in treasury stock, representing a
nominal capital of 21,760,114.74 euro.

E.8. Resolutions adopted at the General Meetings held during
the year and percentage of votes with which each resolution
was passed

Annual General Shareholders Meeting of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas
de España, S.A. held on 2 June 2010

All the items on the Agenda for the AGM of 2 June 2010 were
approved:

1. Examination and approval, if appropriate, of the separate
and consolidated Annual Accounts and Directors’ Report of
Iberia, L.A.E. for the year ended 31 December 2009, and pro-
posal for application of profit/loss.

2. Examination and approval of the management of corporate
affairs by the Board in 2009.

3. Appointment, ratification and re-election of directors.

4. Reappointment of the Auditors of the Company and its
Consolidated Group for 2010.
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6. Approval of the maximum overall amount of directors’ emo-
luments.

7. Authorisation of the Board to buy back shares in Iberia,
L.A.E., directly or through subsidiaries, within 18 months
from the resolution adopted by the General Meeting, rende-
ring void the authorisation granted at the AGM held on 3
June 2009.

8. Delegation of powers to the Board, including the powers to
delegate, put on record, remedy, register, interpret, develop
and implement the resolutions adopted.

Votes cast at AGM of 2 June 2010

Extraordinary General Shareholders Meeting of Iberia, Líneas
Aéreas de España, S.A. held on 29 November 2010

All the items on the Agenda for the EGM of 29 November 2010
were approved:

1. Capital reduction through redemption of treasury shares,
not subject to any right of opposition by creditors, and
subsequent amendment of Articles 5 and 6 of the Bylaws.
Delegation of powers.
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Item 1 466,904,794 99.88% 502,860 0.10% 50,893 0.01%

Item 2 467,270,918 99.96% 122,008 0.02% 65,621 0.01%

Item 3 422,405,580 90.36% 44,897,780 9.60% 155,187 0.03%

Item 4 466,852,686 99.87% 530,208 0.11% 75,653 0.01%

Item 5 467,097,724 99.92% 218,632 0.04% 142,191 0.03%

Item 6 467,184,019 99.94% 200,851 0.04% 73,677 0.01%

Item 7 467,270,739 99.96% 106,401 0.02% 81,407 0.01%



2. Consideration and approval of the joint project for the hive
down of Iberia Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. (as Transferor)
to Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, Sociedad Anónima
Operadora (Sole Shareholder Company) (as Transferee).
Approval, as the hive down balance sheet, of the balance
sheet of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A. at 31 December
2009. Approval of the hive down from Iberia, Líneas Aéreas
de España, S.A. (as Transferor) to Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de
España, Sociedad Anónima Operadora (as Transferee)
through the universal, en bloc transfer of the assets and
liabilities of the former to the latter, in accordance with the
hive down project. Elective reliance of the hive down on the
special tax regime provided in Title VII, Chapter VIII of the
restated Corporate Income Tax Law. Delegation of powers.

3. Creation of a new class B of shares by reclassifying the
125,321,425 shares owned by British Airways Plc (through its
subsidiaries Britair Holdings Limited and British Airways
Holdings, B.V.), and of which BA Holdco, S.A. (Sole-
Shareholder Company) will be the sole holder, into
25,064,285 Class B shares and, consequently, amending
articles 6 and 40 of the Company Bylaws. Delegation of
powers.

4. Consideration and approval of the joint project for the
merger by absorption of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas De España,
S.A. and BA Holdco, S.A. (Sole Shareholder Company) (Non-
Surviving Companies) into International Consolidated
Airlines Group, S.A. (Sole Shareholder Company) (Surviving
Company). Approval, as the merger balance sheet, of the
balance sheet of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas De España, S.A. at 31
December 2009. Approval of the merger of Iberia, Líneas
Aéreas De España, S.A., BA Holdco, S.A. (Sole Shareholder
Company) and International Consolidated Airlines Group,
S.A. (Sole Shareholder Company) through the absorption of
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the first two 2 companies into the latter, causing the
dissolution of Iberia, Líneas Aéreas De España, S.A. and BA
Holdco, S.A. (Sole Shareholder Company) and the universal
en bloc transfer of their respective assets and liabilities to
International Consolidated Airlines Group, S.A. (Sole
Shareholder Company), in accordance with the Merger
Project. Elective reliance of the merger on the special tax
regime provided in Title VII, Chapter VIII of the restated
Corporate Income Tax Law. Delegation of powers.

5. Delegation of powers to the Board of Directors, with powers
of substitution of the attorney-in-fact, for the formalization,
rectification, registration, interpretation, implementation
and execution of the resolutions adopted.

Votes cast at EGM of 29 November 2010

E.9. Number of shares required to attend General Meetings,
indicating whether any restrictions are established in the
bylaws

400 shares are required to attend and vote at General
Meetings. The bylaws do not establish any limits for exercising
voting rights.
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Item 1 569,138,109 99.96% 78,804 0.01% 124,331 0.02%

Item 2 569,182,397 99.97% 76,677 0.01% 82,170 0.01%

Item 3 443,821,473 99.95% 99,127 0.02% 99,219 0.02%

Item 4 569,178,407 99.97% 85,420 0.01% 77,417 0.01%

Item 5 569,151,923 99.96% 89,499 0.01% 99,822 0.01%



E.10. Company policies on proxy votes at General Meetings

The right to proxy and proxy votes is regulated in detail in the
Regulations of the General Meeting approved at the AGM on
24 June 2004.

Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings
may be represented at any General Meeting by any director or
by another shareholder entitled to attend, using the proxy
form issued by the company for each General Meeting, as
indicated on the attendance card or any other ad hoc
document, in accordance with the Corporations Act and
without prejudice to the provisions of the Act on legal and
family representation.

The proxy may also include any items which, although not
included on the agenda, may be dispatched at the general
meeting, being so permitted by law.

In order for a proxy granted to another shareholder to be valid,
it must be accepted by the named proxy. A proxy issued in
favour of the Chairman of the Board or another director is
presumed to be accepted.

In all cases, the proxy must be granted especially for each
General Meeting. This requisite is not applicable when the
representative is the spouse, ancestor or descendant of the
represented shareholder, or when the representative has a
general power of attorney, granted in a public document with
the power to administer all the assets of the principal in
national territory.
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The proxy may be granted in either of the following ways:

A)By the delivery on paper of the signed proxy letter or the at-
tendance card contemplated in Article 13 of the Regulations,
duly completed and signed by the shareholder, on the terms
established by the company.

B)Through postal, electronic or telematic communication, or
whatsoever other means of distance communication, provi-
ded the proxy granted and the identity of the represented
shareholder are duly guaranteed. In particular, a proxy gran-
ted by electronic or telematic means of communication will
be accepted when the electronic document through which
it is granted includes the recognised electronic signature
used by the principal, or whatever other kind of signature
the Board may consider, in a resolution adopted beforehand,
offers adequate guarantees of authenticity and identifica-
tion of the shareholder granting the proxy. Proxies granted
by these means must be sent to the company through the
procedure and by the deadline specified by the Board in its
resolution to call the General Meeting. Proxies granted in
accordance with the specifications established by the com-
pany will be fully effective, unless a cause of force majeure
prevents their valid receipt.

The letter of proxy must be received at the Shareholders’
Office or by the services assisting the Presiding Board of the
General Meeting prior to the date of the relevant General
Meeting, no later than the deadline stated in the notice of call.

Individual shareholders who are deprived of all or any of their
civil rights and corporate shareholders may be represented by
the person(s) exercising their legal representation, provided
this is duly evidenced. In these cases and if any shareholders
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voluntarily delegate their right to attend, each shareholder
may have only one representative at the General Meeting.

Voluntary proxies may be revoked at any time. The proxy or
proxy vote will be revoked, regardless of the date on which it
has been issued, if the represented shareholder attends the
general meeting, in person or through any of the means of
distance communication, or votes through such means.
Otherwise, the revocation must be made expressly, received by
the Shareholders’ Office prior to the commencement of the
General Meeting and meet any other requisites that may be
stipulated by the company.

If the company directors, depositaries of the shares or the
entities keeping the record of book entries request a proxy for
themselves or for another and, in general, whenever such a
request is made publicly, the agenda, the request for voting
instructions and indication of how the proxy is to vote in the
absence of precise instructions must be incorporated in or
attached to the printed or electronic document containing the
power of attorney.

In the same cases, if the proxy has been validly granted, in
accordance with the Corporations Act and these Regulations,
but do not include the voting instructions or if any doubts
arise as to the intended proxy or scope of the proxy, the
delegation will be deemed made in favour of the Chairman of
the General Meeting, referring to all the proposals on the
agenda and to vote for such proposals.

If the directors or another person have made a public request
for representation, the director or person obtaining such
representation may not exercise the voting right
corresponding to the shares represented in respect of any
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items on the agenda in which that person may fall into a
conflict of interest, and in any case in respect of the following
decisions:

– his/her appointment or ratification as director.
– his/her removal, dismissal or forced retirement as director.
– the bringing of a corporate liability action against him/her.
– approval or ratification, as the case may be, of transactions

between the company and the director or person in ques-
tion, companies he/she controls or represents, or persons
acting on his/her behalf.

The same rule is applicable when the proxy also includes
matters which, although not on the agenda, may lawfully be
put to the vote at the General Meeting.

In these cases, the shareholder granting the proxy may
authorise the proxy to nominate a director or another
shareholder to substitute him or her whenever faced with a
conflict of interest.

If a shareholder who has previously delegated his voting rights
then transfers shares such that he/she no longer holds a
minimum of four hundred (400) at the time of closing the
attendance list for the General Meeting, the proxy will be
considered void, without prejudice to the rights of the
shareholder acquiring the shares.

E.11. State whether the company is aware of the policies of
institutional investors regarding their participation or
otherwise in company decisions:

The institutional shareholders participate in the decisions of
the company and the General Meeting through the ordinary
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channels. The company is not aware of any strategies
materially different from other shareholders.

E.12. Address and access to the corporate governance contents
on the company’s web site

Enter the web site “www.iberia.com”, select “Investor
Relations”. Select language, then, in the “Corporate
Governance” menu, access information on the “Annual
General Meeting” (Notice of Call, Agenda, Documents
–including the Annual Report on Corporate Governance- and
Resolutions Adopted), “Bylaws” y “Regulations” (Regulations
of the Board of Directors, Regulations of the General Meeting,
Internal Code of Market Conduct and Internal Regulations of
the Audit and Compliance Committee).

The 58 recommendations of the Unified Good Governance
Code are set out below, with a brief indication of the degree of
compliance by the company with those recommendations.

1.- The bylaws of listed companies should not place an upper
limit on the votes that can be cast by a single shareholder, or
impose other obstacles to the takeover of the company by
means of share purchases on the market.

Compliance     Explanation     
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2..- When a dominant and a subsidiary company are stock
market listed, the two should provide detailed disclosure on:
a) The type of activity they engage in, and any business

dealings between them, as well as between the listed
subsidiary and other group companies;

b) The mechanisms in place to resolve possible conflicts of
interest.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    

3.- Even when not expressly required under company law, any
decisions involving a fundamental corporate change should
be submitted to the General Shareholders’ Meeting for
approval or ratification. In particular:

a) The transformation of listed companies into holding com-
panies through the process of subsidiarisation, i.e. reallo-
cating core activities to subsidiaries that were previously
carried out by the originating company, even though the
latter retains full control of the former;

b) Any acquisition or disposal of key operating assets that
would effectively alter the company’s corporate purpose;

c) Operations that effectively add up to the company’s liqui-
dation.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

4.- Detailed proposals of the resolutions to be adopted at the
General Shareholders’ Meeting, including the information
stated in Recommendation 28, should be made available at
the same time as the publication of the Meeting notice.

Compliance    Explanation    
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5.- Separate votes should be taken at the General Meeting on
materially separate items, so shareholders can express their
preferences in each case. This rule shall apply in particular to:

a) The appointment or ratification of directors, with separate
voting on each candidate;

b) Amendments to the bylaws, with votes taken on all arti-
cles or groups of articles that are materially different.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

In prior years, both matters were connected, firstly to the
balance of governability of the company and, secondly, due to
the logical interconnection that existed between the various
articles of the bylaws for which amendments were proposed.

6.- Companies should allow split votes, so financial
intermediaries acting as nominees on behalf of different
clients can issue their votes according to instructions.

Compliance     Explanation     
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7.- The Board of Directors should perform its duties with
unity of purpose and independent judgement, according all
shareholders the same treatment. It should be guided at all
times by the company’s best interest and, as such, strive to
maximise its value over time It should likewise ensure that
the company abides by the laws and regulations in its
dealings with stakeholders; fulfils its obligations and
contracts in good faith; respects the customs and good
practices of the industries and territories where it does
business; and upholds any additional social responsibility
principles it has subscribed to voluntarily.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

8.- The board should see the core components of its mission
as to approve the company’s strategy and authorise the
organisational resources to carry it forward, and to ensure
that management meets the objectives set while pursuing
the company’s interests and corporate purpose. As such, the
Board in full should reserve the right to approve:

a) The company’s general policies and strategies, and, in
particular:

I) The strategic or business plans, management targets
and annual budgets;

II) Investment and financing policy;
III) Design of the structure of the corporate group;
IV) Corporate governance policy;
V) Corporate social responsibility policy;
VI) Remuneration and evaluation of senior officers;
VII) Risk control and management, and the periodic

monitoring of internal information   and control systems;
VIII) Dividend policy, as well as the policies and limits

applying to treasury stock.
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b) The following decisions:

I) On the proposal of the company’s chief executive,
the appointment and removal of senior officers, and
their compensation clauses.

II) Directors’ remuneration and, in the case of executive
directors, the additional consideration for their
management duties and other contract conditions.

III) The financial information that all listed companies
must periodically disclose.

IV) Investments or operations considered strategic by
virtue of their amount or special characteristics,
unless their approval corresponds to the General
Shareholders’ Meeting;

V) The creation or acquisition of shares in special
purpose vehicles or entities resident in countries or
territories considered tax havens, and any other
transactions or operations of a comparable nature
whose complexity might impair the transparency of
the group.

c) Transactions which the company conducts with directors,
significant shareholders, shareholders with board repre-
sentation or other persons related thereto (“related-party
transactions”) . However, board authorisation need not be
required for related-party transactions that simultane-
ously meet the following three conditions:

1ª They are governed by standard form contracts
applied on an across-the-board basis to a large
number of clients;

2ª They go through at market prices, generally set by
the person supplying the goods or services;

3ª Their amount is no more than 1% of the company’s
annual revenues.
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It is advisable that related-party transactions should only
be approved on the basis of a favourable report from the
Audit Committee or some other committee handling the
same function; and that the directors involved should
neither exercise nor delegate their votes, and should
withdraw from the meeting room while the board
deliberates and votes.

Ideally, the above powers should not be delegated with the
exception of those mentioned in b) and c), which may be
delegated to the Executive Committee in urgent cases and
later ratified by the full board.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

9. In the interests of maximum effectiveness and
participation, the Board of Directors should ideally comprise
no fewer than five and no more than fifteen members.

Compliance     Explanation     

10.- External directors, proprietary and independent, should
occupy an ample majority of board places, while the number
of executive directors should be the minimum practical
bearing in mind the complexity of the corporate group and
the ownership interests they control.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

11.- In the event that some external director can be deemed
neither proprietary nor independent, the company should
disclose this circumstance and the links that person
maintains with the company or its senior officers, or its
shareholders.
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Compliance   Explanation   Not applicable   

12.- That among external directors, the relation between
proprietary members and independents should match the
proportion between the capital represented on the board by
proprietary directors and the remainder of the company’s
capital. This proportional criterion can be relaxed so the
weight of proprietary directors is greater than would strictly
correspond to the total percentage of capital they represent:

1º In large cap companies where few or no ownership
interests attain the legal threshold for significant
shareholdings, despite the existence of shareholders
with considerable sums actually invested.

2º In companies with a plurality of shareholders
represented on the board but not otherwise related.

Compliance     Explanation     

13.- The number of independent directors should represent at
least one third of all board members.

Compliance     Explanation     

14.- The nature of each director should be explained to the
General Meeting of Shareholders, which will make or ratify
his or her appointment. Such determination should
subsequently be confirmed or reviewed in each year’s Annual
Corporate Governance Report, after verification by the
Nomination Committee. The said Report should also disclose
the reasons for the appointment of proprietary directors at
the urging of shareholders controlling less than 5% of
capital; and explain any rejection of a formal request for a
board place from shareholders whose equity stake is equal to
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or greater than that of others applying successfully for a
proprietary directorship.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

15.- When women directors are few or non existent, the board
should state the reasons for this situation and the measures
taken to correct it; in particular, the Nomination Committee
should take steps to ensure that:

a) The process of filling board vacancies has no implicit
bias against women candidates;

b) The company makes a conscious effort to include
women with the target profile among the
candidates for board places.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    

At present there are no female directors on the Board of the
company. All Board members are selected objectively, in view
of their prestige, expertise and professional experience, with
no implicit bias in the selection procedure to hamper the
appointment of women as directors.

Iberia has had a female non-director Secretary of the Board
since 2001. Her duties include, among others, ensuring
compliance with good governance rules and
recommendations.
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16.- The Chairman, as the person responsible for the proper
operation of the Board of Directors, should ensure that
directors are supplied with sufficient information in advance
of board meetings, and work to procure a good level of
debate and the active involvement of all members,
safeguarding their rights to freely express and adopt
positions; he or she should organise and coordinate regular
evaluations of the board and, where appropriate, the
company’s chief executive, along with the chairmen of the
relevant board committees.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

17.- When a company’s Chairman is also its chief executive, an
independent director should be empowered to request the
calling of board meetings or the inclusion of new business on
the agenda; to coordinate and give voice to the concerns of
external directors; and to lead the board’s evaluation of the
Chairman.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    

The company has not expressly authorised one of its
Independent Directors to take these initiatives, although
Article 9.1 of the Regulations of the Board does allow a
minimum of four directors to request the calling of a Board
meeting. Bearing in mind that there are four Independent
Directors on the Board, this measure contemplated in the
Board Regulations is an adequate counterweight for the
powers of the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer.
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18.- The Secretary should take care to ensure that the board’s
actions:

a) Adhere to the spirit and letter of laws and their
implementing regulations, including those issued by
regulatory agencies;

b) Comply with the company bylaws and the
regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting,
the Board of Directors and others;

c) Are informed by those good governance
recommendations of the Unified Code that the
company has subscribed to.

In order to safeguard the independence, impartiality and
professionalism of the Secretary, his or her appointment and
removal should be proposed by the Nomination Committee
and approved by a full board meeting; the relevant
appointment and removal procedures being spelled out in
the board’s regulations.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

19.- The board should meet with the necessary frequency to
properly perform its functions, in accordance with a calendar
and agendas set at the beginning of the year, to which each
director may propose the addition of other items.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

20.- Director absences should be kept to the bare minimum
and quantified in the Annual Corporate Governance Report.
When directors have no choice but to delegate their vote,
they should do so with instructions.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   
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21.- When directors or the Secretary express concerns about
some proposal or, in the case of directors, about the
company’s performance, and such concerns are not resolved
at the meeting, the person expressing them can request that
they be recorded in the minute book.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    

22.- The board in full should evaluate the following points on
a yearly basis:

a) The quality and efficiency of the board’s operation;
b) Starting from a report submitted by the Nomination

Committee, how well the Chairman and chief
executive have carried out their duties;

c) The performance of its committees on the basis of
the reports furnished by the same.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

23.- All directors should be able to exercise their right to
receive any additional information they require on matters
within the board’s competence. Unless the bylaws or board
regulations indicate otherwise, such requests should be
addressed to the Chairman or Secretary.

Compliance     Explanation     

24.- All directors should be entitled to call on the company
for the advice and guidance they need to carry out their
duties. The company should provide suitable channels for the
exercise of this right, extending in special circumstances to
external assistance at the company’s expense.
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Compliance     Explanation     

25.- Companies should organise induction programmes for
new directors to acquaint them rapidly with the workings of
the company and its corporate governance rules. Directors
should also be offered refresher programmes when
circumstances so advise.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

The different divisions of the company provide all new
Directors with sufficient information to give them a rapid,
sufficient insight into the company.

26.- Companies should require their directors to devote
sufficient time and effort to perform their duties effectively,
and, as such:

a) Directors should apprise the Nomination Committee
of any other professional obligations, in case they
might detract from the necessary dedication;

b) Companies should lay down rules about the number
of directorships their board members can hold.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

The Board of Directors of Iberia meets between 48 and 55
times a year, taking into account the meetings of both the
Board itself and those of its Committees.

Furthermore, the level of participation and attendance of the
directors at the meetings of the Board of Directors and those
of its Committees is very high.
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Iberia therefore considers that its Directors devote sufficient
time and effort to perform their duties effectively, and that
the performance of duties as directors in other companies
does not detract from this dedication. Therefore, to date, the
company has not considered it necessary to establish rules
about the maximum number of directorships their board
members can hold.

27.- The proposal for the appointment or renewal of directors
which the board submits to the General Shareholders’
Meeting, as well as provisional appointments by the method
of co-option, should be approved by the board:

a) On the proposal of the Nomination Committee, in
the case of independent directors.

b) Subject to a report from the Nomination Committee
in all other cases.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

28.- Companies should post the following director
particulars on their websites, and keep them permanently
updated:

a) Professional experience and background;
b) Directorships held at other companies, listed or

otherwise;
c) An indication of the director’s classification as

executive, proprietary or independent; in the case of
proprietary directors, stating the shareholder they
represent or have links with;

d) The date of their first and subsequent appointments
as a company director, and;

e) Shares held in the company and any options on the
same.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   
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29.- Independent directors should not stay on as such for a
continued period of more than 12 years.

Compliance     Explanation     

30.- Proprietary directors should resign when the
shareholders they represent dispose of their ownership
interest in its entirety. If such shareholders reduce their
stakes, thereby losing some of their entitlement to
proprietary directors, the latter’s number should be reduced
accordingly.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

31.- The Board of Directors should not propose the removal of
independent directors before the expiry of their tenure as
mandated by the bylaws, except where just cause is found by
the board, based on a proposal from the Nomination
Committee. In particular, just cause will be presumed when a
director is in breach of his or her fiduciary duties or comes
under one of the disqualifying grounds enumerated in
section III. 5 (Definitions) of this Code.

The removal of independents may also be proposed when a
takeover bid, merger or similar corporate operation produces
changes in the company’s capital structure, in order to meet
the proportionality criterion set out in Recommendation 12.

Compliance     Explanation     
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32.- Companies should establish rules obliging directors to
inform the board of any circumstance that might harm the
organisation’s name or reputation, tendering their
resignation as the case may be, with particular mention of
any criminal charges brought against them and the progress
of any subsequent trial.

The moment a director is indicted or tried for any of the
crimes stated in article 213 of the Corporations Act, the board
should examine the matter and, in view of the particular
circumstances and potential harm to the company’s name
and reputation, decide whether or not he or she should be
called on to resign. The board should also disclose all such
determinations in the Annual Corporate Governance Report.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

33.- All directors should express clear opposition when they
feel a proposal submitted for the board’s approval might
damage the corporate interest. In particular, independents
and other directors unaffected by the conflict of interest
should challenge any decision that could go against the
interests of shareholders lacking board representation.

When the Board makes material or reiterated decisions
about which a director has expressed serious reservations,
then he or she must draw the pertinent conclusions.
Directors resigning for such causes should set out their
reasons in the letter referred to in the next Recommendation.
The terms of this Recommendation should also apply to the
Secretary of the Board; director or otherwise.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    
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34.- Directors who give up their place before their tenure
expires, through resignation or otherwise, should state their
reasons in a letter to be sent to all members of the board.
Irrespective of whether such resignation is filed as a
significant event, the motive for it must be explained in the
Annual Corporate Governance Report.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    

The retirement produced during the year was voluntary, the
reasons having been explained at the board meeting at which
the resignation was tendered. This was notified as a
significant event and is mentioned within the Annual
Corporate Governance Report.

35.- The company’s remuneration policy, as approved by its
Board of Directors, should specify at least the following
points:

a) The amount of the fixed components, itemised,
where necessary, of board and board committee
attendance fees, with an estimate of the fixed 

annual remuneration they give rise to.

b) Variable components, in particular:
I) The types of directors they apply to, with an

explanation of the relative weight of variable to
fixed remuneration  items;

II) Performance evaluation criteria used to calculate
entitlement to the award of shares or share options
or any performance-related remuneration;

III) The main parameters and grounds for any
system of  annual bonuses or other non cash
benefits; and       

annual corporate governance reportiberia group / consolidated management report

280



IV) An estimate of the sum total of variable
payments arising from the remuneration policy
proposed, as a function of degree of compliance
with pre-set targets or benchmarks.

c) The main characteristics of pension systems (for
example, supplementary pensions, life insurance and
similar arrangements), with an estimate of their
amount or annual equivalent cost.

d) The conditions to apply to the contracts of executive
directors exercising senior management functions,
among them:
I) Duration;
II) Notice periods; and
III) Any other clauses covering hiring bonuses, as well

as indemnities or “golden parachutes” in the
event of early termination of the contractual
relationship between company and the executive
director.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

36.- Remuneration comprising the delivery of shares in the
company or in other companies in the group, share options
or other share-based instruments, payments linked to the
company’s performance or membership of pension schemes
should be confined to executive directors.
The delivery of shares is excluded from this limitation when
directors are obliged to retain them until the end of their
tenure.

Compliance     Explanation     
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37.- External directors’ remuneration should sufficiently
compensate them for the dedication, abilities and
responsibilities that the post entails, but should not be so
high as to compromise their independence.

Compliance     Explanation     

38.- In the case of remuneration linked to company earnings,
deductions should be computed for any qualifications stated
in the external auditors’ report.

Compliance   Explanation   Not applicable   

39.- In the case of variable awards, remuneration policies
should include technical safeguards to ensure they reflect
the professional performance of the beneficiaries and not
simply the general progress of the markets or the company’s
sector, atypical or exceptional transactions or circumstances
of this kind.

Compliance   Explanation   Not applicable   

40.- The Board should submit a report on the directors’
remuneration policy to the advisory vote of the General
Shareholders’ Meeting, as a separate point on the agenda.
This report can be supplied to shareholders separately or in
the manner each company sees fit.

The report will focus on the remuneration policy the board
has approved for the current year with reference, as the case
may be, to the policy planned for future years. It will address
all the points referred to in Recommendation 35, except those
potentially entailing the disclosure of commercially sensitive
information. It will also identify and explain the most
significant changes in remuneration policy with respect to
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the previous year, with a global summary of how the policy
was applied over the period in question.

The role of the Remuneration Committee in designing the
policy should be reported to the Meeting, along with the
identity of any external advisers engaged.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

Shareholders and investors are issued with the Corporate
Governance Report, which informs amply on the directors’
emoluments, each year at the Annual General Meeting.

41.- The notes to the annual accounts should list individual
directors’ remuneration in the year, including:

a) A breakdown of the compensation obtained by each
company director, to include where appropriate:

I) Participation and attendance fees and other
fixed directors payments;

II) Additional compensation for acting as
chairman or member of a board committee;

III) Any payments made under profit-sharing or
bonus schemes, and the reason for their
accrual;

IV) Contributions on the director’s behalf to
defined-contribution pension plans, or any
increase in the director’s vested rights in the
case of contributions to defined-benefit
schemes;

V) Any severance packages agreed or paid;
VI) Any compensation they receive as directors of

other companies in the group;
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VII) The remuneration executive directors receive in
respect of their senior management posts;

VIII) Any kind of compensation other than those
listed above, of whatever nature and
provenance within the group, especially when it
may be accounted a related-party transaction
or when its omission would detract from a true
and fair view of the total remuneration received
by the director.

b) An individual breakdown of deliveries to directors of
shares, share options or other share-based
instruments, itemised by:

I) Number of shares or options awarded in the
year, and the terms set for their execution;

II) Number of options exercised in the year,
specifying the number of shares involved and
the exercise price;

III) Number of options outstanding at the annual
close, specifying their price, date and other
exercise conditions;

IV) Any change in the year in the exercise terms of
previously awarded options.

c) Information on the relation in the year between the
remuneration obtained by executive directors and
the company’s profits, or some other measure of
enterprise results.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   
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Both the notes to the consolidated financial statements and
the ACGR of Iberia provide complete information on the
directors’ remuneration both by item (fixed payments,
attendance fees, payment in kind, insurance) (Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements and section B.1.11 a) of the
ACGR) and by type of director (section B.1.11 c) of the ACGR).
The ACGR also provides detailed information on the number
of meetings of the Board of Directors and of its Committees
(section B.1.29).

All in all, the information contained in the ACGR is sufficiently
complete and detailed for shareholders, investors and the
market in general to know the amounts received by the
members of the Board of Director for the performance of their
duties.

42.- When the company has an Executive Committee, the
breakdown of its members by director category should be
similar to that of the board itself. The Secretary of the board
should also act as secretary to the Executive Committee.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    

43.- The board should be kept fully informed of the business
transacted and decisions made by the Executive Committee.
To this end, all board members should receive a copy of the
Committee’s minutes.

Compliance   Explanation   Not applicable   

44.- In addition to the Audit Committee mandatory under
the Securities Market Act, the Board of Directors should form
a committee, or two separate committees, of Nomination
and Remuneration.
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The rules governing the make-up and operation of the Audit
Committee and the committee or committees of
Nomination and Remuneration should be set forth in the
board regulations, and include the following:

a) The Board of Directors should appoint the members
of such committees with regard to the knowledge,
aptitudes and experience of its directors and the
terms of reference of each committee; discuss their
proposals and reports; and be responsible for
overseeing and evaluating their work, which should
be reported to the first board plenary following each
meeting;

b) These committees should be formed exclusively of
external directors and have a minimum of three
members. Executive directors or senior executives
may also attend meetings at the Committee’s
invitation.

c) Committees should be chaired by an independent
director.

d) They may engage external advisors, when they feel
this is necessary for the discharge of their duties.

e) Meeting proceedings should be minuted and a copy
sent to of the minutes sent to all board members.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

The Audit and Compliance Committee is chaired by Mr.
Fernández Norniella, classified as “Other Non-Executive
Directors”. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is
chaired by Mr. Pont, Proprietary Director. Both are non-
executive directors appointed chairmen of the respective
committees by virtue of their experience and track record.
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45.- The job of supervising compliance with internal codes of
conduct and corporate governance rules should be entrusted
to the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee or, as
the case may be, separate Compliance or Corporate
Governance committees.

Compliance     Explanation     

46.- All members of the Audit Committee, particularly its
chairman, should be appointed with regard to their
knowledge and background in accounting, auditing and risk
management matters.

Compliance     Explanation     

47.- Listed companies should have an internal audit function,
under the supervision of the Audit Committee, to ensure the
proper operation of internal reporting and control systems.

Compliance     Explanation     

48.- The head of internal audit should present an annual
work programme to the Audit Committee; report to it
directly on any incidents arising during its implementation,
and submit an activities report at the end of each year.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   
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49.- Control and risk management policy should specify at
least:

a) The different types of risk (operational,
technological, financial, legal, reputational, ...) the
company is exposed to, with the inclusion under
financial or economic risks of contingent liabilities
and other off-balance-sheet risks;

b) The determination of the risk level the company sees
as acceptable;

c) Measures in place to mitigate the impact of risk
events should they occur;

d) The internal reporting and control systems to be used
to control and manage the above risks, including
contingent liabilities and off-balance-sheet risks.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

50.- The Audit Committee’s role should be:
1. With respect to internal control and reporting systems:

a) Monitor the preparation and the integrity of the
financial information prepared on the company and,
where appropriate, the group, checking for
compliance with legal provisions, the accurate
demarcation of the consolidation perimeter, and the
correct application of accounting principles.

b) Review internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis, so that main risks are
properly identified, managed and disclosed.

c) Monitor the independence and efficacy of the
internal audit function; propose the selection,
appointment, reappointment and removal of the
head of internal audit; propose the department’s
budget; receive regular report-backs on its activities;
and verify that senior management are acting on
the findings and recommendations of its reports.
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d) Establish and supervise a mechanism whereby staff
can report, confidentially and, if necessary,
anonymously, any irregularities they detect in the
course of their duties, in particular financial or
accounting irregularities, with potentially serious
implications for the firm.

2. With respect to the external auditor:
a) Make recommendations to the board for the

selection, appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and the terms of his
engagement.

b) Receive regular information from the external
auditor on the progress and findings of the audit
programme, and check that senior management are
acting on its recommendations.

c) Monitor the independence of the external auditor, to
which end:
(I) The company should notify any change of

auditor to the CNMV as a significant event,
accompanied by a statement of any
disagreements arising with the outgoing
auditor and the reasons for the same.

(II) The Committee should ensure that the
company and the auditor adhere to current
regulations on the provision of non-audit
services, the limits on the concentration of the
auditor’s business and, in general, other
requirements designed to safeguard auditors’
independence;

III) The Committee should investigate the issues
giving rise to the resignation of any external
auditor.

d) In the case of groups, the Committee should urge the
group auditor to take on the auditing of all
component companies.
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Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

This recommendation is met, except regarding the existence
of a whistle-blowing procedure, which has not been
considered necessary.

51.- The Audit Committee should be empowered to meet
with any company employee or manager, even ordering their
appearance without the presence of another senior officer.

Compliance     Explanation     

52.- The Audit Committee should prepare information on the
following points from Recommendation 8 for input to board
decision-making:

a) The financial information that all listed companies
must periodically disclose. The Committee should
ensure that interim statements are drawn up under
the same accounting principles as the annual
statements and, to this end, may ask the external
auditors to conduct a limited review.

b) The creation or acquisition of shares in special
purpose vehicles or entities resident in countries or
territories considered tax havens, and any other
transactions or operations of a comparable nature
whose complexity might impair the transparency of
the group.

c) Related party transactions, except where their
scrutiny has been entrusted to some other
supervision and control committee.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   
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53.- The Board of Directors should seek to present the annual
accounts to the General Shareholders’ Meeting without
reservations or qualifications in the audit report. Should such
reservations or qualifications exist, both the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and the auditors should give a clear
account to shareholders of their scope and content.

Compliance   Partial compliance   Explanation   

54.- The majority of Nomination Committee members – or
Nomination and Remuneration Committee members as the
case may be – should be independent directors.

Compliance   Explanation   Not applicable   

Although the majority of Nomination and Remuneration
Committee members are not independent directors, the Board
of Iberia has considered that the Committee’s composition is
appropriate for ensuring that it functions properly.

Because of the diversity of technical considerations to be
taken into account when designing an efficient and fair
remuneration system for directors and executives, the
members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
must have powers of judgement and comprehension to
match the inherent complexity of the task. The Board has
taken these considerations into account when appointing the
members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Accordingly, the three current members are individuals with
recognised prestige and wide professional experience in the
particular matters of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, and have profiles regarded as ideal for exercising
these responsibilities.
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55.- The Remuneration Committee should have the following
functions in addition to those stated in earlier
recommendations:

a) Evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and
experience on the board, define the roles and
capabilities required of the candidates to fill each
vacancy, and decide the time and dedication
necessary for them to properly perform their duties.

b) Examine or organise, in appropriate form, the
succession of the chairman and chief executive,
making recommendations to the board so the
handover proceeds in a planned and orderly manner.

c) Report on the senior executive appointments and
removals which the chief executive proposes to the
board.

d) Report to the board on the gender diversity issues
discussed in Recommendation 14 of this Code.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    

56.- The Nomination Committee should consult with the
company’s Chairman and chief executive, especially on
matters relating to executive directors.

Any board member may suggest directorship candidates to
the Nomination Committee for its consideration.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    
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57.- The Remuneration Committee should have the following
functions in addition to those stated in earlier
recommendations:

a) Make proposals to the Board of Directors regarding:
I) The remuneration policy for directors and

senior officers;
II) The individual remuneration and other

contractual conditions of executive directors.
III) The standard conditions for senior officer

employment contracts.
b) Oversee compliance with the remuneration policy

set by the company.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    

58.- The Remuneration Committee should consult with the
Chairman and chief executive, especially on matters relating
to executive directors and senior officers.

Compliance    Partial compliance    
Explanation    Not applicable    

This section contains information that is to be included in the
Directors’ Report under section 116 bis of the Stock Market Act
and has not been discussed above:

G.1. Powers of the members of the Board, particularly powers
to issue or buy back shares

The Board of Directors has the powers assigned to it in Article
3 of the Regulations of the Board. These powers have been
permanently delegated to the Chairman of the Board and the
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Executive Committee, except those which the Board is obliged
by law or the bylaws to exercise directly.

In particular, the Iberia Board members have no powers to
issue or buy back shares.

G.2. Significant agreements made by the company that enter
into force or are amended or terminated in the event of a
takeover of the company by virtue of a public tender offer,
and the effects thereof, except when disclosure could be
seriously detrimental to the company. This exception will not
be applicable if the company is obliged by law to disclose this
information.

In takeover bids, or public tender offers, certain licences and
authorisations, top management contracts and some supplier
or financial agreements would, as the case may be, require a
novation. The most significant agreement of this nature is the
one made with Amadeus.

Amadeus is a multinational IT enterprise whose services are
designed to meet the marketing, sales and distribution needs
of the travel and tourism industry worldwide.

Iberia has an agreement with Amadeus whereby the company
uses the global distribution system (GDS) managed and
operated by Amadeus for the marketing of its flights. The
Amadeus GDS is the most important of the different systems
used by Iberia, in terms of volume of bookings.

The standard contract signed by Iberia and Amadeus includes
a clause which establishes the following: if the participant
(Iberia) acquires or takes control of another entity engaged in
air transport, or merges with or is acquired or becomes
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controlled by another person or entity engaged in air
transport other than the person or entity owning or
controlling the participant at the date of the agreement, then
Amadeus will have the option of terminating the contract
without any obligation beyond all the responsibilities
undertaken assumed by each party prior to termination of the
agreement.

Finally, the exchange and interest rate hedging instruments
used by the company include standard clauses, common in
this type of international contract, which could lead to
renegotiation of certain aspects of the financial instrument in
the event of a change in the control of the Company.
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About this report

The Corporate Responsibility Report of Iberia, L.A.E. – hereinafter Iberia or the company –
is published every year to meet the reporting demands of the different stakeholders in
respect of its economic, social and environmental impacts.

This Report supplements the financial and corporate governance reporting, which can be
downloaded from web site (www.iairgroup.com), where previous years’ reports can also
be consulted.

To assist comprehension, the information is structured into chapters dedicated to the dif-
ferent stakeholders of Iberia, applying the Corporate Responsibility Policy and Framework
adopted by the company, which are described in section 1.1 of this Report.

The information contained in this report has been approved by the senior management
and the board of directors of the company and verified externally by AENOR, recognised
certification body, according to the Global Reporting Initiative, GRI 3.0 (G3) guidelines and
principles (see assurance report in the Annexes hereto).

Self-declaration of “A+” application level of the G3 guidelines

Both the external checking of this report and the contents and indicators
set out herein correspond to the highest degree of compliance (A+) with
the recommendations made in the Global Reporting Initiative.
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22nd
company in
the world

19,878
employees
average manpower

equivalent in 2010

Líneas Aéreas de España
in terms of revenues and
one of the most profitable
in Europe in the last decade

Leading
airline in Spain
and on the
Europe – Latin
America market

109
destinations in

43
countries

112
aircraft with
average age of

7.9 years

Leading 9th
company worldwide in
MRO, with more than 100
customers all over the world

operator in airport services
– ground assistance for
passengers and aircraft –
in Spain, operating at 41
airports



corporate responsibility 0. about iberia 

304

In Iberia, the passenger and cargo air transport business is supplemented with another two
businesses:

a) MRO: Maintenance, Repair & Overhaul
b) Ground assistance (handling) for passengers and aircraft.

Each of these businesses has its own market characteristics and stakeholders, which are 
described elsewhere in this Report.

Organisation structure

Strategic & support areas

General Counsel & Secretary of the Board

Corporate Affairs

Financial

Corporate Communication

Human Resources

Risks & Security

Corporate Governance Bodies

Business

Iberia
Maintenance

Iberia
Air Transport:
Commercial & Customers
Operations

Iberia
Airport Services
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Main achievements in 2010
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IAG is a holding created with the vocation of incorporating more companies in  the future.
It will be the third airline group in Europe and the sixth worldwide in terms of turnover.

For customers:

The Group will have a greater capacity
to enhance and invest in new products
and services. It will be able to offer a lar-
ger selection of destinations for both
passengers and cargo, with more con-
nections and frequencies.

The oneworld alliance will benefit and
be strengthened. British Airways  custo-
mers will have 50 new destinations to

choose from and Iberia customers will
be able to fly to over 90 new destina-
tions from the British Airways network.

Prices will be more competitive.

Customers will have access to more VIP
lounges. Frequent flyer programmes will
be optimised, offering greater benefits.

13,800

Revenues (€ million)

57,429

Employees

406

Fleet

58

Passengers (million)

204

Destinations

1,700

Daily flights

Highlights Iberia + British Airways

Main benefits of the merger for stakeholders

1
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For shareholders:

Shareholders will participate in a lea-
ding group within the air transport sec-
tor, with a vast competitive capacity and
enormous prospects for the future.

The company becomes more global,
lager and is highly competitive within
the European and world markets, open
to the possibility of participating in
future consolidation processes within
the sector.

The group has a strong strategic posi-
tion and healthy finances, and is able to
face the future with ample guarantees
of profitability and sustainability.

For employees:

A large company with experienced,
competent employees in all areas and
businesses. Employees benefit from
new opportunities for professional
development, working in a sound, van-
guard group, with a vocation for lea-
dership in the world air transport
industry.

Employees benefit from sharing cultu-
res, as new collaborations and working
groups are created, favouring diversity
and inclusion.

For suppliers:

Work strengthening bonds with a
strong group, which considers its rela-
tions with suppliers to be very impor-
tant, sharing a responsible vision with
them throughout the supply chain.

Permanent collaboration with a vision
of quality products, stressing innovation
and sustainability.

For other stakeholders:
Authorities, institutions, bodies, com-
munities in which we operate, NGOs,
society in general:

One of the group's priorities is to listen
and maintain a permanent dialogue
with its stakeholders.

Broaden our mission as a means for
bringing people and cultures together.

Participation in different aid and deve-
lopment projects, events, forums and
programmes and humanitarian opera-
tions will be stepped up, sharing know-
how and good practice, with ambitious
contributions in respect of the environ-
ment, diversity and inclusion, collabora-
tion in the communities in which we
operate, maintaining and improving a
high level of cooperation with all stake-
holders.

2

3

4

5
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Iberia in the sector: oneworld

Iberia belongs to one of the largest three airli-
ne alliances worldwide, oneworld, along with
American Airlines, British Airways, Cathay
Pacific, Finnair, Japan Airlines, Lan Chile,
Malev, Mexicana, Qantas, Royal Jordanian
and S7 Airlines. 

oneworld has a total fleet of 2,300 aircraft. It
operates at 800 airports in 150  countries, with
over 9,000 flights a day, which means a take-
off or landing every five seconds, providing a
service for more than 300 million passengers
a year and directly employing more than
300,000 people throughout the world.

Since its foundation, its maxim has been cus-
tomer service quality, since this allows the
associated airlines to increase and improve
the range of products  and services they offer
their customers, enabling them to travel prac-
tically anywhere in the world. Incidentally, it is
the only global alliance with partners on all
the continents.

The Indian airline Kingfisher Airlines, leader
on the Indian domestic market, is expected to
join the alliance during 2011, which will add 58 
destinations and eight new countries to the
oneworld network.
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Iberia in the sector: associations

Iberia is also a member of national and international air transport organisations committed to
a responsible development of the air industry  worldwide:

IATA
International Air Transport Association.

AEA
Association of European Airlines.

ALA
Association of Airlines operating in Spain.

ACETA
Association of Spanish Air Transport Companies.

ATAG
Air Transport Action Group, whose members include representatives from all
sectors of the industry: airlines, airports, air navigation service providers, air-
line pilot and air traffic controller unions, travel and tourism associations, etc.
It aims to foster sustainable development of infrastructures and air services
worldwide. ATAG has created a web site, www.enviro.aero/, to announce and
inform on these principles, backed and financed by the commercial aviation
industry.
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1.1 Corporate Responsibility Framework

Iberia regularly updates its Corporate Responsibility - hereinafter CR - management framework
to adjust it to current trends and brings it in line with  current strategic guidelines.

The framework defines the responsibilities of the areas that have ongoing relations with Iberia
stakeholders and that coordinate the CR-related management systems:

CR Organisation and responsibilities in Iberia

1. Our focus on reponsibility

Management

General Counsel & Secretary of  the Board

Corporate Communication

Financial

Risks & Security

Human Resources

Commercial & Customers

Corporate Affairs

Secretary of the Board

Advertising & Sponsoring

Management Control

Procurement

Emergency Coordination

Organization

Customer Relations

Quality

Corporate Responsibility & Environment

Corporate Governance

Coordination and development of Social
Action projects and representation of
Iberia in Corporate Reputation Forums.

Financial reporting and direct relations
with  Shareholders

Direct relations with Suppliers

Crisis contingency plans

Direct relations with Employeess

Direct relations with Customers (Passengers)

Quality & Innovation Measurement &
Management Systems

Coordination of CR & environmental
policies

Area Responsibilities

These responsibilities have been updated according to the changes made in the 
organisation structure in November 2010.

Many other managements and business units also provide CR-related management information
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The Corporate Responsibility Framework agre-
ed by all the management areas  involved
consists of:

1) Concept of Corporate Responsibility: what
the company understands by CR.

2) CR Instruments: the bases for effective CR
management in Iberia.

3) Corporate Responsibility Policy: the princi-
ples and objectives of CR and how they are
to be developed and applied in the diffe-
rent management areas of the company.

4) Scopes of application of CR: the principle
CR-related management issues.

5) International standards: what internatio-
nal CR initiatives the company supports
and applies.

Concept of Corporate Responsibility: In Iberia,
CR is the shared commitment to create econo-
mic and social value, respecting the environ-
ment and taking stakeholders' expectations
into account at all times.

Corporate Responsibility Instruments: The
bases for ensuring adequate CR manage-
ment and reporting in Iberia are:

Mission, vision & values

RC Policy

Guidelines
for action &

management
systems

RC
Actions

Re
por
ting

Continuous
Improvement
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Corporate Responsibility Policy

Iberia acts in accordance with a set of princi-
ples that enable it to continue growing in line
with the services demanded by its customers,
within a framework of respect and preserva-
tion of the environment, with an active colla-
boration in welfare actions, thus contributing
to the development of the societies in which
it operates.

These principles are summed up in the mis-
sion, vision and values of the company, shared
across the board:

Our mission
Iberia's mission is to offer air transport,
airport services and aircraft maintenance
services that come up to our customers'
expectations and create sustainable eco-
nomic and social value.

Our vision
IBERIA aims to be leader in customer
satisfaction, innovation and economic
and social performance:

Perceived as leader on the domestic,
European and Latin American markets.

Preferred by customers for the best possible
value for money.

Distinguished by shareholders for its sus-
tained returns.

Recognised for its transparency and its
social and environmental commitment.

Desired by people for their professional
development.

Our values
Focus on customers, creation of value,
search for excellence in management,
social commitment, importance of peo-
ple, leadership, team work, constant
improvement, adaptation to change and
innovation.

Iberia's stakeholder engagements are kept as
direct as possible in order to be able to res-
pond to stakeholders' concerns and incorpora-
te their suggestions in projects to enhance the
company's processes, products and services.

Corporate Responsibility is incorporated in the
different management systems in the company
Strategic Plan, Risks, Internal Control, Safety,
Quality and Environment, Occupational Health,
Procurement, etc. They all incorporate assess-
ment and continuous improvement and esta-
blish measures to guarantee sustainable mana-
gement of the company's business activities.
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This policy is specified in the following goals:

General corporate responsibility goals in
Iberia

1) Maintain its leadership in return on assets
(ROA), safety and reliability.

2) Obtain recognition within society for its
transparency, social commitment and
defence of human rights.

3) Apply the best environmental practices in
its businesses activities, making a rational
use of natural resources.

4) Respond to the major concerns of the
company's stakeholders:

Guarantee the best service to its custo-
mers in terms of quality and responsibi-
lity, respecting the protection of their
rights.

Create value for its shareholders, fostering
respect for the environment and distribu-
tion of wealth.

Support any humanitarian projects and
initiatives promoted by its employees,
involving other stakeholders.

Encourage the personal, labour and social
development of its employees within a
framework of equal opportunities.

Promote sustainable development and
good management practices among its
suppliers of goods and services.

Work together with institutions, public
administrations and other companies in
the sector in any initiatives considered of
interest.

Participate in cultural, educational, sports,
social and economic development pro-
jects wherever it operates.

7) See that these goals are met, with perma-
nent monitoring to pinpoint opportuni-
ties to further the company's continuous
improvement in CR management.

The short and medium-term objectives
are set out in the section Future Actions
at the end of the chapter on each stake-
holder group.
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Scopes of application of Corporate Responsibility

In general, CR contemplates the following aspects in Iberia, all across the board, that is, all of
the company's management areas are responsible for them:

Environment

Social Action
& Corporate
Citizenship

Ethics & Good
Governance

Personal &
Professional
Development

Quality
products
& services

Innovation

Sustainable
Economic
Management

Risk
Management

Health &
Safety

Management
of the
value chain

Stake-
holders

Transparency

Communication
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Stakeholders

The company has identified and analysed its different stakeholders to classify them according
to their importance in meeting objectives and their capacity to influence the company or be
influenced by it.

SOCIETY

MARKET Institutions
& Public
Administrations

Communities
in vicinity of
airports

Media

NGOs

Transport
sector

Tourism
sector

Customers

ShareholdersSuppliers

Employees



International standards
Iberia has joined the following international initiatives, which are used as a constant bench-
mark in the implementation of Iberia's RC policy:

United Nations Global Compact.

International Labour Organisation Fundamental Conventions.

Millennium Development Goals.
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Iberia's stakeholders are classified below:

1) Strategic:

Customers and consumer associations.

Shareholders and investors.

Employees and their representatives: SEPLA,
SITCPLA, STAVLA, UGT, CCOO, USO, CTA, etc.

Suppliers and subcontractors.

2) Regulatory and institutional:

Public administrations, AENA, Civil Aviation
Authority, ICAO, IATA, national 
and local governments.

3) Market:

Transport sector: airline associations, rivals,
alliances.

Tourist and business sector: tour operators,
travel agencies, accommodation, etc.

Maintenance & engineering sector: rivals,
alliances.

Airport services sector: rivals, alliances.

4) Social and airport vicinity: 

Media.

Communities in vicinity of airports.

NGOs.
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1.2 Impact analysis

Based on the company's Risk Map and the
Global Compact principles, Iberia makes and
maintains a study and prioritization of its
main sustainability impacts, reaching the
following conclusions:

1) The greatest impact by the company is
environmental, caused by the volume of
emissions associated with climate
change in its flight operations. Other
environmental impacts, produced in its
ground operations, are less significant.

2) Being a means of transport, the safety
and quality of the company's services to
customers have enormous repercussions
in the public opinion.

3) The risks concerning the ethics of its busi-
ness, such as incidents of discrimination,
corruption or fraud, are very small and
duly controlled.

4) The company has no significant impacts
in labour, in aspects such as freedom of
association, the right to collective bargai-
ning or equal opportunities in access to
employment.

5) Owing to the nature of its business, there
is no impact in respect of abuse of human
rights, such as forced or child labour.

This analysis has guided the preparation of
this Report, which is structured in the order of
importance of the impacts analysed.
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1.3 External assessment

Iberia attaches great importance to the per-
formance assessments it receives regularly
from independent third parties. They are an
excellent instrument for measuring the effec-
tiveness of its CR actions and are used as the
basis for preparing the action plan and sustai-
nability enhancement plan, in line with the
company's Corporate Responsibility Policy.

Iberia included in the Dow Jones Sustaina-
bility Index and  FTSE4Good IBEX

Iberia has been included in the selective Dow
Jones Sustainability World Index for the 5th

year in succession, obtaining for the second
time the top score in the environmental sector.

Iberia was also confirmed in the
FTSE4Good IBEX, the other sus-
tainability index with internatio-
nal prestige.

Iberia's inclusion in these indexes is an impor-
tant recognition of the efforts it has made to
encourage and manage corporate responsibility.

In fact, the company has incorporated the
information it receives from these assess-
ments in its annual report preparation pro-
cess, as shown in the following flow chart:

Analysis results
of DJSI and review
profile FRSE4Good

DJSI
Questionnaire

RC
Benchmarking

Preparation of
CR Report

SAM Group
Assessment

September

octoberfebruary

may

ECODES
Assessment

GRI
Verification
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The information required for inclusion in
these indexes is also related with the GRI
standard used in the Report, presenting the
company's performance indicators in full (see
the Annexes to this Report).

For the first time in 2010, this Corporate
Responsibility Framework has been compared
with the new international references ISO
26000 and Global Compact Management
Model, with the result that it is designed
according to the basic principles established
in both guidelines: the 7 Core Subjects and the
6 Key Steps, respectively.

1.4 Prizes and recognitions in 2010

"Global Award" at the London fair World Tra-
vel Market 2010 in recognition of its constant
commitment to sustainability and world air
transport: 

The specialist publication Hosteltur nomina-
ted the company for this prize for its ongoing
commitment to sustainability, having been
selected for the fifth year in succession for
inclusion in the Dow Jones Sustainability
Index, for consolidating its position as leading
airline between Europe and Latin America and
for its merger with British Airways. The WTM
Chairman, Fiona Jeffery, pointed out that
"Iberia is a worthy Global Award winner for its
far-reaching sustainability initiatives recogni-
sed not only by Dow Jones but also
PricewaterhouseCoopers and the FTSE4Good
Index as well as its continued presence as a
major player on the world's airline stage".

International Prize from the Make-A-Wish
Foundation:

During the recent celebration of its 30th anni-
versary in Orlando, in recognition for its cons-
tant support for Spanish children with serious
diseases and their families, making each flight
a "unique, unforgettable experience".

Annual Prizes of the Spanish Geographical
Society:

Iberia was elected the best Initiative
/Company in 2009 for its ongoing commit-
ment to sustainable tourism, bringing toge-
ther worlds and cultures, education and sport;
and, above all, for its active policy of support
for initiatives related with protection and pre-
servation of nature and the environment.

MuchoViaje Prize to the Best Airline in 2009, in
the fourth edition of these prizes: 

This prize is awarded by the online votes of
over 110,000 users of the portal
muchoviaje.com, who recognise the work of
different companies and entities in the sector
and assess them for the quality they offer.
Muchoviaje is considered the online agency
with the greatest brand recognition among 
Spanish travellers.

Iberia and the Spanish Football Team received
the prizes awarded by the City Council of
Madrid each year during the World Tourism
Week to professionals, companies, institutions
or associations that have performed outstan-
ding work in favour of the city:
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In the opinion of the city council, the airline
deserves the award on the grounds that it is a
"high quality" operator that contributes to
increasing tourism in the city. The Spanish
Football Team, which flew with Iberia, was
awarded this recognition for the repercussion
its victory in the South African World Cup and,
above all, its subsequent celebration in
Madrid, have had on the city's image, as poin-
ted out by the City Council.

Moreover, Iberia sponsors art, culture and rese-
arch projects in Madrid, through agreements
with universities or institutions established in
the city.

Prize for Tourism Excellence awarded by Nebri-
ja University:

Iberia received this prize in recognition for its
clear commitment to internationalisation and
its constant growth favouring a renewed
image of tourism in Spain, in the first edition of
the Nebrija Tourism Experience prizes awarded
by the votes of Tourism students at Nebrija
University and professionals in the sector.

Prize to the "Spanish company with an outstan-
ding international projection": 

Awarded by the Club de Exportadores e
Inversores [Exporters and Investors Club] at its
VIII edition of the prizes for Internationalisa-
tion. Iberia received this prize for "the success-
ful work done in recent months - culminating
in the merger with British Airways - as well as
its leadership of the Latin American 

and European markets and spreading Spain's
image throughout the world".

Millésime Entrepreneur Prize by the Madrid
Chamber of Commerce: 

The Chairman of Iberia, Antonio Vázquez,
received the prize for the initiative of bringing
Spanish 'haute cuisine' to passengers flying
with Iberia. This award recognises the efforts
of the Spanish company to publicise the
Mediterranean diet with recipes and menus
prepared by prestigious Spanish chefs.

Environment Awards 2010:
Awarded jointly by the Department of
Environment and Planning of the Community
of Madrid, the Madrid Chamber of Trade and
Industry and CEIM Business Confederation of
Madrid-CEOE, backed by the Foundation for
Environmental Research and Development-
FIDA. Iberia's catering services supplier, GATE-
GOURMET SPAIN S.L., was awarded second
prize in the category "Environmental
Management in Large Enterprises".
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2.1 Communication channels

Iberia has procedures in place for obtaining information on its stakeholders' 
expectations, through well-established communication channels.

In addition to the communication channels specifically aimed at each type of stakeholder, as
mentioned in the respective chapters of this Report, the company has devised and started up
an important Social Networking communication strategy.

Every day, through Twitter, Facebook or the
Iberia Blog, the company chats and shares
information with its followers, while listening
in to everything that is said about its actions
in the social environment. It is first-hand, real-
time feedback, which has a tangible value,
enabling the company to get closer to its sta-
keholders, understanding their needs and
taking up their suggestions.

In 2010, the use of Twitter was particularly
important to solve customers' doubts and
problems in real time, especially during the

megustavolar.es

twitter.com/Iberiairlines

facebook.com/iberia

youtube.com/user/iberiairlines

2. Stakeholder engagement
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crises produced by the volcanic ash and the
industrial action by the air traffic controllers.
This measure was highly rated by those affec-
ted.

In fact, Iberia was one of the 5 most outstan-
ding Spanish companies in the use of these
new communication tools, according to the
study Ibex 35 companies in the online social
media published by Adesis Netlife. Iberia was,
moreover, one of the few IBEX companies
with more than 1,000 fans in Facebook during
2010, closing the year with over 20,000.

The significant figures set out below show
Iberia's presence in the social networks:

Facebook

More than 23,500 fans

282 interactions every day

Up to 8 updates a day

Twitter

More than 17,000 followers

Over 1,000 lists of users

26 tweets daily on average

Blog “Me gusta volar”

More than 8,000 unique users

More than 200 subscriptions to RSS feeds

Another novelty in 2010 was the creation by
Iberia of a digital Newsletter, published
monthly, which stakeholders can receive by e-
mail by activating the Subscriptions channel
Corporate web site>Pressroom>Subscriptions.

Apart from these multi-stakeholder channels,
Iberia offers its stakeholders an online survey
to assess this Corporate Responsibility Report,
at http://grupo.iberia.es, the results of which
are taken into account and used to improve
the information given.

Supplementing this, any comments or sug-
gestions regarding the aspects contemplated
in this Report may be sent to the suggestion
box at daicrescor@iberia.es
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Ethical advertising

Iberia is a member of the Commercial Communication Self-Regulation
Association (Autocontrol), through which it assumes the ethical commit-
ment to make a responsible use of the freedom of commercial communica-
tion and helps to strengthen advertising self-regulation to guarantee res-
pect of stakeholders' rights.

2.2 Actions

During 2010, the company participated acti-
vely in the following forums, among others,
for stakeholders to discuss their experience
(multi-stakeholder events):

1) V Sector Conference "The tourism sector
and CSR", organised by the Madrid
Chamber of Commerce and Forética, at
which Iberia gave a presentation on
Sustainable Stock Exchange Indexes as a CR
management tool.

2) III Forum on Environmental Sustainability
of Tourism in Spain, FUTURALIA, with the
theme "Environmental CSR of Tourism in
Spain", in which Iberia participated as
member of the CSR Commission of the
CEOE, speaking on the Current situation of
CSR in Spanish Business.

3) Iberia collaborated with the UNTWO -
World Tourism Organization - for the online
publication Tourism and the Millennium

Develop-ment Goals, including an article on
its good environmental practices.

4) V Sponsorship Conferences, organised by
InfinitC, at which Iberia gave a paper on
Sponsorship and Social Commitment.

2) Iberia, as member of the Corporate
Reputation Forum, attended the Workshop
on Corporate Reputation Management
using the new social media, organised by
the Complutense University of Madrid
within its Communication Cycles. It was
also present at the International Protection
of Reputation Workshop organised by
Garrigues and the Forum.

Iberia also promotes collaboration and inter-
action among different stakeholders, acting
as official carrier for numerous national and 
international Fairs, Congresses and Events and
offering participants special rates on Iberia
flights. Among the major collaborations in
2010:
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1) Iberia was sponsor and official carrier of
the Campus Party Europe, the largest tech-
nology, creativity and online digital culture
event in the world, held on 14-18 April at the
Caja Mágica in Madrid. It also ran a compe-
tition awarding 10 invitations to those sub-
mitting the most innovating proposals for
improving the company's web site.

2) Collaboration agreements were reached
with the Feria de Valencia (Valencia Trade
Fair), Feria de Valladolid (Valladolid Trade
Fair) and the Palacio de Exposiciones y
Congresos de Sevilla (Seville Conference
and Exhibition Centre).

3) The Chairman of Iberia agreed to sit on the
FITUR 2011 Organisation Committee.

Finally, the company is open to collaboration
with the institutions in the countries it flies
to, to favour the development of their local
communities. The following agreements were
reached in 2010 in this respect:

1) With Turismo de Puerto Rico to promote
the destination by means of a number of
actions conducted through communica-
tion channels with customers, such as the
inclusion of reports on Puerto Rico on the
in-flight video and in the two in-flight
magazines that Iberia offers on its aircraft:
Ronda and Excelente. Advertising of Puerto
Rico was also included on iberia.com, with
information on prices and specific promo-

tions to fly to San Juan, and advertising
campaigns were run through online travel
agencies in the Netherlands, Switzerland,
Germany and Italy. So far this joint partici-
pation has been developed at the London,
Manchester, Glasgow, Amsterdam,
Mannheim, Stuttgart and Munich fairs.

2) With the Commission for the Promotion of
Exporting and Tourism in Peru for specific
actions promoting the attractions of Peru,
publicising an image of this country
through its information channels, mainly
through the in-flight magazines.

3) With the Ecuador Ministry of Tourism, con-
sisting of a strategic alliance for the coordi-
nated organisation of programmes, projects
and activities promoting both Ecuador and
the airline.

2.3 Public commitment

Iberia, as part of the society for which it provi-
des its services, has taken into account the
main concerns of that society during 2010:

Economic recession:
The company firmly believes that the solution
to some of the causes that led to the crisis can
be found in Corporate Social Responsibility. In
times of crisis, sustainable management
should increase and all social partners should
be committed to innovation, knowledge and 
training as keys to competitiveness.
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This is the underlying message of declarations
made by the Iberia Chairman, Antonio
Vázquez, to El Siglo in October 2010: “(…) our
challenge is to go beyond what has already
been achieved. Spain must be synonymous
with quality and pride in work well done. The
success of our sportsmen and women, actors,
actresses, artists and companies must rub off
onto industry and we must make values such
as effort, vision, innovation and determination
our banners to move throughout the world. If I
had to choose a quality in which I would like all
those attributes to combine, those already 
achieved and those desired, I would say compe-
titiveness. This is the key to success in a globali-
sed world. Spanish brands strive constantly to
become more competitive and there are nume-
rous examples of our important presence over-

seas. But now it is up to the small and medium-
sized enterprises to take up that challenge of
competitiveness to conquer markets and gain
in size, converting Spain into an economically
and productively diversified country. Spain
needs to increase its presence on international 
markets, which will in turn favour investment
in our country, help to create employment and
guarantee the present and future growth of
our economy".

Climate change:
Once again, Iberia has implemented its fleet
renewal plans as a strategy for cutting fuel
consumption and reducing its greenhouse
gas emissions.
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In November 2008 the European Union
approved a Directive to include aviation in the
EU emissions trading scheme. All airlines ope-
rating flights which arrive at or depart from
an aerodrome situated in the territory of a
Member State will be included in that scheme
as from 2012.

Iberia is in favour of a system that rewards
companies that adopt measures to reduce
their CO2 emissions and defends a global
system, coordinated by the International Civil
Aviation Organisation (ICAO) not limited only
to the EU, as otherwise it will generate com-
petitive disadvantages, and that also includes 
mechanisms to encourage manufacturers to
use the best technologies and implementa-
tion of the most efficient infrastructures, such
as the Single European Sky.

Iberia participates in the European SESAR pro-
gramme, which aims to achieve a modern
management system for European airspace,
focusing on customer needs. This would redu-
ce air traffic congestion in Europe and mitiga-
te its impact on the environment.

The SESAR [Single European Sky ATM Research
Programme], through which progress will be
made towards the creation of the Single
European Sky, was set up by the European
Commission and EUROCONTROL. The most
important companies and organisations in
the European air sector are represented in it.
The new operating procedures deriving from
the SESAR will be applicable as from 2010.

Iberia is contributing its knowledge and expe-
rience in the area of flight operations.

With the combined efforts of airlines, compa-
nies and aeronautical enterprises, Europe will
have a safe, high capacity network with a
substantial increase in automated processes,
including satellite navigation from take-off to
landing and optimising air routes and corri-
dors. It will thus be possible to cut flying times
and fuel consumption by 6-12%.
More information in the Environment chapter.

Protection of Human Rights and
Humanitarian Aid:
As a responsible company, Iberia incorporates
and contemplates respect for human rights in
its operations, based on the principles esta-
blished in the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights, the eight Fundamental
Conventions of the International Labour
Organization and the United Nations World
Compact, which Iberia joined in 2004.

Iberia is committed to the Millennium
Development Goals through economic  con-
tributions and the donation of other resour-
ces for social action projects, especially those
promoted by its employees. The company
runs promotion campaigns to encourage its
stakeholders to become involved in the achie-
vement of these goals.
More information in the chapter on Employees and
Annexes.
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Regional development and integration:
Together with the franchise Iberia Regional
/Air Nostrum and its subsidiary Vueling, the
company covers practically all destinations on
the Spanish mainland and the Balearic and
Canary Islands.

Air Nostrum was set up in 1994 in response to
the needs for flights between the different
regions of Spain. It currently offers flights to
almost 60 national destinations.

Vueling has flights to 45 destinations in Spain,
Europe and North Africa, which enables Iberia
to offer more direct routes to several
European destinations, greater frequencies
and, in short, to increase its capacity. Iberia
undertook in 2009 to remain in the capital of
Vueling for at least two years and upholds an
independent, profitable Vueling. Since the
appearance of low-cost carriers in Spain,
Iberia has always adopted a position of res-
ponsibility, advocating streamlining of the
domestic market and the creation of a
Spanish low-cost carrier that could be compe-
titive, with long-term sustainable profitabi-
lity. This is why it backed the talks between
Clickair and Vueling in 2008 with a view to
their merger.

Through commercial arrangements with dif-
ferent airlines and the oneworld alliance,
which is joined by new partners every year,

the company offers its customers the possibi-
lity of flying almost anywhere in the world.

Growing need for mobility:
As regards the development of the High
Speed Railway (AVE) Network in Spain, Iberia
supports the integration of both forms of
transport, building AVE stations at internatio-
nal airports to enable citizens to combine the
two forms of transport conveniently. In fact,
Iberia participates in the AEROAVE project
along with RENFE, ADIF and other organisa-
tions aiming to integrate air transport with
the long-distance railway networks, suppor-
ted by the Spanish Ministries of Development
and Science & Innovation:
www.aeroave.es

Iberia wants to put a joint AVE + plane ticket
on the market together with RENFE, a logical
alliance to connect rail passengers with the
long-haul flights crossing the Atlantic. These
combined tickets would generate an enor-
mous connectivity potential, although they
will only be possible when there is a high-
speed branch line to Barajas T-4.

With regard to the partial privatisation of
AENA, which contemplates the individual
management of airports, Iberia and the
ACETA airlines, regardless of whether they
are public or private enterprises, defend an
efficient airport model, with transparent
management and price-fixing systems, which
must include a prior consultation procedure
and which would preclude transferring grants
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from efficient airports to others that are not
efficient, thereby constantly promoting qua-
lity. With the investments that have been
made, Barajas and El Prat have a huge growth
capacity and compete with other major
European airports for channelling connection
traffic.

The air transport sector is vital for Spain: three
out of every four tourists arrive by air; one
thousand new passengers create one direct
job and almost three indirect jobs. For this
reason, airlines are committed to a sustaina-
ble growth framework.
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3.1 Management Focus

Environmental protection is one of Iberia's
corporate priorities. The company strives
unceasingly to maintain a balance between
development of its business activities and
their impact on the environment.

Iberia defines and regularly updates a set of
measures which include the implementation
of environmental management systems, trai-

ning, motivation and awareness of its emplo-
yees, regular checks, controls and audits and 
cooperation with its stakeholders in environ-
mental issues.

Environmental management systems

Environmental management systems enable
the company to develop its environmental
policies and meet pre-established manage-
ment objectives. The following diagram

3. Environment

Stakeholders Communication Expectations Actions 2010/2011 Key
Channels detected Indicator

society and

communities

in  vicinity of 

airports

Permanent:
On corporate web site:
http://grupo.iberia.es /
RSC/Environment

Regular:
Annual Corporate 
Responsibility Report

�Commitment
�Compliance
�Collaboration

99.6 gr. CO2
per passenger km.
(-4% on 2009)

• Fleet renewal.

• Operating measures to
reduce fuel consumption.

• Application of air
navigation, approach,
landing and take-off
operating procedures to
reduce noise pollution (in
progress).

• Collaboration with the
authorities to define and
oversee new measures to
reduce noise and air
pollution (in progress).
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shows the environmental management systems currently established in Iberia:
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GROUND
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of CO2 emissions

Environmental
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controls
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Systems

ISO 14001

Internal
Management

Systems

Environmental control for suppliers

AIRPORT SERVICES

MAINTENANCE (MRO)

FACILITIES

CARGO

MEDICAL SERVICE

AIRCRAFT LINE
MAINTENANCE
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For its flight operations the company establis-
hes action plans to implement the environ-
mental variables in the fleet renewal processes
and adopt the best practices in flight opera-
tions. Iberia's participation in national and
international task forces that address these
issues enables the company to adapt its policy
on this matter, keeping it permanently up to
date.

During 2010, Iberia set up a management
system for monitoring, reporting and verifica-
tion of CO2 emissions, in accordance with the
EU emissions trading system. To reduce green-
house gas emissions, this market mechanism
sets a cap which limits, as from 2012, the total
quantity of emissions of the sector. Any airlines
that exceed their maximum quota of emis-
sions must buy emission allowances from
other operators or plants subject to the laws on
this matter. The market thus provides econo-
mic incentive for the cleaner airlines and pena-
lises those that pollute more. Iberia, through an
internal ad hoc working group, has adapted its
internal procedures and is fully prepared for
compliance.

Iberia pinpoints and assesses the environmen-
tal aspects of its ground operations to rate the
extent to which they affect the environment. It
then defines its management strategy accor-
ding to that rating. The company's environ-
mental management systems have been certi-
fied externally and its internal management
systems and specific procedures cover all the
activities having any environmental impact.

Iberia's airport services have been awarded
the AENOR certificate for its Integrated
Quality and Environment System, under the
ISO 9001:2008 and ISO 14001:2004 standards,
respectively. The operations of stations
throughout the national airport network are
included within a single Integrated System.

Iberia has also a Management System certi-
fied under ISO 14001 for its MRO operations in
Madrid. This is one of the broadest certifica-
tions ever awarded by AENOR in terms of area
and variety of environmental aspects covered.

Iberia's industrial areas in Madrid obtained
Integrated Environmental Authorisation
(AAI), which means that both the industrial
installations and the procedures performed
there to eliminate all kinds of pollutants
(waste, effluent and air emissions) comply
with the guidelines and good practices esta-
blished in the EU "Integrated Pollution
Prevention and Control" (IPPC) Directive.

Iberia has taken out Environmental Liability
Insurance pursuant to Act 26/2007.

Environmental audits

Internal audits were conducted in 2010 in the
areas of Iberia with significant environmental
impacts. These audits were made in the areas
of Airport Services, MRO, Cargo and Medical
Service.



A total of 39 internal environmental audits
were made in Iberia during 2010, during which
91 actions for improvement were pinpointed.

Environmental awareness and training

Continuous training in the application of diffe-
rent internal environmental procedures is
common practice in the company.

Continuous training and awareness cam-
paigns are provided for the technical staff on
the best practices in flight operations, with the
aim of reducing noise and fuel consumption,
the latter being directly proportional to CO2
emissions.

In this regard, the company ran a course for
new Captains on the Company's policies, pro-
cedures and strategies on fuel-saving, redu-
cing noise, optimum fuel management and
decision-making.

Continuous training is also given to all the
Pilots: once a month they are informed on the
evolution of fuel consumption, the best prac-
tices recommended by Airbus and IATA and
how Iberia manages fuel purchasing.

Environment Officers have included good
environmental practices modules in the trai-
ning courses for ground operations and issue
instructions on the correct management of
urban and/or hazardous waste, depending on
the activities of each business.

With regard to the training given during the
year in respect of ground operations, 90 cour-
ses were given in the handling area, during
which the Environment Officers informed
5,041 employees on good environmental prac-
tices. In the area of MRO, 17 courses were run,
attended by a total of 266 employees. Finally,
the Cargo ran 252 courses for 1,670 employees
on the correct handling of hazardous goods, a
50% increase year on year in the number of
courses.

Environmental accounting

Environmental accounting compiles financial
information with a view to combining the
company's economic and environmental poli-
cies so as to achieve a more sustainable com-
pany. In Iberia, economic accounting assists
decision-making in matters concerning envi-
ronmental actions (See Annual Reports of the
Iberia Group and Iberia L.A.E.).
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Environmental indicators

The following graph summarises the main impacts produced by the company on the environ-
ment:

The measures taken by Iberia for the management of each of these impacts are described in
the following sections.
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Environmental impacts produced by Iberia:

Climate Change

Local air

Noise

Resources

Waste
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3.2 Climate Change

Flight operations

According to the Intergovernmental Panel on
Climate Change (IPCC), the aviation sector
contributes only 2% of the total CO2 emis-
sions generated by the consumption of fossil
fuels. Nevertheless, in view of air traffic
growth forecasts the sector ought to take
measures to minimise the increase in these
emissions.

Over the past 10 years, aviation has reduced
its specific emissions of CO2 by 10% through
the introduction of more efficient engines,
lighter aircraft and enhanced aerodynamics.
However, there is no technology available to
cut emissions drastically in the short term:
tests are commencing with biofuels, but as a
medium-term objective.

32%

25%

2%

15%

16% 16%

Electricity generations, heat

Land reclamation, deforestation

Air transport

Transport (excluding aviation)

Manufacturing construction, industry

Other

Worldwide CO2 emissions by sectors

Fuente: World Resources Institute



3. environmentcorporate responsibility

335

Iberia's main goal for dealing with climate change is to reduce its emissions, achieving sustai-
ned, efficient growth. The measures comprising this  strategy are described below:

IATA : Zero Growth in CO2 Emissions in 2020

In 2009, Iberia and the other airlines forming part of IATA approved the futu-
re Strategy for limiting greenhouse gas emissions by the sector.

This Strategy contemplates the following goals:

Zero growth in CO2 emissions by 2020, i.e. the sector will continue to grow, but its
carbon emissions will not.

Enhance fuel efficiency by 1.5% p.a. on average from 2009 to 2020 (CO2 emissions
are directly proportional to fuel consumption).

50% reduction of total emissions by the sector by 2050 compared to 2005.

These voluntary goals are commensurate with the guiding principles set out in the
Resolution approved at the 37th Assembly of ICAO (International Civil Aviation
Organization) held in October 2010..

These guiding principles contemplate, inter alia, the goal of developing, as from 2013, a
CO2 standard for aircraft engines, like the one existing for noise and local emissions
(including NOx).
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Fleet renewal:

The average age of the Iberia fleet at the end
of 2010 was 7.9 years. According to IATA, the
average fleet age of a traditional network
carrier is of the order of 10-12 years, which
means that the Iberia fleet is one of the 
most modern fleets in the world.

Operating measures:

Iberia continued adopting measures in 2010
to reduce the weight of aircraft, which directly
reduces fuel consumption and, consequently,
CO2 emissions.

The adjustments in cruise speed have also
been maintained, which helps to reduce CO2
emissions. According to company calcula-
tions, an Airbus A340/300 on the Madrid-New
York route flying at an average speed of
745km/h could save practically 2 tonnes of
CO2 on the flight (approx. 0.5% of the total
emissions) by lowering its speed to 735 km/h,
while the difference in time of arrival would

be no more than 5 minutes. Other measures
have also been adopted during 2010, such as
changes in acceleration altitudes, reduction of
standard thrust, thrust reverse or idling or
using fewer engines while taxiing on ground.

During 2010, 90% of the Iberia fleet was fitted
with a system for sending automatic messages
(ACARS, Aircraft Communications Addressing
and Reporting System) indicating the fuel con-
sumption and, therefore, the CO2 emissions in
each flight phase. This option is expected to be
available in the entire fleet by 2011.

Energy efficiency was also improved in 2010
and emissions were reduced through flight
scheduling, assignment of fleets for the diffe-
rent routes, fleet utilisation and optimisation of
the load factor. In particular, the load factor was
82.2% in 2010, higher than the average of
European network airlines, and fleet utilisation
reached a record level for the company this
year, with an average of 10.55 hours per aircraft
per day.

Iberia maintained its participation in the
RETACDA Project (Reduction of Emissions in
Terminal Areas using Continuous Descent
Approaches) during 2010 to reduce emissions
by means of a continuous descent for landing.
With these approaches between 300 and 480
kg of CO2 is saved per aircraft per operation.
The company is providing real data obtained in
its operations to enhance the efficiency of this
operation.

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Years

Average age
of the sector

Average age of Iberia fleet 2006-2010



3. environmentcorporate responsibility

337

Monitoring of results:

By applying the measures described above,
the company has managed to reduce its CO2
emissions per unit carried by a cumulative 9% 
over the past 5 years. 

Ground operations

The greenhouse gas emissions from Iberia's
ground operations account for 1.47% of the
total emissions of this nature generated by
the company.

Following the GHG Protocol methodology, the
main sources of these emissions are the fixed
industrial installations and the equipment
required to provide ground services to aircraft
and passengers (Scopes 1 & 2). These sources
of emissions account for 65.40% of the total
emissions from ground operations.

However, in order to draw up a full inventory
of this type of emissions, other indirect sour-
ces should also be considered, such as emplo-
yee travel to their workplaces (Scope 3); which
emissions account for 34.60% of the total
emissions from ground operations.

The following graph shows the distribution of
these emissions in 2010 according to Scopes 1,
2 and 3 mentioned above:
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By operating a highly efficient fleet and
considerably improving its load factor,
Iberia has managed to reduce its CO2 emis-
sions by 4% between 2009 and 2010
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As shown in the graph, emissions produced in
ground operations were reduced by around
45% from 2005 to 2010. In 2010, they were redu-
ced by 4.73% (4,335 tonnes) year on year.

This reduction has been achieved largely
through renewal of the fleet of ground vehicles
in the different areas of the company, replacing
them with electric and other more energy-effi-
cient vehicles. Another contribution has been
the use of new technologies that improve
energy efficiency in industrial MRO processes.
Finally, the use of energy produced through
cogeneration in the industrial zones is a decisi-
ve factor in the reduction of emissions, since
this energy is more efficient than others.

More detailed information on this inventory
can be found in the Annexes to this Report.

During 2011 the Company will start deve-
loping the necessary phases to install the 
measuring equipment on one of its A340-
300 aircraft, which it will carry for appro-
ximately 10 years. Iberia is the first
Spanish airline and the third European
airline to collaborate in a scientific project
on this scale.

Microalgae farm to obtain biofuel

During 2010 Iberia embarked on a project
in collaboration with ALGAENERGY and
AENA to feed a technological platform for
research and development of a suitable
biofuel produced from the cultivation of
microalgae, for which the plant will use
the CO2 and reclaimed waste water emit-
ted during the company's operations in
the industrial area La Muñoza.

Environmental projects to combat 
limate change:

IAGOS. Air quality research

Iberia commenced its participation in the
IAGOS air quality research project in 2010.
This project, included within the
European Strategy Forum on Research
Infrastructures, consists of fitting long-
distance aircraft with scientific instru-
ments to analyse the chemical atmosphe-
ric composition (H2O, O3, CO, CO2, NOx),
aerosols and cloud particles, assessing air
quality at certain altitudes throughout
the world.
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3.3 Local air quality

Local air quality in and around airports may be
affected by aircraft emissions generated
during take-off and landing, consisting
mainly of: nitrogen oxides (NOx), carbon
monoxide (CO) and unburned hydrocarbons
(UHC). According to figures published by IATA,
technological progress has reduced aircraft
UHC emissions by around 90%. In an endea-
vour to meet the ACARE 2020 (Advisory
Council for Aeronautics Research in Europe)
objectives, research is currently in progress to
achieve an 80% reduction of NOx in respect of
2000.

These pollutants are not only generated by
aircraft, but also by other activities related
with airports, such as ground support equip-
ment, auxiliary power units (APUs) or ground
transport in and around the airport, including 
its accesses.

The ICAO (International Civil Aviation
Organisation) CO, NOx and UHC standards
control emissions during aircraft operations in
airport zones (taxiing, approach, landing and
take-off).

Just as for the reduction of CO2, the measures
taken by Iberia to reduce these emissions focus
on fleet renewal, incorporating less polluting
engines, and the development of operating mea-
sures such as application of the continuous des-
cent approach (CDA). NOx emissions can be cut
by up to 40% by this measure.

At Madrid-Barajas Airport, where the bulk of
the company's operations are concentrated,
the airport authority AENA has an air quality
monitoring network (REDAIR) which conti-
nuously and automatically examines the
levels of pollutants from emissions generated
at low altitudes. The readings obtained are
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By renewing its fleet, Iberia has increased
the number of aircraft included in the
most restrictive NOx standard (CAEP6) by
5% between 2009 and 2010 (this standard
does not apply to the Iberia fleet and is
used purely as a benchmark for good prac-
tice)
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published daily to make sure that the equip-
ment operating at the airport, including air-
craft, does not generate pollution levels in
excess of the standards set in the applicable
regulations.

3.4 Noise in the vicinity of the airport

Noise from aviation produces local impacts in
areas around airports and is generated in
flight operations at altitudes below 3,000 ft
(approx. 900 metres).

With the technological progress incorporated
in modern engines and the improved aircraft
aerodynamics, aircraft noise levels have been
halved over the past ten years. Technological
research anticipates achieving a further 50%
cut by 2020.

The ICAO Noise Standards control noise pollu-
tion during flight operations (approach, lan-
ding, take-off and climbing):

The company complies with the operating
procedures laid down by the Spanish civil
aviation authorities, making a limited use of
auxiliary engines in airports, reducing the use
of brakes by using the thrust reverse techni-
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Evolution of NOx emissions in the Iberia fleet
(base year 2006)

This graph shows the cumulative reduction
of total NOx emissions by the Iberia fleet
over the period 2006-2010. Taking 2006 as
the base year, the graph shows the cumu-
lative reduction in each period. The cumu-
lative reduction over the past 5 years is
25%. The impressive reduction in 2008 was
achieved through replacement of the MD
(McDonnell Douglas) fleet.
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Chapter 3 by the Iberia fleet at 31.12.2010

(Chapter 4 is not applicable to the Iberia fleet,
it is included as a good practice benchmark)

This graph shows the situation of the
Iberia fleet in 2010 in relation to the noise
standard applicable to it (Chapter 3) and
the more restrictive standard (Chapter 4),
which, although not applicable, reflects
the advanced technology used in the com-
pany's fleet.
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que and following the routes established by
air control for arrival and departure at air-
ports.

Evolution of noise at Madrid-Barajas Airport:

The airport authority AENA has been gra-
dually restricting aircraft operations at
Madrid-Barajas airport since 2000 to reduce
noise pollution. In order to establish these res-
trictions, aircraft have been classified into
"noise levels" (NL), according to their indivi-
dual noise on take-off. There is a NL classifica-
tion for the different decibels, covering a range
from 0 to 16 (the closer to 0, the lower the
noise level). The low noise level of the Iberia
fleet is evidenced by the fact that the com-
pany does not operate any aircraft above NL 2.
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Noise of the Iberia fleet (NL) and its share
in the total take-offs at Madrid-Barajas

Airport in 2009 and 2010

The graph shows the distribution of take-offs
by the Iberia fleet at Madrid-Barajas Airport
in 2009 and 2010 according to the noise level
classification (NL 0.5 is the most silent). The
noise levels recorded in 2009 were practically
maintained in 2010, with almost 70% of ope-
rations made with the most silent aircraft.
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During 2010, Iberia made continuous descent
approaches as mentioned earlier, which redu-
ce the noise in each landing operation by 4-6
decibels in the built-up areas situated more
than 18 km from the runways. The company
has also collaborated with AENA in the
Technical Route Analysis Group: this group
aims to define and implement more adequa-
te departure and arrival routes at Madrid-
Barajas Airport and thus reduce noise in the
built-up areas near that airport.

In addition, at Madrid-Barajas Airport, where
the company concentrates the vast majority
of its operations, the airport authority AENA
has a noise monitoring network (SIRMA)
which detects, measures and associates the
noise produced by aircraft when they fly over
microphones installed in strategic areas
around the airport. The readings obtained are
published daily to make sure that the aircraft
operating at the airport do not exceed the
noise levels stipulated in the Environmental
Declaration of this airport.

3.5 Consumption of resources

Electricity consumption

Electricity consumption was very similar in 2010
to the previous year, which is positive conside-
ring that the company has increased its produc-
tion. This is the result of applying a number of
measures and enhancements in the
Environmental Management Systems, the

implementation of new, innovating projects and
the awareness campaigns run for employees.

Investments continued throughout 2010 to
improve the energy efficiency of the compan-
y's installations, which have helped to impro-
ve our overall energy efficiency.
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Paper consumption

Paper consumption was reduced once again
in 2010 as a result of the continuous improve-
ment achieved through the Environmental
Management Systems, by setting reduction
targets and through the innovating waste
reduction projects.

The company policy is to convert paper-con-
suming administrative processes into electro-
nic equivalents. In 2010 this policy was applied
in the following areas:

1)  Iberia has extended the
number of destinations
for which there is access
to the mobile Boarding
Card service, which ena-
bles its customers to
download their boarding
cards from Iberia.com to a
mobile or PDA and board

the aircraft directly, without printed cards,
which makes the process faster and more
dynamic while reducing the use of paper.

2)  The implementation and use of electronic
cargo tickets means that the ¡documents
required for the transport of cargo are pro-
duced electronically, thereby reducing
paper consumption by 11% in this area
during 2010.

3)  Through the introduction of the new
system for flight information capture and
recording and the disappearance of the
physical flight envelope, the paper docu-
ments MCO, EXE and PTM (passenger
transfer manifest) used for passenger han-
dling at airports have been eliminated.

4)  Through optimisation of the e-invoicing
process between airlines by developing
new functions not available in the pre-
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vious invoicing system, paper invoices (10%
of tickets) are eliminated and the storage
of documents has been simplified.

5)  On an internal level, personal printers are
gradually being eliminated, replaced with
multifunction equipment with default set-
ting for two-sided (duplex) printing.

This year, too, white paper has been elimina-
ted for all use in offices. All paper supplied is
recycled paper, which reduces costs by 6% as a
result of purchase agreements and is more
respectful of the environment.

Wood

Water

Energy

7,600 Kw/h 5,000 Kw/h 2,500 Kw/h

200,000 litres 100,000 litres 2,000 litres

5.3 has./ 2,400 kg 3.8 has./ 1,700 kg Old paper

High
Quality

Normal
Quality

Recycled

Energy and resources consumed in the manufacture of 1 tonne paper
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3.6 Waste

A system of urban waste collection has been
gradually introduced in the different buildings
of the company over 2010. This system allows
the separation of organic waste and plastic
containers through the provision of distinguis-
hed containers in all Iberia buildings.

The progressive installation of shared multi-
function equipment (printer + photocopier +
fax + scanner) in the offices also reduces the
waste generated in ink and toner cartridges,
while also reducing electricity and paper con-
sumption, as mentioned earlier.

During 2010 our main catering firm, Gate
Gourmet, received an Environment award in
the category Environmental Management in
Large Enterprises. These prizes are awarded by
the Department of Environment and Planning
of the Community of Madrid, the Madrid
Chamber of Trade and Industry and CEIM
Business Confederation of Madrid-CEOE, bac-

ked by the Foundation for Environmental
Research and Development-FIDA.

See the Annexes to this Report for informa-
tion on the evolution and management of
other environmental aspects in ground opera-
tions, such as water consumption, waste
generation, sewage, etc. (see de annexes)

3.7 Nature protection

The company collaborates closely in the pro-
tection of endangered species. Iberia has been
a member of the Convention on International
Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna
and Flora, CITES, since 1986 and, therefore,
does not permit the carriage of any of these
species on its flights. It also participates acti-
vely in returning unlawfully removed animals
to their natural habitats.

As examples of this commitment, during 2010
Iberia provided transport for:

1) Five dogs working within a project cofinan-
ced by the European Commission, the LIFE
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Antidote Project, travelled with Iberia from
Spain to Italy. The final destination of these
dogs was the Gran Sasso Park situated in
the Italian region of Los Abruzos. The five
dogs were trained by staff from the
Environmental Department of the Regional
Government of Andalusia (Junta de
Andalucía) to search for poisons and are
able to find any toxic substance present in
the environment. The LIFE Antidote Project
fights against the illegal use of poisoned
bait for hunting.

2)  20 baby fish eagles, or Pandion Haliaetus,
an endangered species, in collaboration
with Fundación Migres, an entity promoted
by the Junta de Andalucía for nature study
and preservation. These birds, which have
been extinct as reproducing species in
Continental Spain since the sixties and are
currently in a critical situation in the rest of
the Mediterranean region, were brought to
Spain from Germany to commence repo-
pulation on the Spanish mainland. Their
final destination was the Doñana
Biological Station, where the most impor-
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tant phase of the species recovery project
has begun.

3)  A female hippopotamus, moved to her
natural habitat.The operation took place at
the Cargo Terminal of Madrid-Barajas air-
port, where the animal was loaded on a
Hércules aircraft to fly to the small town of
Boufarik, 35 km from Algiers. The loading
and unloading was done by Iberia ramp
and cargo staff. The hippopotamus was
accompanied by an attendant and a vet at
all times. Thanks to the rapid loading of the
aircraft and expeditious handling of the
documentation, the aircraft took off one
hour earlier than scheduled.

Iberia has also continued with its campaign
defending Spanish endangered species, which
it commenced in January 2007, aiming to
publicise at all Iberia destinations the richness
of Spanish biodiversity and its species, some
of them unique in the world, and further awa-
reness of the need to protect and conserve
them. A new Airbus A319 has recently been
added to the fleet, christened with the name
European Mink. The name and a drawing of

the Mink appear on the fuselage of this air-
craft, where it will remain until it ceases to be
an endangered species.

Iberia also received a new long haul Airbus
A340-600 in 2010, which it christened the
River Amazon, paying tribute to the largest
river, with the largest basin on our planet.

Future actions:

Several environmental projects are plan-
ned with the collaboration of the com-
pany's stakeholders, including the follo-
wing initiatives, among others, planned
for 2011:

Emissions offset

Biofuels

Paperless

Biodiversity in the industrial zone of
La Muñoza

Extension of the ISO 14001 certifica-
tion to the Barcelona Hangar
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4. Customers

Stakeholders Communication Expectations Actions 2010/11 Key indicator
channel detected

CUSTOMERS:
Passengers

CUSTOMERS:
Airlines

CUSTOMERS:
Cargo agents

Overall
customer
satisfaction
rating:
6.97 out of 10

Permanent:
www.iberia.com
www.iberiacorporate.com (new)
www.iberia.com/atencionalcliente
www.iberia.com/iberiaplus/
Serviberia: 24H service
Direct sales offices

Customer services department
Iberia Plus frequent flyer
programme and individual
monitoring using CRM tools
Perceived quality opinion polls
Reports by chief flight attendants

Publications:
Ronda Iberia Magazine
IB Plus Magazine (new: online)
“Excelente” Magazine 

Aircraft Maintenance Business:
www.iberiamaintenance.com
maintenance@iberia.es
Customer satisfaction surveys,
according to ISO 9001:2008 

Airport services business
(handling):
http://handling.iberia.es
airportservices@iberia.es
Customer satisfaction surveys,
according to ISO 9001:2008

www.iberia-cargo.com
cgoccenter@iberia.es
Customer satisfaction surveys,
according to ISO 9001:2008

�Punctuality 
�Service quality
�Transparent

prices

�Punctuality
�Reliability
�Quality
�Safety
�Sustainability

�Safety
�Punctuality
�Sustainability

• AENOR Certified Service N
Mark for Service Quality and
Customer Satisfaction
Management

• Compliance with EU
regulations of Internet ticket
sales

• Actions seeking customer
implication in welfare
projects (see Society chapter)

• Maintenance hangar in
Barcelona

• GAUDI handling
management optimisation
project

• Certification under IATA
Operational Safety Audit –
IOSA

• IB CARGO COOL-&-FAST
Project

• IOSA Certification
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4.1. Management focus

Iberia has a firm commitment to its customers to guarantee quality service at every stage of
their journey. The Iberia strategy contemplates enhancement of customer service quality as
one of its prime objectives.

Iberia has several mechanisms for controlling and monitoring the quality of its processes and
services, as summarised in the following figure and described below:

Service perceived
by our customers

Objective measuring
of compliance
by processes

CUSTOMER-GEARED
QUALITY MEASURING

SYSTEM

Expectations
of our customers

Processes defined
by the company

Obtained Quality Level OQLPerceived Quality Level PQL
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Both systems for measuring quality, PQL and OQL, are part of a general quality model in the
company, structured as shown in the following figure:

Purchases
ISO 9001

Infrastructure
ISO 9001

Sistems
ISO 9001

ISO 27001

SUPPORT PROCESSES

KEY PROCESSES

AIR TRANSPORT

Comercial management

AIRPORT SERVICES

AIRCRAFT MAINTENACE

Operations: ISO 9001
In-flight service: ISO 9001
Cargo: ISO 9001

Customer service /
Claims: ISO 9001

Airports: ISO 9001
ISO 14001

Maintenance: ISO 9001
ISO 14001
ISO 17025

Provision of service

Customer service management

DESIGN OF
THE SERVICE

CUSTOMER
REQUESTS

CUSTOMER
SATISFACTION

(PQL)

SERVICE
QUALITY

(OQL)
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All the key areas of the company have now been certified under the requirements established
in UNE-EN ISO 9001:2008, which include specific quality indicators relating to the processes of
the different activities, subject to regular internal and external control.

Iberia has extensive, proven experience in the safety of all its operations, both ground and in-
flight. The company has assurance systems that regulate the operation and maintenance of
aircraft in accordance with the EASA and FAA international standards.

Iberia has certified its Operating Quality and Safety Management System under the IATA
Operational Safety Audit (IOSA) standards. As such, it is subject to regular audits, which reveal
the strength of the company’s controls.

Iberia has a broad insurance programme,
taking out policies with leading Spanish insu-
rance companies and top-ranking reinsurance
on international markets to ensure that insu-
rance cover is in keeping with the best practi-

ces on the aviation market, going beyond
mere compliance with the requirements sti-
pulated in the Spanish Aviation Act and inter-
national agreements and conventions.

In 2010, Iberia passed the IOSA safety audit once again, complying with absolutely all the
standards analysed. The audit, made by Aviation Quality Services GmbH (one of the IATA
accredited auditors), shows that Iberia’s operating safety and quality processes and proce-
dures are adequate and conforming. With this result, the company met the goal set when
preparing the audit: obtain certification with “no findings”. This proves Iberia’s firm com-
mitment to safety as a priority responsibility, which is fundamental for the company.
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4.2 Passenger commitments 

Commitment to passenger rights:

The company continues committed to com-
pliance with the European Aviation Customer
Commitment, a code of conduct signed on 2
July 2002 together with the other airlines in
the European Airline Association (AEA), in
which obligations are established such as res-
pecting the agreed price, providing such infor-
mation as may be required on the company,
notifying passengers of any incidents and
providing assistance, expediting the payment
of refunds and attending reduced-mobility
passengers and minors, among others.

Iberia deals with passenger claims in accor-
dance with the prevailing European regula-
tions on compensation and assistance to pas-
sengers in the event of denied boarding and
of cancellation or long delay of flights
(Regulation (EC) No 261/2004 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 11 February
2004). 

With regard to data protection, Iberia com-
plies with the Personal Data Protection Act of
19 April 2008. It has published internal regula-
tions on the subject and started up an
Information Security Committee to guarantee
the confidentiality and integrity of that infor-
mation and preventing any use of such data
for unauthorised purposes.

In 2010 Iberia broadened the scope of its ISO
27001 certification of the Information
Security Management System to include the
Data Processing Centres, while also maintai-
ning those of the previous year, covering the
processes related with Iberia.com and the
Employee Portal (IBPersonas).

Commitment to price transparency:

Iberia publishes the final prices, including all
the different elements comprising each price,
such as surcharges for fuel, issue charges or
airport taxes, such that the announced price
is the final price of purchasing the ticket.

In the study made by the Department of
Consumption of the European Commission
on compliance with EU legislation on airline
ticket sales on Internet, Iberia is one of the
European airlines that fully respect those laws
and undertake to maintain that compliance in
the future, for its price information transpa-
rency and consumer protection in the services
offered on Iberia.com.

Commitment to Health:

In its in-flight magazine, Ronda Iberia, the
company includes some practical advice on
how to make the flight more comfortable and
healthy. Exercises are described to prevent
deep vein thrombosis, especially recommen-
ded for passengers with circulation problems
on long haul flights. The Company also
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informs on this syndrome in a video played on
all flights of over three hours. This advice can
be consulted at:
www.iberia.com/viajarconiberia/

All food products served in flight in the diffe-
rent catering services are subject to strict
health and safety controls, in pursuance of
prevailing laws and regulations. The company
also offers different menus to suit the needs
of all customers (gluten-free, vegetarian, etc.).
In collaboration with Wolters Kluwer, Iberia
runs courses to overcome fear of flying, with
extremely high success rates. In these semi-
nars, Iberia pilots inform participants about
air safety and how aircraft work, while a group
of psychologists teach them relaxation tech-
niques.

Commitment to passengers with special
needs:

Reduced Mobility Persons (RMP) receive spe-
cial assistance free of charge from their arrival

at the airport of departure to departure from
the destination airport. All passengers with a
disability or illness are accompanied to the
aircraft and their wheelchair, or guide dog in
the case of the blind, travels on board at no
additional cost.
Iberia also provides RMP passengers at all air-
ports in the network with documents contai-
ning essential information on their rights and
obligations, in formats accessible to all kinds
of disability. The contents of www.iberia.com
are regularly updated following the WAI (Web
Accessibility Initiative) guidelines.

The Iberia Medical Service is responsible for
analysing and authorising the transport of
sick passengers, known as MEDA cases.
Customers send their consultations on a form
called INCAD, indicating the details of the per-
son who is going to fly and sending the
corresponding medical reports to be studied
by the company. The crew regularly receives
the necessary refresh courses in Aircraft
Medical Attention.
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Similarly, any minors travelling without an
adult (UM, unaccompanied minors) are
accompanied at all times and treated with
special care. Iberia offers this service to any
passengers aged between 5 and 17, inclusive,
provided it has been expressly requested by
their parents or guardians.

Iberia takes all necessary measures to ensure
that these UM are never left alone, from their
handover by relatives or guardians to hando-
ver to the persons taking charge of them on
arrival.

Commitment to punctuality:

Iberia establishes numerous internal controls
to improve punctuality: specific rules, watch-
dog committees, cause analysis and decision-
making, checking of operating processes, etc.

According to company figures, the punctuality
index at level 15’ was 72.9% in 2010, a lower
percentage than in previous years, due to the
numerous operating problems that occurred
during the year beyond the company’s con-
trol, with the airspace closed several times
and the air traffic controllers’ industrial
action.

Commitment to customer satisfaction:

1)  Perceived Quality Level
Customer satisfaction is sounded out in
Perceived Quality Surveys (PQL, Perceived
Quality Level), which measure their

assessment of the quality of service
received, on ground and in flight.

The surveys, done online, also include a
free text section for customers to make
whatever suggestions they may consider
necessary.

The results of both numerical assessments
and suggestions are processed, coded and
analysed to make decisions on which
aspects of the service need to improve.

The overall satisfaction level in 2010 was
6.97 out of 10, compared with 6.91
obtained in 2009.

Variation 2009

0.13

0.01

0.07

0.01

0.02

0.01

0.18

0.08

Short Haul

Medium Haul

Long Haul

Global

6.59
7.30

6.50
7.26

6.34
7.91

6.48
7.52

Tourist

Business

Customer satisfaction by markets and class

Global PQL 2010
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By asking its customers questions, Iberia also
calculates the Net Recommendation Index
(NRI) and the Net Loyalty Index (NLI). These
indexes focus on the future behaviour of cus-
tomers, measuring their inclination to recom-
mend Iberia’s services and use them again.
Being net indexes, their calculation takes into
account both customers declaring themselves
“promotors” of the company and “critics”, the-
reby obtaining a more precise idea of the
effect on the company’s reputation.

The overall average of both indexes in 2010
was 6.82 for the NRI and 7.05 for the NLI.

2)  Obtained Quality Level
Compliance with the service quality
standards set by the company is
supervised by measuring the obtained
quality level (OQL).

Through the methodology established,
agents have on-line access to information
on service quality obtained in over 8,500
assessments a year, analysing 300 aspects
related with the service provided or
customer service.

As a sample of the information provided,
the following graph shows the results of
the measurements by services in respect of
the goal set.

The overall OQL in 2010 was 8.5, on a par
with the previous year.

For each one, the aspects related with the
operating process, attention/attitude,
image, physical environment, service times
and the range and state of products and
services are measured.

2009

NRINLI

2010

6.47

6.82 6.77
7.05

OQL 2010

Goal

Check-in 7.73
VIP Lounge 8.29

Boarding 7.24

Baggage Delivery 8.31

In-flight Service 8.60

Technical Crew: Messages 8.37

Cabin Maintenance 8.87

Cleaning & Staff 7.96
Catering 8.80

Sales Office 8.61

CS / Claims 6.12

Iberia Plus 9.04

Iberia.com 9.73

Serviberia 8.75

Connections Mad 9.90

Punctuality 7.30

OQL: 2010 results by services
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In 2010 Iberia renewed its AENOR Certified
Service N Mark for Service Quality and
Customer Satisfaction Management: in the
measuring and monitoring of service qua-
lity and customer satisfaction, communi-
cation and dissemination, claims han-
dling, analysis of customer expectations
and Quality Plan.

3) Claims handling
The company considers customer claims a
valuable source of information for correc-
ting faults and bringing our services in line
with their expectations and an opportunity
to meet their needs.

Iberia’s Customer Relations Department,
whose claims handling service has been
certified under UNE-EN ISO 9001:2008, to
centralises relations with customers
throughout the network, manages the
after-sales service and passes customer
feedback on to the entire organisation.

Commitment to innovation:
Iberia has always been among the first to pass
on to its customers any improvements offered
by the new technologies for their convenience
and to save time: electronic tickets; online
check-in on Iberia.com; auto check-in machi-
nes at airports; one of the most modern fleets
on the market and a Business Plus Class and
VIP Lounges with the highest level of services.

For example, in 2010, the company introduced
new services on Iberia.com, such as a Virtual
Assistant, which allows customers to make
consultations related with their flights and
provides a more interactive communication
than the traditional FAQ section. It also offers
the same information as by telephone, but
much faster and entirely free of charge.

Also in 2010, Iberia.com extended its boarding
card download service – the Online Auto
Check-in - to code-sharing or connecting
flights operated by another 29 companies
with which Iberia has such agreements.
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4.3 Iberia Cargo customers 

Iberia Cargo offers its customers capacity in
the bellies of Iberia aircraft.With cutting-edge
technology and using iberia-cargo.com as its
e-commerce platform, it offers a modern,
dynamic, efficient, secure service, guarante-
eing the carriage of its customers’ goods. It
currently provides this service for around 100
companies.

During 2010 Iberia Cargo started up the IB-
CARGO-COOL-&-FAST project, consisting of
the carriage of perishable goods in optimum
conditions, with the cold chain controlled

throughout the process and in record time.
Madrid–Barajas is the Hub from which goods
arriving by air from Latin America are distribu-
ted. Through the use of a building specially
equipped for refrigerated cargo close to
Barajas T4 and the expeditious operations of
refrigerated lorries, the goods are transported
from Madrid to the large cargo receivers in
Central Europe in a matter of hours.

4.4 Iberia Maintenance customers 

Iberia Maintenance is the leading company in
Spain in repair, high technology and modifica-

www.iberia-cargo.com

www.iberiamaintenance.com
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tion of aircraft, and ninth in MRO worldwide. It
serves the Iberia fleet and also more than 100
customers throughout the world: airlines on
every continent, aircraft and engine manufac-
turers, logistic support and operational solu-
tions for the Spanish Air Force, full maintenan-
ce services for other Spanish VIP aircraft and
other types of military aircraft, among others.

It is certified by national and international
agencies, including the Spanish Civil Aviation
Authority, European Aviation Safety Agency
(EASA) and the US Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA).

Most of the improvements and developments
made in the maintenance area are pioneer
innovations on a national scale, and in some
cases even on an international scale, designed
for the service provided for both own and third
party aircraft.

The Iberia Maintenance Hangar was opened in
Barcelona in 2010. This hangar, one of the lar-
gest infrastructures built in Catalonia in recent
years, is owned jointly by Iberia Maintenance
(75%) and Consorci de la Zona Franca de
Barcelona (25%). It will create 200 direct jobs in
the coming years, all highly qualified. This new
maintenance centre operates 24-hours a day
and reduces the response time for customer
airlines in the event of a serious fault that can-
not be solved on the runway. The main benefi-
ciaries will therefore be passengers, for whom
the risk of cancelled or delayed flights will be
reduced.

Among the new services, the blade repair
shop, the only one in the world was opened
during the year, using laser welding techno-
logy to repair that part of the engine turbines.
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4.5 Iberia Airport Services customers

Iberia Airport Services is the leading passenger
and aircraft handling operator in Spain, pre-
sent at almost all Spanish airports, providing
services for more than 220 airlines, 74.2
million passengers and 367,448 aircraft.

Among enhancement projects focusing on
customer satisfaction, the GAUDI - Gestión de
Aeropuertos Unificada Desarrollo Integral
–[lit.: Integral Development Unified Airport
Management] platform, described in earlier
reports, has become a technological bench-
mark and an example of optimisation and
simplification of operating management,
which the German firm INFORM, Iberia’s tech-
nological partner for its development, uses in
its presentations and road-shows worldwide.

Future actions:

Increase punctuality to at least 82% for the entire network.

Increase overall customer satisfaction and confidence by implementing measures to
enhance the service provided.

Develop actions involving customers in the sustainability commitment adopted by the
company.

http://handling.iberia.es
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Stakeholders Communication Expectations Actions 2010/11 Key
channel detected indicator

SHAREHOLDERS

INSTITUTIONS
& PUBLIC
ADMINISTRA-
TIONS

Increase in
the value of
the Iberia
share in
2010:
+ 68.2%

Permanent:
Department of the company dedicated
exclusively to shareholder and investor
relations:
investor.relations@iairgroup.com for
institutional investors; and
shareholder.services@iairgroup.com
for minority shareholders.
Specific section on the Iberia web site for
investors and shareholders:
http://grupo.iberia.es
Prompt, public reporting of all significant
events, also through the Spanish National
Securities Market Commission (CNMV)
Stock exchange evolution and analyst
recommendations
Information on structure of the capital
Presentations of results and strategic
plans of the company
Corporate Governance information

Regular:
Shareholders’ Newssheet
Annual Reports and General Shareholders’
Meeting
Monthly traffic statistics & quarterly
earnings reports 
Investors and Analysts Day
Webcasts: live broadcasting on Internet

Permanent:
Direct relations with any of the
management areas, case-specific.
Sponsorship Agreements with Institutions

Regular:
Meetings with the Spanish Ministerio de
Fomento [Ministry of Development], Civil
Aviation Authorities, AENA

� Profitability
� Good
� Governance
� Transparency

� Collaboration
� CSR

Promotion

• Merger with British Airways
and creation of International
Airlines Group

• Extraordinary General
Shareholders’ Meeting to
approve the merger

• AA-BA-IB Joint venture
agreement (in progress)

• With Ministry of
Development: Special
measures for closing of
Spanish airspace (volcano
and ATCs)

• With Ministry of Economy
and Finance: Participation in
the Large Cap Tax Forum (in
progress)

• With CNMV: Task force on
Internal control of financial
reporting in listed companies

5. Shareholders and Institutions
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5.1 Management Focus

Iberia is committed to the sustainable deve-
lopment of its business and to introducing and
maintaining different management systems
to generate confidence and add value for its
shareholders in aspects related with corporate
responsibility. These systems are described
below.

For detailed information on the economic
aspects of the company or the Group, consult
the Annual Management and Corporate
Governance Reports issued together with this
Responsibility Report, which can also be down-
loaded from http://grupo.iberia.es

5.2 Performance of the Iberia
businesses in 2010

Passenger and cargo air transport:

1)  Joint Business Agreement with American
Airlines and British Airways:
This agreement represents a major
breakthrough in the consolidation of the
sector, a process in which Iberia is playing
an important role, following the merger of
Vueling and Clickair and Iberia’s merger
with British Airways.

In total, the combined network of the three
airlines between Europe and North America
has over 400 destinations in 105 countries,
with almost 5,200 flights a day.

Iberia will put its code on 72 American
Airlines flights and 86 British Airways
flights and will be able to offer its
customers 41 new frequencies and two new
destinations: Calgary (Canada) and Newark.
Together with the destinations included on
1 October when the commercial agreement
was signed among the three airlines, Iberia
will add some 80 routes to its offer thanks
to the Joint Venture Agreement.

Moreover, as a result of this agreement, the
three airlines have announced the opening
of five new routes as from end-March:
Barcelona-Miami and Madrid-Los Angeles
(Iberia), New York JFK-Budapest and
Chicago-Helsinki (American Airlines), and
London Heathrow-San Diego (British
Airways).

2) Opening of new routes and frequencies in
2010:

New destinations Increased
frequency

Córdoba (Argentina) Buenos Aires
San Salvador Lima
Ammán México DF
Damascus Boston
Orán Washington
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Plus:
Direct, non-stop flights to Panama

Summer flights: San Petersburg,
Dubrovnik and Zagreb

Five new destinations in Russia under a
code-sharing arrangement with S7
(Rostov, Kazan, Samara, Krasnodar and
Perm)

Destinations contemplated in 2011: USA
(Los Angeles), BRAZIL (Fortaleza and
Recife) and direct flights from Barcelona
to Miami and Sao Paulo

In the cargo business, in 2010 Iberia continued
leading the IATA e-FREIGHT project, the main
aim of which is to eliminate most of the paper
documents used in the handling of air cargo,
including the freight contract or Air WayBill
(AWB). This project, which eliminates the need
to send the 13 paper documents of each order,
thus making the processes more dynamic,
expeditious and reliable while lowering costs,
and affects all those involved in industry: hau-
lers, forwarding agents, ground service agents,
shippers and customs authorities.

Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul (MRO):
As a result of the strategy of specialising in
activities that create value added, adopted by
the Iberia Maintenance business in recent
years to attract new customers, it has achieved
significant growth, reflected in 2010 in several
commercial agreements and contracts, inclu-
ding:

Contracts Cathay Pacific for maintenance
of its Airbus A-340/300 engi-
nes
Vietnam Airlines for the repair
of aircraft components
Exclusive, the parts of A330 air-
craft of Onur Air

Airport Services:
The Iberia handling business continues taking
measures to increase its competitiveness,
secure customer loyalty and attract new
opportunities for development. During 2010,
Iberia Airport Services obtained several new
ramp and passenger handling contracts.
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5.3 Risk Management

Iberia takes account of any potential event
that could jeopardise the achievement of its
objectives. The company has developed a com-
plete Risk Management System, through
which all risks are identified, assessed and con-
trolled systematically. Further information can
be found in Section D of the Annual Corporate
Governance Report.

In accordance with its Corporate Responsibility
Policy (see Chapter 1 of this Report), Iberia
adopts a focus of anticipation to guarantee
the sustainability of its actions, through inte-
gral management of the following risks, which
form part of the company’s Risk Map:

1)  Reputational: risks deriving from the
perception that the different stakeholders
might have of the company’s actions in the
performance of its business activities.

2) Environmental: risks deriving from current
environmental laws and any new
regulations that may affect the company,
such as the emissions trading regulations.

2)  Social: risks relating to aspects such as
competitiveness of the different
professional groups within the company,
attracting and retaining talent, the
occupational health of its employees and
acceptance of the local communities..

Iberia also has several specific areas dealing
with the management of sustainability risks,
which have established different controls des-
cribed elsewhere in this Report.

The governing bodies of Iberia are regularly
informed on the Risk Map and the actions
taken in respect of Corporate Responsibility.

CRISIS MANAGEMENT:

Certain extraordinary situations occurred in 2010 that affected air transport and put the
company’s business continuity and emergency plans to the test, demonstrating its exem-
plary response capacity:

1) European airspace closed due to the cloud of volcanic ash:

As a consequence of the effects caused by the eruption of the Icelandic volcano
Eyjafjallajoekull, which occurred in April and May 2010 with a varying impact over time
on the different airspaces.
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The shutdown of air traffic all over Europe was due to the ash and high temperature in the
plume and affected a large number of countries and European and international airlines.
In these circumstances, Iberia put into place the protocols for crisis situations. Just between
15 and 20 April, Iberia cancelled over 600 flights:

It put 9,000 customers up in hotels
It changed the bookings of 40,000 passengers
It transported 5,000 customers by road
It chartered 115 coaches
It flew 20 special flights to Vienna, Rome, Milan, Venice, London & Barcelona.

Some Spanish airports were also closed from 7-12 May, depending on the position of the ash
plume.

Iberia was congratulated and received numerous messages of gratitude from customers,
institutions and authorities for its excellent management throughout the duration of the
volcano crisis.

The different situations were solved professionally, responsibly and humanely as they arose,
acting in each case according to necessity and coordinated. Alternatives were sought, in
many cases very imaginative, so that customers did not feel abandoned. The Iberia Board of
Directors and Chairman thanked the company’s employees for their splendid work.

Coincidentally, just one month earlier, on 2 March, Iberia had participated in a simulation of
flying with volcanic eruptions.The exercise – known as VOLCEX,Volcanic Exercise - was done
using virtual eruptions of a volcano on the Island of Faial, in the Azores. These simulations
are useful for coordinating contingency plans for these phenomena with airlines and air
traffic regulators.

2) Closing of Spanish airspace due to the air traffic controllers’ industrial action:

Iberia collaborated at all times with AENA and the Ministry of Development to solve as
quickly as possible the crisis situation when the Spanish airspace was closed following
the walk-out by air traffic controllers on 4, 5 and 6 December.
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5.4 Fraud prevention and
anti-corruption measures

Iberia’s different internal control systems -
budget control, management control and
auditing - take risks of fraud into account and
are set up to detect such risks, both internally
and externally.

Iberia has been developing procedures to pre-
vent fraud in carriage documents since 1991
and pays special attention nowadays to credit
card transactions.

The company has a Security Committee and a
Fraud Prevention Committee, which coordina-
te prevention measures and study any cases
that may arise, of fraud or other possible une-
thical or criminal conduct.

The annual internal audit programme contem-
plates analyses of all business units and makes
random checks of the company’s territorial
organisation, taking these risks into considera-
tion during the audits.

Iberia also participates in the Large Cap Tax
Forum, created in 2009 for the principal
Spanish companies and the Spanish Ministry
of Economy and Finance to meet and collabo-
rate, with a view to agreeing on a code of good
practice for tax treatment of complex opera-
tions in order to avoid tax conflicts.

Commencing in 2009 and throughout 2010,
Iberia also participated actively in the Task
force on Internal control of financial reporting
in listed companies headed by the CNMV.

The structure and functioning of Iberia’s cor-
porate bodies are based on the latest rules and
recommendations approved in respect of
Corporate Governance. Iberia establishes seve-
ral mechanisms to guarantee ethical conduct
and good governance of the company.

Detailed information can be consulted in the
Annual Corporate Governance Report publis-
hed together with this Report.

5.5 Innovation management

Iberia uses project management to achieve
the objectives marked out in its current
Strategic Plan and, in the long term, to achieve
change, which is essential for the economic
development of the company, satisfaction of
its customers and professional development
of its employees.

Therefore, any project geared at improving
processes, resource-saving and the quality of
services and products developed is for Iberia
an innovative project.

The complex nature of air transport makes it
essential to consider innovation projects from
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a multi-disciplinary point of view, involving different areas of the company in each project and,
consequently, strengthening cooperation between working teams and gearing towards the end
customer.

With regard to corporate responsibility, innovation in Iberia contributes towards:

Generating satisfaction and value added for our stakeholders.
Sustainable development through efficient use of resources: many projects aim to reduce
consumptions.
Obtaining competitive edge in the performance of our businesses.

5.6 Brand management

The company’s investments in communication, marketing and sponsorship are in keeping with
the strategy marked out by the company and their profitability is analysed regularly, according
to pre-established control procedures.

Every year, Iberia implements dozens of
projects of this nature and many of

them are recognised as innovative by
means of independent assessments or
certifications by different Spanish and

international official institutions.

CHANGE

Innovation

Projects

OBJECTIVES

Measures
Strategic Plan

Management
systems &
continuous

improvement

Products

ServicesCulture

Processes
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Iberia constantly monitors the best branding practices on the market to incorporate all those
that conform to the company’s Strategic Plan in its decision-making processes.

The brand is diversified to distinguish the different business units – Iberia Maintenance, Iberia
Airport Services and Iberia Cargo -, the sales and services channels - Iberia.com, Serviberia - and
the frequent flyer programme – Iberia Plus -.

In 2010, to meet the requirements of its merger with British Airways, Iberia made a valuation of
its brand based on the Relief from Royalty method, which values the revenues that the proprie-
tor of the brand would obtain from licensing it to a third party, obtaining a result of €212 million
at 30 June 2010.
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Also in 2010, Iberia began a brand positioning
project to diagnose and define a future brand
strategy for Iberia.

Iberia has been an active member since 2003
of the Association of Well-Known Spanish
Brands, AMRE (www.marcasrenombradas.com),
which has among its members more than 70

well-known leading Spanish brands from dif-
ferent sectors firmly established on an inter-
national scale with a vocation of permanence
on foreign markets, which have joined forces
to work on the development, defence and
promotion of Spanish brands.

In 2010, Iberia and the Ministry of Industry, Trade and Tourism signed an agreement to
jointly promote the image of Spain overseas, through cooperation in joint advertising and
marketing activities to promote tourism and increase air traffic to Spain.

The agreement contemplates a joint publicity
campaign and Iberia’s participation in tourism
trade fairs, professional conferences and con-
gresses organised by Turespaña. This cam-
paign is run both through conventional media
and online in seven markets: Italy, France,
Russia, USA, Argentina, Mexico and Brazil. The
airline provides promotional air transport to
Spain for international journalists, tour opera-
tors and travel agents who come to Spain for
promotion purposes.

Iberia also regularly promotes gastronomic products and Spanish wines with Designation
of Origin (DO) or Protected Geographical Indication, in-flight and in its VIP lounges.

In this regard, Iberia signed an agreement with the Ministry of the Environment and Rural
and Marine Environment in 2010 to promote the Mediterranean diet, defining joint lines of
action to publicise this nutrition model as an element of the cultural and gastronomic heri-
tage of Spain.
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Through its Cargo business, Iberia is a member of the Spanish Exporters and Investors Club,
which defends the interests of Spanish companies in the challenge of making their business
international. www.clubexportadores.org

Iberia Cargo also participates in the public-private initiative Madrid Logistics Platform to foster
development of the region as a logistics hub for southern Europe.

Future actions:

Continue developing the company’s businesses to add value for the IAG shareholders,
especially the AA-BA-IB Joint Business Agreement.

Strengthen Iberia’s collaboration with institutions and associations to extend the values of
Corporate Responsibility to all spheres of society.



6.1 Management Focus

Iberia considers its suppliers strategic stake-
holders in its value chain, to guarantee supply
and obtain products and services that meet
the quality, safety and environmental stan-
dards defined by the company.

Moreover, Iberia upholds its commitment to
society to demand responsible practices of its
suppliers. During 2010, Iberia continued colla-
borating with the Spanish Association of
Procurement Managers (AERCE) to extend
responsibility policies to its suppliers.
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6. Suppliers

Stakeholders Communication Expectations Actions 2010/11 Key
channel detected indicator

SUPPLIERS

Permanents:

1) Negotiation
2)Contracting
3)Monitoring

Ariba Sourcing Toolg

Internal customer satisfaction
surveys, according to ISO 9001:2008

� Feedback
� Ethics
� Fostering of good

practices
� Financial sustainability

100% 
of critical
suppliers have
Global
Compact
clauses in
their contracts

• Permanent inclusion
of Global Compact
sustainability clauses
in contracts.

• Enhancement of the
on-line Purchase
Incident Portal

• Electronic invoicing
project for suppliers
and contractors
(in progress).

At the conference organised by AERCE on
CSR in 2010, attended by Procurement
Managers from the most important
Spanish enterprises, it was concluded that
the culture of Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) cannot be consolida-
ted unless the procurement departments,
which handle 75% of a company’s expen-
ses, develop social and environmental sus-
tainability policies and exercise rigorous
ethical control over the supplier chain.

The procurement managers, including the
Procurement Manager of Iberia, agreed
that sustainability is currently one of their
fundamental concerns. In their opinion,
CSR will, in the future, be the factor that
most determines the strategy applied by
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Procurement Management System

Iberia procurement management is geared
towards achieving the company's goals, regu-
lated by internal rules and procedures and
guided by the following general principles:

1)  Internal customer satisfaction:
Procurement management aims to achieve
the best procurement alternative for the
internal customer, optimising the ratio of
service quality to total cost, guided by eco-
nomic streamlining and transparent mana-
gement. The company makes a homoge-
nous, systematic use of purchase tracking
and information systems to assess fulfil-
ment of this goal.

2)  Compliance with the law: Iberia only
approves as potential suppliers those who
comply with prevailing laws, regulations
and standards on quality, safety and hygie-
ne, labour, environment, tax, etc.

3)  Free competition: Competition between
the different suppliers is encouraged,
accessing the data bases of potential, exis-
ting or former suppliers of Iberia, its part-
ners and commercial allies and the diffe-
rent virtual market places on which Iberia
operates. Conditions cannot be set based
on brands or specific models.

4) Transparency and Confidentiality: A mini-
mum of three bids must be obtained for
any purchase/contracting. Iberia has elec-
tronic negotiation tools to guarantee these
principles. All internal information on sup-
pliers and contracts is kept strictly confi-
dential.

5) Caution: The company takes the necessary
measures of care, diligence and protection
whenever there is any kind of relationship
or bond between an employee of the com-
pany and the entity or individual bidding
for a contract, especially as regards negotia-
tion and choice of the supplier.

The Quality Management System of the Iberia
Procurement Department has been certified
under the ISO 9001:2008, the first in Spain to
incorporate internal customer satisfaction in
its procedures.

companies for purchasing the products
and contracting the services they need to
perform their business activities.

They further stressed that applying CSR
measures to their departments had a
knock-on effect on the rest of the corpora-
te organisation and explained that they
make regular assessments of the environ-
mental, ethical and social policies of their
suppliers, rejecting any suppliers that do
not meet the standards set by their com-
panies.
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Its Quality System includes the procedure for
handling claims from internal customers
following incidents in the service provided. To
centralise the monitoring of suppliers and
expedite the solving of incidents, a
Procurement Incidents Portal was set up in
2008 to channel claims from customers. From
IBPróxima an internal user can rapidly and
simply report any incidents that occur during
fulfilment of a contract, supply of an order or
performance of a service.

6.2 Responsible procurement

Iberia has different types of suppliers and
risks throughout its different business areas
which must be treated differently to achieve
the quality of service demanded by the custo-
mer. The selection of suppliers, especially criti-
cal suppliers, is extremely important when

seeking the best results. By definition, critical
suppliers are those bearing an influence on
the performance and results of the principal
process and those whose products or services
affects the quality perceived by customers.

On equal conditions, Iberia always favours
suppliers that have obtained certification for
the protection of human rights, the environ-
ment and quality.

Iberia also encourages all its suppliers to res-
pect the codes of conduct and good environ-
mental practices. Thus, when tendering con-
tracts it includes, in both the bidding terms
and conditions and the contract proper, clau-
ses concerning:

Confidentiality

Industrial property

Data protection

Labour commitment

Environmental commitment

Global compact

In addition, suppliers awarded contracts for
security and surveillance services undertake
to impose limits on the use of force in their
activities.
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Compliance with these clauses is regularly
assessed according to the monitoring infor-
mation, the risk exposure to the company’s
reputation and how critical the contract is for
the value chain.

6.3 Supplier payment tools

As established in its control procedures, Iberia
has established maximum times for the pay-
ment of invoices. Iberia’s healthy financial
position guarantees payment for the products
and services contracted and provided to
Iberia’s satisfaction.

In 2010 Iberia has continued implementing its
e-invoicing project, the main aim of which is
to speed up the invoicing processes of its sup-
pliers and set up another communication
channel with them. This project also achieves
major savings in administrative material:
paper, envelopes, etc., with the consequent
benefit for the environment, and savings in
management time spent on improving pro-
cesses, for both Iberia and its suppliers.

Specific relationships in the air transport
sector

As commonly occurs within the aviation
industry, Iberia has a fluent relationship
with the manufacturers of aircraft, engines
and parts for its fleet and that of third par-
ties, through its maintenance and enginee-
ring business.

Iberia reports to the OEM - Original
Equipment Manufacturer - any incident or
irregularity occurring during maintenance
or flight activities, which is studied to define
all aviation safety-related aspects that
might be recommended for the entire
industry.

Iberia also analyses the life cycle and perfor-
mance of its fleet with the manufacturers.

In the airport services business, Iberia has a
very close relationship with the airport
authorities at the airports at which it opera-
tes as handling agent, especially with AENA,
since Iberia is present in almost all Spanish
airports.The complex nature of ground han-
dling services requires permanent coordina-
tion between Iberia and AENA to achieve
the satisfaction of the users of air transport.

Future actions:

Alliances: increase the volume of joint purchases with other companies with a view to
achieving synergies.

Automation: increase the percentage of e-invoicing, eliminating paper invoices.
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7. Employees

Communication Expectations Actions 2010/2011 Key
Channels detected Indicator

Permanent:

• Intranet / Extranet: IBPróxima

• Employee Portal: IBPersonas

• Suggestion boxes in IBPróxima and
IBPersonas

• Notice boards, both online and physical

• Programme for recognition of proposals
for improvement

Regular:

• Works Councils for bargaining and
monitoring of Collective Agreements, of
both ground and flight staff.

• Satisfaction surveys on training received.

• Opinion polls on services offered on
IBPróxima.

Publications:

Internal magazines:

• Iberiavión

• Despega

• OPS

• Mantenimiento

• Together.

� Stability

� Continuous training

� Health & safety at
work

� Combination of work
and family life 

� Equal opportunities

�Welfare benefits &
assistance

Maintenance
of stable 
employment:
18,499
employees 
with non-term 
contracts  
(+1.8% cf
2009)

• XIX Collective Agreement
for Ground Staff

• XVI Collective Agreement
for Flight Attendants.

• Collective Bargaining for
the VIII Collective
Agreement for Pilots
(in progress).

• Professional development
plans (in progress).

• Muscular-skeletal disorder
and noise prevention
campaigns.

• Actions to involve
employees in welfare
projects: Platform for
Solidarity Projects.
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7.1 Management Focus

In accordance with its Corporate Responsi-
bility policy, Iberia incorporates and contem-
plates respect for human rights in its opera-
tions, based on the standards established in
the Universal Declaration on Human Rights,
the eight Core Conventions of the Internatio-
nal Labour Organization, the United Nations
Global Compact and the Millennium Develop-
ment Goals.

Iberia seeks to achieve the maximum deve-
lopment of its employees and to generate the
necessary climate of confidence to face future

challenges, become involved in achieving the
goals set and favour the integration and bon-
ding of individuals working in the company.
Iberia has a policy of favouring any initiatives
that may benefit employee health.

7.2 Workforce and labour relations

The composition of the Iberia workforce at 31
December 2010, broken down by countries,
sex, labour category, business and type of con-
tract, can be consulted in the Annexes to this
Report and in the Annual Accounts of Iberia
L.A.E.

The company has employees in practically all the countries reached by its commercial network.
The distribution of employees by countries is shown in the following map:



>150
71 - 150
41 - 70
21 - 40
1 - 20

Number of Employees

Push play     on each group
to see the countries on the map.
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Union representation and participation

Iberia has two committees, the Ground Staff
Inter-Workplace Committee and the Flight
Committee, which maintain continuous rela-
tions with the unions. It also has a Health and
Safety Inter-Workplace Mixed Committee and
a Flight Health and Safety Committee, which
deal with issues concerning occupational
hazard prevention. Iberia also has a Social and
Economic Committee, in which the unions par-
ticipate.

The ground staff union representatives sit on
21 Workplace Committees (works councils)
nationwide, and a further 15 workplaces have
workers' delegates.

Internationally, Iberia has workers' representa-
tives in 40% of the countries in which it has
employees and there are collective agree-
ments in: Argentina, Austria, Belgium, Brazil,
Chile, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Israel,
Italy, Mexico, Netherlands, Portugal, Sweden,
United Kingdom, Uruguay and Venezuela; and
union representatives in Peru (see Annexes).

Collective bargaining and employment:

On 28 April 2010, the Iberia and the unions
UGT and CCOO signed the XIX Collective
Agreement for Ground Staff, effective from 1
January 2009 to 31 December 2012, which was
subsequently also signed by ASETMA (Spanish 
Union Association of Aviation Maintenance
Technicians). This collective agreement affects
15,118 employees in the company, representing

70% of the total headcount. In employment
terms, the agreement contemplates the con-
version of 519 part-time non-term contracts
into full-time non-term contracts with irregu-
lar working hours, 454 temporary contracts
into part-time non-term contracts and 5 tem-
porary contracts into full-time non-term con-
tracts.

On 9 June 2010, the Ministry of Labour
and Immigration issued a Supplementary
Resolution authorising extension of Redun-
dancy Plan (ERE) 72/01 up to 2013 for the ground
staff. During 2010, 25 ground staff employees
took early retirement under ERE 72/01.

Also in 2010, Iberia and the unions UGT, CCOO
and ASETMA reached an agreement on Partial
Retirement, applicable exclusively within the
Maintenance and Engineering Department.
That agreement contemplates the possibility
of changing to this type of contract, voluntary
for both parties, for Aircraft Maintenance
Technicians aged 62 years or more during its
effective term, with a reduction of 75% of the
annual working hours, while simultaneously
arranging a temporary Relief Contract with an
unemployed worker. This agreement was sig-
ned for a term ending 31 December 2012.

Moreover, on 14 December 2010 Iberia and
union representatives of Flight Attendants in
the Flight Works Council signed the XVI
Collective Agreement for Flight Attendants,
effective up to 31 December 2012. This agree-
ment contemplates the following aspects,
among others:
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1)  Measures to achieve a better work-life balan-
ce, such as setting up a Committee to draw
up an Equality Plan, a new option for redu-
cing working hours for flight attendants with
children aged 8-11 during the effective term
of the Agreement and the establishment of a
third period for annual holiday leave.

2) In employment terms, it was agreed that
during the term of this Agreement, 230 fixed-
term contracts would be converted into non-
term contracts and the cap on temporary
flight attendants would be reduced from
20% to 15%.

3)  Extension of the current Redundancy Plan to
31 December 2013 and the opening during
2011 of the early retirement option, with a
target of 122 early retirements. During 2010, 3
flight attendants took early retirement
under ERE 72/01 and 51 flight attendants
accepted a forced change of duties, both
options contemplated in these Proceedings.

The Bargaining Committee for the VIII
Collective Agreement for Pilots was set up on
24 November 2009 and has been negotiating
since then and throughout 2010 with a view to
reaching an agreement.

The company has applied the measures con-
templated in ERE 72/01, among others, to pilots
over the age of 60, on the conditions establis-
hed in the Social Plan of 20 April 2009. During
2010, 27 Pilots accepted the measures of the
redundancy plan.

7.3 Satisfacción, comunicación interna y
motivación

Employee satisfaction is mainly channelled
through the suggestion boxes available in
IBPróxima, through which employees can
express any observation, remark or concern,
even anonymously if they so wish. These sug-
gestions are mostly assessed and answered in
less than 24 hours, and those considered
important are published monthly, together
with the replies offered by the responsible
management departments.

The company makes regular polls through
IBPróxima to find out its employees' opinions
on matters of general interest, many of them
related with the meeting of their expecta-
tions in connection with the services offered.

Employees are informed on Iberia's goals and
results - strategic plan, stock exchange perfor-
mance, punctuality details, significant miles-
tones, etc. - permanently through IBPróxima,
daily on the company's notice boards and
monthly through the magazine Iberavión.
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IBPróxima       

On average, some 120,000 web sites are visited a day.

Every current employee who so wishes, regardless of their job or position, has been offered
a corporate e-mail address.

Many processes are done online: performance assessments, holiday requests, requests for
changes in the duty rota, procurement requisitions, etc.

The information offered to the media is offered at the same time, or earlier, to employees.
And all information received from the news agencies EFE and Europa Press, as well as the
Press Summary, which compiles any information on Iberia published in the national and
international daily press, is also offered online.

Q Some 1,800 suggestions a year are received through the suggestion boxes and the most
important ones are published each month within the section About IBPróxima. Precisely
one of these suggestions led to the creation of Wikiberia (see section 7.4) in 2010.

Q IBpróxima is currently immersed in improving its publishing tools to be able to incorpo-
rate new contents: search engines, news commentaries and digital encounters and others.
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Iberia has established a staff recognition
system for all its employees, based on indivi-
dual or group suggestions and recognition of
extraordinary actions. To stimulate creativity
and individual and group efforts and as a
basic factor in continuous improvement,
reward is given for the profitability obtained
as a result of a proposal for improvement.

Prizes were awarded in the Customer Services
suggestion competition in 2010. In the eleven
months that the campaign lasted, 341 sugges-
tions were received from a total of 270 emplo-
yees. During the ceremony, the company chair-
man emphasized the enormous value for the
company of the contributions made by its
employees to enhancing the quality of service.

The company uses several forms of incentive
through different variable pay items added to
the salary, regulated by collective agreement
and rewarding employee productivity: bonuses
for attendance, shift work, duties, etc.The levels
of progression and promotion are linked to the
Performance Assessment, made regularly.

The company has a policy of filling vacancies
in senior positions (positions of responsibility)
through internal promotion. Although the
candidates are often previously identifiedand
prepared through the Professional Develop-
ment Plans described in section 7.3, the com-
pany regularly calls for internal applications
to select employees with profiles best suited
to the positions to be filled.

The internal regulations on selection for
senior positions were updated in 2010 to
ensure that the process is transparent and
posts are filled with candidates having the
required competence.

Employee Services: IBPersonas

IBPersonas is a personal management tool
through which employees have permanent
accesses to an ever-growing quantity of admi-
nistrative and management information, on a
self-service basis. It is divided into small chan-
nels, including especially those of training and
development - management of employee
training and access to CAMPUS Iberia -,
employment - access to information on job
vacancies, to be filled internally and/or exter-
nally -, employee self-service - performance
assessment, wages & salaries, donations to
charity causes deducted directly from salary,
etc.-, mIBillete.free - self-issuing of tickets for
employees and beneficiaries -, occupational
health & safety prevention - access to docu-
ments on prevention, participation and con-
sultation, FAQ's, etc. -, information - calendar
of working days and public holidays, collective
agreements, etc. - and management services
for senior staff.

7.4 Training and Development

Iberia's training model is based on the need for
specific qualifications for the sector that are not
readily available on the market and for which
there are often no specific training centres.
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The contents of training are geared not only
to developing skills associated with a particu-
lar job, but also to fostering future professio-
nal development and alignment with the
company's strategic objectives, placing special
emphasis on training for the following:

Customer service

Incorporation of new technologies

Development of managerial skills

Health and safety

Commitment to quality and excellence in
management

Protection of the environment and human
rights

Permanent refreshment of technical expertise

Renewal of Maintenance and Flying licences

In 2010 Iberia continued developing Campus
IBERIA, a platform for staff training, offering
new generation multimedia courses to acqui-
re essential knowledge of the business. A total
of 5,686 employees used this platform in
2010.

This e-learning platform is easy to use for both
students and teachers and guarantees a more
accessible training, together with active com-
munication through the different tools such
as forums or e-mails.

These on-line courses offer numerous advan-
tages, especially flexibility in time and loca-
tion and the ample accessibility for employe-
es, resulting in optimisation of the training
resources.



Integration of education and business

Iberia has agreements with several Spanish
and international universities and training
institutions, offering to collaborate with the
government and academic institutions to
implement the educational system, both by
adapting vocational training modules specifi-
cally for the air-traffic sector and by offering
undergraduates, graduates and vocational
training students an opportunity to acquire
work experience. Almost 400 students obtai-
ned grants in 2010.

The main objective of the Graduate Work
Experience Programme is to adjust incorpora-

tions into the management and engineers
group to the demand of the different areas of
the company according to the Strategic Plan.
It also helps to detect graduates with poten-
tial, candidates for Qualified Staff
Development Plans.

The Graduate Work Experience Programme
was started up in 1996 and so far almost 65%
of the employees working in the manage-
ment and engineers group joined the com-
pany through this programme, both through
internal promotion (contract renewals) and
from outside, through postgraduate scholars-
hips.

Iberia also facilitates academic training for
employees who are studying for official quali-
fications, granting Individual Training
Permission to enable them to attend the
corresponding commitments and releasing
them from work so that they can study or go
to exams.

Attraction and retaining of talent

Iberia is constantly talent-spotting, both
internally and externally, considering talent to
be one of the critical factors for guaranteeing
the company's competitiveness.

The company has established different selec-
tion protocols and competence profiles to
detect the professionals with the greatest
potential in the company. Once spotted, those
professionals receive support through
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Wikiberia

Thanks to the suggestion of an employee
of the company, an internal wiki plat-
form, Wikiberia, was set up in 2010 with
the idea of sharing the knowledge
employees have of the air sector they
work in.

The terms supplied to Wikiberia are those
used in Iberia, aeronautic terminology,
terms of aviation in general, airports,
management and business.

This new service, which works like other
Wiki tools on the market, set up to grow
through the contribution and collabora-
tion of all the company's employees.
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Personal Training Programmes, Continuous
Assessment and Vocational Development
and Succession Plans, through which talent is
channelled towards the required field of spe-
cialisation or management, in the latter case
within specialised leadership development
programmes designed to guarantee a smooth
take-over of all key management and executi-
ve positions at all times, having professionals
capable of applying their talent to the cir-
cumstances required from time to time for
the company's business.

During 2010 the following specific vocational
development plan was commenced, supple-
menting those reported last year:

5th Development Plan for Future Managers
of the Airport Division:

With the aim of developing the leadership
and management skills and expertise requi-
red to hold in the future the senior positions
required in the current business environ-
ment of airport services (handling).

Of the 18 participants selected, 15 are from
Airports Management, 2 from Commercial
and Customer Management and 1 from the
Procurement and Services Management.
They all receive intensive training, both in-
person and online and, as required, in a
second phase they do on-the-job training to
apply the knowledge and skills acquired.
This Development Programme, with a vision
going beyond mere training, focuses on

essential abilities such as leadership, team
management, negotiation, solving of dispu-
tes or meeting targets, among others.

XVI Air Transport Course

The Iberia Air Transport Course is one of
the best examples of the company's com-
mitment to the development of human
resources and management of the kno-
wledge of its senior officers. This Course
consists of a training programme lasting
several months, in which management
and experts in different fields share their
know-how with persons considered to
have a high potential in all areas of the
company. The programme of each edition
is also adapted to current trends of the
industry and the challenges that the com-
pany has to meet from time to time.

The XVI edition of the Air Transport
Course was held in 2010. New features
included lectures in English, a creative
system of interaction with participants,
simulations and a professional presenta-
tion by each participant, making this edi-
tion a landmark for the future design of
the course.
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Iberia also gives training to third parties in the
airport services, cargo, operations, in-flight ser-
vices and commercial areas, especially to com-
panies with which it has service contracts.

Moreover, 2010 Iberia was the first Spanish airli-
ne to set up its own Language Proficiency
Assessment Centre (IB-LPO), duly authorised by
the Spanish Aviation Safety Agency (AESA),
through which it has assessed the language
proficiency of its pilots, providing them with the
necessary support to reach the minimum ope-
rational level required by the applicable legal
provisions (Order FOM/896/2010 of 6 April).

7.5 Ethics and Codes of Conduct

Iberia has a Code of Ethics for Application of the
Global Compact, published in the Annexes to
this Report, designed as a direct, simple docu-
ment containing a set of good practices. It lays
down the bases for ethical, responsible conduct
by Iberia employees in the performance of their
work. The Code has been drawn up with three
essential goals:

1)  Adapt commitment to the Global Compact
to the culture and values of the company,
highlighting the most important conduct in
Iberia to ensure that the principles are met.

2) Have a general code of ethics to supplement
other codes of conduct of the company.

3) Inform all employees on the Global
Compact.

In 2010 the company, through the Commercial
Management in Colombia, also acceded to a
Code of Conduct against Sex Tourism in
Colombia, participating in its preparation at
the request of the Colombian Air Transport
Office, drawn up in pursuance of Act 1336 of
2009 and limited to Colombian national terri-
tory. In this Code, airlines undertake to:

1) Suppress, condemn and report to the com-
petent authorities on becoming aware of
any criminal action or act of sexual abuse or
exploitation against minors.

2)  Prohibit their employees, contractors and
suppliers from publicising or distributing
child pornography, through any means
whatsoever and in particular through com-
puter networks.

3)  Prohibit the use and distribution in their
corporate networks of any illegal material
using minors.

4)  Prohibit the express or secret inclusion in
tourism promotion programmes of any
plans promoting or operating the sexual
exploitation of minors.

5)  Take measures to prevent their employees,
sales representatives or intermediaries
from offering sex tourism guidance or
sexual contacts with minors.
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The company also publishes in its internal
magazine Iberiavión each month some of the
letters of complaint or congratulations from
our customers, to give examples of errors and
good conduct in the service and strengthen
the commitment to quality customer service.

All these actions are supplementary to the
codes of conduct and recommendations that
already existed in the company, such as
Disciplinary Provisions of Collective
Agreements, Internal Code of Conduct in res-
pect of matters relating to security markets or
the Style Guide for customer service.

7.6 Equal opportunities and diversity

Salaries in Iberia are established according to
rank, seniority and position, with no distinc-
tion on grounds of sex, race or any other dis-
crimination.

In pursuance of Organic Law 3/2007, three
Equality Plans are being negotiated with the
different union representatives within the
collective bargaining of the three Collective
Agreements of the Company: Ground Staff,
Flight Attendants and Pilots.

The total percentage of women in the com-
pany at 31 December 2010 was 37.9%, 0.1 per-
centage points down on 2009.

At the end of 2010, 398 employees held senior
positions in the company's organization
chart, 116 of whom were women, 29% of the
total.

As regards diversity, the company has a policy
of hiring local personnel, such that, apart
from a few positions within the structure of
some management areas, which are held by
people sent from Spain, 880 employees of the
company are nationals of the countries in
which Iberia operates as a multinational,
51.6% of whom are women.

7.7 Work-life balance policies

Reduced working hours for legal custody have
been applied within the company to promote
childbirth and protect maternity, paternity
and care of the elderly, which benefits were
taken up in 2010 by a total of 2,217 employees,
15.3% more than in 2009.
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The company takes account of the risks that
employee's work may entail for pregnancy
and breastfeeding, especially among the
flight groups, permitting different possibili-
ties for reducing working hours, temporary
suspensions of contract and the processing of
benefits, all regulated by collective agree-
ment.

The latest uniform of the company has been
designed taking account of all the features of
its employees, with a specific garment for
pregnant employees.

The company offers a free service for accom-
panying minor children of employees on
Iberia flights, which is provided for children
aged between 5 and 11 travelling unaccompa-
nied.

7.8 Health and safety at work

Iberia has its own Prevention Service with
Senior Occupational Hazard Prevention
Officers covering the four disciplines of pre-
vention: Safety at Work, Industrial Hygiene,
Ergonomics and Psycho sociology and
Industrial Health.

In Iberia there are 221 Health and Safety
Committees, with 863 Prevention Delegates
distributed among the different workplaces,
and a further 156 Delegates in workplaces
which, because of their size, do not have a
Works Council, covering 100% of the employe-
es. There is also an Inter-Workplace Health

and Safety Committee, with 6 Prevention
Delegates.

Every employee receives training for each type
of risk to which he/she may be exposed.
Moreover, IBPersonas has a specific channel
for occupational hazard prevention, where
employees can consult details, recommenda-
tions, rules, manuals and other prevention-
related documents, such as how to prevent
muscular damage, employee prevention obli-
gations, etc.

The accident rate was further lowered in 2010
in all areas of the company, 8.6% down on
2009. The seriousness of accidents at work
was also reduced by 4% year on year. These
trends show that the measures taken in res-
pect of prevention are adequate, encouraging
the company to continue along the lines defi-
ned in the Prevention Plan.

The Occupational Hazard Prevention System
was audited in 2010 by AUDELCO, pursuant to
Article 30 of the Prevention Services
Regulations.
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The main occupational hazards to which
employees are exposed are excess effort and
noise. In both cases considerable training is
given and the tasks that may be performed
are limited if any incipient damage is detec-
ted in an employee.

In the case of noise, Iberia was the first to use
“intelligent” means of protection in complex

activities, such as the tasks performed on air-
craft parking platforms at airports: this pro-
tection consists of headphones with an
amplifier so that the user can adjust the volu-
me of what he/she hears. To make sure the
sound is not damaging to the ear, the ampli-
fier has a preset maximum limit.

Ionising radiation

As the aircraft gains height and moves away from the equator, the flight crew receives higher
levels of ionising radiation from space. Iberia was the first to pinpoint this specific risk for its
employees and installed a computer programme to calculate the radiation received by each
employee according to the flights made, providing crew members each month with the
details of the radiation received. To guarantee its employees' health, the company makes a
rigorous control of these figures, limiting the maximum permitted radiation level to below
the average established in international legislation. Iberia has also made a study, jointly with
a specialist centre, to make sure that the alterations in flight crew chromosomes as a result
of the radiation received are no different from those of the rest of the population.
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In 2010, Iberia joined the International
Observatory for Preventive Culture, an inter-
national cooperation organisation set up
recently with a view to enhancing working
conditions throughout the world. Through
the Observatory web site, occupational
hazard prevention officers in several countries
can share experience, innovations and studies
all year round.

Iberia also chairs the Spanish Occupational
Hazard Prevention Services Association (AESPLA).

7.9 Welfare benefits

The welfare benefits of the company include:

1)  Solidarity Fund: The funds are used to meet
social needs, such as aids for education, aids
for disabled and chronically ill children, wel-
fare loans, expenses incurred through sick-
ness, among others. This fund is jointly
financed in equal proportions by the com-
pany and employees, except in the case of
cabin crew, who contribute 0.40% of their
basic wage, and the company contributes a
fixed sum.

2)  Ground and Flight Staff Welfare Funds:
50% financed by the company and the
employee. This fund covers disability and
retirement benefits. In the case of flight
crew, it also covers long-term temporary
disability and death benefits.

3)  Group Life Assurance Policy: This assurance
covers death and permanent disability. In
the case of flight crew, it also covers the
contingency of permanent loss of licence. It
is 60% financed by the company and 40%
by the employee.

4)  Housing loans: Loans may be granted each
year for up to 4% of the ground staff and
flight attendants on the payroll at 31
December of the preceding year.

5)  Medical cover: Iberia takes and manages
all activities and actions required for the
recovery of workers who suffer accidents.

The company and
each employee make
monthly contribu-
tions (50% each)
through their salary

to the pension scheme, handled by
Mutualidad Montepío Loreto, set up as a priva-
te pension and welfare institution in 1970 by
the workers in the aviation sector. Loreto is an
independent institution, unrelated to any
financial group, so its investments are made
exclusively to obtain the best, most secure
benefits for its members. It operates under a
system of Individual Capitalisation, which
means that the contributions made by the
members are used to finance the benefits of
each one and that the distribution of profit is
equal for all participants.

www.montepioloreto.com
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7.10 Corporate citizenship

Collaboration with the welfare organisations
of Iberia employees

Iberia employees participate in numerous cor-
porate citizenship activities, receiving logistic
and economic support from the company.

The solidarity initiatives that employees have
been working on for years have given rise to
the creation and development of two
Associations, which have not been declared
Public Utility Associations and are among the
most important in Spain:

Iberia Employees Parents of Disabled Children
Association - APMIB

Set up in 1977 by company employees with
children with special needs, this association
focuses its activities on the protection and
social integration of physically, mentally or
sensorial handicapped children.

Twenty years later, in 1997, the APMIB
Foundation was set up for the protection and
the social and educational assistance of the
handicapped. The Foundation promotes and
manages homes and other centres for the
disabled who are orphans or in a situation of

neglect, whatever their age. It also organises
several training activities and promotes rese-
arch to improve the lives of people with spe-
cial needs.

o It is now the second largest association for
the disabled in Spain, after the ONCE
[National Association for the Blind], with six
specialist centres in Barcelona, Madrid (2),
Malaga, Las Palmas and Tenerife. Its work is no
longer limited to relatives of Iberia employees,
but is open to the whole society.

It has a team of 140 professionals, including
psychologists, doctors, social workers and sup-
port personnel, who assist more than 2,200
handicapped persons.

It has six Special Employment Centres, which
provide employment for 565 people. Their
main occupations are the manufacturing of
textile products, packaging & labelling, etc.,
computing and administrative coordination
services.

It has been supported by the company from
the outset, with monetary contributions and
work contracts. Approximately 37% of its tur-
nover is obtained on sales to Iberia.

Apart from work for Iberia, the APMIB centres
perform activities and provide services for
almost 60 companies, including 2010 Acciona,
Transmediterránea, Cacesa and Ferrovial.

In addition to its Special Employment Centres,
the Association works on several Employment

www.aimb.com
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Integration Projects: Proyecto AILA, Proyecto
ECA and Proyecto ARGOS, among others.

Mano a Mano

This NGO was founded in
1994 by Iberia employees
to use the free space in
the bellies of company

flights to send humanitarian aid to countries
hit by natural disasters or wars and deliver that
aid without middlemen, i.e. “hand to hand”
(“Mano a Mano” in Spanish).

Since its creation it has sent more than 2,200
tonnes of humanitarian aid.

It brings children from different countries,
together with their families, to Spain for specia-
list medical attention. Once in Spain, Mano a
Mano provides them with accommodation and
anything else they may need.

It also manages all sorts of aid projects in deve-
loping countries.

Iberia donates air tickets and cargo space to
Mano a Mano.
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Platform for Solidarity Projects: portalsolidario@iberia.es

This portal was enabled in IBPróxima on 1 July 2010 with the aim of becoming an open
encounter space for all Iberia employees.This platform was created with a view to providing
incentive and boosting welfare and cooperation activities, where employees can find detai-
led information on projects already set up and those under development and opt for diffe-
rent ways of participating.

There are three sections in Solidarity Projects: 

1)  Solidarity thanks to you, providing up-to-date information on the most important welfa-
re projects carried out or in progress.

2)  They need your help, informing on numerous possibilities for doing volunteer work and
helping those who most need it through organisations working for children, the environ-
ment, the disabled, the elderly and social problems such as drug addiction.

4)  Your solidarity project, everybody's project, where employees can propose solidarity pro-
jects of which they have a first-hand knowledge to be included in the portal, thereby
receiving support from other colleagues.
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Iberia's social activity, which complements its
solidarity and labour responsibility actions, also
extends to areas such as leisure, sport and cul-
ture. Club IBERIA and the Iberia Veterans
Association are particularly active in this area.

The Veterans Association
was founded in 1972, has 8
delegations in Spain and
finances all its activities

with the membership fees of over 7,000
members, in 51 national meeting points and
more than 20 abroad. The services provided
and activities organised by this Association
are aimed primarily at members on retire-
ment, disability or widowhood pensions. The
activities organised are mainly cultural, tou-
ristic and recreational.

Club IBERIA is a non-profit
association that aims to
promote leisure and
sports activities among

company employees and their families, the-
reby fostering values such as the family, soli-
darity and teamwork. It currently has over
10,000 members and 12 delegations nationwi-
de. The Club Iberia budget is funded mainly
with the membership fees and an annual con-
tribution from Iberia, which also provides pre-
mises for the Club's offices and facilitates
internal communication for all employees
through IBpróxima. In 2010 the Club organi-
sed the I Golf Tournament for members to
raise funds for APMIB and collaborated in the
“Operation Kilo” of the Madrid Food Bank.

7.11 Employment of disabled workers

In pursuance of the Disabled Persons
Integration Act, Iberia must hire a number of
disabled workers no less than 2% of its head-
count. Owing to the company's complex pro-
ductive nature, making it especially difficult
to incorporate disabled workers in a sufficient
number to meet that quota so it meets its
legal obligation through the alternative mea-
sures regulated by Royal Decree 364/2005.
These measures include commercial contracts
with Special Employment Centres and dona-
tions and sponsorships in favour of Public
Utility Associations.

Therefore, in 2010, the quota established in res-
pect of the total headcount was 434 persons,
met through:

1)  Employment of disabled persons: the com-
pany has provided direct employment for a
total of 264 disabled workers in 2010.

2)  Commercial contracts with Special
Employment Centres: a total of 3,957,779 €,
was invoiced under these contracts in 2010.
This amount is equivalent to 177 workers.

3)  Donations and Sponsorships: in 2010, the
donations in cash or in kind made to the
above-mentioned associations totalled
1,068,691 €, equivalent to 95 workers.
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Therefore, the number of disabled persons
employed by Iberia, directly or through alterna-
tive measures, totals 536, exceeding the reser-
ve quota by 102 employees.

Moreover, at Christmas 2009/10 Airport
Management donated all gifts received from

customers to the Special Olympics Association,
which strives to improve the quality of life of
the mentally handicapped through sport.

Future actions:

Continue collective bargaining in general and with the Bargaining Commission for the
VIII Collective Agreement for Pilots in particular.

Develop the Equality Plans in progress.

Continue to support corporate citizenship actions undertaken by employees.
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8. Society
Stakeholders Communication Expectations Actions 2010/11 Key

channel detected indicator

Permanent:

1) prensa@iberia.es

2) Press Room at
http://grupo.iberia.es

3) Subscriptions service

4) “Iberia Solidarity” section
in the Ronda magazine

5) Sponsorship agreements
(Annexes).

Regular:

1) Press releases

2) Press conferences

3) Advertising campaigns

4) Sustainability Congresses
& Trade Fairs

5) Regular meetings with
the media

6) Visits and presentations

7) Interviews and travel with
media

Permanent:

1) Department of the com-
pany dedicated to social
investments -
Communication Dept.

2) “Iberia Solidarity” section
in the Ronda magazine

Periódicos:

1) Annual Corporate
Responsibility Report

SOCIETY:
MEDIA

SOCIETY:
NGOS &
INSTITUTIONS

� Transparency

� Reliability

� Rigour

� Speed

� Credibility

� Collaboration

� Commitment

3.4 Mill. €

spent on
welfare
projects:
+ 112% cf 2009

• Promotion of Xacobeo 2010

• Promotion of the
Millennium Development
Goals (in progress)

• Promotion of customer
service enhancements
(specific reports in media)

• Specific CSR advertising
campaigns

• Provision of space in the
bellies of aircraft for
transporting humanitarian
aids

• Facilities in passenger
transport

• Commitment to the
Millennium Development
Goals

• Sponsorship Agreements
with welfare institutions

• “Solidarity Projects”
Platform on Intranet

• Special means to help
NGOs transport people and
humanitarian aid in
catastrophes
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8.1 Management Focus

Iberia bases its social action strategy on sup-
porting solidarity organisations by transpor-
ting passengers requiring some kind of aid
and assigning space in the bellies of aircraft
for transporting humanitarian aid during the
provision of its regular services.

The company has an adequate control system
to manage its contributions, enabling conti-
nuous assessment to adjust Iberia's social

actions to the established strategy. In this
regard Iberia steers its social actions so as to
contribute directly or indirectly on achieving
the Millennium Development Goals establis-
hed by the United Nations in 2000, contribu-
ting both funds and resources to solidarity
projects.

The main collaborations in 2010 are summari-
sed in the following table, classified accor-
ding to the goal to which they contribute: 

Iberia's contribution to the UN Millennium Development Goals

Goal Target Main projects in 2010

Goal  1:
Eradicate
extreme poverty
and hunger

Reduce by half the
proportion of peo-
ple living on less
than 1 dollar a day

• Rebuilding of a school in the Parish of San Gerard, in Haiti.

• Canteen for 360 children in Tablada de Lurin, one of the
poorest districts of Lima, in Peru.

• Collaboration with the social canteen project, run by
Redeemer missionaries, in Santa Anita, one of the poorest
districts of Lima.

• Cooperation with ANHEG in Egypt to supply
humanitarian aid to the Giza Orphanage in El Cairo.

• Collaboration with Hijas de la Caridad in Santo Domingo,
providing assistance and food for Los Hijos de la Calle; and
with Hijas de los Sagrados Corazones, in the province of
Barahona, to help with the Orphanage they run in the
Dominican Republic.

• Niños de Barro following the 2007 earthquake in Peru.

Reduce by half the
proportion of peo-
ple who suffer from
hunger
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Goal 2:
Achieve
universal
primary
education

Goal 3:
Promote gender
equality and
empower women

Ensure that, by
2015, all boys and
girls complete a full
course of primary
schooling

Eliminate gender
disparity in primary
and secondary edu-
cation preferably by
2005, and at all
levels of education
by the end of 2015

• The canteen in Tablada de Lurin will be panellable to
double up as classrooms and give basic education as
well as food.

• Permanent collaboration with schools and workshop in
Quilmes, Argentina; and with the schools Hola-Hola,
Español de Malabo, Santa Teresita, Luba and Batete,
among others, in Equatorial Guinea.

• Reina de Quito Foundation in Ecuador for the integral
development of children with the Down syndrome.

• Collaboration with a nursery in Chambo (Ecuador), run
by the Association of Chambo Women and the Chambo
Council for children left alone when their mothers have
to go out to work.

• Assistance to schools in Guinea: Basakato, Batete,
Carmelitas Misioneras, Claret, Luba, Sta Teresita,
Sampaka

• “Lima Children's City” Project run by Padre Hugo, infant
schools, receiving support from Mano a Mano since
2005

• Infant school, on the east coast of Guatemala on the
shores of the Pacific, situated in Los Macizos.

• Children's Home Virgen del Perpetuo Socorro, in Lima
(Peru), for abandoned girls, many of whom have been
raped and battered. Takes in over 170 girls aged 4-18.

• Collaboration with the Mother of the Redeemer Home
in Piura (north Peru), a shelter for 130 girls.

• Shelter for Girls project in the town of Antigua
Guatemala.
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Goal 4:
Reduce child
mortality

Goal 5:
Improve
maternal
health

Reduce by two
thirds, between
1990 and 2015,
the under-five
mortality rate

Reduce by three
quarters, between
1990 and 2015, the
maternal mortality
ratio 

• Mano a Mano transports children on Iberia flights for
surgery or medical treatment in Spain.

• Close collaboration with the Spanish Leukaemia
Foundation. 

• Collaboration with Make a Wish Spain.

• Children from Cuba Project to meet the needs of sick
children in Cuba who need constant medical treatment.
They are regularly sent medicines.

• San Vicente de Pau Children's Home, in Quito (Ecuador).
Refuge for children without means or with no family.
Offers protection and integral education for 140
children, some physically, mentally or psychomotor
handicapped.

• Collaboration as official carrier for the National Congress
of the Spanish Society of First Aid Executives (A Coruña
2010)

• Building of Accident & Emergency Centre in Nómalas,
Chulucánas-Piura-Perú, for young pregnant women and
newborns. Due to be opened in February 2011.
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Goal 7: Ensure
environmental
sustainability

Integrate the princi-
ples of sustainable
development into
country policies and
programmes; rever-
se loss of environ-
mental resources

Halve, by 2015, the
proportion of peo-
ple without sustai-
nable access to safe
drinking water and
basic sanitation

Achieve significant
improvement in
lives of at least 100
million slum dwe-
llers, by 2020

See the Environment chapter of this Report.

• Iberia with Spanish protected species. All new aircraft
incorporated in Iberia's fleet are christened with the
names of endangered species in Spain. Iberia transports
animals of endangered species in the bellies of its
aircraft to return them to their original locations for
recovery in specialised centres.

• Donate your Mobile Campaign

• Iberia was present at the “AQUA 10” Conference on
Water Management in Bilbao as official carrier, the
Congress of Civil Engineering, Territory and Environment
in Malaga, the Sustainable Building Conference in
Madrid, the International Congress of Friends of Trees in
Caceres and the Recycled Paper Congress in Madrid

Goal 6: Combat
HIV/AIDS,
malaria and
other diseases

Have halted by 2015
and begun to rever-
se the spread of
HIV/AIDS

Have halted by 2015
and begun to rever-
se the incidence of
malaria and other
major diseases

• Cooperation with the organisations Basida, Remal and
Sucael to help people with AIDS or drug addicts in the
district of Vallecas, Madrid.

• San José Orphanage in Guatemala, operating since 1990,
receiving aids for more than 6 years.

• NGO Niños de Papel in Colombia, to take in, detoxify and
educate children with coca paste addiction.

• Contributions to the National Oncology Research Centre
Carlos III and the Drug Addiction Help Foundation.

• Sponsor of the First Golf Tournament of the Spanish
Association of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ADELA).

• Discounts for patients of the Fernández-Vega
Ophthalmology Institute in Asturias.
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Goal 8:
Foster a world
alliance for
development

Develop further an
open trading and
financial system that is
rule-based, predictable
and non-discriminatory

Address the least deve-
loped countries' special
needs

Address the special
needs of landlocked
and small island deve-
loping States

Deal comprehensively
with developing coun-
tries' debt problems
through national and
international measures
to make debt sustaina-
ble in the long term

• Commitment to the Global Compact principles.

• Close cooperation with the Spanish International
Cooperation and Development Agency (AECID).

Iberia contributes towards publicising of the
Millennium Development Goals and raising
awareness among its stakeholders to their
achievement through the initiative: “2015: A
better world for Joana” of the Corporate
Reputation Forum, to which Iberia belongs.

www.2015unmundomejorparajoana.com

Iberia is developing a project in collabora-
tion with Millennium Foundation, which
will materialise in 2011, to participate in
Massive Good, a movement created to
achieve financing meet three of the
Millennium Development Objectives
through the tourism industry. This project
consists of obtaining micro-donations
from anyone buying a product or service
related with tourism. Iberia plans to start
up this initiative in flight bookings
through Iberia.com during 2011.



8.2 Principal collaborations

Permanent collaboration

Some of Iberia's main permanent collabora-
tions with welfare institutions and entities
are listed below:

1) Spanish International Cooperation and
Development Agency - AECID:
Iberia cooperates through agreements,
which include special discounts for passen-
ger or cargo tickets on its flights.

2) National Transplant Organisation:
Iberia provides free transport of organs on
its scheduled flights.

3)  Make a Wish Spain Foundation: Iberia
collaborates by providing transport for sick
children, who the Foundation takes to dif-
ferent places to make their wish come true
so that they recover their “desire to live”. A
new collaboration agreement was signed
with this Foundation in 2010.

4)  “Crecer Jugando” Foundation and Radio
Nacional de España - RNE:

Iberia participates in the solidarity cam-
paign “One Toy, One Joy”, the main aim of
which is to send toys to children in third
world or developing countries and to start
up toy libraries at schools in those countries.

The company transports material in the
bellies of aircraft flying to certain destina-

tions and in exchange, Fundación Crecer
Jugando donates toy libraries to Iberia for
the Mano a Mano centres in Peru, Ecuador,
Guatemala, Cuba, Argentina and Equatorial
Guinea.

5) Sports Council - CSD:
Iberia and Coca Cola España collaborate with
the CSD to organise the In-Flight Drawing
Competitions for children under 12 travelling
on Iberia flights. The aim is to encourage
physical exercise among children.

Main actions in 2010

1) Earthquake in Haiti: 
From the very date of the earthquake, 12
January 2010, Iberia provided transport for
humanitarian aid to the Dominican
Republic, to be taken to Haiti from Santo
Domingo airport. Mano a Mano was the first
NGO in the world to take help to Port-au-
Prince.

A total of 198,000 kg of water and food,
blankets, sheets, sanitary material, torches,
clothes, etc. was taken.

Flights to and from Santo Domingo were
increased with larger aircraft, offering 100
extra seats and allowing the carriage of
more cargo, to facilitate the transporting of
rescue groups and their equipment, doctors
and firemen, Red Cross and UN collaborators
and all humanitarian organisations wishing
to go to Haiti.
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A special price was offered for all relief wor-
kers travelling to Santo Domingo and they
were each allowed to take an extra item of
baggage.

In addition, 100 plane tickets were raffled,
among employees through IBPróxima and
among customers through iberia.com, in a
competition run by Iberia jointly with the
Spanish Red Cross to raise funds for Haiti.

2) Earthquake in Chile: 
Iberia employees, through Mano a Mano,
collected and sent camping material (tents
and sleeping bags), hygiene items (gauzes,
bandages and nappies) and warm clothes,
among others, to help the villages hardest
hit by the earthquake in Chile on 27
February. Some 25,000 kg were delivered in
the region of Bio Bio over 7 months, with
material for hospitals, villages and schools.

3)  Agreement with Real Madrid for social
integration through sport:
Collaboration agreement through which
Iberia participates in the children and
youth social development and education
projects organised by the Real Madrid
Foundation abroad: Social Integration
Sports Schools of the Real Madrid
Foundation.

4) Sending sports material to Haiti:
Thanks to Iberia, the Real Madrid
Foundation and the NGO Plan, a shipment
of 5.5 tonnes of sports material was sent to

Haiti. This joint initiative aimed to mitigate
the trauma experienced by Haitian children
affected by the earthquake of 12 February.

5) Support for the international cooperation
projects of the Spanish Basketball
Federation:

Participation in the education-sports pro-
jects organised by the Federation (FEB) in
developing African countries.

Moreover, through the FEB and its founda-
tion FEB2014, Iberia sponsored the “Basket
for Africa” Solidarity Marquee. This project
raised funds and material for the develop-
ment of several social programmes during
the tour of the Spanish Basketball Team in
August, before the World Cup.

6) Framework Cooperation Agreement with
Amadeus IT Group to participate in the
“PC Bank” project:
Amadeus reuses the computers, amortised
over no more than three years of use, of its
72 commercial subsidiaries distributed
throughout the world which their employe-
es or client travel agencies no longer use, to
send them to countries in need. Iberia colla-
borates by transporting the computers to
their destinations, which in 2010 were:

40 computers for three schools in southern
Chile: situated in Molina and the Bio-Bio
Region, the areas hardest hit by the earth-
quake on 27 February.
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106 computers for two hotel-schools in
South Africa: “Mafikeng Hotel School” and
its satellite school “Garankuwa” -in the
South African provinces NorthWest and
Gauteng, respectively-, and “Mpumalanga
Regional Training Trust - Hotels School
Division”, in the Mpumalanga province. The
PCs will also be used in the Technology
Transfer to Small Hotels Project.

7) Donation of more than 230,000 pieces of
crockery and cutlery, formerly used in first
class on its intercontinental flights, to
Caritas, APMIB and Mano a Mano:

Caritas received more than 165,000 items,
which it distributed among different soup
kitchens it runs in Madrid and a home for the
elderly project it has in Burgos.

The APMIB used almost 11,000 pieces of croc-
kery and cutlery in its Welfare Centres in
Colmenar Viejo (Day Care Centre, Homes for
the Elderly, Home for the Seriously Disabled
and Occupational Centres) where it currently
looks after and provides services for over 200
people with some kind of handicap.

Mano a Mano received more than 56,000
items, which have been sent to different wel-
fare projects in Peru (Tablada de Lurín and
Santa Anita), the Dominican Republic in
collaboration with the Hijas de la Caridad and
the Hijas del Sagrado Corazón, and Haiti,
where Mano a Mano is helping to rebuild a
school in the community of San Gerard.

8) Donation of 1,800 blankets for the pupils
of the Ciudad de los Muchachos in Cuzco:

The blankets, which had been used on
transatlantic flights, were donated to the
movement “Siervos de los Pobres del Tercer
Mundo” [lit.: Servants of the Poor in the
Third World] and are used in the school in
“Ciudad de los Muchachos” [lit.: Children's
Town] in Cuzco (Peru).

Iberia also transported the cargo free of
charge to Lima.

All the collaborations in which the company
has participated in 2010 and their economic
value can be consulted in the Annexes to this
Report.

8.3 Participation in associations and
foundations

The company belongs to several associations
and foundations related with Corporate Social
Responsibility.

Corporate Reputation Forum:
The Corporate Reputation
Forum (fRC) was founded
in September 2002 and
currently consists of 15
major Spanish enterpri-

ses: Grupo Agbar, BBVA, Repsol YPF, Telefónica,
Abertis, Ferrovial, Gas Natural Fenosa, Iberdrola,
Iberia, RENFE, Metro de Madrid, Danone, Sol
Meliá, Criteria and ADIF.
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The fRC is a place of encounter, analysis and
spreading of trends, tools and models of cor-
porate reputation management. All the fRC
companies have signed the UN Global
Compact initiative and promote achievement
of the Millennium Development Goals.
www.reputacioncorporativa.org

Carolina Foundation:
An institution set up in
2000, sponsored by
Sogecable, PRISA, FCC,
ACS, El Corte Inglés and
Iberia, among others. It

promotes cultural relations and cooperation in
science and education between Spain and the
countries of the South American Community
of Nations and other countries with special
historic, cultural or geographical ties.

The 2009 Action Plan of the Carolina
Foundation is based on the principle that edu-
cation and research play an important role in
building fairer societies and are the best gua-
rantee for strengthening the democratic insti-
tutions and exercising responsible citizenship.
www.fundacioncarolina.es

Exceltur:
It's a non-profit associa-
tion currently consisting
of 24 of the most influen-
tial Spanish tourist busi-
ness groups. This associa-

tion endeavours to foresee and adapt to pro-
cesses of change required by the increasingly
more global and demanding markets, publis-

hing surveys related to tourism and recom-
mendations for the future.
www.exceltur.org

Spanish Confederation of Business
Organisations - CEOE: 

Iberia, through AECA, is a
member of the Social
Responsibility Commi-
ssion of the CEOE along
with other Spanish large

enterprises and SME associations, set up as a
forum for encounter and debate to analyse
CSR trends on the market. In turn, it repre-
sents its members in the work group on the
ISO 26000 Guidelines and in the State Council
on Corporate Social Responsibility (CERSE) set
up in February 2008 and headed by the
Spanish Ministry of Labour and Immigration.
www.ceoe.es

Management Excellence Club: 
Iberia participates with
other companies, public
and private organisations
and academic institutions
in a work group created in

2009, called Socially Responsible Excellence, to
find solutions to incorporate social values in
the strategy of organisations, as a source of
opportunities and competitive edge.
www.clubexcelencia.org
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SERES Foundation (Responsible Business and
Society Foundation): 

This Foundation was set
up as a CSR knowledge
platform to serve as a
benchmark for compa-
nies and other social

partners committed to improving society,
focusing mainly on the integration in employ-
ment of the underprivileged.
www.fundacionseres.org

Euroamerica Foundation:
Promotes projects stimu-
lating collaboration and
understanding between
Europe and Latin America
and encourages dialogue

between the two continents.
www.euroamerica.org

Latin America Quality Foundation
Iberia is a founding member
of FUNDIBEQ, which runs a
Management Excellence
and Quality Programme
attached to the Ibero-
American Summit of Heads

of State and Governments, with the participa-
tion of major Spanish and Latin American
enterprises.
www.fundibeq.org

8.3 Responsible investment

Iberia's direct investment in social interest
groups during 2010, considering contributions
in cash and in kind, totalled 3,423,003 €, more
than double that made in the previous year.
For the third year in succession, the company
has also made contributions to external envi-
ronmental protection projects. The break-
down of aids given by Iberia can be seen in the
Annexes to this Report.

Investments in sponsorship arrangements,
that is, collaboration agreements with sports,
cultural, educational, etc. organisations, tota-
lled 5,765,916  €. in 2010.
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The company sponsors at all times initiatives
and events that are in line with the values
with which it identifies. Some of the new
initiatives in 2010 were:

IBERIA official sponsor of “XACOBEO 2010”:
On the occasion of the Compostela Jubilee
Year, Iberia and the Xunta de Galicia signed an
agreement making the airline an official
sponsor of Xacobeo 2010.

Iberia develops and performs considerable
activity in the Autonomous Community of
Galicia. It also recognises the importance of
Xacobeo 2010 and the “Camino de Santiago”
[The Way of Saint James], the first and most
important spiritual and cultural route in the
West, recognised as World Heritage, and has
thus wished to link its commercial activity
and corporate image with it.

Iberia sponsor of the "Cádiz 2012" project:
In May 2010 Iberia signed an agreement with
the Cadiz City Council to sponsor the 1812
Constitution Bicentenary Celebrations in 2012.

The project, called “Cádiz 2012”, will include
the nomination of the city as Latin American
Capital of Culture for that year and to host the
XXII Ibero-American Summit of Heads of
State and Governments.

During 2012, Iberia will favour the commemo-
ration and holding of these celebrations in
view of their historical and cultural importan-
ce, participating in the project through colla-
boration ties.

Iberia will provide transport for objects, pieces
and works of art that will form part of the
exhibitions to be held in Cadiz in 2012.
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Pope's Visit to Spain

Iberia collaborated in the visit of Pope Benedict XVI in November 2010. The Pope was first
received in Santiago de Compostela, final destination of the pilgrimage of the Way of St
James, where he visited the Cathedral.

Benedicto XVI's visit to Santiago coincided with the Compostela Holy Year.

After his visit to Galicia, the Pope flew with IB from Santiago de Compostela to Barcelona
on an Airbus A321. In Barcelona he consecrated the temple of the Sagrada Familia [Holy
Family], Gaudí's masterpiece.

The farewell ceremony was held in a very special place for Iberia: the recently opened
maintenance hangar.

Finally, the Pope ended his visit with the journey Barcelona-Roma on another special flight
put on by Iberia.



8. societycorporate responsibility

409

Future actions:

Continue to support welfare action initiatives to contribute towards achieving the
Millennium Development Goals.

Continue making sponsorships that contribute towards development of the communities
in which the company operates.
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9. Annexes

A.1. Contents and Indicators according
to the Global Reporting Initiative -
version 3.0

GRI 3.0 Guidelines basic contents and perfor-
mance indicators index

Preliminary clarifications

1)  The G3 indicators are classified into core
and additional indicators. The former are
those of interest for our company and most
of the stakeholders. The latter represent a
prominent, although not widely used, prac-
tice in measuring social, economic or envi-
ronmental aspects, offer significant infor-
mation for the interested parties and may
be changed in the future to core indicators.

2) The standard GRI A+ means inclusion of all
the core indicators or explanation of their
omission. The reasons for those not applica-
ble to the aviation industry or to Iberia are
set out in the table Indicators Not
Applicable.

3) Iberia has also included some indicators
complementing those listed in the GRI gui-
delines, version 3.0, in view of their impor-
tance in its activities and compliance with

the principle of transparency expressed in
said guidelines.

4) Just as in earlier Reports, this report indica-
tes the approximate correspondence of the
GRI indicators with the criteria for inclu-
ding the company in the sustainability
indexes DJSI -Dow Jones Sustainability
Index- and FTSE4Good (last columns of the
tables). This correspondence is considered
interesting to identify what aspects are
considered by the company's main bench-
marks in respect of Corporate
Responsibility.

5) The indicators published in this report
cover all the areas and activities performed
by the company, with no limitation on the
scope or cover of the report on this subject.
The adequate comparability of the 2010
indicators with previous years is also gua-
ranteed. Annual information expressed in
percentages is compared in percentage
points (p.p.)
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GRI
Section

STRATEGY AND ANALYSIS

Contents
Location in the Report or explanations

> CHAPTER No. > Section > Sub-section or Paragraph
Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good

ISO 26000:
Core

Subject 6.2.

1.1 Chairman's statement
Chairman's Statement

> 2. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT > Public commitment >
Economic recession CORPORATE

RESPONSIBILITY &
ENVIRONMENT

ALL

HUMAN RESOURCES �

1.2
Description of key
impacts, risks and
opportunities

> 0. ABOUT IBERIA
> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY > Impact analysis      

2.1 Name of reporting
organisation Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A.

� �

� �

2.2 Primary brands,
products and/or services

> 0. ABOUT IBERIA > Iberia, Lineas Aéreas de España
> 5. SHAREHOLDERS AND INSTITUTIONS 

> Brand management

2.3 Operational structure of
the organisation

> 0. ABOUT IBERIA > Organisation Structure
> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY > Corporate
Responsibility Framework > CR Organisation and

Responsibilities in Iberia

�

�

�

2.4
Location of
organisation's
headquarters

c/ Velázquez, 130 - 28006 - MADRID (SPAIN)

2.5 Countries where the
organisation operates

> 0. ABOUT IBERIA > Iberia, Lineas Aéreas de España  
> 7. EMPLOYEES > Workforce and Labour Relations

2.6 Nature of ownership
and legal form Annual Corporate Governance Report, section A

2.7 Markets served

Air Transport Business: Spain, Europe, America, Africa
and Middle East

Maintenance and Airport Services Businesses: Based in
Spain, serving airlines throughout the world

2.8 Scale of the reporting
organisation

> 0. ABOUT IBERIA > Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España
See also indicators EC1 and LA1  

2.9
Significant changes
during the reporting
period

> 0. ABOUT IBERIA > Iberia, Lineas Aéreas de España
> 5. SHAREHOLDERS AND INSTITUTIONS > Development of

the Iberia businesses in 2010
Annual Corporate Governance Report > Introduction

2.10 Awards received in the
reporting period

> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY > Prizes and
Recognitions obtained in 2010

ALL

ORGANISATIONAL PROFILE



corporate responsibility annexes

412

GRI
Section

REPORT PARAMETERS

REPORT PROFILE

Contents
Location in the Report or explanations

> CHAPTER No. > Section > Sub-section or Paragraph
Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good

ISO 26000:
Core

Subject 6.2.

3.1 Reporting period 2010

CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

� �

3.2 Date of most recent
previous report 2009

3.3 Reporting cycle Annual

3.4
Contact point for
questions regarding the
report

daicrescor@iberia.es � �

3.5 Process for defining
report content

> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY > Corporate
Responsibility Framework > CR Policy

> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY > Impact analysis
> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY > 

External assessment                               

3.6 Boundary of the report Iberia, Líneas Aéreas de España, S.A.

3.12 Location of standard
disclosures in the report

> CONTENTS
> ANNEXES > A.2. GRI Contents and Indicators

CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

�

�

�

3.7
Specific limitations on
scope or boundary of
this report

> ANNEXES > Annex A.2. > Indicators not applicable

3.8
Basis for reporting on
joint ventures,
subsidiaries, etc.

The indicators of this Report belong to Iberia L.A.E.
Group information can be consulted in the

consolidated annual report

3.9
Data measurement
techniques and the
bases of calculation

3.10

Effect of any re-
statements of
information provided in
earlier reports

3.11
Significant changes from
previous reporting
periods in the scope

The indicators are calculated using internationally
accepted methods

There have been no changes in data or methods in
respect of the previous year

REPORT SCOPE AND BOUNDARY

GRI CONTENT INDEX

3.13

Policy and current
practice with regard to
seeking external
assurance for the report

>  1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY  
CORPORATE

RESPONSIBILITY &
ENVIRONMENT

ASSURANCE
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4.1 Governance structure of the organisation

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, Executive Committee,
Audit & Compliance Committee, Nomination

& Remuneration Committee, Safety
Committee

See Iberia Group Annual Report 2010; Section
Annual Corporate Governance Report

SECRETARY OF 
THE BOARD

CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

� �

4.2 Indicate whether the Chair of the highest
governance body is also an executive officer

Yes. See Annual Corporate Governance
Report, section B.1.21  � �

4.3
Number of members of the highest
governance body that are independent or non-
executive members

11, all except the Chairman and CEO � �

4.4
Mechanisms for shareholders and employees
to provide recommendations or direction to
the highest governance body

General Shareholders' Meeting. Department
responsible for relations with shareholders:

shareholder.services@iairgroup.com
> 7. EMPLOYEES > Workforce and Labour Relations
> Union representation and participation

� �

4.5

Linkage between compensation for members
of the highest governance body, senior
managers, and executives and the
organisation's performance

DIRECTORS: 5% profit allocated in the
previous year

SENIOR MANAGEMENT: Annual variable
bonus by objectives

� �

4.6 Processes in place for the highest governance
body to ensure conflicts of interest are avoided

Regulations of the Board; Code of Market Conduct of
Iberia, LAE, SA and its group of companies;
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

Valid up to 24-01-2011. 
The current Corporate Governance regulations are

those of IAG:
http://www.es.iairgroup.com

�

4.7

Process for determining the qualifications and
expertise of the members of the highest
governance body for guiding the
organisation’s strategy on economic,
environmental, and social topics

Proposal by the Board to the General
Meeting, following report by the Nomination

and Remuneration Committee. See Iberia
Group Annual Report 2010; Section Annual

Corporate Governance Report  

�

4.8

Internally developed statements of mission or
values, codes of conduct, and principles
relevant to economic, environmental, and
social performance

> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY >
Corporate Responsibility Framework > Corporate

Responsibility Policy
> 7. EMPLOYEES > Ethics and Codes of conduct

� �

4.9

Procedures of the highest governance body for
overseeing the organisation’s identification and
management of economic, environmental, and
social performance

The Board approves the CR Policy.
The CR information is assessed and approved
by the Board, whereupon the Annual Report

is signed. 

4.10 Processes for evaluating the highest
governance body’s own performance

Nomination & Remuneration Committee
See Iberia Group Annual Report 2010; Section

Annual Corporate Governance Report

�

� �

4.11
Explanation of how the precautionary
approach or principle is addressed by the
organisation

> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY  > Impact
analysis

> 5. SHAREHOLDERS & INSTITUTIONS > Risk
Management

� �

ADVERTISING &
SPONSORING

CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

4.12

Externally developed economic, environmental,
and social charters, principles, or other
initiatives to which the organisation subscribes
or endorses

> 7. EMPLOYEES > Corporate citizenship
> 8. SOCIETY > Millennium Development objectives

> ANNEXES > A.3. Social contributions and
Sponsorship Agreements in 2010

�

4.13 Principal associations of which the
organisation is a member or which it supports

> 8. SOCIETY > Participation in associations and
foundations

4.14 List of stakeholder groups engaged by the
organisation

> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY  >
Corporate Responsibility Framework > 

Areas of influence  

> 2. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Introduction table

> 4. CUSTOMERS > Introduction table
> 5. SHAREHOLDERS & INSTITUTIONS  

> Introduction table
> 6. SUPPLIERS  > Introduction table
> 7. EMPLOYEES > Introduction table
> 8. SOCIETY  > Introduction table

� �

4.15 Basis for identification and selection of
stakeholders with whom to engage

4.16 Approaches to stakeholder engagement

4.17

Key topics and concerns that have been raised
through stakeholder engagement, and how
the organisation has responded to them
through its reporting

� �

� �

� �

GRI
Section

GOVERNANCE, COMMITMENT AND ENGAGEMENT OF STAKEHOLDERS

Contents
Location in the Report or explanations

> CHAPTER No. > Section > Sub-section or Paragraph
Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good

ISO 26000:
Core

Subject 6.2.
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Direct economic value generated and distributed (NB: recurring operating
revenues in million €)

IBERIA L.A.E. ANNUAL REPORT > Management
Report > Key  parameters 5,494 5,415 4,389 4,746 8.1%5,359

Minimum wage (in €)

Minimum wage IBERIA (in €)

Financial implications and other risks and opportunities for the organisation’s
activities due to climate change

�MANAGEMENT CONTROL

Economic performance indicators

GRI
Code

Type of
indicator Name of indicator

EC1 Core

EC2 Core
> 2. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT > Public

commitment > Climate change
> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change

CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT
� �

Location in the report 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Variation
2010-2009 
(% or p.p.)

Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good
ISO 26000:

Core Subject
6.8.

> CHAPTER No. > Section > Sub-section or
paragraph

Qualitative: estimated €24 mill. in 2012 for implementation of the
Emissions Trading System in commercial aviation

EC3 Core Coverage of the organisation’s obligations deriving from welfare benefit
programmes (NB: % of employees covered) > 7. EMPLOYEES > Welfare benefits HUMAN RESOURCES100% (see also indicator LA3)

EC6 Core Policy, practices, and proportion of spending on locally-based suppliers at
significant locations of operation > 6. SUPPLIERS > Responsible procurement PROCUREMENT �

The significant trading of goods and services is done from Spain
(procurement centralisation), although this does not mean that

national suppliers are given priority (they compete on equal terms)

EC7 Core Procedures for local hiring and proportion of senior management hired from
the local community at significant locations of operationsignificativas

> 7. EMPLOYEES > Equal opportunities &
diversity HUMAN RESOURCES �

The company has a policy of hiring local personnel in the countries
where it operates as a multinational. Approximately 50% of the

executives are locally hired. The hiring of local personnel abroad is
governed by internal regulations. See Annex A.3. (Labour agreements

and union representation by countries)

EC8 Core
Development and impact of infrastructure investments and services provided
primarily for public benefit through commercial, in-kind or pro bond
engagement

> 8. SOCIETY > Responsible investment ADVERTISING &
SPONSORINGSee breakdown in Annex A.2.

EC9 Additional Understanding and describing significant indirect economic impacts, including
extent of impacts

> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY 
> Impact analysis CORPORATE

RESPONSIBILITY &
ENVIRONMENT

�Qualitative

IBERIA INDICATOR Tonnes of cargo carried > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change �208,762 260,601 242,213 211,243 262,402 24.2%

EC4 Core Significant financial assistance received from governments This page
CORPORATE

RESPONSIBILITY &
ENVIRONMENT

�0 0 0 0 0 -

EC5 Additional This page HUMAN RESOURCES

�

7,573 7,988 8,400 8,736 8,866.20 1.5%

13,930 14,635 15,147 15,147 15,240.93 0.6%

Range of ratios of standard entry level wage compared to local minimum 
wage at significant locations of operation 84.0% 83.2% 80.3% 73.4% 72% -1.4 p.p.
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EN3 Core Fuel consumption (tonnes/year) 1,927,472 1,923,837 1,835,884 1,794,209 1,886,232 5.13% � �
Specific fuel consumption (litres/RTK) > 3, MEDIO AMBIENTE > Cambio climático 0.432 0.417 0.411 0.414 0.394 -4.81% � �

EN16 Core CO2 emissions (tonnes) for all Iberia flights 6,071,538 6,060,086 5,783,034 5,651,758 5,941,632 5.13% RESPONSABILIDAD � �
IBERIA INDICATOR Average age of fleet (no. years) 7.92 7.66 7.13 7.30 7.90 8.22% CORPORATIVA Y � �

NOx emissions in LTO cycles (tonnes) 2,841 2,674 2,185 2,162 2,110 -2.42% MEDIO AMBIENTE � �
EN20 Core UHC emissions in LTO cycles (tonnes) 219 212 164 168 148 -11.94% � �

CO emissions in LTO cycles (tonnes) 1,125 1,088 944 940 904 -3.80% � �

Environmental performance indicators

FLIGHT OPERATIONS

GRI
Type of indicator Name of indicator

Location in the report
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Variation 2010- 

Code > CHAPTER No. > Section > Sub-section or paragraph 2009 (% or p.p.)

ISO 26000: 

Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good Core Subject

6.5.

CORPORATE 

RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Local air quality
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GROUND OPERATIONS

GRI
Type of indicator Name of indicator

Location in the report
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Variation 2010- 

Code > CHAPTER No. > Section > Sub-section or paragraph 2009 (% or p.p.)

CARGO

ISO 26000: 

Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good Core Subject

6.5.

CLASSIFICATION GROUND EQUIPMENT

IBERIA INDICATOR
Diesel vehicles 49 33 30 28 28 0.00%

Petrol vehicles 0 0 0 0 0 -

Electric vehicles 145 139 134 125 132 5.60%

EN3 Core Diesel consumption (litres) 91,387 79,412 64,465 43,150 47,940 11.10% � �
EN4 Core Electricity consumption (J*109) 7,888 9,540 9,835 9,362 8,967 -4.22% � �
EN8 Core Water consumption (m3) 5,210 4,157 3,102 4,095 3398 -17.02% � �
EN1 Core Paper consumption (tonnes) 60 61 32 33 27.5 -16.67% � �

EN3 Core
BOILER CONSUMPTION � �
Gasoil C consumption (litres) > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Consumption of resources 560,000 697,500 738,000 721,334 869,669 20.56% � �

EN24 Additional
HAZARDOUS WASTE MANAGEMENT (fluorescents, toner, batteries, oil filters, impregnated absorbers, etc.) � �
Generation (tonnes) > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Waste & recycling  3.89 6.54 3.22 3.28 3.92 19.51% � �

EN22 Core
URBAN WASTE MANAGEMENT (paper/cardboard, glass, wood, organic) � �
Generation (tonnes) > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Waste & recycling  207 213 223 211 200 -5.11% � �

AIRPORT SERVICES

CLASSIFICATION GROUND EQUIPMENT

IBERIA INDICATOR
Diesel vehicles 3,484 3,373 3,373 2,479 2,675 7.91%

Petrol vehicles 93 52 42 26 22 -15.38%

Electric vehicles 494 472 393 378 352 -6.88%

EN3 Core Diesel consumption (litres) 7,659,755 6,548,405 6,690,692 4,449,266 4,441,737 -0.17% � �
EN4 Core Electricity consumption (J*109) 30,471 13,323 29,317 29,614 29,003 -2.06% � �
EN8 Core Water consumption (m3) 88,073 76,242 28,257 34,852 40,652 16.64% � �
EN1 Core Paper consumption (tonnes) 109 78.0 82.0 71.7 79 10.09% � �
EN24 Additional HAZARDOUS WASTE MANAGEMENT (oils and filters, solvents, batteries, shoes, polluted absorbents, cutting oils, antifreeze, decanter sludge, fluorescents, cells, etc.), including Vehicles Out of Use delivered to CART � �

Generation (tonnes) > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Waste & recycling  249 183.55 258.4 378.6 253.6 -33.02% � �

EN22 Core
URBAN WASTE MANAGEMENT (paper/cardboard, glass and packaging, pallets, etc.) �
Generation (tonnes) > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Waste & recycling  1098.2 586.56 1,123.24 277.36 254.12 -8.38% � �

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Consumption of resources

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Consumption of resources

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change

CORPORATE 

RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT
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FUEL CONSUMPTION IN BOILERS

EN3 Core
Natural gas consumption (kWh) 144,358,672 206,266,380 124,882,001 91,921,933 86,633,127 -5.75% � �
Gasoil C consumption (litres) 244,900 161,357 118,047 163,512 127,022 -22.32% � �
ELECTRICITY GENERATION IN COGENERATION PLANT � �
Net total (J*109) 101,369 55,955 79,419 35,882 26,385 -26.47% � �

EN4 Core % consumed in Iberia 27 36.24 83.96 83.65 100 +16 p.p. � �
% sold to grid 73 64 16.04 16.35 0 -16 p.p. � �
Natural gas consumption (kWh) 85,309,139 47,859,872 66,149,494 29,886,531 21,881,775 -26.78% � �

EN4 Core TOTAL ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION (J*109) 247,180 270,788 223,855 257,928 259,587 0.64% � �
EN8 Core TOTAL WATER CONSUMPTION (m3) 414,898 376,227 403,498 405,996 376,292 -7.32% � �

EN16 Core
BOILER EMISSIONS IN INDUSTRIAL AREAS � �
CO2 (Tonnes) 27,276 19,209 24,286 19,541 18,742 -4.09% � �

EN20 Core
SO2 (Tonnes) 0.39 0.63 0.46 0.62 0.47 -24.56% � �
NOx (Tonnes) 25.9 18.4 22.2 17.8 17.1 -4.04% � �
CRITICAL USE OF HALON

EN19 Core
kg installed in equipment 7,270 7,312 6,336 7,250 6,795 -6.28%

kg used 71.15 24.92 52.05 18.63 51 172.68%

kg stored for this use 0 0 0 0 0 -

EN22 Core
URBAN WASTE GENERATION (tonnes) (paper & cardboard,

1,487 1,537 1,555 1,322 1,603 21.26% � �
timber, not separated)

HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATION (washing water, paints,

EN24 Additional
solvents, metals in solution, oils, polluted containers 

16,362 15,013 13,760 14,387 14,479 0.64% � �
and absorbers, hydroxide sludge, residual 

kerosene, WEEE, etc.) (tonnes) (*)

COMMON TO ALL GROUND OPERATIONS

EN19 Core Use of products containing VOCs in industrial areas (litres) > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Local air quality 101,101 110,074 113,651 118,351 119,894 1.30%

URBAN WASTE MANAGEMENT (%) � �
Re-use 0 0 0.7 0.0 0.0 - � �
Recycling 28 27.4 21.8 27.2 48.0 + 21 p.p. � �
Recovery 1.9 2.1 1.1 0.6 4.0 +3 p.p. � �

EN22 Core
Elimination 70.1 70.5 76.4 72.2 48.0 - 34 p.p. � �
HAZARDOUS WASTE MANAGEMENT (%) � �
Re-use 9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - � �
Recycling 21 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 - � �
Recovery for energy purposes 24 5.5 2.3 3.4 3.8 + 0.4 p.p. � �
Safe deposit 46 94.3 97.5 96.3 95.9 -  0.4 p.p. � �

CORPORATE 

RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Waste & recycling

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Waste & recycling

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Waste & recycling

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Consumption 

of resources

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Consumption 

of resources

(*)  Includes industrial effluent (95% of hazardous waste)

annexesiberia / Corporate Responsibility Report 2010annexesiberia / Corporate Responsibility Report 2010

GROUND OPERATIONS

GRI
Type of indicator Name of indicator

Location in the report
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Variation 2010- 

Code > CHAPTER No. > Section > Sub-section or paragraph 2009 (% or p.p.)

INDUSTRIAL AREAS - MADRID

ISO 26000: 

Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good Core Subject

6.5.
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EN2 Core
Percentage of materials used that are recycled input > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Consumption 

materials of resources 

EN5 Additional
Energy saved due to conservation and efficient 

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change
improvements (variation in specific consumption)

-8.09% -3.47% -1.44% 0.73% -4.81% - 4.08 p.p. �
EN6 Additional Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable energy-

based products and services, and reductions in energy See also innovative projects in Chapter >4. CUSTOMERS �
requirements as a result of these initiatives > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Management focus

EN7 Additional Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and 
�

reductions achieved

EN10 Additional Percentage and total volume of water recycled and > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Consumption

reused of resources
0 0 0 0 0 -

EN13 Additional Habitats protected or restored �

EN14 Additional Strategies, current actions and future plans for managing 
�

impacts on biodiversity

EN17 Core Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions, by weight � �
EN 18 Additional Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and 

� �
reductions achieved

EN21 Core Total water discharge by quality and destination (m3)
142,048 120,792 102,790 106,115 151,202 42.49%

All effluent is treated in accordance with current legal requirements

EN23 Core Total number and volume of significant spills 0 0 0 0 0 -

EN26 Core
Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts of products

� �
and services and extent of impact mitigation

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change

Significant environmental impacts of transporting products

EN29 Additional and other goods and materials used for the organisation’s > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change See CO2 emissions inventory � �
operations, and transporting members of the workforce

Episodes and fines deriving from breach of conventions, 

EN28 Core treaties, declarations and estándar ds associated with > 3. ENVIRONMENT > Management focus 0 0 0 0 0 - �
environmental issues

EN30 Additional
Total environmental expenses (million €) 4 3 4 5 6 20,00% �
Environmental investments (million €) - - 1 1 2 100.00% �

CORPORATE 

RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

CORPORATE 

RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

ADVERTISING &

SPONSORING
> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Nature protection

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Climate change

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Waste & recycling

CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT

GROUND OPERATIONS

Type of
indicator Name of indicator

Location in the report 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Variation 2010-

2009 (% or p.p.)
Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good

ISO 26000:
Core Subject

6.5.

> CHAPTER No. > Section > Sub-section 
or  paragraph

GRI
Code

See indicators EN6, EN18 and EN26

Iberia does not operate in protected spaces, yet it nevertheless engages in actions to protect habitats, 

directly or through sponsorships

The indirect emissions produced in Iberia are included in the indicators EN16 and EN20, 

and in the CO2 emissions inventory

These tables include information on the reductions achieved in the listed environmental 

indicators from 2006 to 2010

See IB indicator (Average age of fleet) and indicators EN16 and EN20 for reductions

Owing to the peculiarities of the aviation sector, the applicable technical standards and prevailing safety

parameters, no recovered materials are used, only original materials
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Emissions GEIs (tCO2) Emissions per employee* (tCO2/employee)

GHG Protocol Scope Types of emission 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Variation 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Variation 

2010 - 2009 2010 - 2009

CO2 EMISSIONS INVENTORY ACCORDING TO GHG PROTOCOL METHODS

Boilers and generator sets (natural gas) 42,443 46,963 35,303 22,510 20,053 -10.91% 1.70 1.99 1.57 1.06 0.93 -12.15%

Direct emissions Boilers and generator sets (diesel) 2,171 2,316 3,372 2,386 2,688 12.64% 0.09 0.10 0.15 0.11 0.12 11.08%

(Scope 1) Vehicles owned or rented by Iberia (petrol) 55 38 38 15 23 57.25% 0.002 0.002 0.002 0.001 0.00 55.07%

Vehicles owned or rented by Iberia (diesel) 20,773 17,763 17,722 12,040 12,032 -0.06% 0.83 0.75 0.79 0.57 0.56 -1.44%

Indirect emissions
Electricity consumption 34,423 36,135 26,304 26,391 22,317 -15.44% 1.38 1.53 1.17 1.24 1.03 -16.61%

(Scope 2)

Other indirect
Travel to work in private vehicle 18,833 17,744 16,930 16,021 16,187 1.03% 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.00%

emissions (Scope 3)
Travel to work by bus 9,067 8,542 8,150 7,713 7,793 1.03% 0.36 0.36 0.36 0.36 0.36 0.00%

Travel to work by train/underground 5,395 5,083 4,850 4,590 4,637 1.03% 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.00%

Total Scope 1 (direct emissions) 65,441 67,079 56,435 36,951 34,797 -5.83% 2.61 2.84 2.51 1.61 1.61 0.00%

Total Scope 2 (indirect emissions) 34,423 36,135 26,304 26,391 22,317 -15.44% 1.38 1.53 1.17 1.24 1.03 -16.61%

Totals Total Scope 3 33,294 31,369 29,930 28,324 30,218 6.69% 1.33 1.33 1.33 1.33 1.40 5.58%

Total (scope 1+2+3) 133,159 134,583 112,669 91,667 87,332 -4.73% 5.32 5.71 5.01 4.18 4.05 -3.15%

Total (including flight operations, which are scope 1) 6,204,697 6,194,669 5,895,703 5,743,425 6,028,964 4.97% 248 263 262 270 279.00 3.44%
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19,068 17,548 16,678 15,743 16,009 1.69%

5,961 6,034 5,822 5,550 5,583 0.59%

25,029 23,582 22,500 21,293 21,592 1.40%

14.29 13.98 15.75 16.73 17.33 3.59%

41.9 41.7 42.5 43.5 44.07 1.38%

19,948 21,068 18,843 18,164 18,499 1.84%

1,827 1,177 1,732 1,747 1,333 -23.70%

175 40 17 2 3 50.00%

168 -

3,079 2,474 1,908 1,380 1,589 15.14%

HUMAN RESOURCES

Social performance indicators

GRI
Code

Type of
indicator Name of indicator

LA1 Core

LA2 Core Total no. employees & average rate of employee turnover, by age group, sex
and region

The average undesired turnover by employment category is insignificant
(less than 1%). Internal turnover is also very low owing to the high level

of specialisation required by the company's businesses.
See breakdowns in Annex A.3. and age pyramid diagram in > 

7. EMPLOYEES > Equal opportunities & ethnic diversity                

LA3 Additional Welfare benefits provided to full-time employees that are not provided to tem-
porary or part-time employees, by major operations

Temporary employees enjoy the same welfare benefits as permanent
employees (medical assistance, access to grants, suggestion box prizes,

special payslips, meal vouchers and free tickets, among others)

�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�

�

�
�
�

�

�

�

�

> 7. EMPLOYEES > Workforce and Labour
Relations

> 7. EMPLOYEES > Welfare benefits

LA4 Core Percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining agreements

Minimum notice periods regarding operational changes, including whether
specified in collective agreements

Approximately 100% (See Annex A.3. for exceptions)

LA5 Core
Spanish law contemplates cases in which minimum notice is required when
the company makes a substantial modification of its employees’ working

conditions

Percentage of total workforce represented in formal joint management-worker
health and safety committees that help monitor and advise on occupational
health and safety programmes

LA6 Additional

100 %
(24 com-
mittees &
108 pre-
vention

delegates)

100 %
(21 com-
mittees &
87 pre-
vention

delegates)

100 %
(22 com-
mittees &
105 pre-
vention

delegates)

100 %
(22 com-
mittees &
105 pre-
vention

delegates)

100 %
(22 com-
mittees &
107 pre-
vention

delegates)

-

Rate of absenteeism for ordinary disease and occupational accident

LA7 Core

LA8 Core

LA9 Additional

Indicator as from
2008 5.1% 5.3% 5.1% -0.2 p.p.

Number of days’ sick leave for accidents at or on the way to/from work Indicator as from
2008 35,404 31,974 29,230 -8.58%

Occupational disease 0 0 0 0 0 -

Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0 1 (in itínere) 0 -

Education, training, counselling, prevention & risk-control programmes in place
to assist employees, their families or community members regarding serious

diseases (number of courses given)
747

Health & safety topics covered in formal agreements with trade unions 100% (See indicator LA6 )

805 844 294 389 32.31%

Number accidents at or on the way to/from work without sick leave
New breakdown as from 2009

996 936 -6.02%

Number accidents at or on the way to or from work with sick leave 1,695 1,550 -8.55%

> 7. EMPLOYEES > Workforce and Labour
Relations

> 7. EMPLOYEES > Health & Safety at Work

Location in the report 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Variation
2010-2009 
(% or p.p.)

Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good
ISO 26000:

Core Subject
6.2,6.3,6.4

> CHAPTER No. > Section > 
Sub-section or paragraph

INDICADOR IBERIA

Percentage union affiliation (%)

Ground

Pilots

Flight attendants

68.3 69.8 72.2 73.0 72.0 -1 p.p.

100 100 100 100 100 -

31.5 31.7 31.3 31.7 32.0 +0.3 p.p.

Workforce at 2010-12-31

Ground

Flight

TOTAL workforce

Average seniority (years)

Average age of workforce (years)

Type of contract

Permanent

Permanent part-time

Permanent discontinuous

Permanent partial retirement

Temporary



annexescorporate responsibility

429

corporate responsibility annexes

428

Training: total no. courses

> 7. EMPLOYEES > Training & Development

> 7. EMPLOYEES > Satisfaction, internal
communication & motivation

> 7. EMPLOYEES > Equal opportunities &
diversity

> ANNEXES > Annex A.3. > Workforce by
qualification and sex

11,919 11,817 10,552 11,497 8.96%10,777 �

Training: total no. participants 70,475 82,834 74,481 82,510 10.78%68,625 �

Novations employee contracts 10 9 10 8 -20.00%9 �

No. scholarships: graduates, undergraduates, vocational training 334 414 427 282 -33.96%229 �

No. people with work experience contracts 67 81 40 31 -22.50%31

Programmes for skills management and lifelong learning that support the conti-
nued employability of employees and assist them in managing career endings Qualitative

�

�

�

�

% Women 38.5% 38.3% 38.0% 37.9% -0.1 p.p.37.2% � �

% Men 61.5% 61.7% 62.0% 62.1% +0.1 p.p.62.8% � �

No. women in positions of responsibility (Positions in organisation) 146 161 128 116 -9.38%139 � �

No. women on the Board of Directors 0 0 0 0 -0

Ratio of basic salary of men to women by employee category Salary is the same for men and women at the different employee levels,
regulated by collective agreements

�

�

�

� �

�

Average hours by employee category

Senior Managers & Engineers 8 14.4 21.2 47.20% �

HUMAN RESOURCES

Social performance indicators

GRI
Code

Type of
indicator Name of indicator

LA10

IBERIA INDICATOR

Core

LA11 Additional

% employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews 100%, regulated by collective agreement

Equal opportunities (See breakdown in Annex A.3.)

-LA12 Additional

LA13 Core

LA14 Core

Location in the report 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Variation
2010-2009 
(% or p.p.)

Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good
ISO 26000:

Core Subject
6.2,6.3,6.4

> CHAPTER No. > Section > 
Sub-section or paragraph

New indicators as
from 2008

Pilots 67 43.6 46.3 6.14% �

Flight assistants 24 21.3 34.2 60.87% �

Technical staff/Specialists 28 43.7 44.3 1.37% �

Administrative/Auxiliary Services 34 13.5 13.5 0.10% �

Work experience programmes
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Percentage and total number of significant investment agreements that include
human rights clauses or that have undergone human rights screening.

Percentage of significant suppliers and contractors that have undergone
screening on human rights and actions taken.

6. SUPPLIERS > Responsible procurement

100% (Iberia requires the inclusion of a number of clauses in its
contracts with suppliers, whereby the supplier undertakes “not to

infringe any of the principles established in the UN Global Compact,
of which IBERIA is a member, and to offer in the performance of its
duties effective compliance with all obligations deriving therefrom”)

� �

� �

PROCUREMENT

PROCUREMENT

Social performance indicators

GRI
Code

Type of
indicator Name of indicator

HR1 Core

Total hours of employee training on policies and procedures concerning
aspects of human rights that are relevant to operations, including percentage
of employees trained.

7. EMPLOYEES > Training & Development

The content of training is not only related to the development of skills
associated with the job, but also the alignment between that content

and the strategic goals of the company, such as respect for the
environment and human rights. These aspects are addressed in all
company management courses and in on-the-job training. Some 3

hours' training a year is estimated for approximately 7,000 employees.
See also indicators HR6 and HR7

�

�

�
HUMAN RESOURCES

HR3 Additional

Operations identified in which the right to exercise freedom of association and
collective bargaining may be at significant risk, and actions taken to support
these rights.

None. See indicator LA4HR5 Core

�

�

Operations identified as having significant risk for incidents of child labour, and
measures taken to contribute to the elimination of child labour.

Operations identified as having significant risk for incidents of forced or
compulsory labour, and measures taken to contribute to the elimination of
forced or compulsory labour.

Iberia joined the UN Global Compact in 2004 and includes a clause
requiring compliance with its Principles in all its contracts.

HR6 Additional

Percentage of security personnel trained in the organisation’s policies or
procedures concerning aspects of human rights that are relevant to operations. 100%. See indicator HR2HR8 Additional

HR7 Core

Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions taken..

> 1. OUR FOCUS ON RESPONSIBILITY 
> Impact analysis

> 6. SUPPLIERS > Responsible procurement

0 0 0 0 0 -HR4 Core

HR2 Core

Location in the report 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Variation
2010-2009 
(% or p.p.)

Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good
ISO 26000:

Core Subject
6.2,6.3,6.4

> CHAPTER No. > Section > 
Sub-section or paragraph
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Nature, scope and effectiveness of any programmes and practices that assess
and manage the impacts of operations on communities, including entering,
operating and exiting the company.

> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Local air quality
> 3. ENVIRONMENT > Noise in the vicinity of

the airport

> 5. SHAREHOLDERS & INSTITUTIONS > Fraud
prevention and anti-corruption measures  

As a result of fleet renewal, actions in operations and environmental
management systems implemented in the company, the impact of

operations in areas around the airport, noise and emissions is reduced
from year to year.

� �

CORPORATE 
RESPONSIBILITY 

& ENVIRONMENT

SO1 Core

Public policy positions and participation in public policy development and
lobbying.

> 2. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT > Public
commitment

This page

Qualitative �SO5 Core

Percentage of employees trained in the organisation’s anti-corruption policies
and procedures.

100% of employees with responsibility in internal management and
budget control: training on the job. Furthermore, the Ethical Guidelines

for application of the Global Compact principles are addressed to all
employees.

� �SO3 Core

Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption.
There have been no significant cases in 2010. The obligations and

actions to be taken in the event of breach are set out in the corporate
governance regulations and collective agreements. � �SO4 Core

Percentage and total number of business units analysed for risks related to
corruption. 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% - � �SO2 Core

Total value of financial contributions and contributions in kind made to
political parties or related institutions, by countries. 0 0 0 0 0 - � �SO6 Additional

> 4. CUSTOMERS > Passenger commitments >
Commitment to passenger rights

Monetary value of significant fines and total number of non-monetary
sanctions. (In million €, total operating expenses in indemnities for passengers
& baggage, in pursuance of Regulation (EC) No 261/2004.

51.6 37.0 33.0 25.0 23.0 -8.00%

Total number of non-monetary fines

(+) In 2008 the Supreme Court confirmed a fine of 3.6 million imposed by the Fair Trading Court on Air Europa, Iberia and Spanair, and the
agencies of the Leading Spanish Travel Agencies (CAAVE), for fixing charges for the issuance of air tickets in 2005. 

0 0 0 0 0 -

SO8 Core

Total number of legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust and
monopoly practices and their outcomes. 0 0 1 (+) 0 0 - �SO7 Additional

Social performance indicators

GRI
Code

Type of
indicator Name of indicator

Location in the report 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Variation
2010-2009 
(% or p.p.)

Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good
ISO 26000:

Core Subject
6.2,6.3,6.4

> CHAPTER No. > Section > 
Sub-section or paragraph



annexescorporate responsibility

435

corporate responsibility annexes

434

Life cycle stages in which customer health and safety impacts of products and
services are assessed for improvement, and percentage of significant products
and services categories subject to such procedures.

> 4. CUSTOMERS > Management focus
> 4. CUSTOMERS > Passenger Commitments >
Commitment to Quality and Commitment to

Health
> 6. SUPPLIERS > Specific relationships in the air

transport sector

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% - �

QUALITY & CUSTOMER 
RELATIONS

CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

PR1 Core

Type of product and service information required by procedures and legislation
and percentage of products and services subject to such information
requirements. > 4. CUSTOMERS > Passenger Commitments >

Commitment to passenger rights, Commitment
to price transparency, Commitment to passen-

gers with special needs            

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% - �

�

PR3 Core

Practices related to customer satisfaction, including results of surveys
measuring customer satisfaction.

> 4. CUSTOMERS > Passenger Commitments >
Commitment to Quality        QualitativePR5 Additional

ADVERTISING 
& SPONSORING

Programmes for adherence to laws, standards and voluntary codes related to
marketing communications, including advertising, promotion and sponsorship.

> 2. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT >
Communication channels

> 4. CUSTOMERS > Passenger Commitments

QualitativePR6 Core

RISKS & SECURITY

CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

Total number of substantial complaints regarding breaches of customer privacy
and losses of customer data.

> 4. CUSTOMERS > Passenger Commitments

0 0 0 0 1 (+++) -PR8 Additional

Monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance with laws and
regulations concerning the provision and use of products and services of the
organisation

0 0 0 0 0 -PR9 Core

Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary
codes concerning marketing communications, including advertising, promotion
and sponsorship, by type of outcomes.

1  (0 €) 0 0 0 0 -PR7 Additional

Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary
codes concerning product and service information and labelling, by type of
outcomes.

0 0 0 1 (++) 0 -PR4 Additional

Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary
codes concerning health and safety impacts of products and services during
their life cycle, by types of outcomes.

0 0 0 0 0 -PR2 Additional

(++) Judgment passed by the Madrid Court of Appeal for denying boarding without a companion to three people with hearing disabilities on a flight
from Melilla to Madrid in 2004. Iberia and Air Nostrum accepted the terms of the judgment: change their customer service rules and pay the token
sum of 1 € to each one. 
(+++) The Supreme Court confirmed in 2010 a fine of 361,208 € imposed on Iberia by the Spanish Data Protection Agency, considering it
responsible for failing to take due care of passenger information, found near the El Prat airport in August 2002.

Social performance indicators

GRI
Code

Type of
indicator Name of indicator

Location in the report 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Variation
2010-2009 
(% or p.p.)

Area responsible DJSI FTSE4Good
ISO 26000:

Core Subject
6.2,6.3,6.4

> CHAPTER No. > Section > 
Sub-section or paragraph
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INDICATORS NOT APPLICABLE

GRI
Type of indicator Name of indicator Reason 

Code

Area 

responsible

CORPORATE 

RESPONSIBILITY &

ENVIRONMENT

HUMAN 

RESOURCES

EN9 Additional Water sources significantly affected
by withdrawal of water

Description of land adjacent to or in
protected areas or areas of high biodiversity

EN11 Core value outside protected areas. State location 
and size of landowned, leased or managed
in areas of high biodiversity value

Description of significant impacts of activities,

EN12 Core products and services on biodiversity in 
protected areas or areas of high biodiversity 
value outside protected areas

Number of IUCN Red List species and national 
conservation list species, with habitats in areas 

EN15 Additional affected by operations, by level of extinction 
risk, indicating the degree to which the species 
is threatened

Identity, size, protected status and biodiversity 

EN25 Additional value of water bodies and related habitats 
significantly affected by the reporting 
organisation’s discharges of water and runoff

Percentage of products sold and their 
EN27 Core packaging materials that are reclaimed at the

end of their useful life, by category

HR9 Additional Total number of incidents of violations involving
rights of indigenous people and actions taken

There are no significant impacts in Iberia.
The water used by Iberia is obtained
exclusively from the local mains; no wells or
own withdrawal points are used.

Iberia does not operate on land in or
adjacent to protected natural spaces or
areas of high biodiversity.

Moreover, Iberia does not represent a threat
to the species included on the IUCN Red
List and national lists, since the company’s
operations are not performed in the
habitats of these species. See indicator
EN13.

Similarly, Iberia’s activities do not affect the
water resources and related habitats. In
addition, the company’s effluent is way
below the limits established in current
legislation.

This indicator is not applicable to air
transport activities. This notwithstanding, it
is worth noting the resources saved through
the issuing of electronic tickets, for both
passenger and cargo services, and the
ground operation waste management,
which are described in the Environment
chapter of this report.

The international structure of the company
performs exclusively commercial and
administrative duties, so there are no
material impacts in these aspects.
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A.2.Contributions to social causes and Sponsorship Agreements

2010 / TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS MADE BY IBERIA TO SOCIAL ENTITIES AND WELFARE CAUSES: 3,423,003€  

ENTITY COLLABORATION EUROS VALUE IN KIND 

(€)

Mano a Mano Remittance of humanitarian aid (150,048 kg) 583,025
Medical assistance for foreign children in Spain (16 tickets) 55,446
Carriage of goods (54,001 kg) 69,381
Annual non-repayable aid 72,121

APMIB Ground Staff Internal Social Fund Donation 144,243
Company contribution by Flight Assistants 114,788
Tickets for E.E.C. management coordination (21 tickets) 11,748
Remittance of humanitarian aid (198,000 kg) 617,760

EARTHQUAKE IN HAITI Extra item of baggage allowance for relief workers (98 items) 14,700
Competition run jointly with Red Cross. 100 tickets raffled 10,813
Ticket facilities for relief workers (7 free tickets & 35 at 91% discount) 54,425

ADEMÁS ASSOCIATION Congress of values "what really matters" 25,546
NGO PLAN AND REAL Remittance of sports kits to Haiti (550 kg & excess baggage) 1,716
MADRID FOUNDATION
Spanish Basketball Basket for Africa” Solidarity Marquee during the tour
Federation Foundation of the Spanish Basketball Federation 20,000
Real Madrid Foundation Sponsorship of Social-Sports Schools 98,000

I CARRERA PRONIÑO Tickets raffled among participants 12,000 12,000
WOMEN TOGETHER Collaboration in microcredit projects for women in the Third World 41,200
Cáritas, Mano a Mano Donation of former First Class crockery 173,002
& APMIB
Spanish International Collaboration in all its activities and projects 1,100,000
Cooperation Agency AECID
SPANISH RED CROSS Donation 600
SERES Foundation Collaboration in all its activities 18,000
Ilusiones Foundation - Collaboration in its projects with sick children 45,000
Make a Wish Spain
Chile21 Down Association Carriage of cargo for collaboration in its projects (50 kg) 613
Toledo International Collaboration in all its activities 50,000
Centre for Peace
AMADEUS Sending of PCs for educational projects in the Third World (2,162 kg) 9,202
Corporate Reputation Forum Collaboration in its activities 30,000
Drug Addition Aid Foundation Collaboration in its activities 30,500
Spanish Cancer Research Donation 600
Association
New Future 2010 market in Lima (Peru) - 800 kg 2,840
Homes Association
Father Arrupe Association Transport of a child for medical assistance 2,236
Spanish NATO delegation Charity bazaar 1,498
in the EU
TOTAL 392,352 3,030,651

Others:
National Trasplant Organisation:                                    
Transporting of 43 organs for trasplant
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2010 / TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS MADE BY IBERIA TO ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECTS: 660 €  

ENTITY COLLABORATION EUROS VALUE IN KIND  

(€)

"Life Antidote" Project Carriage to Rome of 5 dogs experts in the detection of toxic substances 160
Migres Foundation - Project 
to repopulation of the fish Carriage from Berlin to Madrid of 20 baby fish eagles 500

eagle in Doñana
TOTAL 660

Total invested in environmental projects:  660
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SPONSORSHIP AGREEMENTS 2010

TOTAL INVESTMENT EUROS   5,765,916

WELFARE INSTITUTIONS % €

Spanish International Cooperation and Development Agency
Además - "What really matters" Congresses
Proniño Race
Women Together
Almenara Foundation
Toledo International Centre for Peace
Make a Wish Spain
Drug Addition Aid Foundation
TOTAL 23% 1,316,246

ART & CULTURE % €

House of America
Fine Arts Circle
Cristobal Gabarrón Foundation
Gran Teatre del Liceu de Barcelona Foundation
XACOBEO 2010
Isaac Albéniz Foundation
Juan March Foundation
Bilbao's Guggenheim Museum Foundation
Philharmonic Orchestra
Cádiz 2012
San Fernando 2010
SEACEX
Cervantes Institute
Valencian Modern Art Institute
Egeda-José María Forqué Awards
José Manuel Ciria
Millesime
Madrid Fusión - Gastronomy Days
Romanza Cultural Association
Prado Museum
TOTAL 30% 1,756,385

SOCIOECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT % €

Confianza (Trust) Foundation
Société d’Etudes en Archéologie Subaquatique (S.E.A.S.)
Association of Spanish Fashion Creators (ACME)
CEOE Summit meeting
CYD Foundation
R+D+I Foundation
Ausbanc Empresas
Madrid Excelente Foundation
Architecture & Society Foundation
Fundibeq
BIO2010 Trade Fair
Bolsalia Fair
Borsadiner Fair
Spain Investors Day
Interactive Generations Forum
Organisation of Latin American States for Education,
Science and Culture (O.E.I.)

Latin American Centre for Strategic Urban 
Development (CIDEU)

Club de Madrid
Association for the Rationalisation of Spanish Times (ARHOE) 
CIDOB Foundation
EOI Foundation
Euroamérica Foundation
Elcano Royal Institute of International and Strategic Studies
TOTAL : 12% 704,707

EDUCATION % €

C.R.U.E
Franklin Institute - Univ. Alcalá de Henares
Carolina Foundation
Havana University. Int. Conv. of Tourism Studies
Wharton Forum 2010
Students Halls of Residence Foundation
Rey Juan Carlos University
Universidad.es Foundation
Mediterranean Advanced Studies Institute (IMEDEA)
Business Institute
San Telmo Foundation
Madrid Complutense University General Foundation
TOTAL : 22% 1,286,024

SPORTS % €

Equestrian Competitions. International Show Jumping
II Open Day Aeri
Club de Campo Villa de Madrid
I "Adela" Golf Tournament
CETURSA Sierra Nevada
TOTAL : 4% 216,920

HEALTH % €

Príncipe Felipe Foundation
Carlos III National Cancer Research Centre
TOTAL : 1% 30,000

TOURISM % €

EXCELTUR Association
TOTAL : 1% 32,860

MEDIA % €

Segovia Press Association
Annual Conference of Spanish Daily Newspaper 
Editors Association (AEDE)
Federation of Spanish Editorial Guilds
Vocento. "Protagonistas" Awards
Punto Radio. "Taste Workshop" Tour
Telemadrid. "Madrid People around the World" Programme
RNE. Weekly competition in the programme 
"It's not just any old day"
Onda Cero. "Travellers' postcards" Prize in the 
"Travellers" programme
Cadena SER. Special programmes for the "Latin American 
Presidents Mar de Plata Summit"
YO DONA Magazine. Anniversary Competition
European Journalists Association
TOTAL : 4% 247,384

OTHERS % €

Association of Spanish Well-Known Brands
Int. De Capellanes Castrenses Conference
Pablo Iglesias Foundation
Infinitconsulting
Corporate Reputation Forum
Gate Gourmet
TOTAL : 3% 175,390
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A.3. Workforce and Labour Relations (at 2010-12-31)

By countries:

COUNTRY No. EMPLOYEES AT 31-12-10 LABOUR AGREEMENT UNION REPRESENTATION

ALGERIA 1

ARGENTINA 68 � �
AUSTRIA 4 � �
BELGIUM 16 � �
BRAZIL 129 � �
CHILE 31 � �
COLOMBIA 14

COSTA RICA 8

CUBA 15

CZECH REPUBLIC 2

DENMARK 7

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 21

ECUADOR 24

EGYPT 9

EL SALVADOR 3

EQUATORIAL GUINEA 8

FRANCE 48 � �
GERMANY 60 � �
GREECE 10 � �
GUATEMALA 10

IRELAND 2 � �
ISRAEL 18 �
ITALY 52 � �
MEXICO 48 � �
MOROCCO 14

NETHERLANDS 15 � �
NIGERIA 1

PANAMA 9

PARAGUAY 2

PERU 21 �
POLAND 2

PORTUGAL 24 � �
PUERTO RICO 6

ROMANIA 2

RUSSIA 9

SENEGAL 8

SOUTH AFRICA 11

SPAIN 20,712 � �
SWEDEN 4 �
SWITZERLAND 18

TURKEY 8

UNITED KINGDOM 42 � �
URUGUAY 5 �
USA 47

VENEZUELA 24 � �
TOTAL WORKFORCE 21,592
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BREAKDOWN WORKFORCE BY GROUP

GROUP NO. PERSONS AVERAGE AGE AVERAGE SENIORITY

National Ground Staff 15,111 44.21 17.52

Flight Assistants 3,966 42.51 17.23

Pilots 1,617 46.87 17.98

Local staff abroad 880 45.53 13.23

Spaniards outside national territory 18 43.89 19.06

TOTAL 21,592 44.07 17.33

Workforce by group, age and seniority:

BREAKDOWN WORKFORCE BY BUSINESS AREA

GROUND FLIGHT TOTAL

CORPORATE 1,095 n.a. 1,095

AIR TRANSPORT 2,881 5,583 8,464

AIRPORTS 8,043 n.a. 8,043

MAINTENANCE 3,990 n.a. 3,990

TOTAL 16,009 5,583 21,592

Workforce by Business:

BREAKDWON WORKFORCE BY TYPE OF CONTRACT

PERMANENT FULL TIME 18,499

PERMANENT PARTIAL RETIREMENT 168

PERMANENT CONTINUOUS PART TIME 1,333

PERMANENT DISCONTINUOUS 3

TEMPORARY 1,589

TOTAL 21,592

No. temporary contracts changed to permanent in 2010 160

Workforce by type of contract:
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BREAKDOWN OF THE WORKFORCE BY QUALIFICATION AND SEX 2010

LABOUR GROUP
WOMEN MEN TOTAL

No. % No. % No. %

SENIOR MANAGEMENT 1 9.09% 10 90.91% 11 0.05%

SUB-TOTAL SENIOR MANAGEMENT (A) 1 0 10 1 11 0

SENIOR MANAGERS AND ENGINEERS 434 39.13% 675 60.87% 1,109 5.14%

AIRCRAFT MAINTENANCE ENGINEERS 36 1.16% 3,055 98.84% 3,091 14.32%

GROUND EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE ENGINEERS 0.00% 9 100.00% 9 0.04%

INSTALLATION MAINTENANCE ENGINEERS 0.00% 18 100.00% 18 0.08%

IT AND COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS OPERATION 

AND MAINTENANCE ENGINEERS 26 21.85% 93 78.15% 119 0.55%

DATA PROCESSING ENGINEERS 7 14.89% 40 85.11% 47 0.22%

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 3,700 66.79% 1,840 33.21% 5,540 25.66%

PVT 46 41.82% 64 58.18% 110 0.51%

ANCILLARY SERVICES 452 8.91% 4,623 91.09% 5,075 23.50%

SUB-TOTAL GROUND (B) 4,701 31.10% 10,417 68.90% 15,118 70.02%

LOCAL STAFF ABROAD 454 51.59% 426 48.41% 880 4.08%

SUB-TOTAL GROUND (C) 454 51.59% 426 48.41% 880 4.08%

TOTAL GROUND (D) 5,156 32.21% 10,853 67.79% 16,009 74.14%

PILOTS 58 3.59% 1,559 96.41% 1,617 7.49%

FLIGHT ASSISTANTS 2,967 74.81% 999 25.19% 3,966 18.37%

TOTAL FLIGHT (D) 3,025 54.18% 2,558 45.82% 5,583 25.86%

TOTAL (A + B + C + D) 8,181 37.89% 13,411 62.11% 21,592 100.00%

Breakdown of Workforce by Qualification and Sex:
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A.4. Verification Certificate




